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Supplement Dated September 14, 2007 to
Reoffering Circular Dated September 5, 2007

The Reoffering Circular referred to above (the “Reoffering Circular”) reoffering the New York City
Municipal Water Finance Authority First General Resolution Bonds identified above is supplemented as
follows:

1. The information contained in the Reoffering Circular under the headings and subhcadings “THE
SYSTEM — The Water System — Governmental Regulation —Watershed Protection/Catskill, Delaware
Filtration” and “LITIGATION" is supplemented to add the following as the last two paragraphs:

On September 12, 2007. the Coalition of Watershed Towns and three individual towns in the
watershed filed a petition for review in the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit,
challenging the USEPASs issuance of the 2007 FAD. The City and the NYSDOH arc designated as
“Interested Parties.” The petitioners claim: first, that based on language in the Watershed
Memorandum of Agreement, and correspondence between USEPA and NYSDOH in 1997, primary
responsibility for administering the SWTR for the Catskill and Delaware water supplies should have
been transferred to NYSDOH in May 2007 and, therefore, EPA lacked authority in July 2007 to issue
the 2007 FAD for the Catskill and Delaware systems; and, second, that the Watershed Control
Program embodied in the 2007 FAD does not conferm to the SWTR requirement that the water
supplier demonstrate “through ownership and/or written agreements with landowners within the
watershed that it can control all human activities which may have an adverse impact on the
microbiological quality of the source water.”

An adverse determination on the first claim could invalidate the 2007 FAD and require that a
new FAD be issued by NYSDOH. An adverse determination on the second claim could invalidate
the 2007 FAD and prevent cither USEPA or NYSDOH from issuing a new FAD. USEPA has not yet
responded to the plaintiffs’ petition. The City intends to actively participate in the defense of the 2007
FAD.

2. The Specimen Bond Insurance Policy contained in Appendix I to the Reoffering Circular is
replaced with the Specimen Bond Insurance Policy of Financial Guaranty Insurance Company (“FGIC”)
attached hercto as a new Appendix L

NEW YORK CITY MUNICIPAL
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HGIC

Financial Guaranty Insurance Company
125 Park Avenue

New York. NY 10017

T 212:312:3000

T R00-352:0001

Municipal Bond
New Issue Insurance Policy

Issuer: Policy Number:

Control Number: 0010001

Bonds: Premium: .

b e

Financial Guaranty Insurance Company (*Financial Guarani )51]\3@%\ York stock insurance company. in
consideration of the payment of the premium ard Bjed to the terms of this Policy, hereby
unconditionally and irrevocably agrees to pay toA).S, Bank Trust National Association or its successor, as
its agent (the “Fiscal Agent™), for the benctéf“@"ﬂkﬁ;ﬁh‘&ders. that portion of the principal and interest on
the above-described debt obligations (tﬁg “Bond¥") which shall become Duc for Payment but shall be
unpaid by reason of Nonpayment by the Is l}efl"

Financial Guaranty will make such payments to the Fiscal Agent on the date such principal or interest
becomes Due for Payment or on the Business Day next following the day on which Financial Guaranty
shall have received Notice of Nonpayment. whichever is later. The Fiscal Agent will disburse to the
Bondholder the face amount of principal and interest which is then Due for Payment but is unpaid by
reason of Nonpayment by the Issuer but only upon reccipt by the Fiscal Agent, in form rcasonably
satisfactory to it. of (i} evidence of the Bondholder’s right to receive payment of the principal or interest
Due for Payment and (ii) evidence, including any appropriate instruments of assignment, that all of the
Bondholder's rights to payment of such principal or interest Due for Payment shall thereupon vest in
Financial Guaranty. Upon such disbursement, Financial Guaranty shall become the owner of the Bond,
appurtenant coupon or right to payment of principal or interest on such Bond and shall be fully subrogated
to all of the Bondholder’s rights thercunder. including the Bondholder's right to payment thereof.

This Policy is non-cancellable for any reason. The premium on this Policy is not refundable for any
reason, including the payment of the Bonds prior to their meturity. This Policy docs not insure against loss
of any prepayment premium which may at any time be payable with respect to any Bond.

As used herein, the term “Bondholder™ means, as to a particular Bond, the person other than the Issuer
who, at the time of Nonpayment, is entitled under the terms of such Bond to payment thereof. “Due for
Payment™ means, when referring to the principal of a Bond. the stated maturity date thereof or the date on
which the same shall have been duly called for mandatory sinking fund redemption and does not refer to
any earlier date on which payment is due by reason of call for redemption (other than by mandatory
sinking fund redemption), acceleration or other advancement of maturity and means, when referring to
interest on a Bond, the stated date for payment of interest. “Nonpayment™ in respect of a Bond means the
failure of the Issuer to have provided sufticient funds to the paying agent for payment in full of all

FGIC is a registered service mark used by Financial Guaranty insurance Company under license from its parent company, FGIC Corporation.
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FGIC

Financial Guaranty Insurance Company
125 Park Avenue

New York. NY 10017

T 212:312-3000

T 800-352-0001

Municipal Bond
New Issue Insurance Policy

principal and interest Due for Payment on such Bond. “Notice™ means telephonic or telegraphic notice,
subsequently confirmed in writing. or written notice by registered or certified mail, from a Bondholder or a
paying agent for the Bonds to Financial Guaranty. “Business Day™ means any day other than a Saturday,
Sunday or a day on which the Fiscal Agent is authorized by law to;g;n ; 'nV;t:.J\oscd.

%,

In Witness Whereof. Financial Guaranty has caused this Policy ife beaffixed with its corporate seal and to
be signed by its duly authorized ofticer in thcsimilmﬁ(a)%tiec&nc’ effective and binding upon Financial
Guaranty by virtue of the countersignature of its dul £authorizéd representative.

Sl

President
Effective Date: Authorized Representative

U.S. Bank Trust National Association, acknowledges that it has agreed to perform the duties of Fiscal
Agent under this Policy.

Authorized Officer

FGIC is a registered service mark used by Financial Guaranty Insurance Company under license from its parent company. FGIC Corporation.
Form 9000 (10/93) Page 2 of 2




FGIC

Financial Guaranty Insurance Company
123 Park Avenue

New York. NY 10017

T 212:312-3000

T ROG-332:0001

Endorsement
To Financial Guaranty Insurance Company
Insurance Policy

Policy Number: Control Number: 0010001

1t is further understood that the term “Nonpayment™ in ruspe@ o?a Bmfd includes any payment of principal
or interest made to a Bondholder by or on behalf of tlw"rﬁsu;no‘?‘%uch Bond which has been recovered from
such Bondholder pursuant to the United States Btmlerupt(.y ‘Eode by a trustee in bankruptcy in accordance
with a final, nonappealable order of a court lm'mg Lon‘tﬁétent}unsdlulon

NOTHING HEREIN SHALL BE (OI\TSTRUED TO WAIVE. ALTER, REDUCE OR AMEND
COVERAGE IN ANY OTHER SECTION OF THE POLICY. IF FOUND CONTRARY TO THE
POLICY LANGUAGE, THE TERMS OF THIS ENDORSEMENT SUPERSEDE THE POLICY
LANGUAGE.

In Witness Whercof, Financial Guaranty has caused this Endorsement to be affixed with its corporate seal

and to be signed by its duly authorized officer in facsimile to become effective and binding upon Financial
Guaranty by virtue of the countersignature of its duly authorized representative.

President
Effective Date: Authorized Representative

Acknowledged as of the Effective Date written above:

Authorized Officer
U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as Fiscal Agent

FGIC is a registered service mark used by Financial Guaranty Insurance Company under license from its parent company, FGIC Corporation.
Form E-0002 (10/93) Page 1 of 1
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FGIC

Financial Guaranty insurance Company
125 Park Avenue

New York. NY 10017

T 212-312:3000

T 800-352-0001

Mandatory New York State
Amendatory Endorsement

To Financial Guaranty Insurance Company
Insurance Policy

Policy Number: Contrel Number: 0010001
\

/
The insurance provided by this Policy is not covered &4\ v York Property/Casualty Insurance
Security Fund (New York Insurance Code. Article 76

NOTHING HEREIN SHALL BE C TO WAIVE. ALTER, REDUCE OR AMEND
COVERAGE IN ANY OTHER SEC OF THE POLICY. IF FOUND CONTRARY TO THE
POLICY LANGUAGE. THE TERMS@F THIS ENDORSEMENT SUPERSEDE THE POLICY
LANGUAGE.

In Witness Whereof, Financial Guaranty has caused this Endorsement to be affixed with its corporate seal

and to be signed by its duly authorized officer in facsimile to become effective and binding upon Financial
Guaranty by virtue of the countersignature of its duly authonzed representative.

A

President

Effective Date: Authorized Representative

Acknowledged as of the Effective Date written above:

Authorized Officer
U.S. Bank Trust National Association. as Fiscal Agent

EGIC is a registered service mark used by Financial Guaranty Insurance Company under license from its parent company, FGIC Corporation
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1-4



FGIC

Financial Guaranty Insurance Company
125 Park Avenue

New York. NY 10017

T 212:312:3000

T 800-352:0001

Mandatory New York State
Amendatory Endorsement

To Financial Guaranty Insurance Company
Insurance Policy

Policy Number: (‘on(rmber: 0010001

N n
Notwithstanding the terms and conditions in this l@/,ﬂ\?&lfunher understood that there shall be no
s

acceleration of payment due under such Polic 1 acceleration is at the sole option of Financial
Guaranty.

NOTHING HEREIN SHALL BE C(%TRUED TO WAIVE, ALTER. REDUCE OR AMEND
COVERAGE TN ANY OTHER SECTION OF THE POLICY. IF FOUND CONTRARY TO THE
POLICY LANGUAGE. THE TERMS OF THIS ENDORSEMENT SUPERSEDE THE POLICY
LANGUAGE.

In Witness Whereof. Financial Guaranty has caused this Endorsement to be affixed with its corporate seal

and to be signed by its duly authorized officer in facsimile to become effective and binding upon Financial
Guaranty by virtue of the countersignature of its duly authorized representative.

4

President
Effective Date: Authorized Representative

Acknowledged as of the Effective Date written above:

Authorized Officer
U.S. Bank Trust Natienal Association. as Fiscal Agent

FGIC is a regls(ered service mark used by Financial Guaranty Insurance Company under license from ts Earen\ company, FGIC Corgoration
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EXISTING ISSUE REOFFERED

In the opinion of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP. Bond Counsel. based upon an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and court
decisions, and assuming, among other matters, the accuracy of certain representations and compliance with certain covenants, interest on the
Reoffered Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. In the
further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Reoffered Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal individual or
corporate alternative minimum taxes, although Bond Counsel observes that such interest is included in adjusted current earnings when calculating
corporate alternative minimum taxable income. Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that interest on the Reoffered Bonds is exempt from personal
income taxes imposed by the State of New York and any political subdivision thereof (including The City of New York). Bond Counsel expresses
no opinion regarding any other tax consequences related to the ownership or disposition of. or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Reoffered

$683,700,000
New York City
Municipal Water Finance Authority

Water and Sewer System Adjustable Rate Revenue Bonds

$100,000,000 $100,000,000 $100,000,000 $92,500,000
Fiscal 1993 Series C Fiscal 1994 Subseries C-1  Fiscal 1994 Subseries C-2  Fiscal 1994 Subseries G-1
$92,500,000 $99.350,000 $99,350,000
Fiscal 1994 Subseries G-2 Fiscal 1995 Subseries A-1 Fiscal 1995 Subseries A-2
Dated: Date of Delivery Due: June 15, as shown below

The Reoffered Bonds will be reoffered on September 17. 2007. From and including such date, unless and until converted to bear interest
in a different interest rate mode, the Reoffered Bonds will be Auction Rate Bonds in 7-day Auction Periods in authorized denominations of
$25,000 or any integral multiple thereof. For the period from and including September 17, 2007 to and including the last day of the respective
Initial Period listed on the inside cover page. the interest rate on the applicable Series or Subseries of the Reoffered Bonds will be determined
on or about September 12, 2007 and thereafter will be determined pursuant to the Auction Procedures. The first Auction Date for the applicable
Series or Subseries of the Reoffered Bonds is listed on the inside cover page. Interest on the Reoffered Bonds will be payable as set forth on the
inside cover page. Prospective purchasers of the Reoffered Bonds should carefully review the Auction Procedures set forth in Appendix H hereto
and should note that such procedures provide that beneficial interests in the Reoffered Bonds may be transferred or disposed of only pursuant
to a Bid or Sell Order placed in an Auction or to or through a Broker-Dealer. This Reoffering Circular, in general. describes the Reoffered Bonds
only for so long as the Reoffered Bonds are Auction Rate Bonds.

The method for determining the interest rate on all or a portion of the Reoffered Bonds may be converted from time to time to a Daily
Rate, a Weekly Rate, a Flexible Rate. a Fixed Rate or a subsequent Auction Rate Mode.

The Reoffered Bonds will be registered in the name of Cede & Co.. as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York
which will act as securities depository for the Reoffered Bonds, Purchases of beneficial interests in the Reoffered Bonds will be made in
book-entry-only form. Purchasers will not receive certificates representing the ownership interest in the Reoffered Bonds purchased by them, See
“APPENDIX F—BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY FORM.”

The Reoffered Bonds are special obligations of the Authority, payable solely from and secured by a pledge of and first lien on the gross
revenues of the System. The Authority has no taxing power. The Reoffered Bonds are not a debt of the State of New York, The City of New York
or the New York City Water Board and none of the State of New York, The City of New York or the New York City Water Board is liable on
the Reoffered Bonds.

Payment of the principal of and interest on the Reoffered Bonds will be guaranteed by financial guaranty insurance policies issued by
Financial Guaranty Insurance Company. See “FGIC INSURED BONDS."”

HaIC

The Reoffered Bonds are reoffered when, as and if received by the Broker-Dealers, and subject to the approval of legality by Orrick,
Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP. New York, New York. Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Broker-Dealers by Nixon
Peabody LLP, New York, New York. It is anticipated that the Reoffered Bonds will be available for delivery to The Depository Trust Company
in New York. New York. on or about September 17, 2007.

Citi Citi
First Albany Capital Inc. JPMorgan
Loop Capital Markets LLC Raymond James
Broker-Dealers Broker-Dealers
for the Fiscal 1993 Series C Bonds for the Fiscal 1994 Series C Bonds
UBS Investment Bank Bear Stearns & Co.
Merrill Lynch & Co. JPMorgan
Broker-Dealers Broker-Dealers
for the Fiscal 1994 Series G Bonds for the Fiscal 1995 Series A Bonds

September 5, 2007






NEW YORK CITY MUNICIPAL WATER FINANCE AUTHORITY
Water and Sewer System Adjustable Rate Revenue Bonds

Price of all Reoffered Bonds: 100%
$100,000,000 Fiscal 1993 Series C

$100,000,000 Fiscal 1994 Subseries C-1 $100,000,000 Fiscal 1994 Subseries C-2
$92.500,000 Fiscal 1994 Subseries G-1 $92.500,000 Fiscal 1994 Subseries G-2
$99,350,000 Fiscal 1995 Subseries A-1 $99.350,000 Fiscal 1995 Subseries A-2
Interest
Series or Maturity Last Day of First Auction Auction Initial Interest Payment
Subseries Date Initial Period Date Day Payment Date Day CUSIP*

Fiscal 1993 Series € June 15,2022 September 24, 2007 September 24,2007 - Monday September 25,2007 Tuesday  64972F MR4
Fiscal 1994 Scries C-1 June 15,2023 September 25, 2007 September 25,2007 Tuesday  September 26, 2007 Wednesday 64972F MS2
Fiscal 1994 Series C-2 June 15, 2023 September 27, 2007 September 27,2007 Thursday — September 28. 2007 Friday 64972F MTO
Fiscal 1994 Series G-1 June 15,2024 September 26, 2007 September 26, 2007 Wednesday - September 27.2007 Thursday 64972F MM35

Fiscal 1994 Series G-2 June 15,2024 September 30. 2007 September 28, 2007 Friday October 1. 2007 Monday ~ 64972F MN3
Fiscal 1995 Series A=l June 15, 2025 September 26,2007 September 26, 2007 Wednesday - September 27, 2007 Thursday 64972F MP8
Fiscal 1995 Serics A2 June 15,2025 September 30, 2007 September 28, 2007 Friday October 1., 2007 Monday  64972F MQ6

Each Serics or Subserics of Reoffered Bonds will bear interest from September 17, 2007 until the last day
of the respective Initial Period set forth above at the rate established prior to the date of conversion by the
applicable Broker-Dealers as shown on the cover. Thereafter. the Reoffered Bonds will bear interest at
respective Auction Period Rates for successive 7-day Auction Periods, until a conversion to another Auction
Period or Interest Rate Period. as desceribed herein. Interest aceruing on the Reoffered Bonds during the Initial
Periods will be payable on the respective Initial Interest Payment Dates set forth above. Thereafter, interest
accruing on the Reoffered Bonds during each Auction Period will be payable on the Business Day immediately
following such Auction Period, except (i) with respect to a daily Auction Period, interest will be payable on the
first Business Day of the month immediately succeeding the first day of such Auction Period, and (ii) with
respect to a Flexible Auction Period of 183 or more days. interest will be payable on each June 15 and
December 15 and on the Business Day immediately following such Flexible Auction Period.

The length of an Auction Period may be changed in accordance with the Resolutions. The Reoffered
Bonds will not be subject to mandatory tender for purchase upon a change in the length of the Auction Period;
however. notice of such change will be given as described herein, and, in the case of changes to a longer Auction
Period. any Reoffered Bonds that are not the subject of a specific Order shall be deemed to be subject to a Sell
Order.

Prospective purchasers of the Reoffered Bonds should carefully review the information relating to
Auctions contained under the caption “THE REOFFERED BONDS™ and the Auction Procedures set forth in
~APPENDIX H—AUCTION PROCEDURES™ and should note that such procedures provide that: (i) a Bid (as
detined herein) or Sell Order (as defined herein) constitutes a commitment to purchase or sell the Reoffered
Bonds based upon the results of an Auction; (i) Auctions will be conducted through electronic means of
communications or otherwisc: and (iii) settlement for purchases and sales will be made on the Business Day (as
defined hercin) following an Auction, cxcept with respect to Reoffered Bonds in a daily Auction Period in
which case the settlement is the same day. Benelicial interests in the Reoffered Bonds may be transferred only
pursuant 1o a Bid or Sell Order placed in an Auction or to through a Broker-Dealer. See “THE REOFFERED
BONDS™ and “APPENDIX H—AUCTION PROCEDURES.”

Wells Fargo Bank. N.A. will act as the initial Auction Agent for the Reoffered Bonds.

Copyright 2007. American Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein are provided by Standard & Poor’s, CUSIP Service
Burcau. a division of The McGraw-Hill Companics. Inc. The CUSIP numbers listed above are being provided solely for the
convenience of Bondholders only at the time of reoffering of the Reoffered Bonds and the Authority and the Broker-Dealers
do not make any representation with respect 1o such numbers or undertake any responsibility for their accuracy now or at any
time in the future. The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to being changed after the reoffering of the Reotfered
Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions including. but not limited to. a refunding in whole or in part of such maturity
or as a result of the procurement of secondary market portfolio insurance or other similar enhancement by investors that is
applicable 1o all or a portion of certain maturities of the Reotfered Bonds.
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This Reoffering Circular does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any
of the Reoffered Bonds in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer in such
jurisdiction. No dealer, salesperson or any other person has been authorized to give any information or
make any representation, other than those contained herein, in connection with the offering of any of the
Reoffered Bonds and if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon.
Information contained on the Authority's web page, on the City's web site, or on any other web page is
not a part of this Reoffering Circular. Neither the delivery of this Reoffering Circular nor the sale of any
of the Reoffered Bonds implies that there has been no change in the affairs of the Authority, the Board
or the City or the other matters described herein since the date hereof.

ELINNTS

If and when included in this Reoffering Circular, the words “expects,” “forecasts,” “projects,”
“intends,” “anticipates,” “estimates” and analogous expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements as defined in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any such statements inherently are
subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
projected. Such risks and uncertainties include, among others, general economic and business conditions,
changes in political, social and economic conditions, regulatory initiatives and compliance with govern-
mental regulations, litigation and various other events, conditions and circumstances, many of which are
beyond the control of the Authority. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this
Reoffering Circular. The Authority disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any
updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in the
Authority’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on
which any such statements are based.
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SUMMARY STATEMENT

The following is a brief summary of the information contained in this Reoffering Circular and is subject
in all respects to the additional information contained herein, including the appendices attached hereto.
Defined terms have the same meaning herein as elsewhere in this Reoffering Circular.

Description of the Reoffered Bonds: The Reoffered Bonds are being reoffered by the Authority
pursuant to its Water and Sewer System General Revenue
Bond Resolution adopted on November 14, 1985, as amended.
The Fiscal 1993 C Bonds are being reoffered by the Author-
ity in the principal amount of $100,000,000 pursuant to its
Amended and Restated Nineteenth Supplemental Resolu-
tion, adopted June 28, 2007. The Fiscal 1994 C Bonds are
being reoffered by the Authority in two Subseries, each in
the principal amount of $100,000,000 pursuant to its Amended
and Restated Twenty-First Supplemental Resolution, adopted
June 28, 2007. The Fiscal 1994 G Bonds are being reoffered
by the Authority in two Subseries, each in the principal
amount of $92,500,000 pursuant to its Amended and Re-
stated Twenty-Fourth Supplemental Resolution, adopted June
28,2007. The Fiscal 1995 A Bonds are being reoffered by the
Authority in two Subseries, each in the principal amount of
$99,350,000 pursuant to its Amended and Restated Twenty-
Seventh Supplemental Resolution, adopted June 28, 2007.
The Reoffered Bonds are issued in book-entry only form and
in authorized denominations of $25,000 and integral mul-
tiples thereof.

Redemption Provisions: The Reoffered Bonds are subject to optional redemption as
described herein.

The System: The Water System provides approximately 1,185 million
gallons per day (mgd) of water to approximately 830,000
accounts. It supplies water to approximately 9,000,000 people,
of which approximately 8,000,000 are in the City and the
balance are in Westchester, Putnam, Orange and Ulster
Counties. The Sewer System is comprised of an extensive
network of sewage collection and treatment facilities that
treat over 1,330 mgd of wastewater. Under the Act, the Lease
and the Agreement, the Board is obligated to pay the
operating expenses of the System. The City is obligated to
operate and maintain the System regardless of payment by
the Board.
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Summary Financial Information:

~ Revenues Available for Debt Service (2) . .
Other Revenues (2) .. ...............
Net Operating Expenses (2) . ..........

Other Expenses (including Rental

Payments to New York City) (2).......

Total Expenses (2) . .. ...............
Total First Resolution Bond Debt Service .

Net Debt Service on Subordinated

Indebtedness (3). .. ...............

NetSurplus........ ... ... .. ... ....
First Resolution Debt Service Coverage . . .

First and Second Resolution Debt Service

Coverage (3) . ...... .. ...........
Rate Increase . ....................

Totals may not add due to rounding.
(1) Projections are as of April 30, 2007.

Historical Projected (1)
FY 2004 FY 2005 FY 2006 FY 2007 FY 2008
(Millions of Dollars)

$1,759.3 $1.829.8 $1.931.9 $2.000.8 $2.301.0
30.6 — - — —
777.5 834.2 864.5 986.2 1.057.8
332.1 325.5 2538 177.4 245.3
1,109.6 1,159.7 1,118.3 1.163.6 1.303.1
490.3 467.9 5138 S533.3 5514
— 43.2 123.7 188.8 362.0

190.0 159.0 176.2 115.1 84.5
3.59x 3.91x 3.76x 3.75x 4.17x
3.59x 3.58x 3.03x 2.77x 2.52x

5.5% 5.5% 3.0% 9.4%(4) 11.5%(4)

(2) Historical figures, which are derived from the accounting records used to prepare the statements of cash flows contained in the
annual financial statements, are shown on a cash basis.

(3) Includes Debt Service on Second Resolution Bonds and interest on Commercial Paper Notes and reflects offset of

carryforward revenues.
(4) Actual rate increase.

Total Authority Debt Outstanding:

Ratings on Bonds:

Capital Program:

As of the date of this Reoffering Circular, the Authority has
approximately $10.7 billion of Bonds (defined below) and
$6.3 billion of Second Resolution Bonds (defined below)
Outstanding. See “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT AND FINANCING
PROGRAM—Debt Service Requirements.” In addition, the
Authority currently has an $800 million commercial paper
program.

Underlying Insured
Fitch Ratings: AA AAA
Moody’s: Aa?2 Aaa
Standard & Poor’s: AA+ AAA

The City’s Ten Year Capital Strategy released in April 2007
(the “Ten Year Capital Strategy™), which is updated every
two years, includes the projected capital improvements to the
System for Fiscal Years 2008 through 2017. The City’s
Current Capital Plan (the “Current Capital Plan™), which
covers Fiscal Years 2007 through 2011, was published in April
2007, is updated three times each Fiscal Year and is consis-
tent with the Ten Year Capital Strategy for Fiscal Years 2008
through 2011. The Ten Year Capital Strategy as modified by
the Current Capital Plan comprises the Capital Improvement
Program (the “CIP”). The CIP is designed to maintain a
satisfactory level of service, to improve operation of the
System and to address future System requirements.




Bond Financing Program:

Security for the Bonds:

Revenue Pledge:

Debt Service Reserve Fund:

Rate Covenant:

Additional Bonds Test:

The following table shows, as of April 30, 2007, total
Authority indebtedness expected to be issued for capital
purposes, excluding refunding bonds, from Fiscal Year 2008
to Fiscal Year 2011.

Period
FY 2008 FY 2009 FY 2010 FY 2011 Total

(Millions of Dollars)
$1,870.8 $2,428.5 $2,385.1 $2,393.8 $9,078.2

The Bonds are special obligations of the Authority, payable
solely from and secured by a pledge of the gross revenues of
the System prior to the payment of operation and mainte-
nance costs or any other expenses.

Upon the delivery of the Reoffered Bonds, the Debt Service
Reserve Fund will be funded in an amount at least equal to
the maximum annual Adjusted Aggregate Debt Service on
the Outstanding Bonds.

The Board has covenanted to establish and collect rates, fees
and charges sufficient in each Fiscal Year so that Revenues
collected in such Fiscal Year will be at least equal to the sum
of 115% of Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds Outstanding
and on any Projected Series of Bonds (excluding Refundable
Principal Installments for the payment of which funds are
held in trust) payable in such Fiscal Year, and 100% of the
Operating Expenses and Required Deposits (which includes
debt service on the Second Resolution Bonds and other
subordinate debt) to the extent required to be paid from
Revenues for such Fiscal Year.

Additional Bonds may be issued only if the estimated
Revenues for the Fiscal Year in which such Bonds are issued
and each of the following five Fiscal Years will be at least
equal to the sum of 115% of the maximum estimated
Adjusted Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds, including the
Bonds to be issued, and 100% of the sum of the projected
Operating Expenses and Required Deposits (including Debt
Service Reserve Fund replenishment and subordinate debt
service) for such Fiscal Years and only if the Revenues for
either of the last two Fiscal Years preceding the Fiscal Year
in which the Bonds are to be issued were at least equal to the
sum of (i) 115% of the Aggregate Debt Service for such
Fiscal Year (excluding any Principal Installments, or portion
thereof, paid from sources other than the Revenues) and (ii)
100% of the sum of Operating Expenses and Required
Deposits for such Fiscal Year. Refunding Bonds may be
issued under the Resolution either upon satisfaction of such
conditions or other conditions.
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Summary of Certain Legal Opinions:

Rates:

The Authority:

The Board:

The Agreement:

The Lease:

Financial Statements and Independent
Auditors:

Bond Counsel has rendered opinions to the effect that, in the
event of a bankruptcy of the City, (i) a court, exercising
reasonable judgment after full consideration of all relevant
factors, would not hold that the Revenues are property of the
City and would not order the substantive consolidation of the
assets and liabilities of either the Board or the Authority with
those of the City and (ii) the Board, in the event the City
should reject the Lease, would be entitled to remain in
possession of the System for the balance of the Lease term.
Bond Counsel has also opined that under current law neither
the Board nor the Authority qualifies as a debtor under the
United States Bankruptcy Code.

Rates, fees and charges are imposed by the Board and are
not subject to regulatory approval except for those rates
charged to a limited class of upstate users representing
approximately 1% of Revenues.

The Authority, a separate legal entity established in 1984, has
the power to (i) issue bonds, bond anticipation notes and
other obligations for the purpose of financing the renovation
and improvement of the System, (ii) refund its bonds and
notes and general obligation bonds of the City issued for
water or sewer purposes, (iii) require the Board to fix rates
sufficient to pay the costs of operating and financing improve-
ments to the System and (iv) require the City to maintain the
System adequately. The Authority has no taxing power.

The Board, a separate legal entity established in 1984, has
leased the System from the City. It is authorized to fix and
collect rates, fees and charges adequate to pay the cost of
operating and financing the System.

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Authority has agreed to
finance capital projects for the System, both current work
and work commenced in prior years, through the issuance of
bonds, notes or other indebtedness secured by revenues of
the System.

Pursuant to the Lease, the Board has acquired the System
from the City for a term continuing until provision has been
made for the repayment of all Outstanding Bonds or other
indebtedness of the Authority.

The financial statements of the System as of and for the years
ended June 30, 2006 and June 30, 2005 included in Appendix
D to this Reoffering Circular have been audited by Grant
Thornton LLP, independent certified public accountants, as
stated in their report appearing therein.
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REOFFERING CIRCULAR

NEW YORK CITY MUNICIPAL WATER FINANCE AUTHORITY
WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM ADJUSTABLE RATE REVENUE BONDS

$100,000,000 $100,000,000 $100,000,000 $92,500,000
Fiscal 1993 Series C Fiscal 1994 Subseries C-1 Fiscal 1994 Subseries C-2 Fiscal 1994 Subseries G-1
$92,500,000 $99,350,000 $99,350,000
Fiscal 1994 Subseries G-2 Fiscal 1995 Subseries A-1 Fiscal 1995 Subseries A-2

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

General

The purpose of this Reoffering Circular is to set forth certain information pertaining to the New York
City Municipal Water Finance Authority (the *Authority™), a public benefit corporation duly created and
existing under the New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority Act, as amended (the “Act™); the
New York City Water Board (the “Board™), a public benefit corporation created and existing under
Chapter 515 of the Laws of 1984, both of which laws were enacted by the Legislature of the State of New
York (the “State™): the Authority’s $100,000,000 Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Fiscal 1993
Series C (the “Fiscal 1993 C Bonds™), the Authority’s $200,000.000 Water and Sewer System Revenue
Bonds, Fiscal 1994 Series C (the “Fiscal 1994 C Bonds™) consisting of the $100,000.000 Fiscal 1994
Subseries C-1 Bonds and the $100,000,000 Fiscal 1994 Subseries C-2 Bonds, the Authority’s $185,000,000
Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Fiscal 1994 Series G (the “Fiscal 1994 G Bonds™) consisting of
the $92,500,000 Fiscal 1994 Subseries G-1 Bonds and the $92.500.000 Fiscal 1994 Subseries G-2 Bonds and
the Authority’s $198.700.000 Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Fiscal 1995 Series A (the “Fiscal
1995 A Bonds” and, together with the Fiscal 1993 C Bonds. the Fiscal 1994 C Bonds and the Fiscal 1994
G Bonds, the “Reoffered Bonds™) consisting of the $99.350,000 Fiscal 1995 Subseries A-1 Bonds and the
$99,350.000 Fiscal 1995 Subseries A-2 Bonds. Capitalized terms used in this Reoffering Circular and not
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in “APPENDIX C—GLOSSARY AND SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN DOCUMENTS—Glossary.”

Pursuant to a lease agreement (the “Lease™) between the Board and The City of New York (the
“City"). dated as of July 1, 1985, as amended. the Board has leased from the City its facilities for the
collection, transmission and distribution of water (the “Water System™) and its facilities for the collection,
treatment and disposal of sewage (the “Sewer System™) (collectively, the “System”). As required by the
Act and the Lease, the System is operated and maintained by the Department of Environmental
Protection of the City (“DEP”). The Board has also entered into a financing agreement, dated as of July 1,
1985, as amended (the “Agreement”), with the Authority and the City for the financing of capital
improvements to the System through the issuance of bonds, notes and other obligations under the
Authority’s Water and Sewer System General Revenue Bond Resolution adopted on November 14, 1985,
as amended (the “Resolution™ or the “First Resolution™ and, when issued thereunder the “Bonds”), or
subordinate obligations of the Authority under its Second Resolution (defined below). Pursuant to the
Lease and the Agreement, the Board has agreed to levy and collect rates, fees and charges. Pursuant to
the Lease, the City may, with the prior written consent of the Board, grant interests in the Leased
Property which, in the reasonable judgment of the Board. do not interfere with the operation and
maintenance of the System and the collection of the Revenues from the System.

The Fiscal 1993 C Bonds will be reoffered by the Authority pursuant to the Resolution and its
Amended and Restated Nineteenth Supplemental Resolution, adopted June 28, 2007 (the “Nineteenth
Supplemental Resolution™). The Fiscal 1994 C Bonds will be reoffered by the Authority pursuant to the
Resolution and its Amended and Restated Twenty-First Supplemental Resolution, adopted June 28, 2007
(the “Twenty-First Supplemental Resolution™). The Fiscal 1994 G Bonds will be reoffered by the
Authority pursuant to the Resolution and its Amended and Restated Twenty-Fourth Supplemental
Resolution, adopted June 28, 2007 (the “Twenty-Fourth Supplemental Resolution™). The Fiscal 1995 A
Bonds will be reoffered by the Authority pursuant to the Resolution and its Amended and Restated
Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Resolution. adopted June 28, 2007 (the “Twenty-Seventh Supplemental
Resolution™). The Resolution, the Nineteenth Supplemental Resolution, the Twenty-First Supplemental
Resolution, the Twenty-Fourth Supplemental Resolution and the Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Reso-
lution are collectively referred to herein as the “Resolutions™. The Bank of New York serves as trustee
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and paying agent under the Resolutions (in such capacity, the “Trustee”) and will continue to serve as
Trustee and paying agent unless a successor is appointed in accordance with the Resolutions.

The Bonds are special obligations of the Authority, payable solely from and secured by a pledge of
the Revenues, all moneys or securities in any of the funds and accounts established under the Resolution,
including the Debt Service Reserve Fund, and all other moneys and securities to be received, held or set
aside pursuant to the Resolution, subject only to provisions of the Resolution and the Agreement relating
to the use and application thereof. The Board has covenanted in the Agreement to maintain rates, fees
and charges at sufficient levels to produce in each twelve-month period beginning on July 1 (a “Fiscal
Year™) an amount equal to 115% of the Aggregate Debt Service and Projected Debt Service on the Bonds
(excluding Refundable Principal Installments for the payment of which funds are held in trust) to become
due in such Fiscal Year on Bonds, plus 100% of the operation and maintenance expenses of the System
certified by the City and of Required Deposits (which includes the debt service on the Second Resolution
Bonds and other subordinate debt) to the extent required to be paid from Revenues. The Agreement
requires a report of the Rate Consultant setting forth its recommendations as to any revisions of the rates,
fees and charges necessary or advisable to meet the requirements of the rate covenant. The Board is
obligated to take necessary action to cure or avoid any deficiency. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDs—Rate
Covenant.” The Agreement also requires a Consulting Engineer to review the operation and maintenance
of the System, and further requires the City to operate and maintain the System in accordance with the
advice and recommendations of the Consulting Engineer. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS.”

Rates, fees and charges are imposed by the Board and are not subject to regulatory approval under
current law except for the rates charged to a limited class of upstate users, representing approximately 1%
of Revenues. See “RATES AND BILLINGS.”

The Authority has relied upon Metcalf & Eddy of New York, Inc. (“Metcalf & Eddy”), its Consulting
Engineer, for certain engineering feasibility information and upon Amawalk Consulting Group LLC
(*Amawalk Consulting”), its Rate Consultant, for certain financial estimates and projections. See
“ENGINEERING FEASIBILITY REPORT AND FORECASTED CASH FLOwS.”

Financial Projection Assumptions

The estimates and projections contained in this Reoffering Circular are based on, among other
factors, evaluations of historical revenue and expenditure data and analyses of economic trends affecting
the Authority’s finances. The financial projections contained herein are subject to certain contingencies
that cannot be quantified and are subject to the uncertainties inherent in any attempt to predict the results
of future operations. Accordingly, such projections are subject to periodic revision which may involve
substantial change. Consequently, the Authority makes no representation or warranty that these estimates
and projections will be realized.

The financial projections contained in this Reoffering Circular, including bond financings, operation
and maintenance expenses, debt service, revenues, sources and uses of funds, and forecasted cash flows
and rate increases, were prepared as of April 30, 2007, and are expected to be updated annually. Actual
financial results will differ from these projections.

USE OF PROCEEDS

It is anticipated that the proceeds of the reoffering of the Reoffered Bonds will be applied to pay the
purchase price of the Reoffered Bonds.

THE REOFFERED BONDS

The following summary describes the terms of the Reoffered Bonds only while the Reoffered Bonds
are Auction Rate Securities. Prospective purchasers of the Reoffered Bonds should not rely on this
summary if the Reoffered Bonds are bearing interest at rates other than Auction Period Rates. 1f the
Authority elects to convert all or a portion of the Reoffered Bonds to another Interest Rate Period, a new
Reoffering Circular or a supplement to this Reoffering Circular describing the terms of such Reoffered
Bonds during such Interest Rate Period will be prepared.
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General

The Reoffercd Bonds are being reoffered in the respective aggregate principal amounts and will
mature on the respective dates set forth on the inside cover page.

The Reoffered Bonds will be delivered initially only in book-entry form and. when delivered, will be
registered in the name of Cede & Co. or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of The Depository Trust Company (*DTC™), as nominee of DTC. DTC will act as the
initial Securities Depository for the Reoffered Bonds. See APPENDIX F—“BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.”
Except as described in APPENDIX F—"BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM,” Beneficial Owners (as defined in
APPENDIX F) of the Reoffered Bonds will not receive or have the right to receive physical delivery of
certificates representing their ownership interests in the Reoffered Bonds. For so long as any purchaser
is the Beneficial Owner of a Reoffered Bond, such purchaser must maintain an account with a broker or
dealer who is or acts through a Direct Participant (as defined in APPENDIX H) to receive payment of the
principal or Tender Price of or interest on such Reoffered Bonds.

Auction Rate Securities
The Reoffered Bonds will be reoffered as “Auction Rate Securities” or “ARS.”

Authorized Denominations. While bearing interest at Auction Period Rates, the Reoffered Bonds
will be issued in fully registered form without coupons in denominations of $25,000 or any integral
multiple thereof, subject to the book-entry procedures described in APPENDIX F—"BOOK-ENTRY ONLY
SYSTEM.”

Interest.  Each Series or Subseries of the Reoffered Bonds will bear interest during the applicable
Initial Period beginning on September 17, 2007 of the Reoffered Bonds against payment therefor (the
“Issue Date”) at the rate the applicable Broker-Dealers determine is necessary to sell such Reoffered
Bonds at par (cach an “Initial Rate”). Thercafter the Auction Period Rate to be applicable to each Series
or Subseries of the Reoffered Bonds during each Auction Period shall be determined, and notice thereof
shall be given, as provided in APPENDIX H—"AUCTION PROCEDURES.” The Auction Period Rate will not
exceed the Maximum Rate. Interest on the Reoffered Bonds will be computed on the basis of actual days
over 360 if the Reoffered Bonds are in an Auction Period which is Iess than 180 days and on the basis of
a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months if the Reoffered Bonds are in an Auction Period which is 180 days
or greater.

Payments.  While the Reoffered Bonds are book-entry bonds subject to the procedures described in
APPENDIX F, payment of the principal and Tender Price of and interest on any Reoffered Bonds will be
made by wire transfer to Cede & Co. or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The interest on the Reoffered Bonds will be payable on each of the following
dates (each, an “Interest Payment Date™):

(a) with respect to any Auction Period other than a daily Auction Period or a Flexible Auction
Period, on the Business Day immediately following such Auction Period,

(b) with respect to a daily Auction Period, the first Business Day of the month immediately
succeeding the first day of such Auction Period,

(c) with respect to a Flexible Auction Period of (i) seven or more but fewer than 183 days, the
Business Day immediately following such Flexible Auction Period. or (i1) 183 or more days, each
June 15 and December 15 and on the Business Day immediately following such Flexible Auction
Period, and

(d) the date when the final payment of principal of such Reoffered Bonds becomes due and payable
(whether at stated maturity, upon redemption or acceleration, or otherwise).

In the event the Reoffered Bonds are no longer maintained in book-entry form by the Securities
Depository, principal and Tender Price of and premium, if any, and interest on the Reoffered Bonds will
be payable by check mailed by the Trustee to the respective Holders thereof on the applicable Record
Date at their addresses as they appear as of the close of business on the applicable Record Date in the
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books kept by the Trustee, as Bond registrar, except that in the case of such a Holder of $1,000,000 or
more in aggregate principal amount of such Reoffered Bonds, upon the written request of such Holder
to the Trustee, specifying the account or accounts to which such payment shall be made, such payments
shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds on the applicable Payment Date following .
such Record Date. The “Record Date” with respect to the Reoffered Bonds will be the Business Day
immediately preceding each ARS Interest Payment Date.

Exchange and Transfer. In the event the Reoffered Bonds are no longer maintained in book-entry
form by the Securities Depository, the following provisions will apply. Upon surrender of a Reoffered
Bond or Reoffered Bonds at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee, as Bond registrar, together
with an assignment duly executed by the Bondholder or his attorney or legal representative in such form
and with such guaranty of signature as shall be satisfactory to the Trustee, a Reoffered Bond or Reoffered
Bonds may be exchanged for fully registered Reoffered Bonds of the same maturity, aggregating in
amount the then unpaid principal amount of the Reoffered Bond or Reoffered Bonds surrendered, of. .
Authorized Denominations.

As to any Reoffered Bond, the Bondholder shall be deemed and regarded as the absolute owner
thereof for all purposes and neither the Authority nor the Trustee shall be affected by any notice, actual
or constructive, to the contrary.

Any Reoffered Bond may be registered as transferred upon the books kept for the registration and
transfer of Reoffered Bonds only upon surrender thereof to the Trustee, as Bond registrar, together with
an assignment duly executed by the Bondholder or his attorney or legal representative in such form and
with such guaranty of signature as shall be satisfactory to the Trustee. Upon the registration of transfer
of any such Reoffered Bond and on request of the Trustee, the Authority shall execute, and the Trustee
shall authenticate and deliver, a new Reoffered Bond or Reoffered Bonds, registered in the name of the
transferee or transferees. of the same maturity, aggregating in amount the then unpaid principal amount
of the Reoffered Bond or Reoffered Bonds surrendered, of Authorized Denominations.

Auction Procedures. The procedures for submitting Orders on an Auction Date, determining the
Auction Period Rate for the related Auction Period, and allocating the applicable Series or Subseries of
the Reoffered Bonds as a result of each Auction are set forth in APPENDIX H—“AUCTION PROCEDURES”
attached hereto.

Amendment of Auction Procedures. During an ARS Rate Period, the Auction Procedures and
other provisions relating to Auction Rate Securities set forth in APPENDIX H—“AUCTION PROCEDURES”
attached hereto, including. without limitation, the definitions of All Hold Rate, Index, Interest Payment
Date, Maximum Rate. Auction Period Rate and Auction Rate, may be amended by obtaining the consent
of the owners of all affected Outstanding Reoffered Bonds of a Series or Subseries bearing interest at the
Auction Period Rate as follows. If on the first Auction Date occurring at least 20 days after the date on
which the Trustee mailed notice of such proposed amendment to the registered owners of the affected
Outstanding Reoffered Bonds as required by the Resolutions, (i) the Auction Period Rate which is
determined on such date is the Winning Bid Rate or the All Hold Rate and (ii) there is delivered to the
Authority and the Trustee an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such amendment will not
adversely affect the validity of the Reoffered Bonds or any exemption from federal income taxation to
which interest on the Reoffered Bonds would otherwise be entitled, the proposed amendment shall be
deemed to have been consented to by the registered owners of all affected Outstanding Reoffered Bonds '
bearing interest at the Auction Period Rate.

Changes in Auction Period. During an ARS Rate Period, the Authority may, from time to time, on
the Interest Payment Date immediately following the end of any Auction Period for a Series or Subseries
of the Reoffered Bonds, change the length of the Auction Period with respect to all such Series or
Subseries of the Reoffered Bonds among daily, seven-days, 28-days, 35-days, three months, six months or
a Flexible Auction Period in order to accommodate economic and financial factors that may affect or be
relevant to the length of the Auction Period and the interest rate borne by such Reoffered Bonds. The
Authority shall initiate the change in the length of the Auction Period by giving written notice to the
Trustee. the Auction Agent. the applicable Broker-Dealers, the Insurer and the Securities Depository that
the Auction Period shall change if the conditions described herein are satisfied and the proposed effective
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date of the change. at least 10 Business Days prior to the Auction Date for such Auction Period. The
change in the length of the Auction Period shall take effect only if Sufficient Clearing Bids (as defined in
APPENDIX H attached hereto) for such Series or Subseries of Reoffercd Bonds exist at the Auction on
the Auction Date for the new Auction Period. For purposes of the Auction for such new Auction Period
only. except to the extent any Existing Owner submits an Order with respect to any such Reoffered
Bonds, each Existing Owner shall be deemed to have submitted Sell Orders with respect to all of its
Reoffered Bonds if the change is to a longer Auction Period and a Hold Order if the change is to a shorter
Auction Period. If there are not Sufficient Clearing Bids for such Series or Subseries of Reoffered Bonds
the first Auction Period, the Auction Rate for the new Auction Period shall be the Maximum Rate, and
the Auction Period shall be a seven-day Auction Period.

Changes in Auction Date. During any ARS Rate Period for a Series of Subserics of Reoffered
Bonds, the Auction Agent, at the direction of the Authority may specify an earlier or later Auction Date
(but in no event more than five Business Days earlier or later) than the Auction Date that would
otherwise be determined in accordance with the definition of *Auction Date™ in order to conform with
then current market practice with respect to similar securities or to accommodate cconomic and financial
factors that may affect or be relevant to the day of the week constituting an Auction Date and the interest
rate borne by such Reoffered Bonds. The Auction Agent will provide notice of the Authority’s direction
to specify an earlier Auction Date for an Auction Period by means of a written notice delivered at least
45 days prior to the proposed changed Auction Date to the Trustee. the Insurer, the Authority and the
applicable Broker-Dealers, with a copy to the Securities Depository. In the event the Auction Agent is
instructed to specify an earlier or later Auction Date for a particular Series or Subseries of the Reoffered
Bonds, the days of the week on which an Auction Period begins and ends, the day of the week on which
a Flexible Auction Period begins and ends and the Interest Payment Dates relating to any Auction Period
will be adjusted accordingly.

Converting Interest Rate Periods; Mandatory Tender for Purchase; Rescission of Election; Failure to
Meer Conditions. The Authority may elect to convert all or a portion of a Series or Subseries of the
Reoffered Bonds from the ARS Rate Period to another Interest Rate Period effective as of an Interest
Payment Date immediately following an Auction Period. Upon such conversion. such Reoffered Bonds
shall bear interest at a Daily Rate. a Weekly Rate, a Flexible Rate or a Fixed Rate. The Authority must
provide a written direction to the Trustee, the Insurer, the Auction Agent, and the applicable
Broker-Dealers of its election to convert such Reoffered Bonds to another Interest Rate Period. The
Trustee must provide notice of such conversion to the Holders of the applicable Reoffered Bonds not less
than 30 days prior to the proposed effective date of such conversion.

Such Reoffered Bonds will be subject to mandatory tender for purchase on the Conversion Date
subject to the terms and conditions provided in the Resolutions. The Tender Price will be equal to the
principal amount thereof tendered for purchase, without premium. The Tender Price of the Reoffered
Bonds so tendered is payable solely from the proceeds of the remarketing of such Reoffered Bonds by
a remarketing agent appointed by the Authority. The applicable Policy issued by the Insurer will not be
available to pay the mandatory Tender Price.

On or prior to 10:00 a.m. New York City time on the Business Day immediately preceding the
Conversion Date, the Authority may rescind its election to make such conversion and the Auction for the
applicable Reoffered Bonds shall be held on such Auction Date as if no conversion notice had been given.

In the event that any condition to the conversion of Reoffered Bonds shall not have been satisfied
as provided in the Resolutions, the Trustee is required to give notice by Electronic Means as soon as
practicable and in no event later than the next succeeding Business Day to the Holders. the Authority, the
Insurer, the Auction Agent and the applicable Broker-Dealers that such conversion has not occurred, that
such Reoffered Bonds will not be purchased on the failed Conversion Date, that the Auction Agent will
continue to implement the Auction Procedures on the Auction Dates with respect to such Reoffered
Bonds which otherwise would have been converted excluding, however, the Auction Date falling on the
Business Day next preceding the failed Conversion Date. and that the interest rate shall continue to be
the Auction Period Rate: provided, however. that the interest rate borne by such Reoffered Bonds which
otherwise would have been converted during the Auction Period commencing on such failed Conversion
Date shall be the Maximum Rate, and the Auction Period shall be the seven-day Auction Period.
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Auction Agent: Auction Agreement. The Trustee. at the written direction of the Authority, will
appoint Wells Fargo Bank. N.A. as the initial Auction Agent. The Trustee and the Auction Agent will
enter into an Auction Agreement (the “Auction Agreement’), pursuant to which the Auction Agent will
agree to perform certain duties, including determining the Auction Period Rate for the related Auction
Period in accordance with the Auction Procedures set forth in APPENDIX H—"AUCTION PROCEDURES”
attached hereto.

Broker-Dealers; Broker-Dealer Agreements. The Authority has appointed the respective Broker-
Dealers for the Reoffered Bonds as set forth on the cover page of this Reoffering Circular (each, a
“Broker-Dealer™). The Authority may appoint one or more other Persons to serve as a Broker-Dealer.
The Auction Agent, each initial Broker-Dealer and the Authority will enter into a Broker-Dealer
Agreement (a ~Broker-Dealer Agreement”), pursuant to which such Broker-Dealer will agree to perform
certain duties, including following the Auction Procedures set forth in APPENDIX H—"AUCTION
PROCEDURES™ attached hereto.

Certain Considerations Affecting Auction Rate Securities

Role of Broker-Dealers. Each Broker-Dealer has been appointed by the issuers or obligors of
various auction rate securities to serve as a dealer in the auctions for those securities and is paid by the
issuers or obligors for its services. Each Broker-Dealer receives broker-dealer fees from such issuers or
obligors at agreed-upon annual rates that are applied to the principal amount of securities sold or

successfully placed through such Broker-Dealer in such auctions.

Fach Broker-Dealer is designated in its Broker-Dealer Agreement as a Broker-Dealer with respect
to a particular Series or Subseries of the Reoffered Bonds and is authorized to contact Existing Owners
and Potential Owners and solicit Bids for such Reoffered Bonds. Each Broker-Dealer will receive
Broker-Dealer fees from the Authority with respect to the Reoffered Bonds sold or successfully placed
through it in Auctions for the Reoffered Bonds. Each Broker-Dealer may share a portion of such fees
with other dealers that submit Orders through it that are filled in the Auction for the Reoffered Bonds.

The Broker-Dealers have agreed, subject to certain conditions, to purchase the Reoffered Bonds on
September 17, 2007 from the Authority for a fee of $1,367.400 plus certain expenses.

Bidding by Broker-Dealers. Each Broker-Dealer is permitted, but not obligated, to submit Orders
in Auctions for the Reoffered Bonds for its own account either as a buyer or seller and routinely does so
in the auction rate securities market in its sole discretion. If a Broker-Dealer submits an Order for its own
account, it would have an advantage over other Bidders because such Broker-Dealer would have
knowledge of the other Orders placed through it in that Auction for the Reoffered Bonds and thus, could
determine the rate and size of its Order so as to increase the likelihood that (i) its Order will be accepted
in the Auction for the Reoffered Bonds and (i) the Auction for the Reoffered Bonds will clear at a
particular rate. For this reason, and because each Broker-Dealer is appointed and paid by the Authority
to serve as a Broker-Dealer in the Auctions for the Reoffered Bonds, the Broker-Dealer’s interests in
serving as Broker-Dealer in an Auction for the Reoffcred Bonds may differ from those of Existing
Owners and Potential Owners who participate in Auctions for such Reoffered Bonds. See “Role of
Broker-Dealers.” A Broker-Dealer would not have knowledge of Orders submitted to the Auction Agent
by any other firm that is, or may in the future be, appointed to submit Orders pursuant to a Broker-Dealer
Agreement.

Each Broker-Dealer routinely places bids in auctions generally for its own account to acquire
securities for its inventory, to prevent an “Auction Failure” (which occurs if there are insufficient clearing
bids and results in the auction rate being set at the Maximum Rate) or to prevent an auction from clearing
at a rate that such Broker-Dealer believes does not reflect the market for such securities. Each
Broker-Dealer may place one or more Bids in an Auction for Reoffered Bonds for its own account to
acquire such Reoffered Bonds for its inventory, to prevent an Auction Failure or to prevent Auctions for
the Reoffered Bonds from clearing at a rate that the Broker-Dealer believes does not reflect the market
for such Reoffered Bonds. Each Broker-Dealer may place such Bids even after obtaining knowledge of
some or all of the other Orders submitted through it. When Bidding in an Auction for the Reoffered
Bonds for its own account, each Broker-Dealer also may Bid inside or outside the range of rates that it
posts in its Price Talk. See “Price Talk.”



Each Broker-Dealer routinely encourages bidding by others in auctions generally for which it serves
as broker-dealer, including auctions for securities other than the Reoffered Bonds. Each Broker-Dealer
also may encourage Bidding by others in Auctions for the Reoffered Bonds, including to prevent an
Auction Failure or to prevent an Auction for the Reoffered Bonds from clearing at a rate that such
Broker-Dealer believes does not reflect the market for the Reoffered Bonds. Each Broker-Dealer may
encourage such Bids even after obtaining knowledge of some or all of the other Orders submitted through
1t.

Bids by a Broker-Dealer or by those it may encourage to place Bids are likely to affect (i) the Auction
Rate including preventing the Auction Rate from being set at the Maximum Rate or otherwise causing
Bidders to receive a lower rate than they might have received had such Broker-Dealer not Bid or not
encouraged others to Bid and (ii) the allocation of the Reoffered Bonds being auctioned including
displacing some Bidders who may have their Bids rejected or receive fewer Reoffered Bonds than they
would have received if such Broker-Dealer had not Bid or encouraged others to Bid. Because of these
practices, the fact that an Auction for the Reoffered Bonds clears successfully does not mean that an
investment in such Reoffered Bonds involves no significant liquidity or credit risk. A Broker-Dealer is not
obligated to continue to place such Bids or to continue to encourage other Bidders to do so in any
particular Auction for the Reoffered Bonds to prevent an Auction Failure or an Auction for such
Reoffered Bonds from clearing at a rate such Broker-Dealer believes does not reflect the market for such
Reoffered Bonds. Investors should not assume that a Broker-Dealer will place Bids or encourage others
to do so or that Auction Failures will not occur. Investors should also be aware that Bids by a
Broker-Dealer or by those it may encourage to place Bids may cause lower Auction Rates to occur.

The statements herein regarding Bidding by a Broker-Dealer apply only to such Broker-Dealer’s
auction desk and any other business units of such Broker-Dealer that are not separated from the auction
desk by an information barrier designed to limit inappropriate dissemination of bidding information.

In any particular Auction for a Series or Subseries of the Reoffered Bonds. if all such outstanding
Reoffered Bonds are the subject of Submitted Hold Orders, the Auction Rate for the next succeeding
Auction Period will be the All Hold Rate (such a situation is called an “All Hold Auction”). If any
Broker-Dealer holds any Reoffered Bonds for its own account on an Auction Date, it is the practice of
such Broker-Dealer to submit a Sell Order into the Auction for such Reoffered Bonds, which would
prevent that Auction from being an All Hold Auction. Each Broker-Dealer may, but is not obligated to,
submit Bids for its own account in that same Auction for the Reoffered Bonds, as set forth above.

Price Talk. Before the start of an Auction for a Series or Subseries of the Reoffered Bonds, each
applicable Broker-Dealer. in its discretion, may make available to its customers who are Existing Owners
and Potential Owners such Broker-Dealer’s good faith judgment of the range of likely clearing rates for
the Auction for such Reoffered Bonds based on market and other information. This is known as “Price
Talk.” Price Talk is not a guaranty that the Auction Rate established through the Auction will be within
the Price Talk, and Existing Owners and Potential Owners are free to use it or ignore it. Each
Broker-Dealer occasionally may update and change the Price Talk based on changes in credit quality of
the Authority or macroeconomic factors that are likely to result in a change in interest rate levels, such
as an announcement by the Federal Reserve Board of a change in the Federal Funds rate or an
announcement by the Bureau of Labor Statistics of unemployment numbers. Each Broker-Dealer will use
its best efforts to communicate this information in a manner reasonably designed to make it available to
all Existing Owners and Potential Owners that were given the original Price Talk. Existing Owners and
Potential Owners should confirm with the Broker-Dealer the manner by which the Broker-Dealer will
communicate Price Talk and any changes to Price Talk.

“All-or-Nothing™ Bids. The Broker-Dealers will not accept “all-or-nothing” Bids (i.c., Bids whereby
the Bidder proposes to reject an allocation smaller than the entire quantity Bid) or any other type of Bid
that allows the Bidder to avoid Auction Procedures that require the pro rata allocation of Reoffered
Bonds where there are not sufficient Sell Orders to fill all Bids at the Winning Bid Rate.

No Assurances Regarding Auction Qutcomes. The Broker-Dealers provide no assurance as to the
outcome of any Auction. The Broker-Dealers also do not provide any assurance that any Bid will be
successful, in whole or in part, or that the Auction for the Reoffered Bonds will clear at a rate that a
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Bidder considers acceptable. Bids may be only partially filled, or not filled at all, and the Auction Rate
on the Reoffered Bonds purchased or retained in the Auction may be lower than the market rate for
similar investments.

The Broker-Dealers will not agree before an Auction to buy Reoffered Bonds from or sell Reoffered
Bonds to a customer after the Auction.

Deadlines. Each particular Auction for the Reoffered Bonds has a formal deadline by which all
Bids must be submitted by the Broker-Dealers to the Auction Agent. This deadline is called the
“Submission Deadline.” To provide sufficient time to process and submit customer Bids to the Auction
Agent before the Submission Deadline, each Broker-Dealer imposes an earlier deadline for all of its
customers — called the “Broker-Dealer Deadline” — by which Bidders must submit Bids to such
Broker-Dealer. The Broker-Dealer Deadline is subject to change by the Broker-Dealer. Each Broker-
Dealer will use its best efforts to make this information available by means reasonably expected to reach
Existing Owners and Potential Owners. Existing Owners and Potential Owners should consult with the
Broker-Dealer as to its Broker-Dealer Deadline. Each Broker-Dealer may allow for correction of clerical
errors after its Broker-Dealer Deadline and prior to the Submission Deadline. Each Broker-Dealer may
submit Bids for its own account at any time until the Submission Deadline. The Auction Procedures
provide that until one hour after the Auction Agent completes the dissemination of the results of an
Auction, new Orders can be submitted to the Auction Agent if such Orders were received by a
Broker-Dealer or generated by a Broker-Dealer for its own account prior to the Submission Deadline and
the failure to submit such Orders prior to the Submission Deadline was the result of force majeure, a
technological failure or a clerical error. In addition until one hour after the Auction Agent completes the
dissemination of the results of an Auction, a Broker-Dealer may modify or withdraw an Order submitted
to the Auction Agent prior to the Submission Deadline if such Broker-Dealer determines that such Order
contained a clerical error. In the event of such a submission, modification or withdrawal, the Auction
Agent will rerun the Auction, if necessary, taking into account such submission, modification or
withdrawal.

Existing Owner’s Ability to Resell Auction Rate Securities May Be Limited. An Existing Owner may
sell, transfer or dispose of a Reoffered Bond (i) in an Auction for the Reoffered Bonds, only pursuant to
a Bid or Sell Order in accordance with the Auction Procedures, or (ii) outside an Auction for the
Reoffered Bonds, only to or through a Broker-Dealer.

Existing Owners will be able to sell all of the Reoffered Bonds that are the subject of their Submitted
Sell Orders only if there are Bidders willing to purchase all those Reoffered Bonds in the Auction for the
Reoffered Bonds. If Sufficient Clearing Bids have not been made, Existing Owners that have submitted
Sell Orders will not be able to sell in the Auction for the Reoffered Bonds all, and may not be able to sell
any, of such Reoffered Bonds subject to such Submitted Sell Orders. As discussed above (see “Bidding
by Broker-Dealers™), each Broker-Dealer may submit a Bid in an Auction for the Reoffered Bonds to
avoid an Auction Failure, but it is not obligated to do so. There may not always be enough Bidders to
prevent an Auction Failure in the absence of a Broker-Dealer bidding in the Auction for the Reoffered
Bonds for its own account or encouraging others to Bid. Therefore, Auction Failures are possible,
especially if the Authority’s or the Insurer’s credit were to deteriorate, if a market disruption were to occur
or if, for any reason, the Broker-Dealers were unable or unwilling to Bid.

Between Auctions for the Reoffered Bonds, there can be no assurance that a secondary market for
the Reoffered Bonds will develop or, if it does develop, that it will provide Existing Owners the ability to
resell the Reoffered Bonds on the terms or at the times desired by an Existing Owner. Each
Broker-Dealer, in its own discretion, may decide to buy or sell the Reoffered Bonds in the secondary
market for its own account from or to investors at any time and at any price, including at prices equivalent
to, below, or above par for such Reoffered Bonds. However, the Broker-Dealers are not obligated to
make a market in the Reoffered Bonds and may discontinue trading in the Reoffered Bonds without
notice for any reason at any time. Existing Owners who resell between Auctions for the Reoffered Bonds
may receive an amount less than par, depending on market conditions.



If an Existing Owner purchased a Reoffered Bond through a dealer that is not a Broker-Dealer for
the Reoffered Bonds. such Existing Owner’s ability to sell its Reoffered Bonds may be affected by the
continued ability of its dealer to transact trades for the Reoffered Bonds through a Broker-Dealer.

The ability to resell the Reoffered Bonds will depend on various factors affecting the market for the
Reoffered Bonds, including news relating to the Authority or the Insurer, the attractiveness of alternative
investments, investor demand for short term securitics, the perceived risk of owning the Reoffered Bonds
(whether related to credit, liquidity or any other risk), the tax or accounting treatment accorded the
Reoffered Bonds (including U.S. generally accepted accounting principles as they apply to the accounting
treatment of auction rate securities), reactions of market participants to regulatory actions (such as those
described in “Securities and Exchange Commission Settlements™ below) or press reports, financial
reporting cycles and market conditions generally. Demand for the Reoffered Bonds may change without
warning, and declines in demand may be short-lived or continue for longer periods.

Resignation of the Auction Agent or the Broker-Dealer Could Impact the Ability to Hold Auctions.
The Auction Agreement provides that the Auction Agent may resign from its duties as Auction Agent
by giving at least 90 days’ notice to the Trustee and the Authority provided a replacement Auction Agent
has been appointed and does not require, as a condition to the effectiveness of such resignation, that a
replacement Auction Agent be in place if its fee has not been paid in which case only 30 days’ notice of
such resignation is required. The Broker-Dealer Agreements provide that each Broker-Dealer may resign
upon 30 days’ notice provided that at least one Broker-Dealer Agreement is in effect with respect to the
Reoffered Bonds immediately following such resignation. In addition, a Broker-Dealer may suspend
Auctions in certain circumstances. For any Auction Period during which there is no duly appointed
Auction Agent or Broker-Dealer, it will not be possible to hold Auctions for the Reoffered Bonds, with
the result that the interest on such Reoffered Bonds will be determined set forth in the Auction
Procedures. See “APPENDIX H—AUCTION PROCEDURES"™ attached hereto.

See the Auction Procedures in Appendix H for a more extensive discussion of the provisions
applicable to the Reoffered Bonds while bearing interest at the Auction Rate.

The information in this caption (“Certain Considerations Relating 1o the Auction Rate Bonds™) was
provided by the Broker-Dealers and is not the responsibility of the Authority.

The preceding and the related appendices summarize provisions expected to be included in the
proceedings under which the Reoffered Bonds are to be issued as Auction Rate Bonds registered to DTC,
and are subject in all respects to the underlying documents, copies of which will be available for inspection
during business hours at the office of the Trustee.

Securities and Exchange Commission Settlements. On May 31, 2006, the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC™) announced that it had settled its investigation of fifteen firms,
including each of the Broker-Dealers set forth on the cover page with the exception of UBS Securities
LLC, First Albany Capital Inc. and Loop Capital Markets LLC (the “Settling Broker-Dealers™), that
participate in the auction rate securities market. regarding their respective practices and procedures in this
market. The SEC alleged in the settlement that the firms had managed auctions for auction ratc securities
in which they participated in ways that were not adequately disclosed or that did not conform to disclosed
auction procedures. As part of the settlement, the Settling Broker-Dealers agreed to pay civil penalties.
In addition. each Settling Broker-Dealer, without admitting or denying the SEC’s allegations. agreed to
provide to customers written descriptions of its material auction practices and procedures and to
implement procedures reasonably designed to detect and prevent any failures by that Settling Broker-
Dealer to conduct the auction process in accordance with disclosed procedures. No action was taken by
the SEC against UBS Securities LLC, First Albany Capital Inc. or Loop Capital Markets LLC and no
such firm is aware of any ongoing inquiries on this matter related to them.

In addition on January 9, 2007, the SEC announced that it had settled its investigation of three banks,
not including the Auction Agent (the “Settling Auction Agents™), that participate as auction agents in the
auction rate securities market, regarding their respective practices and procedures in this market. The
SEC alleged in the settlement that the Settling Auction Agents allowed broker-dealers in auctions to
submit bids or revise bids after the submission deadlines and allowed broker-dealers to intervene in
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auctions in ways that affected the rates paid on the auction rate securities. As part of the settlement, the
Settling Auction Agents agreed to pay civil penalties. In addition, each Settling Auction Agent, without
admitting or denying the SEC’s allegations, agreed to provide to broker-dealers and issuers written
descriptions of its material auction practices and procedures and to implement procedures reasonably
designed to detect and prevent any failures by that Settling Auction Agent to conduct the auction process
in accordance with disclosed procedures. No assurance can be offered as to how the settlement may affect
the market for auction rate securities or the Reoffered Bonds.

Optional Redemption

So long as the Reoffered Bonds are ARS and if there is no continuing Event of Default under the
terms of the Resolutions the Reoffered Bonds are subject to redemption by the Authority, on the Interest
Payment Date immediately following an Auction Period, as a whole or in part in an Authorized
Denomination, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, plus accrued
but unpaid interest to the redemption date, without premium; provided, however, that after giving effect
to any redemption in part, not less than $10,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of ARS shall remain
Outstanding, unless otherwise consented to by all the applicable Broker-Dealers.

Selection of Reoffered Bonds to be Redeemed

In the event less than all of a Series or Subseries of the Reoffered Bonds of like maturity are to be
redeemed prior to maturity, the Trustee will select Reoffered Bonds for redemption in accordance with
the provisions of the Resolutions.

Notice of Redemption

Notice of redemption is to be given by first class mail, postage prepaid, at least 30 days prior to he
date fixed for redemption, to the registered owners of the Reoffered Bonds to be redeemed at their
addresses shown on the books of registry. So long as Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, is the registered
owner of the Reoffered Bonds, notice of redemption is to be sent to DTC. No assurance can be given by
the Authority that DTC and DTC participants will promptly transmit notices of redemption to Beneficial
Owners.

If, on any redemption date, moneys for the redemption of the Reoffered Bonds to be redeemed,
together with interest thereon to the redemption date, are held by the Trustee so as to be available
therefore on such date, and if notice of redemption has been mailed, then interest on the Reoffered Bonds
to be redeemed will cease to accrue from and after the redemption date and such Reoffered Bonds will
no longer be considered to be Outstanding under the Resolution.

The notice of redemption may provide that the Reoffered Bonds will be due and payable on the
redemption date only if moneys sufficient to accomplish such redemption are held by the Trustee on the
scheduled redemption date.

FGIC INSURED BONDS

THE INSURER HAS SUPPLIED THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION FOR INCLUSION IN
THIS REOFFERING CIRCULAR. NO REPRESENTATION IS MADE BY THE ISSUER OR THE
UNDERWRITER AS TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THIS INFORMATION.

PAYMENTS UNDER THE POLICY

Financial Guaranty Insurance Company (the “Insurer”) has issued its Municipal Bond New Issue
Insurance Policy (the “Policies” and each a “Policy”) for each Series of the Reoffered Bonds (the “FGIC
Insured Bonds”). Each Policy unconditionally guarantees the payment of that portion of the principal or
accreted value (if applicable) of and interest on the Reoffered Bonds which has become due for payment,
but shall be unpaid by reason of nonpayment by the Authority. The Insurer will make such payments to
U.S. Bank Trust National Association, or its successor as its agent (the “Fiscal Agent”), on the later of the
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date on which such principal. accreted value or interest (as applicable) is due or on the business day next
following the day on which the Insurer shall have received notice (in accordance with the terms of the
Policy) from an owner of FGIC Insured Bonds or the Trustee of the nonpayment of such amount by the
Authority. The Fiscal Agent will disburse such amount due on any FGIC Insured Bond to its owner upon
receipt by the Fiscal Agent of evidence satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent of the owner’s right to receive
payment of the principal. acereted value or interest (as applicable) due for payment and evidence,
including any appropriate instruments of assignment, that all of such owner’s rights to payment of such
principal, accreted value or interest (as applicable) shall be vested in the Insurer. The term “nonpayment™
in respect of a FGIC Insured Bond includes any payment of principal, accreted value or interest (as
applicable) made to an owner of a FGIC Insured Bond which has been recovered from such owner
pursuant to the United States Bankruptey Code by a trustee in bankruptey in accordance with a final,
nonappealable order of a court having competent jurisdiction.

Once issued. the Policy is non-cancellable by the Insurer. The Policy covers failure to pay principal
(or accreted value. if applicable) of the FGIC Insured Bonds on their stated maturity dates and their
mandatory sinking fund redemption dates, and not on any other date on which the FGIC Insured Bonds
may have been otherwise called for redemption. accelerated or advanced in maturity. The Policy also
covers the failure to pay interest on the stated date for its payment. In the event that payment of the FGIC
Insured Bonds is accclerated. the Insurer will only be obligated to pay principal (or accreted value, if
applicable) and intcrest in the originally scheduled amounts on the originally scheduled payment dates.
Upon such payment, the Insurer will become the owner of the FGIC Insured Bond. appurtenant coupon
or right to payment of principal or interest on such FGIC Insured Bond and will be fully subrogated to
all of the Bondholder’s rights thercunder.

The Policy does not insurc any risk other than Nonpayment by the Authority. as defined in the Policy.
Specifically. the Policy does not cover: (i) payment on acceleration, as a result of a call for redemption
(other than mandatory sinking fund redemption) or as a result of any other advancement of maturity; (ii)
payment of any redemption. prepayment or acceleration premium: or (iii) nonpayment of principal (or
accreted value. if applicable) or interest caused by the insolvency or negligence or any other act or
omission of the trustee or paying agent, if any.

As a condition of its commitment to insure the FGIC Insured Bonds, the Insurer is granted certain
rights under the Resolutions. See APPENDIX C.

The Policy is not covered by the Property/Casualty Insurance Scecurity Fund specified in Article 76
of the New York Insurance Law.

FINANCIAL GUARANTY INSURANCE COMPANY

The Insurer is a New York stock insurance corporation that writes financial guaranty insurance in
respect of public finance and structured finance obligations and other financial obligations. including
credit default swaps. The Insurer is licensed to engage in the financial guaranty insurance business in all
50 states, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. the U.S. Virgin Islands and the
United Kingdom.

The Insurer is a direct. wholly owned subsidiary of FGIC Corporation. a Delaware corporation. At
June 30. 2007, the principal owners of FGIC Corporation and the approximate percentage of its
outstanding common stock owned by cach were as follows: The PMI Group, Inc. — 42%: affiliates of the
Blackstone Group L.P. — 23%: and affiliates of the Cypress Group L.L.C. — 23%. Neither FGIC
Corporation nor any of its stockholders or affiliates is obligated to pay any debts of the Insurer or any
claims under any insurance policy. including the Policy. issued by the Insurer.

The Insurer is subject to the insurance laws and regulations of the State of New York, where the
Insurer is domiciled. including New York’s comprehensive financial guaranty insurance law. That law,
among other things, limits the business of cach financial guaranty insurer to financial guaranty insurance
(and related lines): requires that cach financial guaranty insurcr maintain a minimum surplus to
policyholders: establishes limits on the aggregate nct amount of exposure that may be retained in respect
of a particular issuer or revenue source (known as single risk limits) and on the aggregate net amount of
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exposure that may be retained in respect of particular types of risk as compared to the policyholders
surplus (known as aggregate risk limits); and establishes contingency, loss and unearned premium reserve
requirements. In addition, The Insurer is also subject to thc applicable insurance laws and regulations of
all other jurisdictions in which it is licensed to transact insurance business. The insurance laws and
regulations, as well as the level of supervisory authority that may be exercised by the various insurance
regulators, vary by jurisdiction.

At June 30, 2007, the Insurer had net admitted assets of approximately $4.040 billion, total liabilities
of approximately $2.944 billion, and total capital and policyholders” surplus of approximately $1.096
billion, determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices (“SAP™) prescribed or permitted by
insurance regulatory authorities.

The unaudited financial statements as of June 30. 2007, and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Insurer and subsidiaries, on the basis of U.S. gencerally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”), as of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005. which will be filed with the Nationally
Recognized Municipal Securities Information Repositories (“"NRMSIRs™). are hereby included by
specific reference in this Reoffering Circular. Any statement contained herein under the heading “"FGIC
INSURED BONDS,” or in any documents included by specific reference herein. shall be modified or
superseded to the extent required by any statement in any document subsequently filed by the Insurer
with such NRMSIRs, and shall not be deemed. except as so modified or superseded. to constitute a part
of this Reoffering Circular. All financial statements of the Insurer (if any) included in documents filed by
the Insurer with the NRMSIRs subscquent to the date of this Reoffering Circular and prior to the
termination of the offering of the FGIC Insurcd Bonds shall be deemed to be included by specific
reference into this Reoffering Circular and to be a part hereof from the respective dates of filing of such
documents.

The New York State Insurance Department recognizes only SAP for determining and reporting the
financial condition and results of operations of an insurance company, for determining its solvency under
the New York Insurance Law, and for determining whether its financial condition warrants the payment
of a dividend to its stockholders. Although the Insurer prepares both GAAP and SAP financial
statements, no consideration is given by the New York State Insurance Department to financial
statements prepared in accordance with GAAP in making such determinations. A discussion of the
principal differences between SAP and GAAP is contained in the notes to the Insurer’s audited SAP
financial statements.

Copies of the Insurer’s most recently published GAAP and SAP financial statements are available
upon request to: Financial Guaranty Insurance Company, 125 Park Avenue. New York, NY 10017,
Attention: Corporate Communications Department. Financial Guaranty’s telephone number is (212)
312-3000.

The Insurer’s Credit Ratings

The financial strength of the Insurer is rated "AAA" by Standard & Poor’s, a Division of The
McGraw-Hill Companies. Inc., “Aaa” by Moody’s Investors Service, and *AAA" by Fitch Ratings. Each
rating of the Insurer should be evaluated independently. The ratings reflect the respective ratings
agencies’ current assessments of the insurance financial strength of the Insurer. Any further explanation
of any rating may be obtained only from thc applicable rating agency. These ratings are not
recommendations to buy, sell or hold the FGIC insured Bonds. and are subject to revision or withdrawal
at any time by the rating agencies. Any downward revision or withdrawal of any of the above ratings may
have an adverse effect on the market price of the FGIC Insured Bonds. The Insured does not guarantee
the market price or investment value of the FGIC Insured Bonds nor does it guarantee that the ratings
on the FGIC Insured Bonds will not be revised or withdrawn.

Neither the Insurer nor any of its affiliates accepts any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness
of the Reoffering Circular or any information or disclosure that is provided to potential purchasers of the
FGIC Insured Bonds, or omitted from such disclosure, other than with respect to the accuracy of
information with respect to the Insurer or the Policy under the heading “FGIC INSURED BONDS.” In
addition, the Insurer makes no representation regarding the FGIC Insured Bonds or the advisability of
investing in the FGIC Insured Bonds.
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SECURITY FOR THE BONDS
Revenues

The Act empowers the Board to establish and collect rates, fees and charges for the use of service
provided by the System in order to receive Revenues, which together with other available amounts, will
be sufficient to place the System on a self-sustaining basis. All Revenues of the System are deposited by
the Board in the Local Water Fund held by the Board. The Authority holds a statutory first lien on the
Revenues for the payment of all amounts due to the Authority under the Agreement. In the event that
the Board fails to make any required payment to the Authority, the Authority or the Trustee may petition
for the appointment, by any court having jurisdiction, of a receiver to administer the affairs of the Board,
and, with court approval, establish rates and charges to provide Revenues sufficient to make required
payments. However, no holder or owner of any bond or note issued by the Authority, or any receiver of
the System, may compel the sale of any part of the System.

The City has covenanted in the Agreement to operate and maintain the System in accordance with
the advice and recommendations of the Consulting Engineer. Such obligation to operate and maintain the
System may be enforced by the Authority in accordance with the provisions of the Act and the terms of
the Agrcement and the Lease and is not contingent on payment by the Board. The amounts required to
operate and maintain the System are certified to the Board by the City and reviewed by the Consulting
Engineer.

Beginning on the first day of each month the Board is required to pay to the Trustee under the
Resolution the Revenues in the Local Water Fund, for deposit in the Revenue Fund established under the
Resolution until the amount so deposited equals the Minimum Monthly Balance and the Required
Deposits for such month. The Minimum Monthly Balance is the amount required to accumulate the funds
necessary for timely payment of all debt service on Outstanding Bonds. Required Deposits are the
amounts required to be paid from Revenues for deposit to the Authority Expense Fund (including both
periodic and termination payments under Interest Rate Exchange Agreements (see “APPENDIX
D—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Note 107)), the Debt Service Reserve Fund and the Subordinated
Indebtedness Fund, including amounts required for payment of the Second Resolution Bonds and other
subordinate debt. See “APPENDIX C—GLOSSARY AND SUMMARY OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS—Summary
of the Agreement—Minimum Monthly Balance.”

Amounts on deposit in the Revenue Fund are required to be paid to the following funds established
under the Resolution in the following order of priority: first, to the Debt Service Fund; second, to the
Authority Expense Fund; third, to the Debt Service Reserve Fund to replenish any deficiency therein; and
fourth, to the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund. If amounts on deposit in such Debt Service Fund or such
Debt Service Reserve Fund are less than the requirements thereof, amounts on deposit in the
Subordinated Indebtedness Fund are required to be used to make up such deficiency. See “APPENDIX
C-—GLOSSARY AND SUMMARY OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS—Summary of the Resolution—Payments into
Certain Funds.”

In each month, after making required payments to the Revenue Fund, the Board is required, after
paying monthly Board Expenses, to pay the City Yz of the Operating Expenses for the current Fiscal Year
from the balance remaining in the Local Water Fund. After making such payments. any amounts
remaining in the Local Water Fund in each month are paid proportionately (a) to the Trustee for deposit
in the Revenue Fund until the total of all amounts deposited in the Revenue Fund equals the Cash Flow
Requirement for such Fiscal Year and (b) to the City until all amounts required to be paid to the City for
Operating Expenses for such Fiscal Year have been paid. For a more complete description of the required
payments from the Local Water Fund, see “APPENDIX C—GLOSSARY AND SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
DOCUMENTS—Summary of the Resolution” and “Summary of the Agreement.”

The Reoffered Bonds will be on a parity with the currently Outstanding Bonds and with Bonds
hereafter issued, and are payable from and secured by a pledge of (i) all Revenues, (ii) all moneys or
securities in any of the Funds and Accounts established under the Resolutions and (iii) all other moneys
and securities to be received, held or set aside pursuant to the Resolution, subject only to the provisions
of the Resolution and the Agreement permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms
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and conditions set forth therein, including the making of any required payments to the United States with
respect to arbitrage earnings. See “ APPENDIX C—GLOSSARY AND SUMMARY OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS—
Summary of the Resolution” and “—Summary of the Agreement.”

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Resolution and the Second Resolution, the Revenues received by the
Board will be applied in the manner set forth in the following chart. The information contained in such
chart is qualified by reference to the Agreement, the Resolution and the Second Resolution.

Consolidated Flow of Funds

First: Daily transfer from General Resolution Second Resolution
Local Water Fund Revenue Fund Revenue Fund
(Monthly
Requirement)
' ¥
Debt Service Fund
¥ Second Resolution
Debt Service Fund
Authority Expenses
' '
DSRF Refills
¥ Arbitrage Rebate Fund
Subordinated
Indebtedness Fund
Second: Daily transfer from Local Water Fund —— + Water Board Expenses
(Monthly Requirement)
Third; Daily transfer from Local Water Fund — ¥ System Operations and Maintenance
(Monthly Requirement)
Fourth; Daily transfer from Local Water Fund —®  Pro rata to:
(Up to Annual Requirement) » General Resolution Revenue Fund: for annual
Debt Service, Authority expenses, DSRF, Subordinate
Indebtedness (Second Resolution)
¢ System Operations and Maintenance
Fifth - Seventh: Daily transfer from Local Water Fund ——® « City lease payment, operating and maintenance reserve
(After Debt Service is set aside; typically funded replenishment, surplus including pay as you go capital

during the last few months of the fiscal year)

Debt Service Reserve Fund

The Resolution establishes a Debt Service Reserve Fund and requires as a condition to the issuance
of each Series of Bonds that there be deposited into the Debt Service Reserve Fund the amount, if any,
necessary to make the amount on deposit therein equal to the Debt Service Reserve Requirement, after
giving effect to the issuance of such Bonds. The Debt Service Reserve Requirement is an amount equal
to maximum annual Adjusted Aggregate Debt Service in the then current or any future Fiscal Year on
all Bonds Outstanding. Adjusted Aggregate Debt Service includes an assumed amortization of Refund-
able Principal Instaliments under certain circumstances. Amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve
Fund will be applied, to the extent Revenues are not available, to pay Principal Installments and interest
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on the Bonds. In lieu of making cash deposits to the Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Authority may
satisfy the Debt Service Reserve Requirement by depositing Financial Guaranties into the Debt Service
Reserve Fund. See “APPENDIX C—GLOSSARY AND SUMMARY OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS—Summary of
the Resolution—Debt Service Reserve Fund.”

On June 30, 2007 the market value of the securities and cash in the Debt Service Reserve Fund was
in excess of the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement which was approximately $757.6 million as of
such date. Upon the delivery of the Reoffered Bonds, the Debt Service Reserve Fund will be funded in
an amount at least equal to the maximum annual Adjusted Aggregate Debt Service on the Bonds.

Rate Covenant

The Board has covenanted in the Agreement to establish, fix, revise and collect rates, fees and
charges for the use of, or the services furnished by the System, adequate, together with other available
funds, to provide for (i) the timely payment of Principal Installments of and interest on all Bonds, and the
principal of and interest on any other indebtedness of the Authority (which includes Second Resolution
Bonds and other subordinate debt) payable from Revenues, (ii) the proper operation and maintenance
of the System, (iii} all other payments required for the System not otherwise provided for, and (iv) all
other payments required pursuant to the Agreement and the Lease.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Board has covenanted to establish and collect
rates, fees and charges sufficient in each Fiscal Year so that Revenues collected in such Fiscal Year will
be at least equal to the sum of 115% of Aggregate Debt Service and Projected Debt Service on all Bonds
(excluding Refundable Principal Installments that are payable from funds held in trust therefor) payable
in such Fiscal Year, and 100% of the Operating Expenses and Required Deposits (including debt service
on Second Resolution Bonds and other subordinate debt) required to be paid from Revenues for such
Fiscal Year (the “Rate Covenant™).

Under the Resolution and the Second Resolution, the Authority is required to submit to the Board
by May 1 of each year the Authority Budget for the ensuing Fiscal Year showing the itemized estimated
Cash Flow Requirement for such Fiscal Year. At the beginning of cach month, the Authority is to
recalculate the Cash Flow Requirement for the then current Fiscal Year and to submit any revisions to the
Authority Budget required as a consequence to the Board. The Authority Budget and Cash Flow
Requirement are to be used by the Board to set rates, fees and charges.

The Board has covenanted in the Agreement to review the adequacy of rates, fees and charges at
least annually. If such annual review, or the report of the Rate Consultant required pursuant to the
Agreement, indicates that the rates, fees and charges are or will be insufficient to meet the requirements
of the Rate Covenant described above, the Board will promptly take the necessary action to cure or avoid
any such deficiency. In addition, under the Agreement, the City, which is responsible for billing, collecting
and enforcing collcctions of rates and charges established by the Board, has agreed that it will diligently
pursue all actions necessary to cure or avoid any such deficiency.

The Board has covenanted in the Agreement that it will not furnish or supply or cause to be furnished
or supplied any product, use or service of the System free of charge or at a nominal charge, and will
enforce (or cause the City to enforce) the payment of any and all amounts owing to the Board for use of
the System, cxcept to the extent required by the Act, as in effect on July 24, 1984.

Additional Bonds

The Authority may issue additional Bonds to pay for capital improvements to the System, to pay or
provide for the payment of Bonds, Second Resolution Bonds and bond anticipation notes, including
commercial paper notes, to refund general obligation bonds of the City issued for water or sewer purposes
and to fund certain reserves. Under the Resolution, additional Bonds may be issued only upon satisfaction
of certain requirements, including receipt by the Trustee of:

(a) a certificate by an Authorized Representative of the Authority to the effect that the
Revenues for either of the last two Fiscal Years immediately preceding the Fiscal Year in which such
Bonds are to be issued were at least equal to the sum of 115% of the Aggregate Debt Service during
such Fiscal Year (excluding from Aggregate Debt Service any Principal Installments, or portion
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thereof, paid from a source other than Revenues), and 100% of the sum of the Operating Expenses
of the System certified by the City and the Required Deposits for such Fiscal Year, and

(b) a certificate of the Rate Consultant to the effect that the estimated Revenues for each of the
following five Fiscal Years (plus the Fiscal Year in which such Bonds are issued) after giving effect
to any increases or decreases in rates, fees and charges projected for such Fiscal Years will be at least
equal to the sum of 115% of the maximum estimated Adjusted Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds
then Outstanding including the Bonds to be issued, and 100% of the sum of the projected Operating
Expenses and Required Deposits for such Fiscal Years. Adjusted Aggregate Debt Service includes an
assumed amortization of Refundable Principal Installments under certain circumstances.

The Authority may issue additional Bonds for the purpose of refunding Outstanding Bonds without
satisfaction of the requirements described above only if:

(a) the average annual debt service on the refunding Bonds does not exceed the average annual
debt service on the Bonds to be refunded, and

(b) the maximum debt service in any Fiscal Year on the refunding Bonds does not exceed the
maximum debt service in any Fiscal Year on the Bonds to be refunded.

See “APPENDIX C—GLOSSARY AND SUMMARY OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS—Summary of the
Resolution.”

Authority Debt

At the date of this Reoffering Circular, the Authority has approximately $10.7 billion aggregate
principal amount of Outstanding Bonds (Capital Appreciation Bonds are included at their accreted value
as of September 5, 2007). In addition, at the date of this Reoffering Circular, the Authority has
approximately $6.3 billion aggregate principal amount of outstanding Second Resolution Bonds. The
Authority is authorized to have outstanding up to $800 million of commercial paper notes (the
“Commercial Paper Notes”).

For purposes of the Board’s rate covenant, Refundable Principal Installments may be excluded from
Debt Service to the extent they are payable from funds held in trust therefor. See “—Rate Covenant.”

Second Resolution Bonds are payable from, among other sources, and secured by, a pledge of
amounts on deposit in the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund, subject to the first lien on such amounts in
favor of the Bonds. Amounts on deposit in the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund will be available, to the
extent not utilized for Bonds, to pay debt service on Second Resolution Bonds.

The Commercial Paper Notes are special obligations of the Authority, the proceeds of which are used
to pay the costs of capital improvements to the System. The Commercial Paper Notes, Series One, Series
Five and Series Six are each secured by standby line of credit agreements which provide liquidity for such
Commercial Paper Notes. In March 2003, the Authority authorized its Extendable Municipal Commercial
Paper Notes, Series Seven (the “Series Seven Notes™). Principal of and interest on the Series Seven Notes
are not secured by any liquidity or credit facility and are payable from remarketing proceeds and the
proceeds of additional Series Seven Notes, Bonds or Second Resolution Bonds. Interest on the
Commercial Paper Notes is secured by the Revenues of the System and the moneys and investments from
time to time on deposit in the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund and the funds and accounts established
under the respective commercial paper resolutions authorizing their issuance. However, the pledge of the
Revenues and the moneys and investments from time to time on deposit in the Subordinated
Indebtedness Fund is subject and subordinate to the pledge thereof made by the Resolution for the
benefit of the holders of Bonds.

The Authority’s obligations to the banks providing standby lines of credit, including the Authority’s
obligation to pay interest on moneys advanced, are secured by a pledge of the moneys and investments
on deposit in the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund on a parity with the pledge to secure the Second
Resolution Bonds. Interest on such advances is also secured by a pledge of Revenues which is subordinate
to the pledge securing the Bonds.
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Other Authority Indebtedness

The Authority has outstanding $132.685,000 of its Crossover Refunding Bonds that it had previously
issued (the “Crossover Bonds™). Each series of Crossover Bonds was issued pursuant to a separate
Crossover Refunding Bond Resolution of the Authority. Each scries of Crossover Bonds is secured by the
proceeds of such series of Crossover Bonds and any investment income thereon, until such Crossover
Bonds™ respective tender dates. Guaranteed investment contracts are expected to provide sufficient
amounts to pay debt service on the Crossover Bonds until their respective tender dates. The Crossover
Bonds have a subordinate licn on the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund under the Second Resolution but
have no lien on Revenues. If certain conditions are met on the relevant tender date, the Crossover Bonds
of the respective series will be exchanged for Bonds to be issued pursuant to the Resolution and the
proceeds of the respective series of Crossover Bonds will be applied to redecem other Outstanding Bonds
of specified series. The final exchange of its Crossover Bonds for Bonds is to occur on June 15, 2010.

Derivatives

In an effort to reduce its borrowing costs over the life of its bonds, the Authority has entered into
interest rate exchange agreements. For more information on the Authority’s interest rate exchange
agreements. sce “APPENDIX D—FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Note 8.

Covenant of the State

Section 1045-t of the Act constitutes a pledge of the State to the holders of Bonds not to limit or alter
the rights vested in the Authority or the Board by the Act to fulfill the terms of any agreement made with
or for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds until such obligations together with the interest thereon are
fully met and discharged. ‘
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THE AUTHORITY

Purpose and Powers

The Authority is a public benefit corporation created pursuant to the Act. Among its powers under
the Act, the Authority may borrow money, issue debt and enter into the Agreement, and refund its bonds
and notes and general obligation bonds of the City issued for water or sewer purposes. Additionally, the
Authority has the power to require that the Board charge and collect sufficient rates to pay the costs of
operating and financing the System and to enforce the obligation of the City to adequately operate and
maintain the System, regardless of reimbursement by the Board of costs incurred by the City for operation
and maintenance.

Pursuant to the Act, there is a statutory first lien on the Revenues in favor of the payment of all
amounts due to the Authority under the Agreement. The Revenues remain subject to this lien until
provision for payment of all indebtedness issued by the Authority has been made. See “Certain Legal
Opinions™ for a description of the opinion rendered by Bond Counsel that in the event of a City
bankruptcy, a court, exercising reasonable judgment after full consideration of all relevant factors, would
not hold that the Revenues are property of the City.

Membership

The Act authorizes a seven-member board to administer the Authority. Four of the members of the
Board of Directors are designated in the Act as ex officio members: the Commissioner of Environmental
Protection of the City, the Director of Management and Budget of the City, the Commissioner of Finance
of the City and the Commissioner of Environmental Conservation of the State. Of the three remaining
public members, two are appointed by the Mayor and one is appointed by the Governor. The public
members have terms of two years. Pursuant to the Act, all members continue to hold office until their
successors are appointed and qualified.

The current members of the Board of Directors are:

Member Occupation

Mark Page(1)................. Director of Management and Budget of the City
Alexander B. Grannis(1)....... Commissioner of Environmental Conservation of the State
Martha E. Stark(1)............ Commissioner of Finance of the City

Emily Lloyd(1) ............... Commissioner of Environmental Protection of the City
Charles E. Dorkey 1II(2)....... Partner, McKenna Long & Aldridge LLP

Arthur B. Hill{3). ............. Retired, United Parcel Service

Peter J. Kenny(2) ............. Retired Partner, Willkie Farr & Gallagher

(1) Ex officio.

(2) Appointed by the Mayor.
(3) Appointed by the Governor.

The following is a brief description of certain officers and staff members of the Authority:
Alan L. Anders, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Anders was appointed Chief Executive Officer in March 2007 after serving as Executive
Director from June 2002 and Treasurer from October 1990 to June 2002. Mr. Anders also serves as
Deputy Director for Finance of the Office of Management and Budget of the City. Prior to joining
the Authority and the City in September 1990, Mr. Anders had been a senior investment banker for
J. P. Morgan Securities since 1977. Prior to that date, he was Executive Director of the Commission
on Governmental Efficiency and Economy in Baltimore, Maryland. Mr. Anders is a graduate of the
University of Pennsylvania and the University of Maryland Law School.
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Patrick J. McCoy, Executive Director

Mr. McCoy was appointed Executive Director in March 2007. Prior to joining the Authority, Mr.
McCoy served as the Director of Finance at the Metropolitan Transportation Authority (“MTA™). Prior
to joining the MTA, Mr. McCoy was the Manager of Investor Relations for the NewPower Company.
Prior to NewPower, he was a member of the Financial Communications group of Fleishman-Hillard. Mr.
McCoy has nearly ten years of previous experience with the City of New York, including work as the
Manager of Investor Relations for the Authority from 1994 to 2000. Mr. McCoy holds a M.S. Degree in
Urban Policy Analysis and Management from the New School University in New York, and a B.A. from
St. Ambrose University in Davenport, lowa.

Marjorie E. Henning, Secretary

Ms. Henning was appointed Secretary in November 1993. Ms. Henning also serves as General
Counsel to the Office of Management and Budget of the City. Ms. Henning is a graduate of the State
University of New York at Buffalo and the Harvard Law School.

Lawrence R. Glantz, Comptroller
Mr. Glantz was appointed Comptroller in January 2000. He is a graduate of Hofstra University.
Michele Mark Levine, Assistant Comptroller

Ms. Levine was appointed Assistant Comptroller in February 2005. She is a graduate of the State
University of New York at Binghamton and the Maxwell School of Citizenship and Public Administration
at Syracuse University.

Olga Chernat, Deputy Treasurer

Ms. Chernat was appointed Deputy Treasurer in June 2006. She is a graduate of Baruch College,
CUNY. ‘

Prescott D. Ulrey, Assistant Secretary

M. Ulrey was appointed Assistant Secretary in February 1998. Mr. Ulrey also serves as Counsel to
the Office of Management and Budget of the City. He is a graduate of the University of California at
Berkeley, the Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy of Tufts University and Columbia Law School.

Jeffrey M. Werner, Assistant Secretary

Mr. Werner was appointed Assistant Secretary in March 2004. Mr. Werner also serves as Deputy
Counsel to the Office of Management and Budget of the City. He is a graduate of Bowdoin College and
Columbia Law School.

Raymond Orlando, Manager of Investor Relations

Mr. Orlando was appointed Manager of Investor Relations in June 2000. He is a graduate of the
University of Pennsylvania and the John F. Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University.



THE BOARD
Purpose and Powers

The Board is a public benefit corporation of the State created by Chapter 515 of the Laws of 1984.
The primary responsibility of the Board is to fix, revise, charge, collect and enforce rates and other charges
for the System.

The Board is required under the Act to establish rates that will provide adequate funds to pay the
debt service on outstanding Authority indebtedness and the City’s cost of operating and maintaining the
System. In each Fiscal Year, any amounts remaining in the Local Water Fund, after making the required
payments under the Agreement, shall be deposited in the General Account in the Operation and
Maintenance Reserve Fund and shall be available either as a source of funding for System expenditures
or upon certification of the City for deposit to the Authority’s Construction Fund to pay for the costs of
System capital projects. See “APPENDIX C—GLOSSARY AND SUMMARY OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS—
Summary of the Agreement—Application of Moneys in the Operation and Maintenance Reserve Fund.”

Pursuant to the Lease, the Board has a leasehold interest in the System for a term continuing until
all Bonds or other obligations issued by the Authority are paid in full or provision for payment has been
made. Under the Lease, the City is required to provide billing, collection, enforcement and legal services
to the Board. The Board is required to compensate the City for the cost of these services.

Membership

The Board consists of seven members who are appointed by the Mayor for terms of two years. The
Act provides that at least one member will have experience in the science of water resource development
and that no member of the Board will be a member of the Authority. The Chairman is appointed by the
Mayor. Pursuant to the Act, all members continue to hold office until their successors are appointed and
qualified.

The current members of the Board are:

Member Occupation

James T.B. Tripp, Chair........ General Counsel, Environmental Defense Fund

Donald Capoccia. ............. Principal, BFC Partners, L.P.

Dawn S. Davis................ Bronx Pro Real Estate Management

Marilyn Gelber .. ............. Executive Director, Independence Community Foundation
Amaziah Howell . ............. President, Howell Petroleum Products, Inc.

Alan Moss . ... Retired

Maria Santos Valentin . ........ Senior Associate General Counsel, Open Society Institute

The following is a brief description of the staff members of the Board:
Steven Lawitts, Executive Director

M. Lawitts was appointed Executive Director in May 2006. He was also appointed First Deputy
Commissioner to DEP in May 2006. Prior to joining DEP, Mr. Lawitts served as Senior Vice
President at the New York City School Construction Authority for three years. Mr. Lawitts
previously served as Deputy Commissioner of the New York City Department of Sanitation for
nearly ten years. Prior to that, Mr. Lawitts served sixteen years in the transportation industry,
including the Metropolitan Transportation Authority (where he was Chief Financial Officer of the
Long Island Railroad), Conrail and Amtrak. Mr. Lawitts is a graduate of Columbia College and
received an MBA from Columbia University.

William Kusterbeck, Treasurer

Mr. Kusterbeck was appointed Treasurer in November 1985. Mr. Kusterbeck has worked for
DEP since 1979. He has served in various positions in DEP including Director of Rates and Revenue,
and Director of the Office of Planning. Mr. Kusterbeck is a graduate of Hunter College of the City
University of New York and Columbia University Graduate School of Business.
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Carmelo Emilio. Deputy Treasurer

Mr. Emilio was appointed Deputy Treasurer in June 2000. He has worked for the City since 1976,
and has scrved as the Chief of Financial Opcrations at the Water Board from 1996, Prior to joining
the Water Board. Mr. Emilio worked with the New York City Office of Management and Budget as
a Revenue Analyst. Mr. Emilio is a graduate of Baruch College of the City University of New York.

Albert F. Moncure. Jr.. Secretary

Mr. Moncure was named Acting Secrctary in February 1997 and Scecretary in April 1997. Mr.
Moncure also serves as Chicel of the Municipal Finance Division of the New York City Law
Department. Mr. Moncure has worked for the Law Department since 1986. Mr. Moncure is a
graduate of Dartmouth College and the Yale Law School.



THE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
Organization

Over 5.700 DEP staff members are assigned to the System. Approximately 800 people within the
System staff are assigned to the design and construction of ongoing capital projects, including projects
within the Capital Improvement Program, as hereinafter defined, and approximately 500 provide
administrative and support scrvices to both System and non-System staff. There are approximately 300
additional employees within the DEP staff whose duties are not related to water and sewer service and
whose cost is not included as a System cost.

The New York City Department of Design and Construction (the *DDC™) has responsibility for the
construction and reconstruction of water and sewer mains in the City. Based upon current workloads. a
proportion of DDC’s staff equivalent to 350 full-time positions is devoted to System construction projects.

DEP is managed by a Commissioner, who is appointed by the Mayor. It is organized into nine
bureaus: Customer Services: Water and Sewer Operations; Water Supply: Engineering Design and
Construction; Wastewater Treatment: Environmental Planning; Human Resources. Administration and
Legal Affairs: and Executive.

The following arc brief descriptions of certain management personnel responsible for the operation
of the System.

Emily Lloyd, Commissioner

Ms. Lloyd was appointed Commissioner in February 2005. Prior to joining DEP, Commissioner
Lloyd served as Executive Vice President for Columbia University for ten years, most recently as
Executive Vice President for Government and Community Affairs and before that as Executive Vice
President for Administration. Commissioner Lloyd has devoted much of her professional career to
public service. She previously served as Commissioner of thc New York City Department of
Sanitation. Director of Business Development for the Port Authority of New York and New Jersey
and Commissioner for Traffic and Parking for the City of Boston. Ms. Lloyd is a graduate of
Wellesley College and received a Master of City Planning from the University of Pennsylvania. She
also was a Loeb Fellow at Harvard University, has served on a variety of boards and commissions and
is a lifetime Fellow of the National Academy of Public Administration.

Steven Lawitts, First Deputy Commissioncr

Mr. Lawitts was appointed First Deputy Commissioner in May 2006. Prior to joining DEP,
Mr. Lawitts served as Senior Vice President at the New York City School Construction Authority for
threc years. Mr. Lawitts previously served as Deputy Commissioner of the New York City
Department of Sanitation for nearly ten years. Prior to that, Mr. Lawitts served sixteen years in the
transportation industry. including the Metropolitan Transportation Authority (where he was Chief
Financial Officer of the Long Island Railroad), Conrail and Amtrak. Mr. Lawitts is a graduate of
Columbia College and received an MBA from Columbia University. In addition to his duties as First
Deputy Commissioner, Mr. Lawitts is also currently serving as Acting Deputy Commissioner for the
Bureau of Engineering. Design and Construction.

Douglas S. Greeley. PE., Deputy Commissioner

Mr. Greeley was appointed Director of the Burcau of Wastewater Treatment in February 2006.
He has been with DEP since 1973 and has served in numcrous capacities, including Chief of System
Operations. Chief of the Maintenance Division, Chief of the Repairs Division of DEPs Bureau of
Water Supply and Wastewater Collection and Director of the Bureau of Water and Sewer
Operations. Mr. Greeley is a graduate of the Stevens Institute of Technology. He is a Professional
Engincer.

Angela Licata. Deputy Commissioner
Ms. Licata was appointed Deputy Commissioncr of the Bureau of Environmental Planning in

December 2005. She has been with DEP since 1988 and has served in numerous positions within the
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Office of Environmental Planning and Assessment, including Project Manager, Director of Program
Management and most recently as Deputy Director. Ms. Licata is a graduate of Harpur College,
Binghampton University.

James Roberts, Deputy Commissioner

James J. Roberts, PE. was appointed Deputy Commissioner of the Bureau of Water and Sewer
Operations in November 2006. Mr. Roberts has been with DEP since 1986 and has served in
numerous capacities including Borough Construction Engineer in the Borough of Queens and Chief
of Shaft and Tunnel Maintenance and Operations for the Bureau of Water and Sewer Operations.
Mr. Roberts is a Registered Professional Engineer and a graduate of Manhattan College’s School of
Engineering.

Paul Rush, PE., Deputy Commissioner

Mr. Rush was appointed Deputy Commissioner of the Bureau of Water Supply in December
2006. He has been with the DEP since 1992. Most recently, Mr. Rush served as the Director, West of
Hudson Operations Division of the Bureau of Water Supply and prior to that he held positions as
District Engineer and Chief of Operations for the City’s Delaware Water Supply System. Prior to
joining DEP, Mr. Rush served on active duty with the United States Army as an Engineer Officer. Mr.
Rush holds a Master of Science degree in Civil Engineering from Michigan Technological University
and Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering from the United States Military Academy. He
is a Registered Professional Engineer in the State of New York.

Joseph Singleton, Deputy Commissioner

Mr. Singleton was appointed Deputy Commissioner for the Bureau of Customer Services in
August 2006. He has been with DEP since 1995, serving in a variety of roles, including as Director
of the Capital Budget. Mr. Singleton graduated with a B.A. in Economics from The State University
of New York at Albany and received an MBA from St. John’s University.

Labor Relations

During the last decade, there have been no strikes or major work stoppages of DEP employees
affecting the System. Approximately 95% of DEP’s employees are members of labor unions which
represent such employees in collective bargaining with the City. The majority of DEP employees who are
members of unions are members of District Council 37 of the American Federation of State, County and
Municipal Employees (“DC 37”). An agreement with DC 37, covering the period from July 1, 2005
through March 2, 2005, was reached on July 12, 2006 and ratified on August 25, 2006.



CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT AND FINANCING PROGRAM

Ten Year Capital Strategy, Current Capital Plan and the Capital Improvement Program

The City’s Ten Year Capital Strategy. which is updated every two years, was released in April 2007
(the “Ten Year Capital Strategy”) and includes the projected capital improvements to the System for
Fiscal Years 2008 through 2017. The City’s Current Capital Plan (the “Current Capital Plan”), which
covers Fiscal Years 2007 through 2011, was published in April 2007, is updated three times each Fiscal
Year and is consistent with the Ten Year Capital Strategy for Fiscal Years 2008 through 2011. Funds shown
in the first year of the Ten Year Capital Strategy but not committed in that year are generally added to
the following year in the Current Capital Plan.

The Ten Year Capital Strategy as modified by the Current Capital Plan comprises the Capital
Improvement Program (the “CIP"). The CIP establishes long range programmatic goals for the System
and reflects a review of the present condition and long-term needs of the plant and equipment constituting
the System. The CIP incorporates the present replacement cycle for System facilities, extensions to the
present service area, and programs to enhance and optimize the operation of the System. Allowances are
included in the CIP for emergency repair and replacement. The value of the actual work done in any given
year will differ from that outlined in the CIP. Expected capital commitments for the years beyond the
Current Capital Plan will differ from those shown in the CIP due to the addition of new projects, as well
as due to changes in project schedules and costs. The capital program projected in the CIP substantially
exceeds levels required in order to maintain the current condition of the System.

In Fiscal Year 2007. the percentage of contractual commitments entered into by DEP increased
significantly above projected levels. If this trend continues, it could result in increased Authority
borrowing with related increases in projected debt service and water and sewer rates.

The CIP was evaluated independently by Metcalf & Eddy. Metcalf & Eddy concluded that the CIP
is responsive to the long-term operating requirements of the area served by the System. See “APPENDIX
A—LETTER OF METCALF & EDDY, CONSULTING ENGINEERS.”

Although Amawalk Consulting, the Authority’s rate consultant, has not performed a detailed
independent review of the capital program elements and has not made an engineering evaluation of the
System, Amawalk Consulting has concluded that the gross level of anticipated commitments through
Fiscal Year 2017 as reflected in the CIP appears to be reasonable compared to other large water and
wastewater utilities.

The CIP is presented in the following table.

24



S86'T60ECY  er6'eTI IS lOSEEC’ IS SEVIEK IS 8I9S8INIE  9T0TISIS  vEUS9SIS  THP88STS  1TTOTITS  69T980°CS  LITSREES  68O'LSL'ES
9LTTS - - - - _ 000°¢ 01t 990°Sy
$99°1 - - - — - - - - - [ti4 v79'l
0s - - - - - - - - - - 0s
6C1°CE - - — - - - - - - — 621°C¢
£9¢°T - - - - - - - - — — £95°C
0L1'El - - — - - - - t 000°¢ OLTY 000°9
00L°C - - - - - - — - - - 00LC
60L°6€0°ET Cro Tl 165°€CC°L SEVIEY'T 819°G8I°L 9z0°CIS T FE189C°E Thr88S°T 1220¢le 697°¢80°¢ LOO'I8E'E £TOTiLE
TH90ET ST¥'99 629°LY PES'SL yelL9 SIyLTl ZIREL 6¥9°011 9518 86899¢C LY1'8LT 010°68
BEPO11 000 000’8 RTOTI S60°6 0009 005’8 0009 005’8 0009 8168 L6311
SoLcey Sty 629y 09L° vy 101°0% 089y 89 1Y 69L°LE 086'8¢ 607'8¢ ¥STE 0£6'6T
98P (ST — — — e 000°19 001 00v'8t 0r9°¢ 86 v 68L°LS 679'F¢
ELURIL 000’ 000°S 91’9 8€6'S 8EL'S P01 08t'9 SLY6 19¢°CC 65€°0¢ ETh
0T9°C6t 000ct 000°Z1 000°CI 000zl 000°C1 000721 000zt 19¢°72 000°ss1 LEG'STL e
SEI0T8'T LPEYST y8I'SHT TS6°LST 6L9°TCT £CEE8T 889°0LC 6L1'L8T PELERT £eilee rr6'981 I86'LET
YT LT - — - ¥8CT'1 §8S'8 LSTE [4%:y4 S8I°L
LTV PS8 LYS6L 9S9'vL 98G°EL LTETL YLT69 £8TvL 91L’T6 $9L76L 061'S8 9¢1'e9 8Y9°06
798°9¢ - - — - w6761 - £L591 0€9 — - L9¢
006°6 - - - - - - 36’6 - - - -
861°L59 SSy'st 000°0¥ 000°0¢ 000°0¢ 8P°ES 6L6'CS sy £I8V6 Y99°011 67888 [45408
SPEPETT Syerot 87S0¢1 996'€S 1 [4y N4t LT IPL wierl 8LV 161 TEL66 TIL16 LH)'TT 0LESS
696'71v'6 £81°E9¢ 870°L8S 689°€0S vIsess 614209 £E1°98S 0LE091°L LST'E10'L 0L9'9v€71 Pro’seyl [4EX4 1N
601°L6€'L 000°S1 000'vLY 00068 — 000+ 000°L8 1697181 119°9%1 $9CTHL 91y TSt LZO'S8
LYTL8E'C 000°0sT 00001 000502 000°01T 00S°T6¢ ovesee 000°159 080°'T¢Y L60°79C 0vTse 066709
Ly 8¢ — — — 0007052 - 000°sZ 000°0€ — 0059 iy LYS'9
60CP01°C £81°86 82001 TO9LLY yzseet 617981 £6L78¢1 101'%6T 99%°65C ILYYIE 129779 96L'S11
£66°L0T'T - — LROTE - - ]1S°¢ 000°9L1 £€8°0LS £rTSSOL 6T0LE
ZLyesLL oeLrl 08¢°LOY 9I8YLE 16121 155°2vE 161'819 761°189 oY EE9 (144413 96 LIF 1 106'9¢1°C
80%°9¢ - - - 6£9°C1 w0y E]a ! 986C £9
89€°¢ — — - — — 000°C SRL £85°C —
WYL S8Y'8 §S6'9¢T S9ICLl 6£9°7¢ S0T'ee 160°081 P87°81¢ Y97°67C 09978t ¥60°LT6 00S'8EY
PECLLS ] 00L8L SIsoel £€6°017 WL 6+ 061 8S1°161 96T 1£T POLSLY PESHYL 8SL011L SSS9L
9£L'68E 000°6% 000've 060°9% 000°'v¢ 66'8Y Iv6°Ce ey PLS'8E 86L'81 601'9C 10¥°C1
LY6'TLO - - — 00821 000°5S 005°561 0S9°LS 000°68 9079t S0€°€S 0E6'SHT
96078961 - - — — 000701 - 000°ST 05498 £9L°CT1 1E1°L92 SP'E9r' ]
186°6L S0T°9 0Le 8296 09¢°¢ S01°¢ w98y €9y 0¥y 00291 0L9'1T -
ISF'E1L°1 865°L6T 0L£'9C prs6le 0pe 061 S10'961 01€'61 [415143 08T L01 8SEP9T 9£0'81 816769
£01°01 e - - - £01°01 - -
00078 — - 000°0¢ - - 00S°L — 005 vv -
0L LTy GRE 0Le 12694 (0143 SIS 0T¢°01 TIREST 08T°SL 066°LT1 $STST 01T°%¢
09€°9LC — - — 000°sy 000°SY 000°6 000°6¢ 000°z¢ S9L718 [4:14 1€
00°2ST 005°LET 000°SS 000°0€ — - 000°0¢ - — — —
86LFLY $  €IL6ST $ 0009T §  0000cT § 000°SIT § 069'S0T § — §  oowsll § — $ 00001 § 00ST $  S60'L
18101, L10T 9107 ST0T 141174 €10C noc 11174 orec 600¢ 8007 L00z

(saeqo jJo spuesnoy])
AVIDOUd INHIWHAOQUdIAL 'TVLIdAV)

‘wessoid [eaowal JUILIINU [BIIFO[01q AY) 10 SUNOWe sIpnjdul uonezIiqels jusuodwo)) ueld (1)

"SANNA TVIOL
" SANNA ALIDNON TVLOL
T ﬁ:wEo>o._aE~ wIsAS 1210
: “salepuey A{end) Iatep
:v uorezljiqels 1usauodwo)) ue[g
UONONIISU0dIY B Buipesddy wueyg
*SWASAS UOHBWIOJU JUSWZRUBN
© T UONRAILSII] ANEND) I9lkpn
SANNA
ALVAINd ANV “TVIAdAA “ALVLS
CSANNA AL TVLOL
LRI
EuEa:&m pUE SaIYaA
uoned0[oY ANBN
UOHONAISUOIY 7 saseydIng Aupoeq
fEﬁf»w uonewLojuf juswagruRy
* T UO1IBALOSUD))
L ME.=DOM_
T elogng
syunip
ssyusuoduwio)
m:_:mn_ >:aquEU Jo 1uswaseiday
©UOTINIISUOYaY
U:ﬂ wswade|day srewrwiesdord
sa1epury Aloje[ngay
01 asuodsay onewwelsorg
oo © - juswdotaasg
M3IN S1BPOWILOIY O} SUOISUIIXT]
- -uoneludWENY 10 Juswsdseiday
SYAMIAS
" [B103gQng
SYRPURIA AU[EN) I31Bp
A: :o:mN:_DEm Em:anaU jueld
m_nmoazn_ a3pnig
UONINIISUODIY 7P urpesddn wueg
" :O:US.:J:OU
2 Suipeaddn) 9a103(] 1uAsUOY)
_TOYINOD NOLLNTIOd YALVM
' [eloigqng
s .JEQEP/OEEH walsAg 123410
..... Tt SUOISUdIXg
| UOHEAISSAI] fen) 191em
e Juswase|day
UIRJ PUE UONINGUISI(] Yunip
e © 1 uoIsudIXyg
UIBIN pUE uonnquisi( yuniy,
: - weaold A19jeg weQq
c ot 100lord uonenjlg uolol))
<+ - - gymby susanp—uApjoosg
ZO—PDE&.—.m—D JALVM
T leloigng
* SWRIZ0I4 SNOAUR[[AISIA
© T UONONINSU0d3Y | ON [puuUny A1)
c s z 23e1g ‘¢ "ON [suuny A1)
T umEm ‘€ ON [ouuny A1)
s © puung, AND-0018UY
T © 0 oouekaAuo)
NOISSIINSN VY.L
ANV A1dd1S HALVA

SANNA ALIDD

u
o



Following is a detailed explanation of the major capital program elements within the CIP.

Water Supply and Transmission

Kensico-City Tunnel. The Kensico-City Tunnel will be a 16 mile long tunnel from the Kensico
Reservoir to the Van Cortlandt Park Valve Chamber, bypassing the Hillview Reservoir. This tunnel will
provide redundancy for the sections of the Catskill and Delaware Aqueducts that run from the Kensico
Reservoir to the City.

Conveyance. This program will research and develop alternate conveyance conduits and/or water
supplies for the City in order to provide more dependability within the Water System. The alternate water
supplies could be used during drought situations, to augment the City’s daily water supply. or during
repairs and inspections of existing aqueducts and tunnels.

Tunnel 3. Stages I and II of Tunnel 3 include completion of the Brooklyn/Queens and Manhattan
segments. Stage 1 became operational in July 1998 and has improved the reliability of the transmission
system. Stage I amounts also relate to facility improvements at Hillview Reservoir. Completion of the
Brooklyn/Queens segment of Stage II will improve services to Staten Island, Brooklyn and Queens.
Activation of the Manhattan segment of Stage 1I will follow activation of the Brooklyn and Queens
segment of Stage IT which is expected to be completed in 2012. The entire Stage II is scheduled to be
completed in 2015. See “THE SYSTEM—The Water System—Water Collection and Distribution.”

Water Distribution

Croton Filtration Project. The City is a party to a federal court consent decree with the United
States and the State which sets out a timetable for the design and construction of a full-scale water
treatment facility to filter Croton System water. See “THE SYSTEM—The Water System—Governmental
Regulation.”

Dam Safety Program. Engineering reports sponsored by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
indicated that the dams and reservoirs in service in the Catskill, Croton and Delaware Systems are safe
but in need of rehabilitation and reconstruction. An ongoing dam reconstruction program has been
established for rchabilitation of dams within the Catskill, Croton and Delaware watersheds and the
Kenisco Dam.

Trunk Distribution and Main Extension and Replacement. This program includes the improvement
and extension of the water distribution network for both trunk and distribution water mains. The program
facilitates the replacement of undersized or failing system elements, as well as enhancing network
reliability.

Water Quality Preservation. The City provides for improvements to the upstate watersheds
including projects undertaken pursuant to the FADs (as hereinafter defined) in the Catskill and Delaware
watersheds such as the acquisition of environmentally sensitive property, the upgrade of non-City owned
water pollution control facilities and the construction of an ultraviolet water treatment facility. Other
projects in the upstate watersheds include enhanced security systems and planning for the repair of the
leak in the Rondout-West Branch Tunnel. See “THE SYSTEM—Overview,” “THE SYSTEM—The Water
System—Water Collection and Distribution,” and “THE SYSTEM-—The Water System-—Governmental
Regulation.”

Water Pollution Control

Consent Decree Upgrading and Construction. The Clean Water Act (as hereinafter defined) and the
State Consent Decrees (as hereinafter defined) require construction of an intercepting sewer for one of
the fourteen plants, and the upgrading of six plants. The plant upgrades include the retrofitting of five
plants to achieve additional nitrogen treatment and upgrades at the Newtown Creek plant to achieve
secondary treatment and improve plant operations. In addition, during periods of heavy rainfall, a
combination of stormwater and sewage bypasses treatment and is released into the City’s waterways
through the City’s combined sewer overflow (“CSQO”) outfalls. Pursuant to a consent order between DEP
and the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (*“NYSDEC”), DEP is implement-
ing projects necessary to control the polluting effects of such releases. See “THE SYSTEM—The Sewer
System—Government Regulation.
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Plant Upgrading and Reconstruction.  This program includes various projects undertaken to
upgrade or reconstruct treatment plants, sewage pump stations, motor vesscls, regulators and components
of the plant treatment system.

Plant Component Stabilization.  This program includes the replacement and reconstruction of
failing components within the fourteen plants and their related facilities necessary to maintain process
reliability and the retrofit of five water pollution control plants to decrease the amount of nitrogen
discharged into the surrounding watecr.

Sewers

Replacement of Chronically Failing Components.  This program provides for the replacement of
sewers that have already collapsed or experience chronic malfunctions (for example, sagging, bends or
improper alignment) that cannot be overcome through maintenance or cxperience chronic malfunction
due to inadequate capacity.

Extensions to Accommodate New Development.  The City must provide acceptable sewage disposal
methods for residents within its jurisdiction and must therefore construct new sewers as required. The
construction of sewers to replace septic tanks in populated areas avoids health problems associated with
viruses, bacteria and other sewage-related pollutants and minimizes stormwater flooding.

Equipment

Utility Relocation for Sewers and Water Main Projects.  Undcr the City’s cost-sharing agreement with
gas utilities, the City is required to pay 51% of utility work required as a result of water main and sewer
construction projects.

Historical Capital Program

The following table presents capital commitments and capital expenditures of the System for Fiscal
Years 2002 through 2006. Capital commitments are contractual obligations entered into during the Fiscal
Year while capital expenditures represent cash payments made during the Fiscal Year.
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System Capital Commitments and Expenditures
(Millions of Dellars)

FY 2002 FY 2003 FY 2004 FY 2005 FY 2006
System All System All System All System All System All

Commitments Funds(1) Funds(2) Funds(l) Funds(2) Funds(l) Funds(2) Funds(l) Funds(2) Funds(l) Funds(2)
Water Supply and

Transmission (3) .... §$ 135 $ 135 $ 63 $ 63 $ 39 $ 39 $ 746 § 746 $ 26 $ 26
Water Distribution . ... 492 492 337 337 480 481 499 498(4) 568 568
Water Pollution Control 806 806 681 687 877 935 838 839 843 848
Sewers . ... 199 199 201 202 216 216 186 187 192 192
Equipment . ......... 37 37 84 84 41 41 63 64 73 107
Total .............. $1,669 $1,669 $1,366 $1,373 $1,653 $1,711 $2,332  $2,334 $1,702 $1,741

FY 2002 FY 2003 FY 2004 FY 2005 FY 2006
System All System All System All System All System All

Expenditures (5) Funds(1) Funds(2) Funds(1) Funds(2) Funds(l) Funds(2) Funds(1) Funds(2) Funds(l) Funds(2)
Water Supply and

Transmission (3) .... $ 84 $ 84 § 87 $ 87 $ 124 $ 133 $ 147 $ 167 $ 245 $ 261
Water Distribution . ... 325 325 269 270 273 371 390 401 445 451
Water Pollution Control 327 328 568 575 742 810 846 804 778 812
Sewers . . ........... 184 185 187 187 221 219 213 223 215 216
Equipment . ......... 50 50 47 47 44 98 40 85 68 101
Total . ............. $970 $972 $1,158 $1,166 $1,404 $1,631 $1.,636 $1,680 $1,751 $1.,841

Totals may not add due to rounding.

(1) System Funds include the proceeds of Authority bonds sold directly to the public and those privately placed with EFC (as
defined below) under the revolving fund program and System revenues.

(2) All Funds include federal and State capital grants.

(3) Includes capital costs for improvements to upstate water pollution control plants which were paid for with the proceeds of
Authority bonds but which are reported as operating expenses in the System’s financial statements because such plants are
owned by municipalities outside the City.

(4) A prior year, non-City contract, which was subsequently cancelled, caused the All-Funds commitment level for FY 2005 to fall
below the System Funds Level.

(5) System Funds are shown on a cash basis. All Funds are shown on an accrual basis.
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Financing Program

Prior Financing. Since the first issuance of bonds by the Authority in 1985, capital improvements
to the System have been financed primarily with (1) proceeds of bonds sold directly to the public and
privately placed with EFC in connection with the revolving loan fund program described below, (2)
federal and State capital grants, and (3) cash-financed capital construction paid from System revenues.
See “Debt Service Requirements” below.

Future Financing. The Authority estimates that approximately 99% of the System’s capital costs will
be paid from: (1) proceeds of bonds and other forms of indebtedness sold to the public and privately
placed with EFC and (2) System revenues. Implementation of the CIP is dependent upon the Authority’s
ability to market its securities successfully in the public credit markets. For purposes of forecasting
revenue requirements for the System, the principal amount of bonds estimated to be issued for capital
purposes as of April 30, 2007, excluding refunding bonds, in each of the Fiscal Years 2007 through 2011
averages approximately $2.1 billion per year. See the table entitled “Sources and Uses of Capital Funds”
below.

Historically, federal grant funds were provided pursuant to the federal Water Pollution Control Act,
as amended by the Clean Water Act of 1977 and by the Water Quality Act of 1987 (the “Clean Water
Act”), in a program administered by the states, for construction and reconstruction of water pollution
control facilities. The City has used these grant funds for five water pollution control plants: Oakwood
Beach, Coney Island, Owls Head, Red Hook and North River. The Clean Water Act currently requires
states to use federal funds in revolving loan programs in lieu of a federal grant program for water
pollution control facilities. To this end, a revolving loan program has been established by the State and
administered by EFC in order to use federal financial assistance together with State matching grants in a
program to assist municipalities to construct eligible sewage facilities by providing subsidized loans. In
addition, pursuant to the Safe Drinking Water Act Amendments of 1996, the State has also initiated a
revolving loan program, also administered by EFC, to provide loans for drinking water projects. The
Authority has participated in loans under both of the revolving loan programs and anticipates further
borrowing under the programs. These revolving loan programs have routinely featured the public sale of
bonds by EFC to finance the purchase by EFC of Second Resolution Bonds.
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Sources and Uses of Capital Funds

Line
No.

B —

9
10
11

12
13

14

ey
(2)
3)
4
(5)

(6)

The following table presents the projected sources and uses of the funds for the System as of
April 30, 2007. See “INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT—Financial Projection Assumptions.”

Sources and Uses of Capital Funds

(Millions of Dollars)

Period
Description FY 2007 FY 2008 FY 2009 FY 2010 FY 2011 Total
Sources of Funds
Proceeds from Sale of Bonds (1)(2) ... ............ $21783 $ 18708 $ 24285 $2517.8 $2,393.8 §$ 11,389.2
Proceeds from Commercial Paper Notes. . . ......... 20614 1,739.0 22530 22130 22210 10,487.4
Total Sourcesof Funds . . .. ... ... ... ... .. ...... 4,239.7 3,609.8 4,681.5 4730.8 4,614.8 21,876.6
Uses of Funds
Refunding of Prior Bonds (2) .. ................. 517.5 - — 132.7 — 650.2
Retirement of Commercial Paper Notes . . . ...... ... 1,613.0 1,739.0  2.253.0 22130 22210 10,039.0
Deposit to Construction Fund . ... ... ..., 2.061.4 1.739.0 2.253.0 2,213.0 22210 10,487.4
Other (3). ... 47.8 131.8 175.5 172.1 172.8 700.0
Total Usesof Funds . . ... ... .. .. ... ........ 42397 36098 4,681.5 47308 46148 21.876.6
Construction Fund
Beginning Balance . ... ... ... .. 59.2 369.6 359.6 349.6 349.6
Transfer from Proceeds from Commercial Paper Notes . 2,061.4 1,739.0 22530 2213.0 2221.0 10,487.4
Cash Financed Capital Construction (4) . . .......... 50.0 90.0 90.0 100.0 80.0 410.0
Total Available Construction Funds (§). .. .......... 2,1706 21986 27026 2,662.6 2650.6 10956.6
Less: Total Capital Spending (6) .. ............... (1,801.0) (1,839.0) (2,353.0) (2,313.0) (2,321.0) (10,627.0)
Ending Balance . ... ......... .. ... .. . . . $ 3696 § 3596 $ 3496 § 3496 $ 3296

Includes proceeds from sale of First and Second Resolution Bonds.

For Fiscal Years 2007 and 2010. includes Bonds to be issued to refund Crossover Bonds.

Includes issuance costs, Debt Service Reserve Fund requirements and capitalized interest.

Funds projected for Cash Financed Capital Construction may be used for the defeasance of bonds.

Based on the results of previous defeasances of bonds, the Authority expects to receive the following amounts in 2008, 2009
and 2011, respectively: $20.4 million, $30.5 million and $19.5 million. These amounts are not included in the above table but
will be added to the Construction Fund as the funds become available in each year.

Capital spending reflects commitments from current and prior years.



The following table shows projected debt service requirements, including payments on outstanding
bonds and on future bonds projected to be issued as of April 30, 2007. For additional information, see
“—Debt Service Requirements.”

Projected Future Debt Service Requirements
(Millions of Dollars)

Bonds Projected

Description to be Issued FY 2007 FY 2008 FY 2009 FY 2010 FY 2011
First Resolution Bonds (1)

Debt Service on Outstanding Bonds . . .. .............. $§  — $5333 $5514 § 5567 $ 5469 $ 6105

Projected First Resolution Bonds . . . ... ... ... ........
Fiscal Year 2008 Bonds. . .. .. .................... 810.7" — — 84.5 50.7 50.7
Fiscal Year 2009 Bonds. . .. ...................... 1.098.6" — — — 123.7 74.2
Fiscal Year 2010 Bonds. . . .. ..................... 1,076.21 — — — — 121.2
Fiscal Year 2011 Bonds. . .. ....... ... .. ... ........ 1,080.7 — - — — —
Total First Resotution Debt Service ... ............... — 533.3 5514 641.3 721.3 856.5

Subordinated Obligations
Second Resolution Bonds

Debt Service on Outstanding Second Resolution Bonds. . . — 443.1 483.1 4873 490.8 490.1
Projected Second Resolution Bonds
Fiscal Year 2007 Bonds . .. . ... ... ... ....... 421.5 — 355 221 22.1 221
Fiscal Year 2008 Bonds . . . ... .................. 1,060.1 — 343 70.1 62.5 62.5
Fiscal Year 2009 Bonds . ... ... ... o 1,329.9? — — 46.2 89.1 81.1
Fiscal Year 2010 Bonds . .. .. ........... ... ..... 1,308.9" — — — 474 90.9
Fiscal Year 2011 Bonds . . ...................... 1,313.1@ — — — — 47.6
Interest Payments on Commercial Paper Notes . . .. ........ — 23.0 34.0 340 34.0 340
Less: Current EFC Subsidy (3) .. ..................... — (93.4) (101.1) (102.4) (98.3) (93.4)
Less: Future EFC Subsidy (4) .. ... .......... ... . ... e — 1.9) (10.1) (16.7) (23.2)
Less: EFC Payments (5) . ......... ... ... ... ......... — 7.7 (6.8) (5.9) (4.9 (3.8)
Actual Debt Service on Subordinated Indebtedness. .. ... ... — 365.0 477.2 541.3 625.9 707.8
Less: Carryforward Revenues .. ...................... — (176.2) (115.1) (84.5) (90.4) (95.6)
Net Debt Service on Subordinated Indebtedness . .. . ... .. .. — 188.8 362.0 456.8 5356 612.2
Total Debt Service Payable from Current Revenues (6) ... ... —_ $ 7221 $913.4 $1,098.1 $1,256.9 §1,468.7

(1) For Fiscal Years 2007 and 2010, includes First Resolution Bonds expected to be issued in exchange for Crossover Bonds. See
“"SECURITY FOR THE SECOND RESOLUTION BONDS — Other Authority Indebtedness.”

(2) For Fiscal Years 2008 through 2011, includes Second Resolution Bonds expected to be issued to EFC.

(3) Includes the estimated EFC subsidy on outstanding Second Resolution Bonds.

(4) Includes the estimated EFC subsidy on anticipated future Second Resolution Bonds.

(5) Represents the anticipated transfer of surplus payments used to offset interest payments on Second Resolution Bonds.

(6) Includes Total First Resolution Debt Service plus Net Debt Service on Subordinated Indebtedness.
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For purposes of these projections, the Authority has assumed that interest rates on future Authority
First and Second Resolution Bonds issued to the public will be 5.25% in the second half of Fiscal Year
2007, and that such interest rates will increase by 0.5% on July 1, 2007, January 1, 2008, and January 1,
2009, remaining stable at 6.75% each year thereafter. The Authority further has assumed that interest
rates on Authority Second Resolution Bonds issued to EFC will be 0.05% lower than the rate assumed
on its other bonds.

Debt Service Requirements

The following schedule sets forth the amount required during each Fiscal Year (ending June 30)
shown below for the payment of the principal of and the interest (including the Accreted Value of all
Capital Appreciation Bonds) on Bonds and Second Resolution Bonds assuming that variable rate bonds
bear interest at a rate of 4.25% per annum through maturity. The schedule does not include debt service
on any outstanding Commercial Paper Notes.
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Debt Service Requirements

Debt Service on

Debt Service on

Fiscal Debt Service on Outstanding
Year Outstanding Second the Reoffered Bonds Debt Service on
Ending First Resolution Resolution Second Resolution Total Debt
June 30 Bonds (1)(2) Bonds (3) Principal Interest Bonds (3) Service (1)(3)

2008 $ 516327338 $ 369403,170 $ 6,000,000 $ 29.057.250 $ 369,403,170 $ 920,787,758
2009 521,932,333 369,829,183 6,000,000 28,802,250 369,829,183 926,563,765
2010 512,340,637 394,385,796 6.000,000 28,547.250 394,385,796 941,273,684
2011 576,181,372 406,708,805 6.000,000 28,292,250 406,708,805 1,017,182,427
2012 554,332,825 406,294,966 6,000,000 28,037,250 406,294,966 994,665,041
2013 549,193,365 388,073,341 6.000,000 27,782,250 388,073,341 971,048,956
2014 649,097,061 373,413,015 6.000,000 27,527,250 373,413,015 1,056,037,327
2015 663,462,010 370,865,598 8,000,000 27,272,250 370,865,598 1,069,599,858
2016 654,493,900 370,402.890 8.000,000 26,932,250 370,402,890 1,059,829,040
2017 658.020,406 388,115,187 8.000,000 26.592,250 388,115,187 1,080,727,843
2018 695.512,813 355,149,670 8.000.000 26,252,250 355,149,670 1.084,914,733
2019 653,759,172 395,610,150 8,000,000 25.912,250 395,610,150 1,083,281,572
2020 654,585,293 389,851,619 8,000,000 25,572,250 389,851,619 1,078,009,163
2021 696.897.840 329,582,277 8,000,000 25,232,250 329,582,277 1.059,712,367
2022 613,757,221 311,746,984 100,000,000 24,892,250 311,746,984 1,050,396,455
2023 517.840.684 306,885,899 200,000,000 20,642,250 306,885,899 1.045,368.,833
2024 501.552,365 268,525,385 230,700,000 12,142,250 268,525,385 1,012,920,000
2025 685,869,503 262,652,148 55.000.000 2.337.500 262,652,148 1,005.859,150
2026 745,860,625 250,289,339 — — 250,289,339 996,149,964
2027 751,109,388 249,412,394 — — 249412394 1,000,521,782
2028 730,484,375 317,653,134 — — 317.653.134 1,048,137,509
2029 708,207,969 303,435,446 — — 303,435,446 1,011,643,415
2030 686,988,213 283,767,321 — — 283,767,321 970,755,533
2031 730.411,650 275,855,635 — — 275,855,635 1,006,267.285
2032 741,460,956 245,731,340 — — 245,731,340 987,192,296
2033 720,869,825 142,843,091 — — 142,843,091 863,712,916
2034 697,934,425 160,139,051 — — 160,139,051 858,073,476
2035 697,933,225 164,572,250 — — 164,572,250 862,505,475
2036 750,592,638 175,029,406 — — 175,029,406 925,622,044
2037 473,253,938 226,943,950 — — 226,943,950 700,197,888
2038 576,950,188 278.196,250 — — 278,196,250 855,146,438
2039 687,369,188 131,250.000 — — 131,250,000 818,619,188
Total $20,574,582.738  $9.662.614.691  $683.700,000 $441 825,750 $9.662.614,691 $31,362,723,179

Totals may not add due to rounding. Debt service is not included for bonds for which money has been set aside for
payment at maturity or that have been previously refunded and are no longer Outstanding.

(1) Assumes that on the respective tender dates, the Crossover Bonds will be exchanged for the First Resolution
Bonds and the proceeds of the respective series of Crossover Bonds will be applied to redeem certain
Outstanding First Resolution Bonds.

(2) Excludes debt service on the Reoffered Bonds.

(3) Net of projected subsidy, surplus, and capitalized interest payments from EFC.
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FINANCIAL OPERATIONS

The following tables present certain historical data relating to the System which have been derived
from the books and records of the City, the Authority and the Board. For more information, see
“INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT—Financial Projection Assumptions.”

Revenues

The following table presents, on a cash basis, the System revenues received during Fiscal Years 2002
through 2006, as derived from the accounting records utilized in preparation of the statement of cash
flows, which is contained in the annual financial statements for Fiscal Years 2002 through 2006.

System Revenues
(Thousands of Dollars)

Mgﬂ FY 2002 FY 2003 FY 2004 FY 2005 FY 2006

Flat Rate—Water and Sewer Charges(1)... $ 513,894 § 530,200 $ 516,655 $ 534,904 $ 528,327
Metered—Water and Sewer Charges(1) ... 946,922 1,009,677 1,117,797 1139487 1,217,580
Meter—Upstate Customers .............. 21,102 22,790 22,225 27,291 42,693
Miscellaneous Revenues(2) .............. 70,482 73,633 77,216 89,193 100,542
Interest Penalty—Late Charges........... 24,930 38,235 41,766 47,810 45,519
Interest Income .......ovveniiinennin. 95,201 97,351 93,567 97,195 110,913
Tax Lien Sale(3)..............coiionnt. 20,152 — 7,783 10,581 20,026

Total. o oot $1,692,683 $1,771,886 $1,877,009 $1,946.461 $2,065,600

(1) Includes both current payments and payments relating to accounts in arrears.

(2) Miscellaneous Revenues are primarily comprised of water and sewer connection and disconnection fees. repair fees, meter
installation fees, water usage permits, special meter reading fees and subsidy payments from EFC.

(3) In connection with sales of liens on real property securing delinquent property taxes, the City Department of Finance also sold
liens on such property securing delinquent water and sewer charges.

The table above records actual cash received by the System and does not reflect either accounts
receivable or billing accruals. The System has consistently realized collections of cash revenues in amounts
exceeding costs for debt service, current operations and required levels of coverage. This has been
achieved while maintaining residential water and sewer service costs at a level which is below the average
of comparable large cities.

Expenses

The following table presents System expenses for Fiscal Years 2002 through 2006 on an accrual basis
which have been derived from the accounting records utilized in preparation of the annual financial
statements for Fiscal Years 2002 through 2006. These expenses represent operation, maintenance and
general expenses excluding the lease rental payment to the City, bad debt expense and capital costs for
improvements to upstate water pollution control plants that are reported as operating expenses in the
System’s financial statements because such plants are owned by municipalities outside the City.
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System Expenses
(Thousands of Dollars)

Expense Category FY 2002 FY 2003 FY 2004 FY 2005 FY 2006
Water Operations(1)

Personal Service(2) ................... $129,292  $135,627  $141,927  $137.174  $152.262
Other Than Personal Service(3) ........ 181,034 176,913 171,821 188.801 211.821
Total Water Operations ............. 310,326 312,540 313,748 325.975 364,083

Wastewater Operations(1)
Personal Service(2) ................... 197,522 196,851 199,568 199,244 222918
Other Than Personal Service(3) ........ 169,548 183,200 190,269 205,272 220,456
Total Wastewater Operations. ........ 367,070 380,051 389837 404,516 443 374
Administrative and General(4)........... 14,171 15,181 19,853 23.368 26,727
Indirect Expenses(5) .................... 53,361 51,613 70,217 59.643 62,628
Total System....................... $744,928  $759,385  $793,655  $813,502  $896.812

(1) Certain historical, administrative and overhcad costs of DEP were allocated to the water and sewer functions based upon the
proportion of applicable personnel within DEP.

(2) Personal Service costs include salaries, fringe benefits and pension costs.

(3) Other Than Personal Service costs include real cstate taxes paid to upstate communitics for watershed properties, land-bascd
sludge disposal costs and for electricity, chemicals and supply costs.

(4) Administrative and General costs include Authority and Board expenses. excluding Authority expenses for the defeasance of
debt.

(5) Indirect Expenses include City agency support. customer accounting, and judgments and claims costs.

Projected Revenues

As indicated in the table below, “Subtotal Service Revenue” is projected as of April 30, 2007 to
increase from approximately $1.9 billion in Fiscal Year 2007 to approximately $3.0 billion in Fiscal Year
2011. Projected rate increases in future Fiscal Years provide the majority of the increase in user payments.
Upstate revenues are projected to increase from approximately $36.5 million in Fiscal Year 2007 to
approximately $51.2 million in Fiscal Year 2011. This revenue growth is due to expected increases in the
cost of water supply services.

City-wide water consumption has declined each year from Fiscal Year 2001 through Fiscal Year 2006.
The average rate of decline in the three most recent years has been 0.8% annually. Between July 1, 2006
and January 31, 2007, consumption declined over 3.0% from consumption levels for the same period
during the prior year. The projected revenues assume that water consumption by metered customers will
decline by 2.3% in Fiscal Year 2007 and 1.0% annually for Fiscal Year 2008 through Fiscal Year 2011.

As of April 2007, revenues for Fiscal Year 2007 were approximately $65 million lower than projected
in April 2006. As a result, a non-recurring reduction in revenues of $65 million was included as of April
2007 in the projected Fiscal Year 2007 revenues. Revenues for Fiscal Year 2007 were $8 million lower
than projected in April 2007 and, for the first two months of Fiscal Year 2008, are projected to be
approximately $35 million lower than projected in April 2007. A substantial portion of the reduction in
revenue is believed to be attributable to the absence of a lien sale in Fiscal Year 2007, which had typically
taken place in the spring of each year. It is assumed that lien sales will be conducted again in Fiscal Year
2008 and the projected revenues for Fiscal Year 2008 reflect a one-time recovery of $33 million. The
resumption of lien sales is dependent upon the enactment of authorizing legislation by the City Council.

The projected revenues and anticipated future rate increases in Fiscal Years 2008 through 2011 take
into consideration the anticipated effects of new billing and collection initiatives by the Board and DEP
to enhance the efficiency of collection for water and sewer billings. It is assumed that the effect these or
other initiatives will result in a 1% increase in annual cash collections from metered customers during
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Fiscal Years 2008 and 2009, in addition to increases from higher rates. It is also assumed that $63 million
in non-recurring revenue will be collected from customers with overdue bills during the period of 2008
through 2011. A portion of this anticipated revenue is attributable to the recovery of revenues from Fiscal
Year 2007. In the event that DEP is not successful in implementing the enhancements to current collection
strategies, the actual increases in user rates in future Fiscal Years may be higher than the increases
currently forecasted.

Projected Revenues
(Millions of Dollars)

Line
No. Description 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
Operating Revenues . . .................
1 User Payments (1). .. ................ $1,886.9 $2,178.7 $2,391.6 $2,636.8 $2,907.2
2 Upstate Revenues . .. ................ 36.5 394 42.5 47.1 512
3 Subtotal Service Revenue . . ... ......... 19234 2,218.1 2,4342 2,683.9 29584
4 Miscellaneous Revenues. . ... .......... 6.4 6.8 7.1 7.4 7.8
5 Subtotal Operating Revenue . . . ... ...... 1,929.8 2,224.9 2,441.3 2,691.4 2,966.2
Nonoperating Revenues. . . ..............
6 Interest Income on System Funds (2). ... .. 711 76.1 85.9 95.7 107.1
7 Total Revenues. . . ... ...t s $2,000.8 $2,301.0 $2,527.1 $2,787.1 $3,073.3

Figures are calculated on a cash basis.
Totals may not add due to rounding.
Source: Amawalk Consulting.

(1) Includes late payment charges.

(2) Includes interest income on the Construction Fund, Debt Service Fund and the Debt Service Reserve Fund.

Projected Operating and Maintenance Expenses

The table set forth below shows, for Fiscal Years 2007 through 2011, the System’s projected operation
and maintenance expenses as of April 30, 2007. See “RATES AND BILLING—Rates—Projected Rates.”

Total expenses for Fiscal Year 2008 through Fiscal Year 2011 reflect the expansion of DEP health and
safety programs, the results of recent collective bargaining agreements, increased costs for pension
contributions and fringe benefits and other factors. See “INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT—Financial
Projection Assumptions.”
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Projected Operation and Maintenance Expense
(Millions of Dollars)

No. Description FY 2007 FY 2008 FY 2009 FY 2010 FY 2011
1 Authority/Board Operations (1).............. $ 266 $ 396 §$ 355 § 378 $ 392
Water Operations
2 Personal Services. ............... ... .. ... 162.1 183.6 188.8 193.4 199.0
3 Other Than Personal Services. . ............ 248.3 271.1 2759 298.2 310.2
4 Total Water Operations. .. ................ 410.5 454.6 464.7 491.6 509.2
Wastewater Opcerations
5 Personal Services. . .......... ... ... .... 271.6 290.0 292.4 300.2 308.8
6 Other Than Personal Services. . ............ 253.3 294.3 293.6 290.2 296.2
7 Total Wastewater Operations .. ............ 5249 584.3 586.0 590.3 605.0
8 Indirect Expenses ... ... .. ..., 16.2 16.2 16.2 16.2 16.2
9 Judgments and Claims. ................. .. .. 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
10 Total Operating Expenses. . ................. 986.2 1,102.8 1,1104 1.144.0 1,177.6
11 Less: Trust Account Withdrawals .. ......... .. 0.0 (45.0) (40.0) (12.2) —
12 Net Operating Expenses ... ................. 986.2 1,057.8 1,070.4 1,131.8 1,177.6
13 Less: Credit for Prior Year Excess O&M Payment. (8.5) — — — —
14 Net Operating Expense Payments ............ $977.7  $1,057.8  $1,0704  $1,131.8  $1,177.6

(1) Includes Authority/Board operations, Authority reccipts (payments) under its intercst rate exchange agreements, and
Authority arbitrage rebate payments.

Totals may not add due to rounding. Figures are calculated on a cash basis.
Source: Amawalk Consulting.

Operation and Maintenance Expenses include administrative costs associated with the Authority and
the Board, direct operating costs for the System, indirect operating costs of DEP, and other expenses and
adjustments to annual operating expenses. Each of these is explained more fully below.

The Authority/Board Operations. Administrative expenses of the Authority and the Board, shown
on Line 1 of the table above, include annual fees required by EFC in connection with the Authority’s
participation in the State Revolving Fund Program. These fees are projected to be $12.3 million in Fiscal
Year 2008 and are expected to increase as the outstanding principal of bonds issued to EFC increases. The
Authority also expects to make arbitrage rebate payments of $6.5 million in Fiscal Year 2008. Other
expenses of the Authority include but are not limited to payments under interest rate exchange
agreements (net of receipts), fees related to adjustable rate bonds and commercial paper notes and the
management of investments.

Water Operations. The operating costs of the Water System include direct operation and mainte-
nance costs applicable to one or more functional areas of the Water System and the distribution system
as well as certain indirect operating costs of the DEP which are allocated between the Water System and
the Sewer System. The operating costs of the Water System are divided into personal services costs and
other than personal services costs. Personal services costs include direct salary costs plus fringe benefit and
pension costs.

Other than personal services costs include property taxes paid to upstate communities for watershed
properties as well as chemicals, electricity. and other expenses.

All but a small percentage of the Water System functions by gravity so that electricity costs necessary
to maintain normal water transmission and distribution are relatively small. In drought conditions,
additional pumping is necessary for optimal distribution of water available from the System, thereby
causing increased eclectricity costs.

Personal services costs assume a 3% increase per year from Fiscal Years 2007 through 2011. Other
than personal services costs, excluding property taxes, are assumed to increase at an estimated rate of 3%
per year for the forecast period. Property tax payments for City-owned watershed lands are expected to
be $106 million in Fiscal Year 2007. It is assumed that such payments will increase at the rate of 6%
annually reflecting both the addition of new watershed properties and increasing tax rates.

37



In accordance with the watershed protection agreement, DEP will implement additional programs
which will enhance the ability of the City and the communities located in the watershed area to protect
the quality of the water supply. Such programs will include certain capital investments which are
contained within the CIP. The forecasted opcration and maintcnance expenses for the Water System
reflect the expected increase in operation and maintenance costs due to the Watershed Agreement.

Wastewater Operations. The operating costs of the Sewer System include direct operation and
maintenance costs applicable to onc or more functional areas of the Sewer System as well as certain
indirect operating costs of DEP allocated to the Water System and the Sewer System. The operating costs
of the Sewer System are also divided into personal services and other than personal services costs.
Personal services costs include dircet salary costs plus fringe bencfits and pension costs.

Other than personal scrvices costs include electricity for the water pollution control plants, pump
stations and service vards, chemicals, and other expenses. Electricity, which represents a significant
expense in operating the treatment plants and pump stations. is supplied primarily by the Power
Authority of the State of New York. A major component of other than personal services cost is biosolids
management. The annual costs of biosolids management arc anticipated to remain relatively constant at
approximately $50 million per year for the next several years in accordance with the terms of current
re-use contracts. Certain other cost adjustments are reflected in the forecasted cash flow as adjustments
are made to specific operating programs based upon System needs.

Other Expenses. Other expenses of the System include indirect expenses and judgments and claims.
Indircct expenses, shown on Line 9 of the table, reflect costs allocated to the System for support provided
by various City agencies and departments. Services provided include budget preparation and review, cost
and revenue accounting. billing and collection, and legal support. The method of allocating these costs to
the System is based upon costs initially allocated to DEP and subsequently divided between those
attributable to water and sewer and those costs associated with other activities of DEP. The costs allocated
to DEP as a whole are derived from the total costs of City support agencies and departments and a
formalized cost allocation plan which distributes the costs to affected departments and agencies. DEP’s
billing and collection expenses are included in the operation and maintenance costs of the Water System
and the Wastewater System.

Credits Against Operation and Maintenance Expense. Pursuant to a consent decree (the “1989
Consent Decree™) entered into in 1989 under the Marine Protection Research and Sanctuaries Act of
1972 (“MPRSA™"). as amended by the Occan Dumping Ban Act of 1988 (the “Ban Act”), DEP ceased the
ocean disposal of sludge in June 1992. The Ban Act and the 1989 Consent Decree provide that 85% of the
fees and penalties paid shall be deposited into a trust account and shall be available to reimburse the City
for costs incurred for developing alternative biosolids management facilities. As of February 28,2007, the
value of the trust account was $92.9 million. It is assumed that this value will increase with interest
earnings at the rate of 4% per annum, until withdrawals are made. It is anticipated that $45.0 million in
Fiscal Year 2008. $40.0 million in Fiscal Year 2009. and $12.2 million in Fiscal Year 2010 will be available
as an offset to operation and maintenance expenses. The funds in the trust account are administered by
DEP.

Projected Financial Operations

The following table shows a summary of the forecasted cash flows for the Authority as of April 30,
2007 for Fiscal Year 2007 through Fiscal Year 2011. See “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT AND FINANCING
PROGRAM—Debt Service Requirements.” See “RATES AND BILLING—Rates—Projected Rate.” The
projected rate increases described herein under “RATES AND BILLING—Rates” have been assumed in
order to meet projected cash expenditures in compliance with the Rate Covenant. See “FINANCIAL
OPERATIONS—Projected Revenues.” As shown on Line 31 of the table, positive net surpluses are
projected to be maintained throughout the reporting period. Line 32 illustrates the projected coverage of
First Resolution debt service by current revenues available for debt service. Line 33 illustrates the
projected coverage of First Resolution and Second Resolution debt service by current revenues available
for debt service.
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Forecasted Cash Flows
(Millions of Dollars)

Description
Operating Revenues
ater and Sewer User Payments . ... ... ... ..
Upstate Revenue .. ... 0. .. ... . ... ......
Miscellaneous Revenue . .. ... ... ... ... ...
Other Revenues
Intereston Funds ... ........ ... ... ... ....

Current Revenues Available for Debt Service . . . . .
First Resolution Debt Service
Outstanding Bonds . . ... .. ... .. ... ... ...
Anticipated Future Bonds . .. . ..., . ... ..

Total First Resolution Debt Service . .. ..... .. ..
Subordinated Obligations ) )
Outstanding Sccond Resolution Bonds issued to
the public ..., ... ... . ... e
Antictpated Future Sccond Resolution Bonds
issued to the public .. ... ... L L

Interest Payments on Commercial Paper Notes . .
Outstanding Second Resolution Bonds issued to
EFC . .
Anticilgatqd Future Second Resolution Bonds . . .
Less: EFC Subsidy and Capitalized Interest on
Subordinated Bonds. . .. ... ... ... . ...

Actual] Debt Service on Subordinated Indebtedness .
Less: Carryforward Revenues .. ... ... .. ... ...

Net Debt Service on Subordinated Indebtedness . . .

Total Debt Service Pavable from Current Revenues.
(line 8 + line .

Operating Expenses .
Authority/Board Operations. .. ....... .. .. ..
Water Systenmy. .. ... ..
Wastewater System . .. ... .. ... ... ... ..,
Indirect Expense. ... ....... . ... .. .. ...

Total Operating Expenses . ... ...............

Less: Trust Account Withdrawals .. ... ... . ...
Net Operating Expenses . ... ... oo ..
Less: Credit for Prior Year Excess O&M Payment . .
Rental Payment_to the City of New York . .". ... ..
Cash Financed Capital Construction. . .. .. ... . ..
Total Expenses. . ... ... . L

First Resolution Debt Service Coverage
(line Sfline 8y . ... ... ... .. ...

First and Second Resolution Debt Service Coverage
(ine S/line 18) .. ... ... ... . ... . ...

Source: Amawalk Consulting.

FY 2007 FY 2008 FY 2009 FY2010  FY 2011
$1,886.9  $2.1787  $2391.6  $2.6368  $2.9072
36.5 364 428 471 515
6.4 6.8 71 78
71.1 76.1 85.9 957 107.1
5008 2301.0 25271 27871 30733
533.3 551.4 556.7 546.9 610.5
- = 84’5 174.4 246.0
3333 5514 5413 213 8365
472 55.1 54.7 54.4 54.0
— 62.8 101.8 160.8 220.5
23.0 34.0 34.0 34.0 34.0
395.9 428.0 432.6 436.4 436.1
e 70 36.6 503 837
(101.1) (109.8) (118.4) (120.0) (120.5)
365.0 9772 5413 25.9 707.8
(1762) (1151) (8473) (50.4) (95.6)
188.8 362.0 4568 3356 6122
722.1 913.4 1.098.1 12569 1,468.7
2.6 39.6 35.5 37.8 39.2
4105 4546 46477 4916 5092
5249 58473 586.0 5903 605.0
162 162 162 162 162
80 80 80 80 80
986.2 11008 1110, 1.144.0 T177.6
i (45.0) (40:0) (1222) il
osg%) 1.057.8 1.070.4 11318 11776
1433 1553 178.3 202.8 2352
500 900 900 10000 80.0
1,163.6 13031 13387 14346 14928
$ 1151 845  §$7904  $ 956 0§ 118
3.75x 4.17x 3.94x 3.86x 3.59%
2.77x 2.52x 2.30x 2.22x 2.09x

Column subtotals and totals may reflect adjustments for rounding of amounts shown in individual line items.

(1) Funds projected for Cash Financed Capital Construction may be used for the defeasance of bonds in addition to funds

otherwise provided for the defeasance of bonds.



RATES AND BILLINGS
Rates

The Board is responsible for setting rates in compliance with the Rate Covenant. See “SECURITY FOR
THE BONDS—Rate Covenant.” The Board retains the firm of Amawalk Consulting for the purpose of
conducting a detailed review of the structure of water and sewer rates. The Board considers the results
of Amawalk Consulting rate studies in establishing its rates and charges for service.

The System’s rates and charges are largely exempt from federal and State regulation. Water rates,
fees and charges for water supply are the responsibility of the Board and are not subject to further
approval or regulation except for rates for upstate users. Currently approximately 12% of System
Revenues are collected from such upstate users. Sewer charges are established by the Board as a
percentage of water charges. Participation in the Construction Grants Program, however, requires the
maintenance of sewer charges sufficient to defray costs of operation, maintenance and replacement. The
Board, as a matter of policy, conforms with these requirements when setting sewer charges. The Board
uses data compiled from meter readings for billings and to determine the effectiveness of City-mandated
conservation measures.

The following table sets forth the changes in rates for water and sewer service since 1986:

History of Water and Sewer Rate Increases

Metered
Effective Change in Change in Water Rate Change
Date Flat-Rate Water Metered Water  (per ccf)(1) in Sewer
July 1, 1986 Increased 9.9% Increased 9.9% 72.5¢ Remained at 60% of watercharge
July 1, 1987 Increased 12% Increased 12% 8l¢ Increased to 70% of watercharge
July 1. 1988 Increased from $14.06 to $26.40 per year No change 81¢ Increased to 75% of watercharge
for each additional family above the single
family assumed in an individual flat-rate
account.
July 1, 1989 Increased from $26.40 to $41.86 per year Increased 7.8% 87¢ Increased to 88% of watercharge
for each additional family above the single
family assumed in an individual flat-rate
account. Remaining flat-rate charges
increased by 7.8%.
Jan. 1, 1990 Increased 9% Increased 9% 95¢ Increased to 112% of watercharge
July 1, 1991 Increased 6.4% Increased 6.4% $1.01 Increased to 136% of watercharge
July 1, 1992 No change No change $1.01 Increased to 159% of watercharge
July 1, 1993 No change No change $1.01 No change
July 1, 1994 No change No change $1.01 No change
July 1, 1995 Increased 5% Increased 5% $1.06 No change
July 1, 1996 Increased 6.5% Increased 6.5% $1.13 No change
July 1, 1997 Increased 6.5% Increased 6.5% $1.20 No change
July 1, 1998 Increased 4% Increased 4% $1.25 No change
July 1, 1999 Increased 4% Increased 4% $1.30 No change
July 1,2000 Increased 1% Increased 1% $1.31 No change
July 1, 2001 Increased 3% Increased 3% $1.35 No change
July 1, 2002 Increased 6.5% Increased 6.5% $1.44 No change
July 1, 2003 Increased 5.5% Increased 5.5% $1.52 No change
July 1, 2004 Increased 5.5% Increased 5.5% $1.60 No change
July 1, 2005 Increased 3% Increased 3% $1.65 No change
July 1, 2006 Increased 9.4% Increased 9.4% $1.81 No change
July 1, 2007 Increased 11.5% Increased 11.5% $2.02 No change

(1) ccf: 100 cubic feet.

Projected Rates. Although the Board sets rates for an annual period, it may increase rates during
such period, as required. As of April 2007, forecasted debt service, operating and other costs.for the
System indicated that the anticipated future rate increases to be set by the Board for water and sewer
services combined were 11.5% in Fiscal Year 2009, 11.4% in Fiscal Year 2010, 11.3% in Fiscal Year 2011
and 7.0% in Fiscal Year 2012. See “INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT—Financial Projection Assumptions.”

Basic Sewer Charge. For all properties connected to the Sewer System, or legally required to be
connected after receiving proper notice, there is a charge imposed equal to a fixed percentage of the
property’s water charge. Since July 1, 1992, the sewer charge has remained at 159% of the water charge.
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Sewer Allowances. Certain commercial customers use water in their products and thus return less
waste to the Sewer System than their water consumption might indicate. Upon application and approval,
these commercial users are entitled to an effective rate reduction which reflects the proportion of water
which is retained in their products or evaporated and not returned as sewage.

Sewer-only Customer Charges. In the case of premises which receive water service from alternative
sources, a sewer charge is determined by DEP. For the current Fiscal Year. the sewer charge to such
premises is equal to 159% of the dollar amount that would be charged for water usage if it were supplied
by the Water System.

Upstate Water Rates. Rates for water supply service provided to municipalities and water districts
located north of the City are established in accordance with the provisions of the Water Supply Act of
1905 (the 1905 Act™). The 1905 Act provides that such rates shall be based on the System’s actual cost
of service. The sale of water and the rates and charges for these accounts are regulated by State law as
well as by individual agreements between these communities and the City. Each contract provides for the
metering of water sales to individual communities and the application of a specific charge per unit of
metered volume. In most cases, per capita consumption in the upstate communities is less than that of
customers within the City. In those instances where the community per capita consumption exceeds that
of the City. the specified rate of charge for the excess is increased to match the rates and charges applied
to retail service in the City. As of July 1. 2007, water taken from either the Croton or Catskill/Delaware
systems is charged at a rate of $798.62 per million gallons for daily per capita amounts not in excess of
daily per capita consumption within the City.

Comparative Charges.  The following table presents comparative annual water and sewer charges in
24 large cities based upon a survey conducted in March 2007. Using a ranking system where 1 represents
the lowest rates, the City's ranking relative to these cities is: Single-Family Residential — 9, for
Commercial - 11, and for Industrial — 17.

Comparative Annual Water and Sewer User Charges'"®

Single-Family Residential Commercial Industrial
Annual Annual Annual
City Charge City Charge City Charge
Chicago . ...... .. $ 243 Chicago .. ..... . $ 3329 Indianapolis . . .. .. $ 319,884
Indianapolis . . . . .. 529 Indianapolis . . . . . . 4.028 Chicago ......... 332,870
Milwaukee . ... ... 530 St. Louis. . ....... 4,319 St. Lours. .. ... .. 356,665
St. Louss. . ....... 569 Dallas. . ......... 4,431 Milwaukee . ... ... 369,317
Newark ......... 608 tlwaukee . ... ... 4.643 allas. . ... ... ... 383,352
San Jose......... 623 altimore. . ... ... 5387 Philadelphia. . . ... 470,305
San Antonio. . . ... 626 an Antonio. .. ... 5.655 an Antonio. .. ... 471,517
Baltimore. .. ... .. 626 Honolulu ... ... . 5.685 Baltimore. . ... ... 478,115
New York. . ... ... 627 an Josc. ... ... .. 5817 ctroit. .. ... . ... 506,315
Dallas. ... ... ... . 649 ewark . ........ 5.842 anJose......... 511,157
Los Angeles. .. ... 674 ew York. . ... . . 6,267 Newark . ........ 533.032
Houstonn......... 687 Los Angeles. .. ... 6.296 Jacksonville . . . . .. 553,801
Detroit.,........ 707 Jacksonville . .. ... 6303 onolulu .. ..... . 566,050
Jacksonville . ., ... 721 Detroit. ... ... 6,384 ew Orleans . . ... 588,162
Honolulu .. ...... 725 Columbus. . . .. 6.568 Columbus. . ... ... 611,161
Columbus. .., .. .. 729 New Orleans ... .. 6934 Los Angeles. ... .. 613,057
Washington. D.C.. . 771 San Diego .. ... .. 7.246 New York...... . . 026,725
leveland. . ... ... 7 Houston. .. .. .. .. 7.474 an Diego ....... 664,529
ew Orleans . . ... 790 Washington, D.C...  7.55] Houston. . ... .. .. 732,620
an Diego .. ... .. 1,021 Cleveland. ... ... 7.966 Washington, D.C.. . 753,183
oston .. ........ 1,077 Philadelphia. . . . .. 8. leveland, . ... ... 13
Philadelphia. .. . .. 1.157 San Francisco. . . . . 10,511 an Francisco. . . .. 1,021,944
San Francisco. . . . . 1.229 Boston .. ... ... .. 778 Boston .. ... ... .. 1,297,926
Atlanta. . ... ... .. 1,265 Atlanta. . .. ... .. 14.669 Atlanta. .. .... ... 1,489,081
Average .. ... . ... $ 748 Average . ... ... .. $ 6,79 Average . ... .. .. $ 626,912

(1) User Charges are based upon information provided by the identified cities and standardized assumptions regarding water

consumption, wastewater discharge. stormwater drainage arca and other factors, Actu
accordance with local usage patterns. Some cities bill for sewer use on the b
sewer billings if a customer’s use was not uniform throughout the year. Sewer ch
where separate stormwater fees are assessed. Some citics use property
of water, wastewater or stormwater services. In such situations, the user

Or stormwater services.

(2) Charges for all cities reflect rate schedules in effect on April 1, 2007.
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Accounts, Billing and Collection

The Bureau of Customer Services of DEP renders bills to customers of the System and collects

payments of such bills. This bureau installs and reads meters, verifies meter accuracy, and maintains
current information for those customers on the flat-rate system of billing described below.

The System has approximately 830,000 water and sewer accounts, nearly all of which are for water
and sewer service. Approximately 91% of the System’s water and sewer customers are residential. The
remainder are primarily commercial and industrial users, with industrial users accounting for only a small
portion of water and sewer usage.

Approximately 57,000 accounts, representing 7% of total accounts, are billed annually through the
flat-rate system. These accounts are charged for water either on a per unit charge or through a
computation which incorporates, among other factors, the width of the front of the building (“frontage”),
the number of stories. the number of dwelling units, and the number of water-using fixtures (such as
bathtubs, showers and toilets) in the building. The frontage rate is computed when the building is first
constructed, and amended upon notice from the City Department of Buildings (“DOB") of building
alterations or when a DEP inspector determines that the basis for charges is incorrect. Flat-rate annual
bills are normally sent to customers prior to the start of each Fiscal Year and are due at the end of the
first month of the Fiscal Year.

Approximately 772,000 accounts, representing 93% of total accounts, are billed on a metered basis.
Meters are read and billed on a quarterly basis except meters for some larger accounts which are read and
billed more frequently. Most meter readings are captured electronically through the use of hand-held
computers and a universal probe. Data from meter readings are relayed to computers in field offices and
transmitted to a centralized computer billing system on a daily basis. Some older meters, however, must
be read manually. Still other meters transmit consumption data to the billing system via telephone lines.
Metered accounts are billed quarterly and bills are sent out regularly throughout the year. DEP is
evaluating the installation of an automatic meter reading system in which meters would transmit usage
information by radio signal to DEP. DEP expects to begin installing transmitters in mid-2008, with
substantial completion of installation at all locations by mid-2011. The cost of implementing this program
is expected to be $210 million, of which $200 million is in the CIP. Unlike flat-rate charges which were
commonly paid through mortgage escrow accounts, metered charges are billed directly to customers
which, among other factors, has required DEP to handle a substantially higher volume of customer
account inquiries. Commercial accounts are required by the Board and the City to have meters installed
for all water services. Substantially all of these accounts are in compliance with this requirement.

Since 1988, the basis for service charges for residential properties has been in a continuous process
of transition from a frontage or flat-rate basis of annual billing to a meter-based billing system which relies
on the actual measurement of usage. The Universal Metering Program is designed to improve water
conservation, water supply system management, and rate equity. The City has issued contracts for the
installation of meters for the remaining unmetered accounts and is testing and replacing meters where
necessary. Approximately 97% of all water and sewer accounts have meters installed. Since July 2000.
unmetered properties which have not taken steps to install a meter have been required to pay a surcharge
doubling their annual water and sewer charge. A surcharge was levied on approximately 10,100 accounts
in their July 2007 bills.

Revenues from newly metered accounts may increase or decrease somewhat depending on how
closely the flat-rate billing factors previously used compare to actual metered consumption for these
accounts. Based upon recent experience, a one-time decrease in collections will occur for each account as
it is metered due to the transition from billing in advance under flat rates to billing after consumption
occurs. The one-time effect is taken into account in the forecasted revenues of the System.

Billing based on actual usage has affected the level of charges to certain large multiple-family
residential buildings, in particular, those buildings with above-average population density and those with
improperly maintained plumbing fixtures. The result is often a significant increase in charges to such
buildings. In response to the needs of this segment of the customer base, the Board has adopted a
transitional program whereby owners of multiple-family buildings that have had meters installed under

42



the Universal Metering Program will continue to be billed on a flat-rate basis during the transition period.
The transitional program allows owners time to review their water usage, educate tenants regarding
conservation, repair leaky plumbing, and install low-flow fixtures in order to reduce consumption and
charges. There are approximately 31,000 accounts in the transitional program,

On May 11, 1993, the Board adopted a program that provides for a cap on the per-unit charge on
multiple-family dwellings. The cap is set at approximately 150% of the average per-family unit charge. In
order to be eligible for this program, building owners must submit to a water audit by DEP and take
measures to eliminate leakage and waste.

On May 3, 2001, the Board adopted its Conservation Program for Multiple Family Residential
Buildings which replaces the existing transitional program and meter billing cap program referred to
above for residential buildings consisting of six or more dwelling units. It provides that owners of such
buildings who replace or have replaced at least 70% of the toilet, sink and showerhead fixtures in such
buildings with low-flow fixtures may elect to be billed on the basis of metered consumption or a fixed
charge per dwelling unit per year. The program became effective July 1, 2001. To date. approximately 500
applications for the program have been approved. The program is designed to be revenue neutral.

Certain institutions are exempt under State law from the payment of all or a portion of their water
and sewer charges depending upon usage. These institutions include religious, certain educational and
other charitable institutions as well as homes for the aged, hospitals and other non-profit or charitable
corporations. For Fiscal Year 2006, metered accounts of such institutions which would be charged less
than $15,538 per year for water service are fully exempt from water and sewer charges, with a 50%
exemption for those accounts ranging from $16,999 to $33.994 in annual water charges. There are
approximately 4,000 accounts which are entirely or partially exempt from water and sewer charges.

DEP manages its account and billing information through its Customer Information System (“CIS™),
which incorporates both frontage and metered accounts. DEP has identified weaknesses in the ability of
the CIS to identify and report account errors and corrections on a comparable basis over time. In addition,
DEP continues to issue a high percentage of estimated bills and continues to have difficulty in verifying
the accuracy of a significant proportion of its overall receivable balances. DEP is working to reduce
estimated bills and correct billing inaccuracies, which requires both computer analyses and an account-
by-account review.

The Board and DEP have undertaken initiatives o enhance the collection of water and sewer
billings. These initiatives include cstablishing a delinquent accounts unit for small to mid-size customers,
outsourcing selected delinquency notification and collection functions to reputable collection or credit
organizations, and hiring a consultant to assist in analyzing and improving collection of the accounts
receivable balance. In addition, in 1999, the Board adopted a regulation authorizing DEP to terminate
water and sewer services to customers because of nonpayment of assessed charges. Subject to certain
notice requirements, service may be terminated if at least one delinquent charge has remained open and
unpaid for at least two years, in the case of non-residential accounts and residential accounts with six or
more units, or three years, in the case of residential accounts with one to five units. In May 2002, the
Board approved modifications to the regulation to authorize the termination of service, subject to notice
requirements, if at least one delinquent charge of at least $1.000 has remained open and unpaid for at least
one year or at least one delinquent charge of at least $10.000 has remained open and unpaid for Y0 days.
The Commissioner of Finance of the City has also been authorized by the City Council in conjunction
with the sale of tax liens to sell liens on behalf of the Board securing unpaid water and sewer charges. Such
authorization expired on August 31, 2006, but is cxpected to be renewed.
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THE SYSTEM

Overview

DEP supplies water and sewer service to the Boroughs of the Bronx, Brooklyn, Manhattan, Queens,
Staten Island, an area of over 300 square miles, and serves over eight million people. The City is also
required by State law to sell water in counties where its water supply facilities are located and where it
currently provides water to an additional approximately one million people. The Water System provides
an average of approximately 1,185 mgd of water. Water consumption has decreased since 1990 when an
average of approximately 1,500 mgd was provided by the Water System. The amount of water that can be
safely drawn from a watershed during the worst period in the drought of record is the “Dependable
Yield.” DEP has determined that the System could have furnished an average of 1,290 mgd during the
drought of record in the mid-1960s. During periods of normal rainfall, watersheds supply more than the
Dependable Yield. The Sewer System collects and treats an average of approximately 1,330 mgd of
wastewater. Sewer service is provided to virtually the entire City, except for significant parts of the
Borough of Staten Island, the Borough of Queens communities of Breezy Point and Douglaston, and the
Borough of Brooklyn community of Seagate. Sewer service is also provided to certain upstate
communities in System watershed areas. According to Metcalf & Eddy, the System is in adequate
condition (the highest rating category; see “APPENDIX A—LETTER OF METCALF & EDDY, CONSULTING
ENGINEERS.”)

In recent years, DEP has taken a number of steps to enhance and augment its security arrangements
to protect the System, including water supply structures and facilities. These steps include, among others,
increasing the size of the DEP police force to approximately 200 officers; obtaining legislation authorizing
the DEP police to function as police officers within the City, as well as in the upstate watersheds;
purchasing additional police vehicles and surveillance equipment; and further securing facilities through
additional locks. fences and other physical barriers to prevent access by unauthorized persons. In addition,
DEP has been consulting with other governmental agencies, including the Federal Bureau of Investiga-
tion and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, on longer-term plans to modernize and improve security
systems. In response to the attacks on the World Trade Center, DEP, in concert with law enforcement
authorities, immediately implemented certain further measures to protect the System. These include,
among others, increased frequency of patrols, restricting vehicular access to certain facilities, and more
frequent monitoring of the water supply for contaminants. Increased security requirements have resulted
in additional labor costs and related expenses in the System.

The Water System
Water Collection and Distribution

Water for the System is derived from three upstate reservoir systems (the Croton, Catskill and
Delaware Systems) and a system of wells in Queens that were acquired as part of the City’s acquisition
of the Jamaica Water Supply Company (“Jamaica Water”). The three upstate water collection systems
include 18 reservoirs and three controlled lakes with a total storage capacity of approximately 550 billion
gallons. They were designed and built with various interconnections to increase flexibility by permitting
exchange of water from one system to another. This feature mitigates localized droughts and takes
advantage of excess water in any of the three watersheds.

The Water System is currently furnishing water to users in portions of four of the eight eligible
northern counties. The Water System provides approximately 85% of the water used in Westchester
County and approximately 7.5% of the water used in Putnam, Orange and Ulster Counties.

Approximately 95% of the total water supply is delivered to buildings by gravity. Only about 5% of
the water is regularly pumped by DEP to maintain the desired pressure. As a result, operating costs are
relatively insensitive to fluctuations in the cost of power. When drought conditions exist, additional
pumping is required.

The three main reservoir systems are the Croton, Catskill and Delaware Systems. See “New York
City Water Supply System” map in Appendix G.
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The following tables set forth the capacities and original in-service dates of the System’s collecting
and balancing reservoirs and distribution facilities based on the City records.
Collecting Reservoirs

Available Original
Capacity(1) In-Service

Name {Billion Gallons) Date
Croton
New CrotOn. . ...t e e et e e e e e e e 19.0 1905
Croton Falls Main .. ......... . e 14.2 1911
Cross RIVeT . . ... e 10.3 1908
West Branch . ... . . 10.1 1895
aICUS. ottt e 7.2 1893
Amawalk ... e e 6.7 1897
East Branch . ... ... . 52 1891
MuUSCOOt .. 4.9 1905
Bog Brook . ... ... 4.4 1892
Middle Branch ... ... 4.0 1878
Boyds Corner ...... ..o e 1.7 1873
Croton Falls Diverting ............. .. 09 1911
Total. . e 88.6
Catskill
AShOKANL . ..o e 122.9 1915
Schoharie. . ... .. . o _17.6 1926
Total .. 140.5
Delaware
Pepacton . ... .. ... e 140.2 1955
Cannonsville . . ... . 95.7 1964
Rondout. ... . 49.6 1950
Neversink. . ..o 349 1954
Total. ..o 320.4
Total Available Capacity. ....... ...ttt 547.5

(1) Capacity above minimum operating level.
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Balancing Reservoirs and Distribution Facilities

Storage Original
Capacity In-Service
Name (billion gallons) Date
Balancing Reservoirs
e« T R 30.6 1915
HiIVIEW © o o v e ettt e et e e e e e e 09 1915
Total Balancing ReSEIVOIrs. ... ..oooviiiiein e 31.5
Distribution Facilities
Central Park . . oottt e 1.0 1862
Jerome PatK . oot 0.8 1905
Silver Lake (1anks) ... .o.oovrnenee o 0.1 1970
Total Distribution Facilities .. ... 1.9
Total Storage Capacity ... ... couvurnranrnnre e 3.4

The following table sets forth the Dependable Yield and storage capacity for each of the water supply
systems.

Water System Dependable Yield and Capacity

Dependable Storage

Yield Capacity(1)
System (mgd) (billion gallons)
CTOUOM « v v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 240 86.6
CatSKill. ottt e e 470 140.5
DELAWATE « « « v v v e e e e e 580 320.4
QUEENS WEILS . . oot e e et e e 33 26
TOtAL .+« v o e e et e 1,_%2; i(ﬁ

(1) Capacity above minimum operating level.

The Croton System normally provides approximately 10% of the City’s daily water supply and can
provide substantially more of the daily water supply during drought conditions. The Croton System
consists of 12 reservoirs and three controlled lakes on the Croton River, its three branches and three other
tributaries. The water in the Croton System flows from upstream reservoirs through natural streams to
downstream reservoirs, terminating at the New Croton Reservoir. The watershed which supplies the
Croton System has an area of 375 square miles. It lies almost entirely within the State, approximately 45
miles north of lower Manhattan, with a small portion in the State of Connecticut.

The Catskill System watersheds occupy sparsely populated areas in the central and eastern portions
of the Catskill Mountains and normally provide approximately 40% of the City’s daily water supply. Water
in the Catskill System comes from the Esopus and Schoharie Creek watersheds, located approximately
100 miles north of lower Manhattan and 35 miles west of the Hudson River. The Catskill System is
comprised of the Schoharie Reservoir (formed by the Gilboa Dam across Schoharie Creek) and Ashokan
Reservoir (formed by the Olivebridge Dam across Esopus Creek) and the Catskill Aqueduct.

Gilboa Dam is comprised of an earthen dam and a concrete gravity dam, with the concrete portion
also acting as the spillway. As part of DEP’s plans to improve and upgrade its dams, Gilboa Dam was
scheduled for rehabilitation commencing in 2010. However, a recent engineering analysis of the dam
shows that the spillway has lost some mass over time and that the dam did not meet NYSDEC safety
guidelines applicable to the reconstruction of existing dams. In December 2006, DEP completed a series
of interim steps to bring the dam into compliance with NYSDEC safety guidelines for the reconstruction
of existing dams.
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Although there is no evidence that the dam is facing imminent risk of failure, DEP has determined
that the rehabilitation of the dam should be advanced to 2009. Site preparation work is scheduled to begin
in 2008, and full reconstruction, which is anticipated to bring the dam up to compliance with NYSDEC
safety guidelines for new dams, will begin in October, 2009. The estimated cost to complete the
rehabilitation is $370 million, all of which is currently included in the CIP.

The Delaware System, located approximately 125 miles north of lower Manhattan, normally provides
approximately 50% of the City’s daily water supply. Three Delaware System reservoirs collect water from
a sparsely populated region on the branches of the Delaware River: Cannonsville Reservoir (formed by
the Cannonsville dam on the West Branch of the Delaware River); Pepacton Reservoir (formed by the
Downsville Dam across the East Branch of the Delaware River); and Neversink Reservoir (formed by the
Neversink Dam across the Neversink River, a tributary to the Delaware River).

In addition, wells in Queens provide approximately 1% of the City’s daily water supply. The wells
could be used to provide more of the daily supply during drought conditions. Unlike the rest of the City’s
water supply. which is a surface and gravity-supplied system originating in a network of upstate Teservoirs,
well water is pumped from extensive underground aquifers. The acquisition of wells in Queens from
Jamaica Water in 1996 represented the first new water supply source for the City since the 1960s when the
Delaware surface water system initially came on line. DEP is currently planning improvements to the
ground water system which will augment the supply of water from underground aquifers.

Current demand/flow projections show that if conservation programs, including metering, toilet
replacement, hydrant locking, leak detection, and public information, remain effective there will be no
immediate need for the City to find additional long-term water supply sources to meet normal demand.

The System’s water supply is transported through an extensive system of tunnels and aqueducts. See
“New York City Water Tunnels” map in Appendix G. Croton System water is delivered from the New
Croton Reservoir by the New Croton Aqueduct to the Jerome Park Reservoir in the Bronx. From Jerome
Park Reservoir and from direct connections to the New Croton Aqueduct, trunk mains carry water to the
service area. The Catskill and Delaware Aqueducts convey water from Ashokan Reservoir and Rondout
Reservoir to Kensico Reservoir and then to Hillview Reservoir in Yonkers. Both Kensico and Hillview
Reservoirs serve as balancing reservoirs. Water from the Catskill and Delaware Systems is mixed in the
Kensico Reservoir, and is conveyed to Hillview Reservoir where water enters Tunnels 1, 2 and 3. Trunk
mains carry water from tunnel shafts and from the distribution facilities (Jerome Park and Hillview
Reservoirs and Silver Lake Tanks) to the service area.

Rondout-West Branch Tunnel. The Rondout-West Branch Tunnel carries water 45 miles from the
Delaware System under the Hudson River and into West Branch Reservoir. It has a capacity of 900 mgd
and normally contributes 50% of the Citys water supply. It has the highest pressures and the highest
velocities in the Water System. In addition, a portion of the tunnel crosses a fractured rock formation,
which is potentially subject to greater stress than the deep rock tunnels located in the City. DEP regularly
assesses the condition and integrity of the System’s tunnels and aqueducts to determine the extent and
effect of water loss. In particular, since the early 1990s. DEP has monitored the condition of the
Rondout-West Branch Tunnel, which comprises a portion of the Delaware Aqueduct. As a result of
DEP’s flow tests, visual observations and other analyses, it has been determined that approximately 15
mgd to 36 mgd of water is being lost from the tunnel and is surfacing in the form of springs or seeps in
the area. This amounts to a loss of approximately 4% of the daily volume of water provided by the tunnel
under peak flow conditions. DEP has initiated the engineering work to determine the nature and extent
of repairs which may be necessary to remedy the water loss. DEP has also determined that the situation
in the tunnel and amount of water loss is stable. In the opinion of the professional engineering firm
retained by DEP in conjunction with that investigation. there is very little immediate risk of failure of the
tunnel. DEP intends to make the necessary repairs. The costs to perform such repairs could be substantial
depending on the nature of the required repair. To perform the repair work, the tunnel will probably have
to be shut down and de-watered. During any such period, it will be necessary for the City to increase
reliance on its other water supplies, and to implement more stringent measures to encourage conservation
and decrease demand. Under an extended shutdown of this tunncl., water quality in the remaining
reservoirs could potentially suffer as storage volumes are drawn down. In general, the Delaware System
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continues to demonstrate a high degree of reliability after 55 years of continuous service. Nevertheless.
DEP considers it prudent to conduct regular tunnel and aqueduct inspections and surveys to detect any
problems that might arise so that corrective actions can be taken if needed.

On August 15, 2007, the Office of the State Comptroller issued a report detailing its audit of DEP’s
plans and preparation for the repair and monitoring of the Rondout-West Branch Tunnel. The audit
report contained seven recommendations which are largely reflected in current DEP policy. DEP
commented that three assertions made in the audit should be corrected: (i) that the leak causes lost
revenue, (i) the leak has increased over time; and (iii) DEP has not upgraded its emergency plan. DEP
submitted the following corrections to the three assertions: (i) the leak does not result in lost revenue: (ii)
tests and monitoring have established that the tunnel structure and the leakage rate are stable; and (iii)
although the leak is stable, DEP is upgrading its emergency plan. Although the final report appended
these comments, the text of the report was not adjusted to correct these inaccuracies.

DEP has begun to evaluate additional strategies and projects for improving dependability of water
supplies, which could entail the development of additional or interim supplies to meet demands during
periods of extended facility outages due to planned or unplanned inspection, repair or rehabilitation. DEP
has retained a consultant to develop a long term dependability plan. DEP intends to evaluate various
alternative projects which, when combined, could allow for any portion of the Water System to be taken
out of service for a period of up to one year. Elements of that plan may include: interconnections with
other neighboring jurisdictions; increased use of groundwater supplies; storage and recovery of existing
supplies within underground acquifers; increased storage at existing reservoirs; withdrawals and treatment
from other surface waters; hydraulic improvements to existing aqueducts; and additional tunnels.

Tunnel 1. From Hillview Reservoir, water from the Catskill and Delaware Systems is delivered into
the City by a circular, cement-lined, pressurized, bedrock tunnel that narrows in diameter from 15 to 11
feet. Tunnel 1 is 18 miles in length and extends south from Hillview Reservoir through the West Bronx
to Manhattan and Brooklyn. Tunnel 1 is 200 to 750 feet underground and thus avoids interference with
streets, buildings, subways, sewers, pipes and other underground infrastructure. These depths are
necessary to ensure substantial rock covering necessary to withstand the bursting pressure of the water
inside and to ensure watertightness. Tunnel 1 has a capacity of approximately 1,000 mgd. Shafts placed
along the tunnel connect with surface mains which deliver water to the distribution system.

Tunnel 2. The second tunnel also delivers Catskill and Delaware System water from Hillview
Reservoir. It is a circular, cement-lined, pressurized, bedrock tunnel, 200 to 800 feet below the street
surface and 15 to 17 feet in diameter. Tunnel 2 extends south from Hillview Reservoir, east of Tunnel 1,
through the Bronx, under the East River at Rikers Island. through Queens and Brooklyn, and connects
with Tunnel 1 in Brooklyn. Tunnel 2 has a capacity of more than 1,000 mgd and is 20 miles in length. Shafts
placed along the tunnel connect with surface mains which deliver water to the distribution system.

Richmond Tunnel. Connecting to Tunnel 2 in Brooklyn is the ten-foot diameter, five-mile long
Richmond Tunnel, which was completed in 1970 and carries water 900 feet beneath Upper New York Bay
to Staten Island. The Richmond Tunnel, the Richmond Distribution Chamber. the Richmond Aqueduct
and the underground Silver Lake Tanks were designed to improve the water supply facilities of Staten
Island. The underground storage tanks (among the worlds largest) have a combined capacity of
100 million gallons and replaced the Silver Lake Reservoir (now Silver Lake).

Tunnel 3. A new water tunnel, Tunnel 3, connecting the reservoir system to the City is presently
under construction to increase capacity to meet a growing demand in the eastern and southern areas of
the City, permit inspection and rehabilitation of Tunnels 1 and 2, and provide water delivery alternatives
to the City in the event of disruption in Tunnel 1 or 2. Tunnel 3 is being built in four stages. Stage I
commenced operation in July 1998. It follows a 13-mile route which extends south from Hillview
Reservoir in Yonkers under Central Park Reservoir in Manhattan, and east under the East River and
Roosevelt Island to Long Island City in Queens. Stage Il is currently under construction and is expected
to be completed in 2015. It will extend from the end of Stage I to supply Queens, Brooklyn and the
Richmond Tunnel and from the valve chamber at Central Park into lower Manhattan. Upon completion,
and with the installation of additional surface mains, Stage I will enable the system to maintain full
service even if Tunnel 1 or 2 was shut down. The Stage II1 project is now referred to as the Kensico-City
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Tunnel (the “Kensico Tunnel”). Stage 1V is intended to deliver additional water to the eastern parts of
the Bronx and Queens. It would extend southeast from the northern terminus of Stage I in the Bronx to
Queens and then southwest to interconnect with the Queens portion of Stage II.

Kensico-City Tunnel. The Kensico-City Tunnel will extend from the Kensico Reservoir to the
interconnecting chamber of Tunnel 3, Stage 1, south of Hillview Reservoir. The design work for the tunnel
is estimated to cost $119 million and is expected to begin in Fiscal Year 2016. The estimated cost to design
and construct the tunnel is expected to be between $4 billion and $6 billion, most of which would be
incurred in the years beyond the CIP. $253 million is currently in the CIP.

The water distribution system consists of a grid network of over 6,500 miles of pipe, as well as valves,
fire hydrants, distribution facilities, gatchouses, pump stations, and maintenance and repair yards.
Approximately 32% of the pipe in the System was laid before 1930, 37% between 1930 and 1969, and the
remainder thereafter. The CIP provides for the programmatic replacement of water mains in accordance
with certain established criteria. These criteria were reviewed and confirmed by the U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers in its independent study of the City’s distribution system completed in November 1988.

Various facilities provide storage to meet the hourly fluctuations in demand for water throughout the
City, as well as any sudden increase in draft that might arise from fire or other emergencies. With the
exception of some communities in the outlying areas of the City which may experience low pressure
service during peak hours in summer months, the water distribution system provides generally excellent
service.

Drought Response Measures

From time to time the Water System experiences drought conditions caused by significantly
below-normal precipitation in the watershed areas. The most recent drought was in 2002. As of
September 4, 2007, the System’s reservoirs were filled to 76.1% of capacity. Normal levels at this time of
year are approximately 80.3% of capacity.

The Water System relies upon a surface water supply, and is sensitive to major fluctuations in
precipitation. Throughout even the worst droughts, the Water System has continued to supply sufficient
amounts of water to the City. To ensure adequate water supply during drought conditions, DEP, in
conjunction with other City, State and interstate agencies, maintains a Drought Management Plan. The
Drought Management Plan defines various drought phases that trigger specific management and
operational action. Three defined phases are: “Drought Watch,” “Drought Warning,” and “Drought
Emergency.” A Drought Emergency is further subdivided in four stages based on the projected severity
of the drought and provides increasingly stringent and restrictive measures.

A Drought Watch is declared when there is less than a 50% probability, based on the existing record
since 1927, that either the Catskill or Delaware reservoir system will be filled by the following June 1. This
phase initiates the pumping of water from the Croton System. In addition, during this phase a public
awareness program begins and users, including upstate communities taking water from the System, are
requested to initiate conservation measures. New York State Department of Health (“NYSDOH"),
NYSDEC. and the Delaware River Basin Commission (the “DRBC™) are advised of the Water System’s
status, and discussions are held with City agencies concerning their prospective participation in the event
of a declaration of a Drought Warning.

A Drought Warning is declared when there is less than a 33% probability that either the Catskill or
Delaware reservoir system will fill by June 1. All previous efforts are continued or expanded and
additional programs are initiated, including the coordination of specific water saving measures by other
City agencies.

A Drought Emergency is declared when it becomes necessary to reduce consumption by imposing
even more stringent measures. In addition to the imposition of restrictions, DEP may enhance existing
System management and public awareness programs, expand its inspection force and perform additional
leak and waste surveys in public and private buildings. DEP may also require communities outside of the
City that are served by the System to adopt similar conservation measures.
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Governmental Regulation

The System is subject to federal, State, interstate and municipal regulation. At the federal level
regulatory jurisdiction is vested in USEPA at the State level in NYSDEC and NYSDOH:; at the interstate
level in the DRBC and the Interstate Environmental Commission and at the municipal level in DEP, the
New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene (“NYCDOH”), DOB and the Department of
Small Business Services and to a limited degree, in municipalities and districts located in eight counties
north of the City. Water quality standards are enforced within the watershed areas north of the City
through a network of overlapping governmental jurisdictions. Participating in that network, among
others, are NYSDEC and NYSDOH, county. municipal and district police, engineers and inspectors; and
City personnel from DEP. The various jurisdictions maintain physical security, take water samples,
monitor construction activities and wastewater treatment in the watershed, and generally oversee the
physical condition of, activity on and the operation of water supply lands and facilities. Portions of the
overall legislative and regulatory framework governing the watersheds may be found in the City’s
Administrative Code, Health Code and Water Supply Regulations. Regulatory enforcement within City
limits is almost exclusively accomplished through City personnel. Provisions incorporating and augment-
ing the substance of the federal Safe Drinking Water Act (*“SDWA”"), related regulations and the Sanitary
Code. are contained in the Health Code, Water Supply Regulations and the City’s Building and Building
Construction Codes. These provisions are enforced by personnel from DEP, NYCDOH and DOB.

Drinking Water Regulations. 1In January 2006, USEPA issued final versions of two drinking water
supply regulations, developed pursuant to the SDWA: the Long Term 2 Surface Water Treatment Rule
(“LT2") and the Stage 2 Disinfection/Disinfectant By-Products Rule (“DBP2™). Compliance with these
new regulations may require additional capital expenses, not all of which are currently included in the CIP.

The purpose of LT2 is to reduce the incidence of waterborne disease by mandating certain levels of
inactivation and/or the removal of certain microorganisms from water supply systems, including the
Catskill and Delaware Systems. DEP anticipates achieving compliance with such levels through the
construction and operation of its planned ultraviolet treatment facility (the “UV Facility”). See
“—Watershed Protection/Catskill, Delaware Filtration.” 1.T2 also mandates that certain uncovered finished
water storage facilities, which include the Hillview Reservoir, be covered or that water from such facilities
be treated. DEP is already a party to an Administrative Order with NYSDOH (“Hillview Administrative
Order™) which requires, among other things, that the City install or construct a cover for the Hillview
Reservoir. DEP has been holding discussions with NYSDOH about other strategies to protect the
Reservoir. See “—Hillview Reservoir.” In addition, DEP is evaluating its options on how to best address
the requirements of LT2, as they pertain to Hillview Reservoir. These include, among others, ceasing or
reducing use of Hillview Reservoir or seeking a variance from the requirement that Hillview Reservoir
be covered as a finished water storage facility. DEP has also intervened as a petitioner in an action filed
by the City of Portland, Oregon in the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia
Circuit, challenging LT2. It is anticipated that the issuance of LT2 and DEP’ evaluation will have an
impact on its discussions with NYSDOH regarding the Hillview Reservoir. The cost of covering the
Hillview Reservoir, which is not included in the CIP. is expected to be in excess of $1.25 billion. The CIP
includes $15 million for design of the Hillview cover.

The purpose of DBP2 is to reduce the potential health risks associated with disinfection byproducts,
which are chemical compounds formed when disinfectants such as chlorine are added to drinking water.
Based on preliminary assessments. DEP believes that the mandated level of disinfection byproducts set
forth by DBP2 may be exceeded in certain parts of the System. DEP is investigating this possibility and
assessing whether alternative disinfection methods or the use of filtration would be required to achieve
compliance with the regulation.

Croton Filtration.  Because of the quality of the System’s water and the long periods of retention in
the reservoirs, it has not been necessary to filter water from the System to reduce the bacterial content
and the turbidity. The only treatment procedures routinely employed by DEP are screening, detention,
disinfection, flouridation. and the addition of caustic soda and phosphoric acid for corrosion control.
Additions of copper sulfate for algae control and alum for turbidity control are made only when needed.
This level of treatment proved to be more than sufficient to maintain water quality standards throughout
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the entire Water System. However, new water treatment standards led to a 1992 stipulation with
NYSDOH, which has been superseded by a 1998 federal court consent decree, as supplemented in 2002
and 2005 (the “Croton Filter Consent Decree™). The Croton Filter Consent Decree mandates the
construction of a full scale water treatment facility to filter Croton System water.

After an extensive study, DEP identified the Mosholu Golf Course in the Bronx as its preferred site
for the treatment facility and began work at the site in late 2004. The Croton Filter Consent Decree sets
forth milestones, including commencement of operations of the facility on October 31, 2011 which, if not
met by the City, require the payment of penalties to the State and federal governments. Because of the
withdrawal of the low bidder on one of the general construction contracts for the facility, DEP missed
several milestones in February 2007 for the issuance of notices to proceed on that contract and certain
others. As a result, DEP incurred penalties under the Croton Filter Consent Decree. DEP signed a
contract with the next lowest bidder on May 30, 2007 and on August 21, 2007 issued the required notices
to proceed in satisfaction of the milestones which had been missed in February. DEP has been making
monthly payments of penalties since early March 2007 and upon making the final payment in early
September, the total amount of penalties paid on account of such missed milestones will be approximately
$5 million. As a result of the difference between bids, it is anticipated that the remaining cost to complete
the Croton filtration plant will increase by approximately $200 million, to $1.86 billion, $1.66 billion of
which is included in the CIP.

From time to time, the Croton System has failed to meet the water quality standard for haloacetic
acids, a disinfection by-product regulated by USEPA. Pursuant to a USEPA Administrative Order issued
in June 2003, DEP has evaluated feasible and cost-effective interim measures that could be taken to
reduce haloacetic acid levels in Croton water until the Croton filtration plant is completed. It is
anticipated that, pending completion of the Croton filtration plant the Croton System will be off-line for
extended periods in order to rehabilitate and upgrade the New Croton Aqueduct. As such, DEP has
determined that implementation of such interim measures is not needed at present.

Watershed Protection/Catskill, Delaware Filtration.  Pursuant to the SDWA, USEPA has promul-
gated nationwide drinking water regulations which specity the maximum level of harmful contaminants
allowed in drinking water and which govern the construction, operation, and maintenance of the System.
USEPA has also promulgated filtration treatment regulations, known as the federal Surface Water
Treatment Rule (“SWTR™), that prescribe guidelines concerning studies to be performed. programs to be
implemented, timetables to be met and any other actions necessary to insure compliance with the
regulations’ terms. Enforcement of SDWA and many of its related regulations was delegated by USEPA
to the State. However, USEPA has retained primary enforcement responsibility for the SWTR in the
Catskill and Delaware Systems. With respect to the Catskill and Delaware systems, the City believes that
under the SWTR promulgated by the USEPA it will continue to be able to meet the criteria for
non-filtered supplies.

On January 21, 1997, the City and the State executed a Memorandum of Agreement with the
communities in the Catskill, Delaware and Croton watersheds, USEPA and several environmental groups
(the “Watershed Memorandum of Agreement”). The Watershed Memorandum of Agreement supple-
mented the City’s existing watershed protection program with approximately $400 million in additional
funding for economic-environmental partnership programs with upstate communities. As provided under
the Watershed Memorandum of Agreement, the State has issued a land acquisition permit to the City to
acquire water quality sensitive land in the watershed and has approved the City’s revised rules and
regulations governing certain aspects of land use in the watershed.

Since 1993, USEPA has issued filtration avoidance determinations (*“FADs") pursuant to which the
City is not required to filter water from the Catskill and Delaware Systems. If the City were to have to
filter water from the Catskill and Delaware Systems, construction costs to provide for such filtration are
estimated to be between $4 billion and $5 billion. In July 2007 USEPA issued a new FAD (“the 2007
FAD”) which supersedes previous determinations and has a term of 10 years, divided into two five-year
periods. The 2007 FAD calls for continuation of the City’s successful program to acquire fee title to or
conservation easements on sensitive watershed lands, over the entire 10-ycar term of the 2007 FAD. The
2007 FAD requires the City to take certain actions to protect the Catskill and Delaware water supplies
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and to justify the continuation of filtration avoidance. These actions included the continuation and
enhancement of certain environmental and economic partnership programs established under the
Watershed Memorandum of Agreement, and the creation of new programs.

The 2007 FAD also requires that the City continue to solicit property from owners of land in the
watershed and actually acquire (with certain limited exceptions) title to or conservation easements on any
solicited land if the owner accepts the City’s purchase price. The 2007 FAD requires the City to allocate
a total of $300 million for land acquisition during its ten year term, including approximately $59 million
of unspent funds remaining from moneys set aside for land acquisition under the Watershed Memoran-
dum of Agreement and the previous FAD and $241 million in new funding. In addition, the City is
obligated to develop and implement a strategy to augment its land acquisition efforts through increased
participation of land trusts and other non-governmental organizations in identifying and helping the City
acquire eligible lands. As of August 17, 2007, title to or conservation easements on approximately 80,100
acres of land in the Catskill and Delaware watersheds with an aggregate value of approximately $230
million have either been acquired or are under contract for acquisition. The current NYSDEC land
acquisition permit allowing the City to continue its watershed land acquisition program expires in early
2012. Tt will be necessary for DEP to obtain a new permit in order to continue acquiring watershed land
during the second five years of the 2007 FAD. Other stakeholders will have the opportunity, as part of the
permitting process, to oppose the issuance of the permit or to request the inclusion of conditions or
limitations on such permit. A failure to obtain such a permit or obtaining a permit with material
conditions or limitations will impact DEP’ ability to comply with the 2007 FAD.

The 2007 FAD also calls for the continuation, during its first five years, of many of the City’s other
successful watershed protection programs that were part of the previous FAD, with additional
enhancements to several programs including the Community Wastewater Management Program and the
Stream Management Program. Prior to commencement of the second five years of the 2007 FAD, the City
will need to reach agreement with USEPA and NYSDOH on which of such programs should be further
continued into the second five-year period, whether and how any of such programs to be further
continued should be modified, and/or whether additional programs are needed to justify continuation of
the 2007 FAD into the second five years of its term. To assist in making these decisions and reaching an
agreement, DEP will prepare a Revised Long Term Watershed Protection Program, to be submitted to
USEPA/NYSDOH by December 15, 2011.

UV Facility.  'The UV Facility will provide treatment for Catskill and Delaware water by achieving
certain levels of inactivation of cryptosporidium. The 2002 FAD, as initially issued, called for the UV
Facility to be operable by September 2009. Because of subsequent changes in the design and siting of the
Facility, USEPA has agreed to an extension of 14 additional months, until November 2010, to put the UV
Facility into service. In exchange, the City has agreed to provide an additional $6 million in funding for
the Community Wastewater Management Program.

Despite this extension, delays in obtaining permits necessitated a further revision to the schedule for
construction of the UV Facility. Therefore, in January 2007, DEP entered into an Administrative Order
on Consent (“UV Order”), with USEPA, pursuant to USEPA’ authority under LT2. The UV Order
establishes a revised schedule of milestones for the construction of the UV Facility including a final
completion date of October 29, 2012. The milestones in the UV Order have been incorporated into the
2007 FAD. See “—Watershed Protection/Catskill, Delaware Filtration.” In May 2007, in order to maximize
competition for the general construction contract for the UV Facility, DEP postponed the openings of
bids on such contract by two months (from early June until early August 2007). At DEP’s request, and
to accommodate the delay in the project occasioned by such postponement, USEPA agreed to extend the
milestone in the UV Order for issuance of a notice to proceed on such contract from October 31 to
December 31, 2007.

DEP has determined to further postpone the opening of bids on the general construction contract
from early August to early September 2007. This postponement will likely impact DEP’s ability to meet
the extended milestone for issuance of a notice to proceed and may also impact other UV Order
milestones. If DEP fails to meet both the notice to proceed milestone and the subsequent milestone by
30 days each, USEPA could impose a combined penalty of up to $1.65 million under the UV Order, which
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could affect DEP’s standing under the terms of the 2007 FAD. DEP has advised USEPA of the further
postponement and intends, once bids on the general construction contract are opened, to seek USEPA’s
consent to further modifications of the schedule in the UV Order, if necessary. The estimated cost to
complete the UV Facility is $1.07 million, 841.7 of which is currently included in the CIP.

USEPA/U.S. Attorney Investigations. In August 2001, pursuant to a plea agreement entered into
with the United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York, DEP pleaded guilty to
a criminal violation of both the Clean Water Act and the Toxic Substances Control Act. As a result, DEP
has been placed on probation and a court-appointed federal monitor was assigned to oversee DEP’s
compliance with the terms of the plea agreement. Among other things, the plea agreement required DEP
to establish an agency compliance office, and to develop and implement a compliance program for its
water supply operations and its upstate water pollution control plants, intended to detect and prevent
violations of environmental, health and safety laws, rules and regulations.

The Clean Water Act violation is based on the discharge of water containing low levels of mercury
from a DEP facility in Sullivan County. The Toxic Substances Control Act violation is based on DEP’s use
of flow control equipment which contains PCBs in other than a totally enclosed manner at a facility in
Westchester County. The conditions which gave rise to the violations have not had any detectable impact
on water quality and the City’s water supply has been, and continues to be. safe. The federal government,
NYSDOH and DEP have all indicated that the water supply remains safe with respect to mercury, PCBs
and lead. DEP has been and continues to be engaged in programs to remediate mercury, PCBs, lead, and
other constituents of concern from the affected facilities. DEP’s operation and management of the System
will not materially change as a result of the plea.

On August 14, 2003, the City (along with major portions of the northeastern United States)
experienced a massive power blackout. With the loss of electrical power during the blackout, DEP’s North
River and Red Hook water pollution control plants were unable to treat wastewater being conveyed to
those facilities, resulting in the outflow of untreated wastewater into the waters of New York Harbor. The
United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York conducted an investigation into
operations at the two plants in connection with the blackout. On January 13, 2006, DEP entered into an
agreement with the United States Attorney’s Office, whereby DEP admitted that it had violated the terms
of probation by failing to properly maintain emergency back-up generators at the Red Hook plant, in
violation of its State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“SPDES”) permit for the plant. It further
agreed to an extension of probation for three years, ending February 6, 2009, with a possible further
extension until December 31, 2009 upon motion by the United States Attorney’s Office. Finally, DEP
agreed to expand its environmental, health and safety compliance program to the balance of the agency’s
operations, and to extend the monitor’s oversight to include DEP’s in-City wastewater treatment
operations. On February 7, 2006, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York
entered an order extending probation and the monitor’s oversight, and directing DEP to expand its
compliance program, as contemplated by the agreement.

In recognition of progress made by DEP in developing and implementing its compliance program,
and based on an agreement reached between DEP, the United States Attorney’s Office and the federal
monitor, the Court issued orders (i) releasing DEP’s Bureau of Water and Sewer Operations (“BWSO”)
from the monitor’s day-to-day supervision, subject to the exception noted below: (ii) scheduling the
release of DEP’s Bureau of Water Supply (*BWS™) from such supervision for October 4, 2007, subject to
the same exception. The federal monitor’s supervision over BWSO and BWS continues until October 4,
2007, over all aspects of DEP’s compliance with its Risk Management Program and Process Safety
Management requirements at the four DEP facilities where drinking water is chlorinated for disinfection.

From time to time, the United States Attorney’s Office requests additional information from DEP
concerning the System, and issues subpoenas for additional documents. DEP cooperates with the office
and provides information and documents in response to such requests and subpoenas.

Tap Water Testing Program. DEP has historically monitored key locations in its distribution system
for over 40 individual water quality parameters, including lead. DEP data indicated that lead was absent
from or present in very low levels in both the water supply and distribution systems. Beginning in the early
1990s, USEPA and NYSDOH regulations require water suppliers to monitor for lead and copper that
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may have leached into the water from service lines or interior building plumbing. In compliance with these
requirements, DEP began testing tap water for lead and copper. Sample results indicated the presence of
lead in some of the tested residential taps, in excess of State lead action levels. To minimize these
occurrences, the City began the addition of corrosion control chemicals to the Water System. This
addition promotes the formation of a protective coating inside pipes and plumbing, thereby reducing the
leaching of metals. The most recent test results for lead in tap water, for 2005 and 2006, show the City to
be in compliance with State action levels for lead in the State Sanitary Code.

The System has six laboratories that monitor water quality, employing approximately 250 microbi-
ologists, engineers, chemists, hydrologists and limnologists. Over 65,000 samples per year are collected
and 800,000 analyses are performed annually. Routine checks are made for more than 60 different
substances, including heavy metals and trace organics. The monitoring program meets or exceeds federal
and State requirements and has the capability to meet potentially more stringent requirements.

Hillview Reservoir. In March 1996, DEP entered into the Hillview Administrative Order with
NYSDOH which, as modified in 1997 and 1999, required, among other things, the City to cover the
Hillview Reservoir by December 31, 2005 to reduce the possibility of E. coli bacteria entering the Water
System.

DEP has conducted studies and has held discussions with NYSDOH to evaluate other strategies,
including more aggressive waterfowl control, to protect the Hillview Reservoir. Although DEP believes
that certain other strategies hold promise, DEP has been advised by NYSDOH that the Hillview
Administrative Order will not be modified in this respect and that the City must cover Hillview Reservoir
in accordance with the terms of the Hillview Administrative Order.

The City has not commenced construction of a cover for the Hillview Reservoir and therefore did not
meet the December 31, 2005 milestone date set out in the Hillview Administrative Order. On November
15. 2005, in anticipation of the City not meeting such milestone date, NYSDOH issued a letter to DEP
advising DEP that it intended to initiate action to obtain the entire $2 million balance in an escrow
account, established under the Hillview Administrative Order, and to obtain stipulated penalties under
the Hillview Administrative Order commencing on January 1, 2006 for failure to cover the Reservoir by
the milestone date. DEP has initiated discussions with NYSDOH to modify the Hillview Administrative
Order to establish a new schedule for installation of a cover at Hillview Reservoir while also allowing the
City to pursue an evaluation of other strategies to protect the reservoir. Currently, the cost of a Hillview
Reservoir cover is expected to be in excess of $1.25 billion. This cost, except for $15 million for design,
is not included in the CIP. The LT2 rule promulgated by USEPA is expected to have an impact on DEP’s
discussions with NYSDOH. See “—Recent Drinking Water Regulations.”

Consumer Confidence Report. The SDWA requires that utilities prepare and distribute to their
consumers a brief annual water quality report, referred to as the Consumer Confidence Report (the
“CCR™). The CCR covering calendar year 2005, the most recent such report, demonstrates that the
quality of New York City’s drinking water remains high. The CCR notes several exceedences of standards
for the naturally-occurring elements iron and manganese. as well as a treatment technique violation,
operational problems with a backup chiorine feed line in the Catskill System and pH exceedences in the
Catskill/Delaware system and the Groundwater System. None of these exceedences are considered
harmful to public health. The 2005 CCR also noted a violation of the turbidity standard in the Delaware
System. DEP issued a drinking water advisory for immuno-compromised customers in response to this
incident and has taken steps to address the cause of the violation.

Delaware System.  The conditions under which the System’s Pepacton, Neversink and Cannonsville
Reservoirs may be operated are set forth under the terms of a 1954 decrce of the Supreme Court of the
United States (the “1954 Decree™). It allows the System to divert 800 mgd of water from the Delaware
River Basin for use by the Water System. At the same time, the System is required to release, from the
three reservoirs into the tributaries of the Delaware River, quantities of water sufficient to maintain flows
of 1.750 cubic feet per second in the main branch of the Delaware River at Montague, New Jersey. In
addition, the System must meet the State-mandated conservation releases and flow requirements in
various tributaries contained in numerous deeds and condemnation decrees. Enforcement of the 1954
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Decree is under the jurisdiction of a River Master appointed by the Supreme Court of the United States.
The City and State, and the governments of New Jersey, Pennsylvania and Delaware are named parties
to the 1954 Decree.

For more information regarding litigation relating to the Water System, see “LITIGATION.”

The Sewer System

The Sewer System is comprised of the sewage collection system and the water pollution control
facilities. See “New York City Drainage Areas and Water Pollution Control Plants™ map in Appendix G.

Sewage Collection and Treatment

The Sewer System’s plants treat approximately 1,330 mgd of wastewater. The Sewer System is divided
into 14 drainage areas corresponding to the 14 water pollution control plants and includes over 6,600 miles
of sewer pipes of varying size which are classified as one of three types: sanitary, storm or combined.
Sanitary sewers accommodate household and industrial waste. Storm sewers carry rainwater and surface
water runoff. Combined sewers carry both types of waste. Approximately 70% of the City’s sewers are of
the combined type. In addition to the sewage pipes, the Sewer System includes catch basins and seepage
basins to prevent flooding and sewer backups.

The Sewer System is comprised of a number of sewer facilities built to varying standards. Different
materials and methods of construction were used resulting in different life cycles. Approximately 4,000
miles or two-thirds of the City’s sewer pipe is made of vitreous clay. Significant mileage of sewer pipe is
composed of other building materials including cement, reinforced concrete, iron and brick. Some pipe in
the collection system was installed before 1870, and approximately 15% of all sewer pipe in the collection
system is over 100 years old.

The facilities related to the treatment of sewage include water pollution control plants, a combined
sewer overflow treatment plant, wastewater pump stations, laboratories, sludge dewatering facilities and
inner-harbor vessels which transport sludge between facilities. Sludge is a by-product of the sewage
treatment process. Sludge that is treated through the sewage treatment process (or “biosolids™) is
acceptable for land-based beneficial use either directly or after additional provisions such as composting,
lime stabilization or thermal pelletization.

Issues of both water supply volume and conscquent sewage treatment volume are raised from time
to time in connection with the System. Measures to increase the supply of water available to the System
and to increase the sewage treatment capacity of the various water pollution control plants in the System
are either being constructed under the CIP or are under continuing review for feasibility and cost
cifectiveness. DEP has been addressing both the issues of supply and treatment capacity by promoting
conscrvation. through voluntary changes in user behavior, through education and the imposition of use
charges based on metered water usage, leak detection and repair and increased use of newly designed
low-flow water use fixtures such as toilets.

The Sewer System’s water pollution control pump stations convey wastewater to the water pollution
control plants. When gravity flow becomes uneconomical or not feasible for engineering reasons, pump
stations lift the flow so that it can again flow by gravity. In some locations, pump stations utilize pressure
piping called force mains to direct the flow of wastewater to the plants. The CIP includes an ongoing
program to reconstruct and refurbish pump stations.

Sewer regulators and tide gates control flow in the System. Recent inspections of the regulator system
have found it to be structurally adequate, but many portions are in need of mechanical reconstruction. A
detailed evaluation of the regulator and tide gate system has been completed and funds have been
provided in the CIP for mechanical refurbishment of these facilities.

During periods of heavy rainfall a combination of stormwater and sewage bypasses treatment and is

released into the City’s waterways via combined sewer overflows. The combined sewer overflow
abatement program provides for studies. design and construction of facilities to address this issue.
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DEP has awarded contracts for the beneficial use of 100% of its biosolids which commenced in
July 1998. These current contracts include: thermally drying the biosolids into fertilizer pellets at a facility
located in the Bronx; composting in Pennsylvania; direct land application in Colorado and Virginia; and
lime stabilization in Colorado.

Governmental Regulation

Under the Clean Water Act, USEPA oversees compliance with federal environmental laws,
regulations and guidelines concerning sewage. Included in that regulatory framework is the National
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) Permit Program and the issuance of water pollution
control plant operating permits. As authorized by the Clean Water Act, administration of the permit
program has been delegated to the State.

Full Secondary Treatment Requirements. Thirteen of the System’s 14 in-City water pollution control
plants have been upgraded to meet the full secondary treatment requirements of the Clean Water Act.
The remaining plant, Newtown Creek, is in the process of being upgraded to meet federal requirements.

In addition to being upgraded to meet secondary treatment requirements, the Newtown Creek water
pollution control plant is also being upgraded to improve plant operations. All of this work is being
undertaken pursuant to the terms of a State court consent judgment (the “Newtown Creek Consent
Judgment”), agreed to by NYSDEC and DEP, which requires that the plant meet secondary treatment
levels by December 31, 2007 and that all other construction-related activities specified in the consent
judgment be completed by July 4, 2013. DEP has determined that the amount of time required to take
certain plant facilities out of service, upgrade them, and return them to service is in excess of prior
estimates. As a result, DEP has advised NYSDEC that it will likely not be able to comply with the July
4, 2013 milestone for completion of construction. NYSDEC has requested that DEP investigate the
possibility of accelerating the work. In response, DEP has proposed certain measures which DEP believes
will shorten the overall time period for construction, but will also likely result in the plant not achieving
full secondary treatment by December 31, 2007. DEP has requested that NYSDEC approve such
measures and grant relief from the December 31, 2007 milestone by approving interim discharge limits for
the plant and extending the date for attainment of secondary treatment until construction is completed.
On November 7, 2006, a court-appointed referee issued a recommendation that the Newtown Creek
Consent Judgment be modified to extend interim discharge limits at the plant and the milestone for
attainment of secondary treatment to December 31, 2008. The referee also recommended that the City be
required to determine if the overall construction schedule at the plant could be accelerated. DEP and
NYSDEC are currently negotiating an accelerated construction completion schedule. In addition, on
January 23, 2007, NYSDEC issued a notice of violation (*NOV”) to DEP, seeking penalties for certain
past milestones under the Newtown Creek Consent Judgment which NYSDEC alleges have been missed
through January 22, 2007. On August 24,2007, NYSDEC filed a judgment in New York State Supreme
Court for approximately $27 million in penalties with respect to such past missed milestones. DEP intends
to move to vacate the judgment. In addition, NYSDEC issued a further NOV for additional accrued
penalties in respect of such past missed milestones, in the amount of $20,683,000 for the period from
January 23, 2007 to August 27, 2007. NYSDEC contends that penalties are continuing to accrue at a rate
of $125,000 per day. DEP continues to seek a negotiated resolution of this matter, including a revised
schedule for attainment of secondary treatment and for completion of all construction at the Newtown
Creek WPCP. For additional information on the Newtown Creek Consent Judgment, see “LITIGATION".

The System also includes eight City-owned upstate water pollution control plants to prevent
untreated sewage from being released into the watersheds. To enhance watershed protection, DEP
completed upgrades to seven of these facilities. The CIP includes funds to upgrade the eighth facility. The
City takes legal action pursuant to the Clean Water Act to compel certain owners and operators of
non-City owned water pollution control plants in the watersheds to comply with SPDES permits. In
addition, the City takes legal action to ensure that new developments are appropriately designed to be
environmentally protective.

Over the past several years, NYSDEC and DEP have resolved various alleged permit violations at
the System’s 14 in-City water pollution control plants by entering into “omnibus” consent orders. These
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administrative orders typically detail the alleged violations for a specified period of time and set forth
remedial actions related to such violations. The most recent such consent order (the “Omnibus V1
Consent Order™) covers alleged violations from January 1. 2000 through December 31, 2001, including
alleged effluent. operating and bypass violations at a number of plants.

Combined Sewer Overflows.  The System is also required to develop programs 1o reduce pollution
from combined sewer overflows and to climinate excess infiltration and inflow into the Sewer System from
ground and storm water. In June 1992, DEP entered into a consent order with the State (the “CSO
Consent Order™) establishing various deadlines through 2006 for the construction of nine combined sewer
overflow projects, which may include storage tanks. The CSO Consent Order was modified in January
2005. This modification imposed penalties for missed deadlines and established revised milestones for
those projects which suftered delays. Certain of these milestones extend beyond the end of the CIP. The
estimated remaining cost of complying with the CSO Consent Qrder through the end of the CIP, as
revised. is $1.25 billion. all of which is currently included in the CIP. Consistent with USEPA guidelines,
the City is exploring alternative approaches to combined sewer overflow problems that focus on
cost-effective means of protecting water quality. NYSDEC has issucd NOVs for two missed milestones,
which are subject to stipulated penaities under the CSO Consent Order. DEP is continuing to negotiate
with NYSDEC to resolve the NOVs. Under the CSO Consent Order. it DEP and NYSDEC arc unable
to resolve the NOVs through negotiation. DEP may challenge them. along with the underlying NYSDEC
determinations.

SPDES/Combined Sewer Overflows. DEPs SPDES permits for the City's 14 in-City water pollution
control plants require those plants to be capable of accepting and treating two times dry weather flow.
DEP has met this requirement at 12 plants. Design work has begun for the necessary upgrades at the
Tallman Island plant and construction is expected to be completed in fiscal year 2014, the full cost of which
is included in the CIP. DEP believes that the Rockaway plant currently mects the (wo times dry weather
flow requirement and has submitted the necessary data to NYSDEC. NYCDEC is currently reviewing
DEP’s submission. In 2002, NYSDEC proposed modilications of the existing SPDES permits for the 14
in-City water pollution control plants operated and maintained by DEP. The proposed modifications
included certain provisions relating to the control of CSOs. NYSDEC has issued draft SPDES permits
which arc acceptable (0 DEP. However, these permits have been challenged by several environmental
groups. Such challenge could result in additional permit provisions relating to the control of CSOs and/or
a request to modify the terms of the revised CSO Consent Order.

SPDES/Nitrogen. NYSDEC proposed modifications to the existing SPDES permits. if adopted,
would have increased costs for operating and maintaining the plants. DEP objected to these proposed
modifications. DEP and NYSDEC have agreed to a resolution of this matter. as reflected in a State Court
Consent Judgment (the “Nitrogen Consent Judgment™), as it relates 1o nitrogen discharge. which provides
for a modified facility plan which is more cost effective than the original facility plan. The cost of the
modified facility plan are fully funded, except for the cost of certain change orders. the cost of which are
not determinable at this time is estimated to cost $710 million. which is currently included in the CIP. The
Nitrogen Consent Judgment also required DEP 1o pay a $2.7 million penalty to the New York State
Marine Resources Account and fund $5.3 million in projects to benefit waters in and around the City.
Issues relating to SPDES permits. nitrogen. and the control of combined sewer overflows have not yet
been resolved. Sce ™—SPDES/Combinced Sewer Overflows, ™

SPDES/Water Pollution Control Plants.  NYSDEC issucd a notice of violation related to the SPDES
permit for the Spring Creek Auxiliary Water Pollution Control Plant. alleging cxcessive infiltration/inflow
entering the facility dating to June 2006. DEP is in the process of responding to the notice of violation.
SPDES permit violations are subject to penalties up to $37.500 per day.

SPDES/Shandaken Tunnel. The City is also a party to litigation in which the United States District
Court for the Northern District of New York ordered the City to obtain a SPDES permit to opcrate the
Shandaken Tunncl. On June 13. 2006, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit affirmed the
District Court’s decision. On February 26. 2007, the U.S. Supreme Court denied the City's petition for a
writ of certiorari. See "LITIGATION.™
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Simultaneously with this litigation. NYSDEC has continued the process of issuing a SPDES permit
for the Shadaken Tunnel. In October 2005, after extensive discussions between DEP and NYSDEC,
NYSDEC revised the draft permit to address many of DEP's concerns. On September 1,2006. NYSDEC
issued a final SPDES permit for the Shandaken Tunnel. which incorporates many of the changes DEP
discussed with NYSDEC. This final SPDES permit is the subject of ongoing litigation. See “LITIGATION.”

Harbor and Waterway Protection.  According to the most recent Harbor Survey issued by DEP. the
water quality in New York Harbor and surrounding rivers continues to show long-term overall
improvement. The Harbor Survey is an ongoing monitoring effort of the City's waterways that has been
done since 1909. The Survey monitors over a dozen water quality parameters at 37 sampling stations
within New York Harbor and its tributaries. A key parameter of the overall health of aquatic systems is
dissolved oxygen (*DO"). The Harbor Survey has found DO levels in most parts of the harbor at historic
highs, although river-bottom DOs are periodically below acceptable concentrations. Many local water-
ways, which were unfishable just 20 years ago. now meet the coliform bathing standards. These water
quality improvements arc primarily a response 10: continued water pollution control plant construction
and upgrades: abatement and surveillance of illegal discharges: and increased capture of wet-weather
flows.

In April 2004, the City health code for bathing beaches began utilizing a standard based on
enterococcus, rather than coliform. which is regarded as a more precise indicator of water quality. DEP’s
Harbor Survey has begun a monitoring program for enterococcus and has been assisting the NYCDOH
in its beach assessments.

The Long Island Sound Study (“LISS™). which began in 1985.1s a joint federal-state-local (the states
being New York and Connecticut) program to identify the Long Island Sound’s major environmental
problems and develop a plan to manage those problems. USEPA is the lead federal agency involved in
LISS. Hypoxia. or low levels of dissolved oxygen, has emerged as the issue of greatest concern in Long
Island Sound. Hypoxia is the result of a chemical chain reaction that begins with high levels of nutrients,
largely nitrogen. In addition to natural sources, other nutrient sources include effluent from water
pollution control plants. stormwater run-off carrying lawn and agricultural fertilizer, organic materials,
and air-deposited nitrate substances. As a result of the LISS. the City agreed to limits in its SPDES
permits for nitrogen discharges from its four Upper East River water pollution control plants. In 2001, the
LISS resulted in the issuance and approval of a Total Maximum Daily Load (“TMDL") for nitrogen in
Long Island Sound. The TMDL. as approved. would require point source dischargers into Long Island
Sound, such as the operators of water pollution control plants, to reduce their nitrogen discharges in three
phases over a period of fiftcen years. In 2002, the City entered into an Administrative Order on Consent
with NYSDEC (the “LIS Administrative Consent Order™) which required DEP to upgrade five water
pollution control plants, four of which discharge into the Upper East River. and one into Jamaica Bay. The
estimated cost for the upgrade of these five plants. including the implemcntation of a biological nitrogen
removal (*“BNR™) program intended to comply with the first two phases of the TMDL and to potentially
achieve further reductions in nitrogen discharges. is $2.1 billion. all of which is included in the CIP. The
LIS Administrative Order also established less stringent nitrogen limits than those set out in the SPDES
permits for the plants in question, during the coursc of construction, to allow for the impact of removing
certain equipment from service. After execution of the LIS Administrative Order. DEP proposed that the
facility plan for the required upgrades be modified, so as Lo incorporate the results of ongoing research,
climinate over-conservatism in designs, and make the program more cost-effective while still achieving
compliance with the nitrogen limits and construction deadlines set out in that Order. DEP and NYSDEC
agreed on a resolution of this matter, which also resolved the dispute concerning the nitrogen discharge
provisions of the SPDES permits for the 14 in-City water pollution control plants operated and
maintained by DEP (see ~__SPDES/Nitrogen™).

For more information on litigation relating to the Sewer System. see “"LITIGATION.”

ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

This section presents information regarding certain economic and demographic information about
the City. All information is presented on a calendar year basis unless otherwise indicated. The data set
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forth are the latest available. Sources of information are indicated in the text or immediately following the
charts and tables. Although the Authority considers the sources to be reliable. the Authority has made
no independent verification of the information provided by non-city sources and does not warrant its
accuracy.

New York City Economy

The City has a highly diversified economic base. with a substantial volume of business activity in the
service, wholesale and retail trade and manufacturing industries, and is the location of many securities,
banking, law, accounting, new media and advertising firms.

The City is a major seaport and focal point for international business. Many of the major corporations
headquartered in the City are multinational in scope and have extensive foreign operations. Numerous
foreign-owned companies in the United States are also headquartered in the City. These firms. which have
increased substantially in number over the past decade. are found in all sectors of the City’s economy, but
are concentrated in trade, professional and business services, tourism and finance. The City is the location
of the headquarters of the United Nations. and several affiliated organizations maintain their principal
offices in the City. A large diplomatic community exists in the City to staff the United Nations and the
foreign consulates.

Economic activity in the City has experienced periods of growth and recession and can be expected
to experience periods of growth and recession in the future. The City experienced a recession in the early
1970s through the middle of that decade, followed by a period of expansion in the late 1970s through the
late 1980s. The City fell into recession again in the carly 1990s which was followed by an expansion that
lasted until 2001. The economic slowdown that began in 2001 as a result of the September 11 attack, a
national recession, and a downturn in the securities industry came to an end in 2003. Since then, Wall
Street activity, tourism and the real estate market have driven a broad-based economic recovery. The
Financial Plan assumes slower growth in calendar year 2007, corresponding to a weakening economy.

Personal Income

Total personal income for City residents, unadjusted for the effects of inflation and the differential
in living costs, increased from 1995 to 2005 (the most recent year for which City personal income data are
available). From 1995 to 2005, personal income in the City averaged 4.5% growth compared to 5.3% for
the nation. After increasing by 7.7% in 2004, total personal income has increased by 4.2% in 2005. The
following table sets forth information regarding personal income in the City from 1995 to 2005.

Personal Income(1)

Per Capita

Total City as

City Per Capita  Per Capita  a Percent of
Year ($ billions) City U.S. U.S.
1995 .o $221.2 $28,981 $23,078 125.6%
1996 ... 234.1 30,407 24,176 125.8
1997 . 2455 31,579 25,334 124.7
1998 . 262.0 33.341 26,880 124.0
1999 2754 34,658 27,933 124.1
20000 ..o 296.0 36,910 29,844 123.7
2001, 302.7 37,481 30,558 122.7
2002, ... 299.8 36,987 30,792 120.1
2003, 306.1 37,592 31,456 119.5
2004, 329.6 40,300 33,075 121.8
2005, .. 3434 41,803 34,687 120.5

Sources: U.S. Department of Commerce. Bureau of Economic Analysis and the Bureau of the Census.

(1) In current dollars. Personal Income is based on the place of residence and is measured from income which includes wages and
salaries, supplements to wages and salaries, proprietors” income, personal dividend income, personal interest income, rental
income of persons and transfer payments.
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Employment Trends

The City is a leading center for the banking and securities industry, life insurance, communications,
publishing, fashion design and retail fields. From 1989 to 1992, the City lost approximately 9% of its
cmployment base. The City is a leading center for the banking and securitics industry, life insurance,
communications, fashion design and retail fields. From 1989 to 1992, the City lost approximately 9% of its
employment base. After reaching a cyclical trough in 1992. the City experienced signilicant private sector
job growth through 2000 with the addition of approximately 452,000 new jobs (an average annual growth
rate of approximately 2.0%). Following this business cycle peak. the City lost 174.000 private scctor jobs
between 2000 and 2003. The City recovered 134,500 private sector jobs by the end of 2006. As of July
2007, total employment in the City was approximately 3,718,400 compared to approximately 3.665,900 in
July 2006, an increase of approximately 1.4%.

The table below shows the distribution of employment from 1996 to 2006.

Employment Distribution

Average Annual Employment (in thousands)
1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Goods Producing Sectors ... ... . ...
Construction .................. 91 93 101 112 120 122 16 113 112 113 118
Manufacturing . ............. ... 200 200 196 187 177 156 139 127 121 114 106

Service Producing Sectors ... ... ...
Trade Transportation and Utilities . 533 538 542 556 570 557 536 534 539 547 557

Information . .................. 159 163 166 173 187 200 177 164 160 163 165
Financial Activitics . ............ 464 468 477 481 489 474 445 434 435 445 458
Professional and Business Services . 468 494 525 553 587 582 550 537 541 555 571
Education and Health Services .... 565 576 589 606 620 627 646 658 665 679 695
Leisure and Hospitality .......... 217 228 236 244 257 260 255 260 270 277 283
Other Services .. oo oo v e n 125 129 134 142 147 149 150 149 151 153 154
Total Private . . .................. 2,823 2.890 2966 3.053 3.154 3,127 3015 2975 2995 3,047 3,109
Government . ................... 546 552 561 567 369 565 569 557 554 556 555
Total . ... ...... . ........... 3369 3.442 3,528 3.621 3.723 3.692 3584 3,532 3,549 3602 3,664

Note: Totals mav not add due to rounding.
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. Data are presented using the North American Industry
Classification System ("NAICS™).

Sectoral Distribution of Employment and Earnings

In 2006, the City’s service producing sectors provided approximately 2.9 million jobs and accounted
for approximately 79% of total cmployment. Figures on the sectoral distribution of employment in the
City from 1980 to 2000 reflect a significant shift to the service producing sectors and a shrinking
manufacturing base relative to the nation.

The structural shift to the service producing sectors affects the total earnings as well as the average
wage per employee because employee compensation in certain of those sectors, such as financial activities
and professional and business services, tends to be considerably higher than in most other sectors.
Moreover, average wage rates in these sectors are significantly higher in the City than in the nation. In the
City in 2005, the employment share for the financial activitics and professional and business services
sectors was approximately 28% while the earnings sharc for that same sector was approximately 48%. In
the nation, those same service producing sectors accounted for only approximately 19% of employment
and 25% of earnings in 2005. Due to the earnings distribution in the City, sudden or large shocks in the
financial markets may have a disproportionately adverse effect on the City relative to the nation.
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The City’s and the nation’s employment and earnings by sector for 2005 are set forth in the following
table.

Sectoral Distribution of Employment and Earnings in 2005(1)

Employment Earnings(2)
NYC u.s. NYC US.
Goods Producing Sectors
MIning. . ... 0.0% 0.5% 0.3% 1.2%
Construction .. ....... .. i 3.1 5.5 2.9 6.5
Manufacturing . . ... it 32 10.6 27 12.8
Total Goeds Producing .. ............................ 6.3 16.6 5.9 20.4
Service Producing Sectors
Trade, Transportation and Utilities.................... 15.2 19.4 9.1 16.0
Information . ...... ... ... 4.5 23 7.5 3.6
Financial Activitics. . .......... . i, 12.4 6.1 28.7 10.1
Professional and Business Services .................... 15.4 12.6 20.0 15.4
Education and Health Services ....................... 18.8 13.0 10.5 10.8
Leisure & Hospitality. . ...... ... ... ... ... 7.7 9.6 3.8 3.8
Other Services. ....... .. .. i 43 4.0 25 29
Total Service Producing. . ............................ 78.3 67.0 82.0 62.6
Total Private Sector . . ................................. 84.6 83.7 89.2 834
Government(3) . ... ... ... 15.4 16.3 10.8 16.6

Note: Data may not add due to rounding or restrictions on reporting earnings data. Data are presented using NAICS,

Sources: The two primary sources are the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics and the U.S. Department of
Commerce. Bureau of Economic Analysis.

(1) The sectoral distributions are obtained by dividing cach industry’s employment or carnings by total non-agricultural
employment or earnings.

(2) Includes the sum of wage and salary disbursements. other labor income and proprietor's income. The latest information
available is 2005 data.

(3) Excludes military establishments.

The comparison of employment and earnings in 1980 and 2000 set forth below is presented using the
industry classification system which was in use until the adoption of NAICS in the late 1990s. Though
NAICS has been implemented for most government industry statistical reporting, most historical earnings
data have not been converted. Furthermore, it is not possible to compare data from the two classification
systems except in the general categorization of government, private and total employment. The table
below reflects the overall increase in the service producing sectors and the declining manufacturing base
in the City from 1980 to 2000.
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The City's and the nation’s employment and earnings by industry are set forth in the following table.

Sectoral Distribution of Employment and Earnings(1)

Employment Earnings(2)
1980 2000 1980 2000
Sector NYC US. NYC US. NYC US. NYC US.
Private Sector:
Non-Manufacturing:
Services L. 27.0%  198% 39.1% 30.7% 26.0% 184% 302% 287%
Wholesale and Retail Trade ... ... ... 18.6 225 16.8 23.0 15.1 16.6 9.3 14.9
Finance. Insurance and Real Estate .. ... .. 13.6 5.7 13.2 5.7 17.6 5.9 35.5 10.0
Transportation and Public Utilities ... ... .. 7.8 57 5.7 53 10.1 7.6 5.2 6.8
Contract Construction .................. 23 4.8 33 5. 2.6 6.3 2.9 5.9
Mining .. ... ... . L 0.0 1.1 0.0 04 04 2.1 0.1 Lo
Total Non-Manufacturing .. .. ...... .. 69.3 59.6 78.1 70.3 71.8 56.9 83.2 67.3
Manufacturing:
Durable. . ........ ... ... ... ... .. .. ... 13.4 1.6 8.4 37 15.9 1.3 10.5
Non-Durable. . ......... ... .. ... ..., 106 90 49 56 Y5 89 48 61
Total Manufacturing .. .............. 5.0 224 6.5 140 132 248 61 166
Total Private Sector .. . ... ... ... .. ... 84.3 82.0 847 84.3 85.2 82.1 89.8 84.6
Government(3). . . ........ ... 15.7 18.0 15.3 15.7 14.8 17.9 10.3 15.4

Note: Totals may not add due to rounding. Data are presented using the Standard Industrial Classification System.

Sources: The two primary sources of employment and carnings information are U.S. Department of Labor. Bureau of Labor

Statistics. and U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis.

(1) The scctoral distributions arc obtained by dividing cach industry’s employment or carnings by total non-agricultural

employment or carnings.

(2) Includes the sum of wage and salary disbursements. other labor income. and proprictors” income. The latest information

available for the City is 2000 data.

(3) Excludes military establishments.

Population

The City has been the most populous city in the United States since 1790. The City's population is
almost as large as the combined population of Los Angeles, Chicago and Houston. the three next most

populous cities in the nation.

The following tablc provides information concerning the City’s population.

Population

Year

Note: Figures do not include an undetermined number of undocumented aliens.

Source:  U.S. Department of Commerce. Burcau of the Census.
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LITIGATION

There is no action. suit. proceeding or investigation. at law or in equity. before or by any court, public
board or body pending or to the best knowledge of the Authority, threatened against or affecting the
Authority to restrain or enjoin the issuance. sale or delivery of the Reoffered Bonds or in any way
contesting or affecting the validity of the Reoffered Bonds or any proceedings of the Authority. the Board
or the City taken with respect (o the issuance or sale of the Reoffered Bonds or with respect to the
Resolution or the pledge or application of any moncey or sccurity provided for the payment of the
Reoffered Bonds or the existence or powers of the Authority or the Board.

Pursuant (o the Lease and the Agreement. the City has agreed. subject to certain conditions. to
indemnify the Authority and the Board against any and all liability in connection with any act done or
omitted in the exercise of their powers which is taken or omitted in good faith in pursuance of their
purposes under the Act. The City, however, is entitled to reimbursement by the Board for the amount of
any judgment or settlement paid by the City (and not otherwise reimbursed from any other source) arising
out of a tort or contract claim to the extent that the City’s liability therefor is related to the operation,
maintenance and improvement of the System provided. however. that the Board is not required to
reimburse the City inany once year for tort claims in excess of 5% of the Revenues of the Board for such
Fiscal Ycar.

There are numerous claims secking damages and injunctive and other relicf against the City related
to the System. Except as noted below, these claims represent routine litigation incidental to the
performance of the Citys governmental functions in connection with the operation, maintenance and
improvement of the System. In Fiscal Years 2002 through 2006. respectively, the City paid $18.2, $15.1,
$27.9.$6.1 and $8.2 million in satisfaction of tort claims relating to the operation of the System. Contract
claims on water supply. sewer and water pollution control projects arise in varying amounts based on
alleged change orders and related matters. While most seck under $10 million in damages, one action
secks damages ol approximately $14 million, a second sccks damages of approximately $18 million and
a third secks damages of $20 million. While the probable outcome of these actions cannot be determined
at this time. contract claims are expected to be funded through the CIP. which may be revised from time
to time to accommodate such claims as well as other changes therein. The ultimate outcome of the
procecdings described below is not currently predictable, and unfavorable determinations therein could
result in substantial expenditures.

In March 2000. several fishing and sporting groups filed a lawsuit against the City and DEP in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of New York. claiming that DEP’s operation of the
Shandaken Tunnel without a SPDES permit violated the Clean Water Act. Plaintiffs alleged that the
discharge of turbid water from the tunnel into the Esopus Creck constitutes the addition of a pollutant
from a point source. requiring a SPDES permit. Ultimately, both the District Court and the United States
Court of Appeals for the Sccond Cireuit held that a SPDES permit is required for water transfers such
as the City's transfer of water through the Shandaken Tunnel. The United States Supreme Court denied
the City’s petition for a writ of certiorari requesting review of the lower courts’ conclusions on February
23.2007. concluding this litigation. The City has paid approximately $5.5 million in statutory penalties to
the U.S. government and will pay certain attorneys” fees.

As a result of this Hitigation, DEP applied for and obtained a SPDES permit for the Shandaken
Tunncl. The SPDES permit issued by NYSDEC requires. among other things, that DEP submit a report
for approval indicating what short-term and long-term structural measures it intends to undertake to
achieve compliance with the permit’s temperature and turbidity limits. DEP submitted its Teport in
December 2006. which analyzed several alternatives including construction of a multiple level intake (with
an estimated cost of between $74 million and $360 million depending on location). and modification of
existing operations at the Schoharic Reservoir (from which water is diverted into the Shandaken Tunnel),
using a highly sophisticated water quality simulation tool (with an estimated cost of $6.2 million}. The
report recommended that DEP implement the latter alternative.

On Sceptember 220 2006 the plaintiffs in the March 2000 lawsuit against the City and DEP
commenced a proceeding against NYSDEC and DEP under Article 78 of the Civil Practice Law and
Rules. in State Supreme Court in Ulster County. seeking to overturn the SPDES permit issued by
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NYSDEC on September 1. 2006. The motion of the State and the City to transfer the case to the
Appellate Division was denied on May 18, 2007. The partics are currently briefing the merits; the matter
will be fully submitted in November 2007, For additional information on SPDES permits, see “THE
SYSTEM—The Sewer System—Governmental Regulation—SPDES/Shandaken Tunnel.”

Complaints representing approximately 160 plaintiffs have been filed against the City due to flooding
allegedly caused by the Citys operation of certain upstate dams in April 2005. The complaints in
aggregate seck compensation of more than $8 million associated with alleged property damage. The trial
court dismissed one of the complaints in January 2007. In April 2007. another group of plaintitfs filed an
amended complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. The
amended complaint adds claims under the Endangered Species Act and the Clean Water Act. The City
is vigorously defending all these actions.

In-May 2000, a community group and scveral individuals brought an Article 78 proceeding
challenging DEPY environmental review of shaft 33B of the Manhattan leg of Tunnel 3. to be constructed
at 59th Strect and First Avenue. and the related water mains that will connect shaft 33B to the water
distribution system. Petitioners are sceking a preliminary injunction barring further work in connection
with construction of the shaft and a determination that the environmental review was insufficient under
the State Environmental Quality Review Act. The court denied the petitioners” request for a preliminary
injunction in September 2006 and heard arguments on the merits of petitioners” claims on October 13,
2006. On December 5, 2006, the petition was dismissed and the petitioners have appealed. The City
believes that the environmental review of the shalt and associated water mains complied with all legal
requirements. Any decision to enjoin or stay further construction in connection with Shaft 33B for an
extended period of time could result in the City incurring substantial construction delay costs.

On August 24. 2007. NYSDEC filed a judgment in New York State Supreme Court for approximately
$27 million in penalties with respeet to allegedly having missed milestones. through January 22, 2007,
under the Newtown Creek Consent Judgment. The City is sceking to vacate this judgment. In addition,
NYSDEC issued a NOV for additional penalties accrued through August 27, 2007 in the amount of
approximately $20.683.000. NYSDEC contends that penaltics are continuing to accrue at a rate of
$125.000 per day. For additional information on the Newtown Creek Consent Judgment, see “THE
SYSTEM—The Sewer System—Governmental Regulation—Full Secondary Treatment Requirements”.

APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The reoffering of the Reoffered Bonds is subject to the approval of legality by Orrick, Herrington &
Sutcliffe LLP. New York, New York. Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City
and the Board by the Citys Corporation Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the
Broker-Dealers by Nixon Pecabody LLP. New York, New York.

FINANCIAL ADVISORS

Lamont Financial Services Corporation and Ramirez & Co.. Inc. have served as financial advisors to
the Authority with respect to the reoffering of the Reoffered Bonds.

FURTHER INFORMATION

The references herein to and summaries of federal. State and local laws. including but not limited to
the Code. the Constitution and laws of the State. the Act, the 1905 Act. the Clean Water Act, the SDWA,
the Ban Act. the MPRSA. and documents, agreements and court decisions. including but not limited to
the Leasc. the Agreement, the Resolution and the Second Resolution are summaries of certain provisions
thereof. Such summarics do not purport to be complete and are qualified in their entirety by reference to
such acts, laws. documents. agreements or decisions. Copies of the Lease, the Agreement, the Resolution
and the Second Resolution are available for inspection during normal business hours at the office of the
Authority.

Any statements in this Reoffering Circular involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so
stated, arc intended as such and not as representations of fact. Neither this Reoffering Circular nor any
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statement which may have been made orally or in writing shall be construed as a contract or as a part of
a contract with the original purchasers or any holders of the Reoffered Bonds.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDER SEC RULE 15¢2-12

To the extent that Rule [5¢2-12 (the *Rule™) of the Securitics and Exchange Commission (*"SEC™)
under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the ~1934 Act™). requires the respective
Broker-Dealers to determine. as a condition to purchasing the Reoffered Bonds, that the Authority will
covenant to the effect of the provisions here summarized (the “Undertaking™). and the Rule as so applied
is authorized by a federal law that as so construed is within the powers of Congress. the Authority agrees
with the record and beneficial owners from time to time of the Reoffered Bonds ("Bondholders™) that it
will:

(1) within 240 days alter the end of cach Fiscal Year, deliver to each nationally recognized
municipal securities information repository and to any New York State information depository, core
financial information and operating data for the prior Fiscal Year, including (i) the System's audited
financial statements, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in effect
from time to time, and (ii) material historical financial and operating data concerning the System and
the Revenues of the System gencrally of the tvpe included in this Reoffering Circular under the
captions “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT AND FINANCING PROGRAM.”™ “FINANCIAL OPFERATIONS.”
“RATES AND BILLING™ and “THE SYSTEM;™

(2) provide in a timely manner, to cach nationally recognized municipal securities information
repository or to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. and to any New York State information
depository. notice of any of the following events with respect to the Reoffered Bonds. if material:

(a) principal and interest payment delinquencies:
(b) non-payment related defaults;

(¢) in the case of credit enhancement that is provided in connection with the issuance of the
Reoffered Bonds., unscheduled draws on such credit enhancement reflecting financial difficultics
and substitution of credit providers, or their failure to perform:

(d) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties:

(e) adversc opinions or events affecting the exclusion from gross income for federal income
tax purposcs of interest on the Reoflcred Bonds:

() modifications to rights of sccurity holders:

(g) bond calls;

(h) defeasances;

(1) release. substitution. or sale of property securing repayment of the securitics:
(j) rating changes: and

(3) provide in a timely manner, to cach nationally recognized municipal seeuritics information
repository or to the Municipal Securitics Rulemaking Board., and to any New York State information
depository. notice of any failure by the Authority to comply with clause (1). above.

The Authority expects to provide the information described in clause (1) above by delivering its first
bond reoffering circular that includes its financial statements for the preceding fiscal year.

Currently. there is no New York State information depository and the nationally recognized
municipal securities information repositorics are: Bloomberg Municipal Repository, 100 Business Park
Drive, Skillman. New Jersey 08558: Standard & Poor' Sccuritics Evaluations. Inc.. 55 Water Street. 45th
Floor, New York. New York 10041: FT Interactive Data, 100 William Street. New York. NY 10038, Attn:
NRMSIR and DPC Data Inc., One Executive Drive. Fort Lee. New Jersey (07024,

No Bondholder may institute any suit, action or procceding at law or in equity ("Procceding™) for the
enforcement of the Undertaking or for any remedy for breach thereof, unless such Bondholder has filed
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with the Authority evidence of ownership and a written notice of and request to cure such breach, and
thc Authority has not complicd within a reasonable time: provided. however. that any Procecding
challenging the adequacy of any information provided pursuant to paragraphs (1) and (2) above may be
brought only by the Trustee or the holders ol a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Reoffered
Bonds affected thereby which at the time are Outstanding. All Proceedings may be instituted only as
specified herein, in the federal or State courts located in the Borough of Manhattan, State and City of New
York, and for the equal benefit of all holders of the Outstanding Bonds bencfited by the same or a
substantially similar covenant. No remedy may be sought or granted other than specific performance of
the covenant at issuc.

Any amendment to the Undertaking will take cffect only if:

(a) the amendment is made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a
change in legal requirements. change in law. or change in the identity, nature, or status of the
Authority or the Board, or type of business conducted: the Undertaking, as amended. would have
complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of sale of the Reoffered Bonds to the
Broker-Dealers. after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule. as well as
any change in circumstances: and the amendment does not materially impair the interests of
Bondholders, as determined by parties unaffiliated with the Authority (such as. but without
limitation, the Authoritys financial advisor or bond counsel) and the annual financial information
containing (if applicable) the amended operating data or financial information will explain. in
narrative form. the reasons for the amendment and the “impact™ (as that word is used in the letter
from the staff of the SEC to the National Association of Bond Lawyers dated June 23, 1995) of the
change in the type of operating data or financial information being provided: or

(b) all or any part of the Rule. as interpreted by the staft of the SEC at the date of the
Undertaking, ceases 1o be in cffect for any reason. and the Authority elects that the Undertaking will
be deemed terminated or amended (as the case may be) accordingly.

For purposes of the Undertaking, a beneficial owner of a sceurity includes any person who. directly
or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding. relationship, or otherwise has or shares
investment power which includes the power to dispose. or to direet the disposition of, such sccurity,
subject to certain exceptions. as set forth in the Undertaking. Any assertion of benceficial ownership must
be filed. with full documentary support, as part ol the written request to the Authority described above.

INVESTMENTS

The Authority invests moneys available in the Debt Serviee Fund, the Debt Service Reserve Fund.,
the Construction Fund and the Revenue Fund. Investments are made pursuant to restrictions contained
in the Resolutions and the Authority’s Investment Guidelines as adopted and modified from time to time
by the Authority’s Board of Directors. In conjunction with the annual audit of the financial statements of
the System, the independent auditors are required to provide to the Authority’s Board of Directors an
Investment Compliance letter confirming compliance with both the Authority’s Investment Guidelines
and with Investment Guidelines of Public Authorities of the State Comptroller of New York. Annual
valuation of all funds is at the lower of amortized cost or market value. For other investment restrictions,
sce “APPENDIX C—GLOSSARY AND SUMMARY OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS.” The Authority’s primary
objective in investment of its available funds is preservation of principal. The Authority is not legally
authorized to enter into reverse repurchase agreements. The Authority does not make leveraged
investments.

RATINGS

FGIC has issued its Policies for the FGIC Insured Bonds. Standard & Poor’s Rating Services and
Fitch, Inc. rate the FGIC Insured Bonds "AAA.” Moody’s Investors Service. Inc. rate the FGIC Insured
Bonds “Aaa.”

Such ratings will reflect only the views of the respective rating agencies. from which an explanation
of the significance of such ratings may be obtained. There is no assurance that any rating will continue for
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any given period of time or that any or all will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely. Any such
downward revision or withdrawal could have an adverse effect on the market price of the Reoffered
Bonds.

LEGALITY FOR INVESTMENT AND DEPOSIT

Under the Act. the Reoffered Bonds are sceurities in which all public officials and bodies of the State
and all municipalities, all insurancc companics and associations and other persons carrying on an
insurance business, all banks. bankers, trust companies. savings banks and savings associations, including
savings and loan associations. investment companics and other persons carrying on a banking business,
and administrators, guardians. exccutors. trustees and other fiduciaries and all others persons whatsoever,
who are now and may hercafter be authorized to invest in the Reoffered Bonds or obligations of the State,
may properly and legally invest funds including capital in their control or belonging to them in such
Reoffered Bonds. The Act further provides that the Reoffered Bonds are securities which may be
deposited with and may be received by all public officers and bodies of the State and all municipalities for
any purposes for which the deposit of bonds or other obligations of the State is or may hereafter be
authorized.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The financial statcments of the System as of and for the years ended June 30, 2006 and June 30. 2005
(the "Audited System Financial Statements™) included in Appendix D to this Reoffering Circular have
been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, independent certified public accountants, as stated in their report
appearing therein.

ENGINEERING FEASIBILITY REPORT AND FORECASTED CASH FLOWS

Certain information contained in this Reoffering Circular under the captions "CAPITAL IMPROVE-
MENT AND FINANCING PROGRAM-—Capital Improvement Program.” “THE SYSTEM—The Water Sys-
tem,” "THE SYSTEM—The Sewer System™ has been reviewed and independently evaluated by Metcalf &
Eddy which has provided the opinion letter set forth in Appendix A confirming such information. Metcalf
& Eddy also serves as a consulting engincer to DEP on capital projects relating to the System. As a result
of occasional, routine litigation initiated by third parties arising from such projects, Metcalf & Eddy and
the City have from time to time been either co-parties or adverse parties in such litigation.

Certain financial forccasts contained in this Reoffering Circular in the tables titled “Sources and Uses
of Capital Funds™ and “Future Debt Service Requirements™ under the caption “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT
AND FINANCING PROGRAM™ and “Projected Operating and Maintenance Expenses,” “Projected
Revenues.” and “Forecasted Cash Flows™ under the caption “FINANCIAL OPERATIONS™ have been
examined by Amawalk Consulting. to the extent and for the periods indicated in those tables. The
conclusions of Amawalk Consulting with respect to the reasonableness of the forecasts arc set forth in an
opinion letter attached hereto as Appendix B. The President of Amawalk Consulting has provided
consulting services including feasibility studies. rate studies and organizational analysis to numerous
clients in the water and wastewater industry including the City of New York Water and Scewer System, the
Boston Water and Sewer Commission and the Shanghai. PRC Water and Sewer.

TAX MATTERS

In the opinion of Orrick. Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP (*Bond Counsel™), based upon an analysis of
existing laws, regulations. rulings and court decisions, and assuming. among other matters, the accuracy
of certain representations and compliance with certain covenants. interest on the Reoffered Bonds is
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986 (the “Code™). Bond Counscl is of the further opinion that interest on the Reoffered Bonds
is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal individual or corporate alternative minimum
taxes, although Bond Counsel obscrves that such interest is included in adjusted current earnings when
calculating corporate alternative minimum taxable income. Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that
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interest on the Reoffered Bonds is exempt from personal income taxes imposed by the State of New York
and any political subdivision thereof (including The City of New York). A complete copy of the proposed
form of opinion of Bond Counsel is set forth in Appendix E hereto.

Reoffered Bonds purchased, whether at original issuance or otherwise, for an amount higher than
their principal amount payable at maturity (or. in some cases, at their earlier call date) (“Premium
Bonds”) will be treated as having amortizable bond premium. No deduction is allowable for the
amortizable bond premium in the case of bonds, like the Premium Bonds, the interest on which is
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. However, the amount of tax-exempt interest
received, and a Beneficial Owner’s basis in a Premium Bond, will be reduced by the amount of
amortizable bond premium properly allocable to such Beneficial Owner. Beneficial Owners of Premium
Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the proper treatment of amortizable bond
premium in their particular circumstances.

The Code imposes various restrictions, conditions and requirements relating to the exclusion from
gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on obligations such as the Reoffered Bonds. The
Authority has made certain representations and covenanted to comply with certain restrictions,
conditions and requirements designed to ensure that interest on the Reoffered Bonds will not be included
in federal gross income. Inaccuracy of these representations or failure to comply with these covenants may
result in interest on the Reoffered Bonds being included in gross income for federal income tax purposes,
possibly from the date of original issuance of the Reoffered Bonds. The opinion of Bond Counsel assumes
the accuracy of these representations and compliance with these covenants. Bond Counsel has not
undertaken to determine (or to inform any person) whether any actions taken (or not taken). or events
occurring (or not occurring), or any other matters coming to Bond Counsel’s attention after the date of
issuance of the Reoffered Bonds may adversely affect the value of, or the tax status of interest on, the
Reoffered Bonds. Accordingly, the opinion of Bond Counsel is not intended to, and may not. be relied
upon in connection with any such actions, events or matters.

Although Bond Counsel is of the opinion that interest on the Reoffered Bonds is excluded from gross
income for federal income tax purposes and is exempt from personal income taxes imposed by the State
of New York and any political subdivision thereof (including The City of New York), the ownership or
disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on. the Reoffered Bonds may otherwise affect a
Beneficial Owner’s federal. state or local tax liability. The nature and extent of these other tax
consequences depends upon the particular tax status of the Beneficial Owner or the Beneficial Owner’s
other items of income or deduction. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any such other tax
consequences.

Future legislative proposals, if enacted into law, clarification of the Code or court decisions may cause
interest on the Reoffered Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation or to be
subject to or exempted from state income taxation, or otherwisc prevent Beneficial Owners from realizing
the full current benefit of the tax status of such interest. As one example, on May 21, 2007, the United
States Supreme Court agreed to hear an appeal from a Kentucky state court which ruled that the United
States Constitution prohibited the state from providing a tax exemption for interest on bonds issued by
the state and its political subdivisions but taxing interest on obligations issued by other states and their
political subdivisions. The introduction or enactment of any such future legislative proposals. clarification
of the Code or court decisions may also affect the market price for, or marketability of, the Reoffered
Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Reoffered Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding
any pending or proposed federal or state tax legislation, regulations or litigation. as to which Bond
Counsel expresses no opinion.

The opinion of Bond Counsel is based on current legal authority, covers certain matters not directly
addressed by such authorities, and represents Bond Counsel’s judgment as to the proper treatment of the
Reoffered Bonds for federal income tax purposes. It is not binding on the Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS™) or the courts. Furthermore, Bond Counsel cannot give and has not given any opinion or
assurance about the future activities of the Authority, or about the effect of future changes in the Code,
the applicable regulations, the interpretation thereof or the enforcement thereof by the IRS. The
Authority has covenanted, however, to comply with the requirements of the Code.
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Bond Counsel’s engagement with respect to the Reoffered Bonds ends with the issuance of the
Reoifered Bonds, and. unless separately engaged. Bond Counsel is not obligated to defend the Authority
or the Beneficial Owners regarding the tax-exempt status of the Reoffered Bonds in the event of an audit
examination by the IRS. Under current procedures. parties other than the Authority and its appointed
counsel, including the Beneficial Owners, would have little, if any, right to participate in the audit
examination process. Morcover, because achicving judicial review in connection with an audit examina-
tion of tax-exempt bonds is difficult, obtaining an independent review of IRS positions with which the
Authority legitimately disagrees, may not be practicable. Any action of the IRS, including but not limited
to selection of the Reoffered Bonds for audit. or the course or result of such audit. or an audit of bonds
presenting similar tax issues may affect the market price for. or the marketability of, the Reoffered Bonds,
and may cause the Authority or the Beneficial Owners to incur significant expense.

CERTAIN LEGAL OPINIONS

At the request of the Authority, Bond Counsel reviewed issucs related to the effects on the Board
and the Authority of a case under Title |1 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy
Code™) in which the City is a debtor. Specifically, Bond Counsel considered whether a court, exercising
reasonable judgment after full consideration of all relevant factors, would (i) hold that the Revenues
derived from operation of the System would be property of the bankruptcy estate of the City, (ii) hold that
the rights of the Board to the Revenues and the interest of the Authority in the Revenues would be
subject to a stay. by operation of Section 922(a) of the Bankruptcy Code or (iii) order the substantive
consolidation of the assets of either or both the Board and the Authority with those of the City. Based
upon its review of the Act, the Leasc. the Agreement, the First Resolution, the Second Resolution and
such other matters of law and fact as it considered relevant, and recognizing that there is no definitive
judicial authority confirming the correctness of its analysis, Bond Counsel has rendered to the Authority
its opinion. subject to all the facts, assumptions and qualifications sct forth therein, that under the
Bankruptcy Code a court, in the circumstances described above, (i) would not hold that the Revenues
would be property of the City or that the Board’s right to and the Authority’s interest in the Revenues
would be subject to a stay by operation of Section 922(a) of the Bankruptey Code, and (ii) would not
order the substantive consolidation of the assets and liabilities of either the Board or the Authority with
those of the City. This opinion will be based on an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and court
decisions, and will cover certain matters not directly addressed by such authorities. There are no court
decisions directly on point.

Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that. subject to all the facts, assumptions and qualifications set
forth therein, in a case under the Bankruptcy Code in which the City is a debtor (i) should the City elect
to assume the Lease, the Lease would continue pursuant to its terms and (i) should the City elect to reject
the Lease, the Board may elect to retain its rights under the Lease and remain in possession and cnjoy
the use of the System and the right to the Revenues derived therefrom for the unexpired balance of the
term of the Lease.

The Bankruptcy Code provides that in order for a municipality to be a Chapter 9 debtor it must be
specifically authorized by State law to be a debtor under Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code. Bond
Counsel is of the opinion, subject to all the facts, assumptions and qualifications set forth therein, that
under the Bankruptcy Code neither the Authority nor the Board could properly be a debtor in a
voluntary or involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Code.

Bond Counsel has not rendered an opinion, however. as to any preliminary or temporary stay,
injunction or order which a bankruptcy court might issue pursuant to its powers under 11 U.S.C. §§ 105
or 362 to preserve the status quo pending consideration of the substantive legal issues discussed above.
Morcover, the opinions expressed above have inherent limitations because of the pervasive equity powers
of bankruptcy courts as they relate to the business and creditor relationships leading up to the bankruptcy
as well as generally the overriding goal of reorganization to which other legal rights and policies may be
subordinated, the potential relevance to the exercise of judicial discretion of future-arising facts and
circumstances, and the nature of the bankruptcy process: and are based on an analysis of existing laws,
regulations, rulings and court decisions. Such opinions may be adverscly affected by actions taken or
events occurring, including a change in law. regulation or ruling (or in the application or official
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interpretation of any law, regulation or ruling) after the date of this Reoffering Circular. Bond Counsel
has not undertaken to determine, or to inform any person, whether such actions are taken or such events
occur and has no obligation to update this section in light of such actions or events.

NEW YORK CITY MUNICIPAL WATER
FINANCE AUTHORITY
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APPENDIX A
LETTER OF
METCALF & EDDY OF NEW YORK, INC.,
CONSULTING ENGINEERS

September 5, 2007
Mr. Patrick J. McCoy
Executive Dircctor
New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority
Subject: New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority
Water and Scwer System Revenue Bonds

Dear Mr. McCoy:

We hereby submit the opinion of Metealf & Eddy of New York. Inc. ("Meicall & Eddy™) on the
Enginecring Feasibility of the Water and Sewer System serving The City of New York (the “City").
Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the
Reoffering Circular.

Based on the information set forth in this Reoffering Circular, our expericnce and our analyses during the
preparation of the 1983 feasibility study, the methodology described below and subject to the reliances
and assumptions made throughout this letter. Metcalf & Eddy concludes that overall the water and sewer
system (the “System™) serving the City continues to be operated in a professional and prudent manner.
Further. Metcalf & Eddy is of the opinion that:
o The condition of the System continues (o receive the highest rating of our three rating categories
(adequate).
o The expensc allocations for Fiscal Year 2007 are adequate for the continued reliable operation of
the System.

e The Capital Improvement Program (the “CIP™) is responsive to the long-term operating
requirements of the service area.

e Staffing levels of the System are adequate for proper operation and maintenance.

Metcalf & Eddy hereby consents 1o the inclusion of those opinions and conclusions attributed to it in the
Reoffering Circular.

Purpose and Scope

This letter has becn prepared to document the results of analyses carried out during the period of
August 1983 to the present by personnel of Metealf & Eddy in connection with the issuance by the New
York City Municipal Water Finance Authority (the *Authority™) of the Water and Sewer System Revenue
Bonds. Certain studics and analyses were performed in anticipation of the creation of the Authority and
were used in developing the information in the Reoffering Circular under the captions: “CAPITAL
IMPROVEMENT AND FINANCING PROGRAM—Capital Improvement Program.” “THE SYSTEM— The
Water System™ and “THE SYSTEM-—The Sewer System.”™ The following sets forth a brief outline of the
major tasks addressed:
e An overview of the System’s service arca and major facilitics. including a general assessment of
the capacity and condition of existing water. wastewater and drainage facilities and a review of
recently completed improvements.

e Ananalysis of the CIP for the period 2007-2017 and the funding needed to carry out the CIP and
ongoing capital contracts commenced prior to the CIP,

® Ananalysis of the management of the System and its current and anticipated operating programs.

Since 1983 Metcalf & Eddy has provided engineering services related to the City's Water and Wastewater
Operations Evaluation Study. During this period Metcalf & Eddy has performed an evaluation of the
condition of the System. independently reviewed the capital plans for water and wastewater programs,
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and jointly with the rate consultant reviewed the operating programs of the New York City Department
of Environmental Protection ("DEP™). Ten topics were addressed in this ceffort as listed below.

e Present Condition of Physical Facilitics

e Remaining Uscful Life of Facilities

e Rcliability of Utility Systems

e Operation and Maintenance Programs

e Current Utility Use

e Maximum Existing Capacity

e Needs for Routine Maintenance, Upgrading and Expansion
e Evaluation of the Impact of Legal Mandates

e Overview of Present Capital Improvement Program

e Safcty Practices and Potential for Catastrophe

Methodology

Interviews with staff members of the Authority and the City were conducted, current enginecring and
financial reports. System operating data and other documents were reviewed and major facilities were
inspected. Audited financial statcments of the City and data supplied by the Authority were also reviewed
to identify historical costs and revenues. The evaluation of current needs and future conditions was madce
by analyzing historical data, assessing the effectiveness of current City maintenance programs. reviewing
the plans of key outside agencies, and taking into account current trends and the anticipated impact of the
CIP.

The physical condition of the facilities was rated by Metecall & Eddy. A uniform rating system. standard
among engineering firms providing similar services, was established consisting of three rating categories—
adequate. marginal, and inadequate as described below:
o Adcquate: Shows no signs of deterioration. meets design intent, and requires only routine
maintenance to meet or exceed expected useful life.
e Marginal: Facility is functional but does not meet design intent, and requires non-routine
maintenance or capital replacement to restore to adequate condition.
e Inadcquate: Facility does not provide functional operation, and requires major reconstruction to
restore to adequate condition.

The Consulting Engineer

Meteall’ & Eddy has scrved the City as consulting engineers for over 90 years in capacitics dealing with
water supply. water distribution, scwage collection. and wastewater treatment. Metcalf & Eddy is one of
the largest consulting engineering firms and is recognized in the United States and internationally as a
lcader in services to the water and wastewater industry.



We have no responsibility to update this letter or the information provided in the Reoffering Circular for
the captioned sections described above for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this letter.

Very truly vours,

William P. Pfrang, PE.
Director of Engineering
Metcalf & Eddy of New York, Inc.
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LETTER OF AMAWALK CONSULTING GROUP LLC,
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Amawalk Consulting Group LLC

26 Broadway, Suite 761 Telephone: (212) 361-0050
New York, NY 10004 Fax: (212) 361-0055

September 5, 2007

Mr. Patrick J. McCoy
Executive Director
New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority

Subject: New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority
Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds

Dear Mr. McCoy:

The purpose of this letter is to summarize the conclusions of the independent analysis of the financial
forecast of the Authority (the “Forecasted Cash Flows") for Fiscal Years 2007 through 2011 (the
“Reporting Period™) prepared by the Amawalk Consulting Group LLC in connection with the issuance
by the New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority (the “Authority™) of the Authority’s
$683.700,000 Water and Sewer System Adjustable Rate Revenue Bonds consisting of $100,000,000 Fiscal
1993 Series C. $100.000.000 Fiscal 1994 Subseries C-1, $100.000.000 Fiscal 1994 Subseries C-2, $92.500,000
Fiscal 1994 Subseries G-1, $92.500,000 Fiscal 1994 Subseries G-2. $99,350,000 Fiscal 1995 Subseries A-1
and $99.350.000 Fiscal 1995 Subseries A-2 (collectively. the “Reoffered Bonds™). In conducting the
analysis, the Amawalk Consulting Group LLC has prepared the following tables which are included in
this Reoffering Circular under the headings “Capital Improvement and Financing Program” and
“Financial Operations.™

¢ Sources and Uses of Capital Funds
* Future Debt Service Requirements
* Projected Revenues

* Projected System Expense

¢ Forecasted Cash Flows

The forecast includes provisions for the financing of improvements to the City of New York (the “City™)
Water and Sewer System (the “System™) as reflected in the Capital Improvement Program (the “CIP”)
for the Reporting Period. The Forecasted Cash Flows set forth the ability of the System to meet the
operating costs, working capital needs and other financial requirements of the System, including the debt
service requirements associated with the Outstanding Bonds issued under the Authority’s General Bond
Resolution (the “Resolution™) and obligations issued under the Authority’s Second General Resolution
(the “Second Resolution™) and additional Bonds and Second Resolution Bonds whose issuance by the
Authority during the five years ending June 30, 2011 is anticipated.

Revenues pledged to secure the Authority’s Bonds are to be derived from the following sources: (i) all
Revenues, (ii) all moneys or securities in any of the Funds and Accounts, and (iii) all other monies and
securities to be received. held or set aside by the Authority or by any Fiduciary pursuant to the
Resolution. The term “Revenues™, as defined by the Resolution. includes. but is not limited to. all rents,
fees, charges and other income and receipts derived by the New York City Water Board (the “Board”)
from users of the System, and certain investment procecds reccived by the Board.

Moneys pledged to secure bonds issued under the Second Resolution are to be derived from: (i) all
available amounts on deposit in the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund established under the Resolution
and (ii) all moneys or sccurities in any of the funds and accounts established under the Second Resolution,
except the Arbitrage Rebate Fund and the Debt Service Reserve Fund.

The Forecasted Cash Flows summarize the anticipated financial operations of the Authority for the
Reporting Period. The Authoritys books. records. financial reports, and statistical data have been
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reviewed to the extent practicable. and other investigations and analyses were conducted as deemed
necessary to assemble and analyze the forecast of revenues, revenue requirements, and debt service
coverage for the Reporting Period. Various financial tests and analyses have been performed to support
the findings and conclusions presented hercin. The Authority’s fiscal year ends on June 30, and all
references in the Reoffering Circular to a fiscal year (“Fiscal Year™) relate to the 12 month period ending
June 30 of the ycar shown.

Proposed improvements and additions to the System under the CIP for the Reporting Period were
independently evaluated and confirmed by Metcalf & Eddy of New York. Inc. (“Metcalf & Eddy™). The
forecasted cash flows rely upon the conclusions of Metcalf & Eddy regarding the capital and operating
expenditures that are necessary during the Reporting Period to maintain the System in good working
order.

Based on the studics performed. the Amawalk Consulting Group LLC offers the following opinions and
conclusions:

1. Revenues (including projected revenue increases resulting from anticipated future rate increases to be
implemented by the Board). as set forth in the Forecasted Cash Flows. are currently and will be sufficient
to meet the following requirements during the Reporting Period:

a. One hundred and fifteen percent (115%) of the principal of and interest on all Bonds issued under
the Resolution. as the same shall become due and payable. for which such Revenues are pledged:

b. One hundred percent (100%) of the principal of and interest on all bonds issued under the Second
Resolution and other subordinate obligations payable from Revenues:

¢. One hundred percent (100%) of all expenses of opcration, maintenance and repair of the System:

d. One hundred percent (100%) of other Required Deposits as required by the Resolution. In
addition. revenues are adequate to make all payments to the City.

2. In the analysis of the forecast of future operations summarized in this Reoffering Circular, the
Amawalk Consulting Group LLC has reviewed certain assumptions with respect to conditions, events and
circumstances which may occur in the future. These assumptions are reasonable and attainable, although
actual results may differ from those forecast as influenced by the conditions, events and circumstances
which actually occur.

3 The water and wastewater rates, fces and charges of the Board, including projected increases, are
reasonable and compare favorably to the rates and charges of other major cities.

The opportunity to be of service to the Authority in this important matter is greatly appreciated.

Very truly yours,

Edward J. Markus
Amawalk Consulting Group LLC
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APPENDIX C
GLOSSARY AND SUMMARY OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS
GLOSSARY

Set forth below are definitions of certain terms contained in the Agreement, the Lease, the
Resolution and not otherwise defined in this Reofffering Circular

Adjusted Aggregate Debt Service: For any Fiscal Year and as of any date of calculation is the sum
of the Adjusted Debt Service for all Series of Bonds Outstanding during such Fiscal Year.

Adjusted Debt Service: For any Fiscal Year. as of any date of calculation and with respect to any
Series of Bonds, is the Debt Service for such Fiscal Year for such Series except that, if any Refundable
Principal Installment of such Series of Bonds is included in Debt Service for such Fiscal Year, Adjusted
Debt Service shall mean Debt Service determined as if each such Refundable Principal Installment had
been payable over a period extending from the due date of such Refundable Principal Installment through
the last date on which such Series of Bonds could have been stated to mature under the Act as in effect
on the date of issuance of such Series, in installments which would have required equal annual payments
of Principal Installments and interest over such period. Interest deemed payable in any Fiscal Year after
the actual due date of any Refundable Principal Instaliment of any Series of Bonds shall be calculated at
the actual interest cost payable on the Bonds of such Series (using the actuarial method of calculation).

Aggregate Debt Service: For any Fiscal Year, as of any date of calculation, the sum of the Debt
Service for all Bonds Outstanding during such Fiscal Year.

Authority Expenses: All reasonable or necessary current expenses of the Authority, including all
salaries, administrative, general, commercial. engineering, advertising. public notice., auditing and legal
expenses, insurance and surety bond premiums, fees paid to banks, insurance companies or other financial
institutions for the issuance of Credit Facilities, consultants’ fees and charges. payment to pension,
retirement, health and hospitalization funds, costs of public hearings, ordinary and current rentals of
equipment and other property, lease payments for real property or interests therein. expenses, liabilities
and compensation of any Fiduciary and all other expenses necessary, incidental or convenient for the
efficient operation of the Authority. Bond Counsel has determined that payments made under an Interest
Rate Exchange Agreement are deemed Authority Expenses if the Interest Rate Exchange Agreement
relates to First Resolution Bonds.

Authorized Newspaper: The Bond Buyer or any other newspaper of general circulation printed in
the English language and customarily published at least once a day for at least five days (other than legal
holidays) in each calendar week in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York. designated
by the Authority.

Authorized Representative: In the case of both the Authority and the Board, their respective
Chairman or Executive Director, or such other person or persons so designated by resolution of the
Authority or the Board, as the case may be, and in the case of the City, the Mayor. unless a different City
official is designated to perform the act or sign the document in question.

Bond or Bonds: For purposes of the Agreement and the Resolution (and as used in this Reoftfering
Circular unless the context otherwise requires), the bonds. notes or other evidences of indebtedness
issued by the Authority under and pursuant to the Act and the Resolution, including Parity Bond
Anticipation Notes and Parity Reimbursement Obligations: but shall not mean Subordinated Indebted-
ness or other Bond Anticipation Notes or Reimbursement Obligations: and for purposes of the Lease.
means any bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness for borrowed money issued by the Authority.

Bond Counsel’s Opinion: An opinion signed by an attorney or firm of attorncys of nationally
recognized standing in the field of law relating to revenue bonds of municipalities and public agencies,
selected by the Authority and satisfactory to the Trustee.

Bond Payment Date: June 15 and December 15 of each year: provided. however, that if any such
day is not a Business Day, then the Bond Payment Date shall be the next succeeding Business Day.
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Business Day: Any day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which the New York Stock
Exchange, banking institutions chartered by the State or the United States of Amecrica or the Note
Trustee are legally authorized to close in the City.

Cash Flow Requirement: For each Fiscal Year and as of any date of certification, the amount,
certified by the Authority to the Trustee and the Board equal to the difference between (A) the sum of
(i) the estimated Aggregate Debt Service for such Fiscal Year, (ii) the Projected Debt Service for such
Fiscal Year, (iii) the estimated Authority Expenses for such Fiscal Year, and (iv) the other Required
Deposits estimated for such Fiscal Year and (B) (i) if the certification is made prior to the commencement
of the Fiscal Year, the amount anticipated by the Authority as of such date of certification to be held by
the Trustee, as of the first day of such Fiscal Year. in the Revenue Fund and (ii) if the certification is made
after the commencement of such Fiscal Year, the amount which had been anticipated pursuant to (B) (i)
above.

Consulting Engineer: Metcalf & Eddy of New York, Inc. or such other independent engineer or
engineering firm of recognized standing selected by the Authority and satisfactory to the Board.

Corporation: The New York State Environmental Facilities Corporation and any successor entity
which may succeed to its rights and duties respecting the State Revolving Fund.

Cost or Costs of a Water Project: The cost of construction, as such term is defined in the Act.
including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the erection, alteration, improvement, increase,
enlargement or rehabilitation of the System or a Water Project, the inspection and supervision thereof,
the engineering. architectural, legal, fiscal, economic and environmental investigations and studies,
designs, surveys, plans, specifications, procedures and other actions incidental thereto: the cost of the
acquisition of all Property: the cost of demolishing, removing or relocating any buildings or structures on
lands so acquired (including the cost of acquiring any lands to which such buildings or structures may be
moved or relocated): the cost of all systems, facilities, machinery, appurtenances, equipment. financing
charges and interest prior to, during and after construction (if not paid or provided for from revenues or
other sources); the cost of engineering and architectural surveys, plans and specifications: the cost of
consultants” and legal services: the cost of Jease guarantee or bond insurance: other expenses necessary.
reasonably related or incidental to the construction of such Water Project and the financing of the
construction thereof, including the cost of Credit Facilities, the amounts authorized in the Resolution to
be paid into any reserve or other special fund from the proceeds of Bonds and the financing or the placing
of any Water Project in operation, including reimbursement to any governmental entity or any other
person for expenditures that would be Costs of such Water Project and all claims arising from any of the
foregoing.

Counterparty: An entity whose senior long term debt obligations. or whose obligations under an
Interest Rate Exchange Agreement arc guaranteed by a financial institution whose senior long term debt
obligations, have a rating (at the time the subject Interest Rate Exchange Agreement is entered into) of
Aa or better by Moody’s Investors Service and AA or better by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services.

Credit Facility: A letter of credit, revolving credit agreement, standby purchase agreement, surety
bond, insurance policy or similar obligation, arrangement or instrument issued by a bank. insurance
company or other financial institution which provides for payment of all or a portion of the Principal
Installments or interest due on any Series of Bonds or provides funds for the purchase of such Bonds or
portions thereof.

Debt Service: For any Fiscal Year or part thereof, as of any date of calculation and with respect to
any Series, means an amount equal to the sum of (a) interest payable during such Fiscal Year or part
thereof on Bonds of such Series, except to the extent that such interest is to be paid from amounts
representing Capitalized Interest and (b) the Principal Installments of the Bonds of such Series payable
during such Fiscal Year or part thereof. Such interest and Principal Installments for such Series shall be
calculated on the assumption that (x) no Bonds of such Series Outstanding at the date of calculation will
cease to be Outstanding except by reason of the payment thereol upon stated maturity or upon
mandatory redemption by application of Sinking Fund Installments and (y) Variable Rate Bonds will bear
interest at the greater of (A) the rate or rates which were assumed by the Authority in the Authority
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Budget for such Fiscal Year to be borne by Variable Rate Bonds during such Fiscal Year or (B) the actual
rate or rates borne during such Fiscal Year on Variable Rate Bonds Outstanding during the 12 calendar
months preceding the date of calculation.

Debt Service Reserve Requirement: As of any date of caleulation, and for any Fiscal Ycar, shall
mean the amount equal to the maximum Adjusted Aggregate Debt Service in the current or any future
Fiscal Year on all Bonds Outstanding: provided. however. that. if (1) the payment of the Principal
Installments of or interest on any Series of Bonds or portion thereof is secured by a Special Credit Facility,
(1i) the payment of the Tender Option Price of any Option Bond of a Series is sccured by a Special Credit
Facility or (iii) the Authority has determined in a Supplemental Resolution authorizing the issuance of a
Series of Bonds that such Series of Bonds will not be secured by the Common Account in the Debt
Service Reserve Fund, the Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Series may specify the Debt Service
Reserve Requirement. if any. for the Bonds of such Series.

DEC: The New York State Department of Environmental Conservation and any successor entity
which may succeed to its rights and duties respecting the State Revolving Fund.

Defeasance Obligations: (A) any non-callable bonds or other obligations which as to principal and
interest constitute direct obligations of. or are guarantecd by the United States of America, including
obligations of any agency thereof or corporation which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to
an Act of Congress as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America to the extent
unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America or (B) any other non-callable receipt,
certificate or other evidence of an ownership interest in obligations or in specified portions thereof (which
may consist of specified portions of the interest thereon) of the character described in subclause (A);
provided. however, that. when used in connection with any Bond authorized to be issued by a
Supplemental Resolution adopted on or after June 1. 2001, such term also means: (C) a non-callable
obligation of the United States of America which has been stripped by the United States Department of
Treasury itself or by any Federal Reserve Bank (not including “CATS.” “TIGRS™ and “TRS™ unless the
Authority obtains Rating Confirmation with respeet to the Bonds to be defeased): (D) the interest
component of REFCORP bonds for which scparate payment of principal and interest is made by request
of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York in book-entry form; (E) an obligation of any state or territory
of the United States of America. any political subdivision of any state or territory of the United States of
America, or any agency. authority, public benefit corporation or instrumentality of such state. territory or
political subdivision (i) the interest on which is excludable from gross income under Section 103 of the
Code, (ii) that. at the time an investment therein is made or such obligation is deposited in any fund or
account established pursuant to the Resolution, is rated in the highest rating category of the Rating
Agencies, (iii) that is not subject to redemption prior to maturity other than at the option of the holder
thereof or either (1) has irrevocably been called for redemption or (2) as to which irrevocable instructions
have been given to call such obligation on a stated future date and (iv) the timely payment of the principal
or redemption price thereof and interest thereon is fully secured by a fund consisting only of cash or
obligations described in clauses (A). (B). (C). (D). (E) or (F). which fund may be applicd only to the
payment of principal. interest and redemption premium, if any, on the obligation secured thereby; and
(F) a non-callable note, bond., debenture, mortgage or other evidence of indebtedness that, at the time
acquired, is (i) issued or guaranteed by the Federal National Mortgage Association, the Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Student Loan Marketing Association, the Federal Farm Credit System
or any other instrumentality of the United States of America and (ii) rated in the highest rating category
of the Rating Agencics; provided. further. that the term “Defeasance Obligations™ shall not mean any
interest in a unit investment trust or a mutual fund.

Financial Guaranties: One or more of the following: (i) irrevocable, unconditional and unexpired
letters of credit issued by banking institutions the senior long-term debt obligations of which (or the
holding company of any such banking institution) have (at the time of issue of such letter of credit) a
rating of Aa2 or better by Moody’s Investors Service and AA or better by Standard & Poor’s Ratings
Services; or (ii) an irrevocable and unconditional policy or policies of insurance in full force and effect
issued by municipal bond insurers the obligations insurcd by which are chigible for a rating of Aa or better
by Moody’s Investors Service and AA or better by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services: in each case
providing for the payment of sums for the payment of Principal Installments of an interest on Bonds in
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the manner provided in the Resolution; and providing further that any Financial Guaranty of the type
described in (i) above must be drawn upon, On a date which is at least thirty (30) days prior to the
expiration date of such Financial Guaranty, in an amount equal to the deficiency which would exist if the
Financial Guaranty expired, uniess a substitute Financial Guaranty is acquired prior to such expiration
date as provided in a related Supplemental Resolution.

Fiscal Year: The twelve-month period commencing on July 1 of each year; provided, however, that
the Authority, the Board and the City may agree on a different twelve-month period as the Fiscal Year
and in such event the dates set forth in the Agreement, the Lease and the Resolution shall be adjusted
accordingly.

Government Obligation: A direct obligation of the United States of America. an obligation the
principal of, and interest on which are guaranteed as to full and timely payment by the United States of
America, an obligation (other than an obligation subject to variation in principal repayment) to which the
full faith and credit of the United States of America are pledged. an obligation of a federal agency
guaranteed as to full and timely payment by the United States of America and approved by the Authority,
and a certificate or other instrument which evidences the ownership of, or the right to receive all or a
portion of the payment of, the principal of or interest on. direct obligations of the United States of
America.

Interest Rate Exchange Agreement: Any financial arrangement (i) that is entered into by the
Authority with an entity that is a Counterparty at the time the arrangement is entered into; (i1} which
provides that the Authority shall pay to such entity an amount based on the principal amount of a Series
of Bonds, and that such entity shall pay to the Authority an amount based on the principal amount of such
Series of Bonds, in each case computed in accordance with a formula set forth in such agreement, or that
one shall pay to the other any net amount due under such arrangement; (iii) which has been designated
in writing to the Trustee by an Authorized Representative of the Authority as an Interest Rate Exchange
Agreement with respect to a Series of Bonds and (iv) which. in the opinion of Bond Counsel, will not
adversely affect the exclusion of interest on Bonds from gross income for the purposes of federal income

taxation.

Investment Securities shall mean and include any of the following securities. if and to the extent the
same are at the time legal investments by the Authority of the funds to be invested therein and conform
to the policies set forth in any investment guidelines adopted by the Authority and in effect at the time
of the making of such investment:

(i) direct obligations of. or obligations guaranteed as o principal and interest by, the State or
direct obligations of any agency Of public authority thereof, provided such obligations are rated, at
the time of purchase, in one of the two highest rating categories by each Rating Agency then
maintaining a rating on Qutstanding Bonds;

(ii) (A) any bonds or other obligations which as to principal and interest constitute direct
obligations of, or are guaranteed by the United States of America, including obligations of any
agency thereof or corporation which has been or may hereafter be created pursuant to an Act of
Congress as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America to the extent uncondi-
tionally guaranteed by the United States of America or (B) any other receipt, certificate or other
evidence of an ownership interest in obligations or in specified portions thereof (which may consist
of specified portions of the interest thereon) of the character described in subclause (A) of this
clause (ii):

(iii) obligations of any agency. subdivision, department, division or instrumentality of the
United States of America; ot obligations fully guaranteed as to interest and principal by any agency,
subdivision, department, division or instrumentality of the United States of America;

(iv) banker’s acceptances Or certificates of deposit issued by a commercial bank (A) whose
long-term debt obligations are rated by each Rating Agency then maintaining a rating on the
Outstanding Bonds at least equal to the rating on Outstanding Bonds that are not insured or
otherwise secured by a Credit Facility or a Special Credit Facility, (B) that has its principal place of
business within the State and (C) that has capital and surplus of more than $100,000,000;
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(v) corporate securities, including commercial paper and fixed income obligations, which are, at
the time of purchase, rated by each Rating Agency then maintaining a rating on Outstanding Bonds
in its highest rating category for comparable types of obligations:

(vi) repurchase agreements collateralized by securities described in clauses (ii) or (iii) above with
any registered broker/dealer or with any domestic commercial bank whose long-term debt obliga-
tions are rated “investment grade™ by each Rating Agency then maintaining a rating on Outstanding
Bonds. provided that (1) a specific written repurchase agreement governs the transaction, (2) the
securities are held, free and clear of any lien, by the Trustee or an independent third party acting
solely as agent for the Trustee, and such third party is (a) a Federal Reserve Bank, or (b) a bank
which is a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and which has combined capital,
surplus and undivided profits of not less than $25 million. and the Trustee shall have received written
confirmation from such third party that it holds such securities, free and clear of any lien, as agent for
the Trustee, (3) the repurchase agreement has a term of thirty days or less, or the Trustee will value
the collateral securities no less frequently than monthly and will liquidate the collateral securities if
any deficiency in the required collateral percentage is not restored within five business days of such
valuation, (4) the fair market value of the collateral securities in relation to the amount of the
repurchase obligation. including principal and interest, is equal to at least 102% and (5) the
repurchase agreement meects the guidelines then applicable to such investments of each Rating
Agency then maintaining a rating on Outstanding Bonds:

(vii) investment agreements or guaranteed investment contracts with any financial institution
whose senior long term debt obligations. or whose obligations under such an investment agreement
or guaranteed investment contract, are guarantced by a financial institution whose senior long term
debt obligations, have a rating (at the time such agreement or contract is entered into) in one of the
two highest rating categories for comparable types of obligations by each Rating Agency then
maintaining a rating on the Bonds:

(viii) money market funds rated in the highest rating category for comparable types of
obligations by cach Rating Agency then maintaining a rating on the Bonds; and

(ix) municipal obligations, the payment of principal and redemption price. if any, and interest on
which is irrevocably secured by obligations of the type referred to in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) above and
which obligations have been deposited in an escrow arrangement which is irrevocably pledged to the
payment of such municipal obligations and which municipal obligations are rated in the highest rating
catcgory for comparable types of obligations by each Rating Agency then maintaining a rating on the
Bonds.

Leased Property: The real and personal property and other rights therein leased by the City to the
Board pursuant to Article 11 of the Lease.

Local Water Fund: The special trust fund by that name established by the Act in the custody of the
Board into which all Revenues are required to be deposited promptly upon receipt thereof by the Board.

Minimum Monthly Balance: For cach Series of Bonds Outstanding, the monthly amount calculated
in accordance with Section 4.3(a) of the Agreement. See “Summary of Certain Documents—Summary of
the Agreement—Minimum Monthly Balance™ in this Appendix C.

O&M Reserve Fund Requirement: For each Fiscal Year, the amount equal to one-sixth (Y6) of the
Operating Expenses as set forth in the Annual Budget.

Operating Expenses: All reasonable or fecessary current expenses of maintaining, repairing,
operating and managing the System net of governmental operating aid, including: all salaries; adminis-
trative, general, commercial. architectural, enginecring, advertising, public notice, auditing, billing,
collection, enforcement and legal expenses; insurance and surety bond premiums; consultants’ fees;
payments to pension, retirement, health and hospitalization funds: taxes: payments in licu of taxes; costs
of public hearings; ordinary and current rentals of equipment or other property; hydrant rentals; lease
payments for real property or interests therein (excluding certain amounts paid by the Board to the City
pursuant to the Lease): depository expenses: reasonable reserves for maintenance and repair and all other
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expenses necessary, incidental or convenient for the efficient operation of the System; but only to the
extent properly attributable to the Board or the System and payable by the Board to the City pursuant
to the Lease and, except for certain administrative expenses of the Board, payable by the Board to the
City pursuant to the Lease.

Option Bonds: Bonds which by their terms may be tendered by and at the option of the owner
thereof for payment by the Authority prior to the stated maturity thereof, or the maturates of which may
be extended by and at the option of the owner thereof.

Outstanding: As of any date, all Bonds therefore or thereupon being authenticated and delivered
under the Resolution except:

(a) any Bonds canceled by the Trustee at or prior to such date;

(b) any Bond (or portion thereof) for the payment or redemption of which there shall be set
aside and held in trust under the Resolution either:

(i) moneys in an amount sufficient to pay when due the Principal Installments or
Redemption Price thereof, together with all accrued interest,

(ii) Defeasance Obligations in such principal amounts, of such maturities, bearing such
interest and otherwise having such terms and qualifications, as are necessary to provide moneys
(whether as principal or interest) in an amount sufficient to pay when due the Principal
Installments or Redemption Price thereof, together with all accrued interest, or

(iii) any combination of (i) and (ii) above,

and, if such Bond or portion thereof is to be redeemed, for which notice of redemption has been
given as provided in Article VI of the Resolution or provision satisfactory to the Trustee has been
made for the giving of such notice;

(c) any Bond in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds have been authenticated and
delivered; and

(d) any Bond deemed to have been paid as provided in Section 1201(b) of the Resolution.

Parity Bond Anticipation Notes: Bond Anticipation Notes the interest on which is payable from
and secured by a pledge of, and a lien on, a parity with all other Bonds.

Permitted Encumbrances: When used with reference to the System, (i) any and all liens,
encumbrances, security interests or other defects in or clouds on title existing on the Effective Date,
(i) the Lease, (iil) easements, rights of way and exceptions which do not materially impair the operation
or maintenance of the Leased Property or the Revenues therefrom, (iv) mechanics’, materialmen’s,
warehousemen’s and other similar liens, as permitted by law and liens for taxes at the time not delinquent
or being contested and (v) agreements for the sale and leaseback of elements of the System.

Principal Installment: As of any date of calculation and with respect to any Series, SO long as any
Bonds thereof are Outstanding, (i) the principal amount of Bonds (including (x) any amount designated
in, or determined pursuant to, the applicable Supplemental Resolution, as the “principal amount” with
respect to any Bonds which do not pay full current interest for all or any part of their term) (y) the Tender
Option Price of any Option Bonds which may be tendered for purchase or payment prior to the stated
maturity thereof in accordance with the terms of the Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Option
Bonds, unless such amount is secured by a Credit Facility which is not in default and (z) the principal
amount of any Parity Reimbursement Obligations of such Series due (or so tendered for payment) on a
certain future date for which no Sinking Fund Installments have been established, or (ii) the unsatisfied
balance of any Sinking Fund Installments due on a certain future date for Bonds of such Series, or (iii)
if such future dates coincide as to different Bonds of such Series, the sum of such principal amount of
Bonds and of such unsatisfied balance of Sinking Fund Installments due on such future date. “Principal
Installment™ does not include the principal of Parity Bond Anticipation Notes.

Project Financing Agreement: Any Project Financing Agreement to be entered into among the
Authority, the City, DEC and the Corporation pursuant to the State Revolving Fund Act.
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Projected Debt Service: For any Fiscal Year or part thereof means. as of any date of calculation and
with respect to any Projected Series of Bonds. an amount. certified by the Authority to the Trustee and
the Board, as provided in the Agreement. equal to the Debt Service estimated by the Authority to be
payable during such Fiscal Year on such Projected Series.

Projected Series of Bonds: Any Series of Bonds described in an Authority Budget as anticipated to
be issued in the Fiscal Year to which such Authority Budget relates.

Rate Consultant: The independent accountant or firm of independent accountants, or a manage-
ment consultant or firm of Management consultants, or independent engineer or firm of independent
engineers, having, in any case, a recognized standing in the field of water and sewer system consulting
selected by the Auathority and satisfactory to the Board. The Rate Consultant may be the same firm as the
Consulting Engincer.

Rating Agencies: Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services and their
respective successors and assigns.

Rating Confirmation: A written confirmation of each Rating Agency to the effect that the rating
assigned to each of the Bonds rated by such Rating Agency will remain unchanged and will not be
withdrawn, suspended or reduced as a consequence of some act or oceurrence,

Redemption Price: When used with respect to a Bond or portion thereof, the principal amount
thereof plus the applicable premium, if any. payable upon cither optional or mandatory redemption
thereof pursuant to the Resolution.

Refundable Principal Installment: Any Principal Installment for any Series of Bonds which the
Authority intends to pay with moneys which are not Revenues, provided that such intent shall have been
expressed in the Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Series of Bonds and provided further that
such Principal Installment shall be a Refundable Principal Instaliment only through the date of the
Authority Budget adopted during the Fiscal Year immediately preceding the Fiscal Year in which such
Principal Installment comes due unless the Authority has delivered to the Trustee a certificate of an
Authorized Representative that it has made provision for the payment of such Principal Installment from
a source other than Revenues.

Refunding Bond: Any Bond authenticated and delivered on original issuance pursuant to Section
206 or Section 207 of the Resolution for the purpose of refunding any Outstanding Bonds or thereafter
authenticated and delivered in licu of or substitution for such Bond pursuant to the Resolution.

Reimbursement Obligation: The obligation of the Authority described in the Resolution to directly
reimburse the issuer of a Credit Facility for amounts paid by such issuer thereunder, whether or not such
obligation to so reimburse is evidenced by a promissory note or other similar instrument.

Required Deposits:  For any Fiscal Year, amounts, if any, payable into the Authority Expense Fund,
the Debt Service Reserve Fund and the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund but only to the extent such
payments are required to be made from Revenues pursuant to the Resolution,

Revenues shall mean (a) all the rents. fecs, charges. payments and other income and receipts derived
by the Board from users of the System. together with all operating aid therefor from any governmental
entity, federal. State or local, to the Board, (b) investment proceeds and proceeds of insurance received
by the Board (other than the proceeds of insurance with respect to the damage or destruction of all or any
portion of the System), (c) Subsidy Payments derived by the Authority, (d) amounts derived by the
Authority from a Counterparty pursuant to an Interest Rate Exchange Agreement. and (e) investment
proceeds derived from amounts on deposit in the Funds and Accounts established hereunder that are
deposited or retained in the Revenue Fund or the Local Water Fund, and but shall not include
(W) amounts required to be refunded because of billing or payment errors, (x) any amount attributable
to any of the foregoing sources described in clause (a) which (i) is expressly excluded by the Agreement
or the Lease, or (ii) is derived from a use of the System not directly related to the supply, treatment and
distribution of water to the consumers thereof or the collection. disposal or treatment of sewage, (y) any
amount from any governmental entity, federal, State or local, in aid of or for or with respect to the Costs
of Water Projects, other than Subsidy Payments, or (z)(i) fines (excluding interest on late payments which
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shall constitute Revenues). (ii) amounts from the use of water to generate electricity, (iii) amounts from
the State as a result of mandatory water discharges from reservoirs or (iv) amounts from the granting of
casements. licenses, rights-of-way or other interests in the real property constituting a part of the System.

Special Credit Facility: With respect to any Series of Bonds or portion thereof, a Credit Facility
(a) which provides funds for (i) the direct payment of the Principal Installments of and interest on such
Bonds when due or (ii) the payment of the Principal Installments of and interest on such Bonds in the
event amounts otherwise pledged to the payment thereof are not available when due or (iii) the payment
of the Tender Option Price of any Option Bond which may be tendered to the Authority for purchase or
payment in accordance with the Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Option Bond (in any case,
regardless of whether such Credit Facility provides funds for any other purpose) and (b) which (i) requires
the Authority to directly reimburse the issuer of such Credit Facility for amounts paid thereunder and
(ii) provides that such obligation is a Parity Reimbursement Obligation.

State: The State of New York.

State Revolving Fund: The New York State Water Pollution Control Revolving Fund established
pursuant to the State Revolving Fund Act.

State Revolving Fund Act:  Chapter 565 of the laws of New York of 1989, as amended.

Subordinated Indebtedness: Any bond, note or other evidence issued by the Authority in
furtherance of its corporate purposes under the Act and payable from the subordinated Indebtedness
Fund.

Subsidy Payments shall mean amounts payable to the Authority from any governmental entity,
federal, State or local, in connection with Bonds of the Authority.

Supplemental Resolution: A resolution of the Authority authorizing the issuance of a Series of
Bonds or otherwise amending or supplementing the Resolution.

System: The Water System and the Sewerage System, collectively, as such terms are defined in the
Act.

Tender Option Price: With respect to any Option Bond tendered for purchase or payment, an
amount equal to the principal amount thereof plus interest accrued and unpaid thereon from the
immediately preceding Bond Payment Date to the date of such tender.

Trustee: The trustee appointed by the Authority pursuant to the Resolution, and any Successors
thereto.

Variable Rate Bond: As of any date of determination, any Bond on which the interest rate borne
thercby may vary during any part of its remaining term.

Water Project: Any sewerage facility, water facility or water and sewerage facility, as the case may
be. including the planning, development, financing or construction thereof.

Summary of Certain Documents

The following are brief summaries of certain provisions of the Agreement, the Lease, the Authority
General Resolution. These summaries do not purport to be complete and are subject in all respects to the
provisions of. and are qualified in their entirety by, reference to the respective documents to which they
relate.

Summary of the Agreement

Financing of Water Projects. The Authority agrees to use its best efforts to finance all or a part of
the Cost of all Water Projects described in Appendix A to the Agreement. In consideration for the
Authority's issuance of the Bonds, the Board gives, grants, conveys and transfers to the Authority all of
its right, title and interest in the Revenues, including without limitation, all of its rights to collect and
receive said Revenues subject only to provisions of the Act, the Agreement and the Resolution permitting
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the application of said Revenues to the purposes therein set forth. The Board itself incurs no indebtedness
under the terms of the Agreement, Lease. Resolution or any other document exccuted in connection
therewith. (Secrions 2.1, 2.2 and 2.4)

Transfer of Funds. The Authority shall deposit the proceeds of cach Scries of Bonds with the
Trustee inaccordance with the provisions of the Resolution and the Supplemental Resolution authorizing
such Series: provided. however, that the portion of the proceeds designated to pay the Costs of any Water
Project shall be held only in the Construction Fund established pursuant to the Resolution.

The Authority shall authorize payment of such Costs in the manner set forth in the Resolution once
evidence thereof is provided in a Certificate signed by an Authorized Representative of the Board or City,
as the case may be. Neither the Authority nor the Trustee shall be required to provide funds to pay the
Costs of Water Projects from any source other than the Construction Fund, and neither the Authority nor
the Trustee shall pay 1o the City from such Fund any amount in excess ol that set aside (or the purposes
thereof. or for the Projects listed in Appendix A to the Agreement. (Sections 3.1 and 3.2)

Local Water Fund. The Board shall deposit all Revenues. as promptly as practicable after receipt.
into the Local Water Fund. There shall also be deposited in the Local Water Fund all amounts received
by the Board from the Trustee pursuant to the Resolution. (Section 4.1)

Establishment of Certain Funds and Application of Revenues in Local Water Fund. The Board
shall establish two special funds (in addition to the Local Water Fund) to be held by the Board at a
Depositary: the Board Expense Fund and the Operation and Maintenance Reserve Fund. with the
General Account therein. The Board shall hold such funds as trust funds and the amounts on deposit shall
only be applied for the purposes provided in the Agreement.

Beginning on the first day of cach month in cach Fiscal Year. the Board is required to apply the
Revenues in the Local Water Fund. first. to the Trustee for deposit in the Revenue Fund until the amount
on deposit in the Revenue Fund equals the Minimum Monthly Balance for such month and the Trustee
shall have received the amounts. it any, required to be deposited in the Authority Expense Fund. the Debt
Service Reserve Fund and the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund for such month. Thereafter. in such
month from the balance remaining in the Local Water Fund. the Board is required. after making provision
for Board Expensces. to pay to the City Vioth of the operating expenses for such Fiscal Year. After making
such payments. any amounts remaining in the Local Water Fund in cach month are applied daily (i) to
satisty the Cash Flow Requirement (if the required payments to the City for Operating Expenses have
been made). (i) to satisty required payments to the City for Operating Expenses (if the Cash Flow
Requirement has been satisfied) or (iii) proportionately. to the Trustee for deposit in the Revenue Fund
and to the City for the payment of Operating Expenses. until the total of all amounts deposited in the
Revenue Fund during such Fiscal Year equals the Cash Flow Requirement and all Operating Expenses
required to be paid shall have been paid. Thercafter, as long as the amount on deposit in the Revenue
Fund in cach month is equal to the Minimum Monthly Balance and the Cash Flow Requirement continues
to be met. all such amounts in the Local Water Fund shall be paid as follows: first. to the Authority until
the total of the amounts so paid cquals the principal of and interest on any bonds. notes or other
obligations of the Authority (other than Bonds. Bond Anticipation Notes, and Subordinated Indebted-
ness) payable within the then current Fiscal Year. together with all other amounts necessary to make the
required deposits to the reserve and other funds and amounts established for such bonds. notes or other
obligations: second. 1o the City until the amounts so paid are equal to the rental payment for such Fiscal
Year and the unsatisfied balance. if any. of the rental pavment for any prior Fiscal Year: and. third. to the
Operation and Maintcnance Reserve Fund. until the amount therein on deposit is cqual to the O&M
Reserve Requirement for such Fiscal Year. Any amounts remaining in the Local Water Fund on the last
day of cach Fiscal Year shall be paid to the General Account in the Operation and Maintenance Reserve
Fund. (Section 4.2)

Minimum Monthly Balance. The Minimum Monthly Balance shall be calculated as of the first day
of the month and shall be equal to the sum of:

(1) For cach Scrics of Bonds which is Outstanding during the current Fiscal Year, an amount
equal 10 the product obtained by multiplying (a) the difference between (1) the amount of interest
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due or projected to be due on the next succeeding Bond Payment Date for such Series and (2) the
amount. if any. held in the applicable subaccount for such Series in the Capitalized Interest Account
in the Debt Service Fund by (b) a fraction. the numerator of which is the number of full months since
the end of the month preceding the last Bond Payment Date for such Series (or, with respect to the
first Bond Payment Date for such Series. the number of full months since the last day of the month
preceding the date of issuance of such Series) and the denominator of which is the number of months
between Bond Payment Dates minus one (or, with respect to the first Bond Payment Date for a
Series. the number of months between the last day of the month preceding the date of issuance of
such Series and the first Bond Payment Date minus one): provided, however, that if this formula
would produce (A) a fraction greater than one, then the fraction shall be equal to one, or (B) a
denominator less than one. then the fraction shall be equal to one; plus

(ii) For each Series of Bonds which is Outstanding during the current Fiscal Year, an amount
equal to the Principal Installment due or projected to be duc on the next succeeding Bond Payment
Date for such Series which falls within twelve months or less on which a Principal Installment is due,
multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of full months since the last day of the
month preceding the last Bond Payment Date on which a Principal Installment was due (or, with
respect to the first such Bond Payment Date. twelve minus the number of full months to the first
Bond Payment Date on which a Principal Installment is due), and the denominator of which is
eleven; provided. however, that if this formula would produce a fraction greater than one, then the
fraction shall be equal to one. (Section 4.3)

Deposits to Operation and Maintenance Reserve Fund. There shall be deposited to the Operation
and Maintenance Reserve Fund in cach Fiscal Year from the sources described below the amount
required, if any, so that the amounts on dcposit therein satisfy the O&M Reserve Fund Requirement for
the ensuing Fiscal Year.

Deposits to the Operation and Maintenance Reserve Fund may be made from the proceeds of the
sale of Bonds of the Authority, from the Local Water Fund. or from any other moneys lawfully available
therefor, subject to the following limitations:

(i) The maximum deposit to the Operation and Maintenance Reserve Fund from the proceeds
of Bonds of the Authority, as of any time of calculation. may not exceed the O&M Reserve Fund
Requirement then in effect. reduced by the cumulative sum of prior deposits thereto from proceeds
of Bonds of the Authority.

(ii) Deposits to the Operation and Maintenance Reserve Fund from the Local Water Fund shall
be subject to the priorities established in Section 4.2 of the Agreement.

(iii) If there shall be a deficit in the Operation and Maintenance Reserve Fund on May 1 of any
Fiscal Year. and if as of such May 1 the Board docs not project that available Revenues will at least
equal the O&M Reserve Requirement for such Fiscal Year by June 30 of such Fiscal Year, then the
Board shall include in its Annual Budget for the ensuing Fiscal Year an amount sufficient, together
with other amounts available therefor, to at least cqual the O&M Reserve Fund Requirement for the
ensuing Fiscal Year.

If on July 1 of any Fiscal Year the amount on deposit in the Operation and Maintenance Reserve
Fund is less than the O&M Reserve Fund Requirement, such deficit shall (subject to paragraph (i) above)
be made up from the proceeds of the sale of Bonds issued during such Fiscal Year: provided, however, if,
prior to May 1 of such Fiscal Year such deficit has not been made up from Bond proceeds, the Board shall
include the amount of such deficit in its Annual Budget for the ensuing Fiscal Year and the amounts
necessary to restore such deficit shall be deposited in the Operation and Maintenance Reserve Fund.

Amounts required to be dcposited in the General Account shall be held separate and apart from
other amounts held in the Operation and Maintenance Reserve Fund and applied as described below.
(Section 4.4)

Application of Moneys in the Operation and Maintenance Reserve Fund. If on the first day of any
month the Board has not paid to the City an amount equal to the product of (i) the amount required to
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be paid for Operating Expenses pursuant to Section 8.1 of the Lease, multiplicd by (ii) a fraction the
numerator of which is the numbcer of months which have commenced during such Fiscal Year, and the
denominator of which is 12. the Board shall withdraw from the Operation and Maintenance Reserve Fund
and pay to the City. on demand. an amount equal to > of the amount so required to be paid pursuant
to Section 8.1 of the Lease, or the entire balance in such Fund if less than sufficient. Amounts on deposit
in the General Account may be applicd (i) to purposes provided for in Scction 4.2. (i) to the payment of
Bonds in accordance with Article XII of the Resolution or (iii) to the Costs of Water Projects, but shall
be retained therein to the extent required by the Annual Budget. (Section 4.5)

Application of Moneys in Board Expense Fund.  Amounts on deposit in the Board Expense Fund
shall be applicd by the Board solely for the purposes of paying expenses of the Board. in accordance with
the Annual Budget. (Section 4.6)

Application of Revenues After Default.  The Board has covenanted that if an “event of default™ (as
defined in the Resolution) shall occur, the Board shall pay or cause to be paid to the Trustec. upon its
request. all moneys and securitics then held by the Board in the Local Water Fund and thereafter the
Revenues as promptly as practicable after receipt. (Section 4.7)

Amounts Remaining. Any amounts received or held by the Authority or the Trustee pursuant to
the Resolution, any similar document or the Agreement after all Bonds and other evidences of
indebtedness have been paid in full or arc no longer Outstanding and after payment of all other
obligations and e¢xpenses of the Authority. or provision for payment thereof has been made. shall be paid
to the City.

Any payments by the City to the Water Board pursuant to Section 1045-h(3) of the Act shall be
confined to consideration for the sale of goods or the rendering of services by the Water Board to the City
pursuant to the Lease or the Agreement as contemplated by the Act. (Section 4.8)

Rate Covenant. The Board has covenanted and agreed to establish. fix and revise fees. rates or
other charges for the use of or services furnished by the System which, together with any other available
funds. are adequate to provide for (i) the timely payment of the Principal Installments of and interest on
all Bonds and the principal of and intcrest on any other indebtedness of the Authority payable from
Revenues, (i) the proper operation and maintenance of the System, (iii) all other payments required for
the System not otherwise provided for and (iv) all other payvments required pursuant to the Agreement
and the Leasc. Without intending to limit the generality of the foregoing. the Board has also covenanted
to establish and collect rates. fees and charges sufficient in each Fiscal Year so that Revenues collected in
such Fiscal Year will be at least equal to the sum of (i) 115% of estimated Aggregate Debt Service and
Projected Debt Service payable in such Fiscal Year (excluding any Refundable Principal Installment if
payable from funds held in trust therefor and assuming with respeci to Variable Rate Bonds that the
effective rate of interest is that which the Authority determines so long as such rate is not less than the
rate such Bonds bear at the time Aggregate Debt Service is determined), (i) 100% of the Operating
Expenses and Authority Expenses payable in such Fiscal Year and (iii) 100% of the amount necessary to
pay the other Required Deposits for such Fiscal Year. However. a failure to generate such Revenues does
not constitute an “event of default™ if the Board takes timely action to correct any such deficit. The Board
shall review. at least annually. such rates, fees and charges to determine whether such rates. fees and
charges arc. or will be. sufficient to meet the requirements thercof and shall promptly take action to cure
or avoid any deficiency. Except to the extent required by Section [045-j of the Act. as in effect on July 24,
1984, with regard to the requirement that tax exempt organizations be charged for service provided by the
System or by cxisting agreements (including any successor agreements with Jamaica Water). the Board
will not furnish or supply any product. use or scrvice of the System free of charge or at a nominal charge.
(Section 0.1)

Consulting Enginecr and Rate Consultant. The Authority shall cmploy a Consulting Engincer and
a Rate Consultant whose duties. respectively. shall be to make any certificates and perform any other acts
required or permitted of the Consulting Engincer and the Rate Consultant under the Agreement and the
Resolution. If so determined by the Authority. the same person or firm may perform the duties and
functions of the Consulting Engincer and the Rate Consultant.
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In each Fiscal Year. the Consulting Engineer and the Rate Consultant shall make an examination of,
and shall report to the Authority, the Board, the City and the Trustee, on the properties and operations
of the System. The report of the Rate Consultant shall set forth among other findings, the Rate
Consultant’s recommendation as to any necessary or advisable revisions of rates, fees and charges for the
ensuing Fiscal Year and such other advice and recommendation as it may deem desirable. The Consulting
Engineer’s report shall set forth its findings as to whether the System has been maintained in good repair
and sound operating condition, and its estimate of the amount. if any, required to be expended to place
such properties in such condition and the details of such expenditures and the approximate time required
therefor. The City covenants that if any such report of the Consulting Engineer shall set forth that the
properties of the System have not been maintained in good repair and sound operating condition, it will
promptly restore the properties to good repair and sound operating condition with all expedition
practicable. (Section 6.2)

Covenant to Operate and Maintain System. The City has covenanted that it shall. at all times:

(a) in accordance with the advice and recommendations of the Consulting Engineer, operate the
System properly and in a sound and economical manner and maintain, preserve. and keep the same
preserved and kept with the appurtenances and every part and parcel thereof, in good repair, working
order and condition, and from time to time make, or cause to be made. all necessary and proper
repairs. replacements and renewals so that at all times the operation of the System may be properly
and advantageously conducted, regardless of any failure on the part of the Board to make the
payments to the City required by Section 8.1 of the Lease: provided, however. that nothing contained
in the Agreement shall require the City to operate, maintain, preserve, repair. replace. renew or
reconstruct any part of the System if there shall be filed with the Board, the Authority and the
Trustee (i) a certificate of the Commissioner acting as the Authorized Representative of the City
stating that in the opinion of the City abandonment of operation of such part of the System will not
adversely affect the operation of the System or the amount of Revenues derived therefrom and is not
prejudicial to the interests of the Board. the Authority or the Bondholders and (ii) a Certificate of
the Consulting Engineer concurring with such statement:

(b) enforce the rules and regulations governing the operation, use and services of the System
cstablished from time to time by the Board or the City:

(c) observe and perform all of the terms and conditions contained in the Act, and comply with
all valid acts, rules, regulations, orders and directions of any legislative, executive, administrative or
judicial body having competent jurisdiction of the City or the System; provided, however, that the
failure of the City to comply with the covenant contained in this subsection (c) for any period shall
not constitute a default on its part so long as the City (i) is taking reasonable and timely steps to
permit compliance and (ii) the City shall have delivered to the Board and to the Authority a
Certificate of the Consulting Engineer which (1) sets forth in reasonable detail the facts and
circumstances attendant to such non-compliance, (2) sets forth the steps being taken by the City to
permit compliance. (3) sets forth the estimated date on which the City will be in compliance and (4)
states that in the opinion of the Consulting Engineer such non-compliance during the period
described will not adversely affect the operation of the System or the amount of Revenues to be
derived therefrom; and

(d) not create or suffer to be created any lien or charge upon the System or any part thereof
except for Permitted Encumbrances. (Section 6.3)

Annual Budget. On May 1 of each year (or on such later date as the Authority, the Board and the
City may agree) the Authority shall deliver to the Board a certified copy of the Authority Budget for the
ensuing Fiscal Year showing the Cash Flow Requirement for such Fiscal Year. Based upon the
information contained in (a) the Authority Budget. (b) the City’s certification pursuant to Section 8.3 of
the Lease and (c) the Certificate of the Consulting Engineer delivered to the Board pursuant to Section
8.3 of the Lease (collectively. the “Budget Documents™). the Board shall prepare the Annual Budget for
the ensuing Fiscal Year. In addition to the information contained in the Budget Documents the Board
shall also make provision in the Annual Budget for Board Expenses for the ensuing Fiscal Year. for the
amount. if any, required to be deposited in the Operation and Maintenance Reserve Fund in accordance
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with Section 4.4 of the Agreement, and for the application of the amounts in the General Account therein.
Thereafter. but in no event later than 15 days after the date of publication of the Exccutive Budget of the
City. the Board shall adopt such Annual Budget. Promptly after adoption of the Annual Budget, and in
no cvent later than June 10 (or such other date as the Authority, the Board and the City may agree) of
each year. the Board shall establish the rates, fees and charges for the use of the System [or the ensuing
Fiscal Year. The Board may from time to time, either before or after commencement of the Fiscal Year
to which it relates. amend the Annual Budget. but (except for its own expenses) only in accordance with
and after receipt of amended Budget Documents. It as of the first day of any Fiscal Year an Annual
Budget has not been adopted. the Annual Budget for the immediately preceding Fiscal Year shall be the
Annual Budget for such Fiscal Year until a new Annual Budget is adopted. (Section 6.4)

Tax Exemption. The City. the Authority and the Board have covenanted that so long as any Bonds
shall be Outstanding, no one will take any action, nor fail to take any action, which, if taken or not taken,
as the case may be. would adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the interest payable on the Bonds then
Outstanding,. the interest on which is excluded from gross income under the Internal Revenue Code of
1986. (Section 6.5(b))

Discontinuance of Service. The Board has covenanted to enforce or cause the City to enforce the
rules and regulations providing for discontinuance of. or disconnection from, the supply of water or the
provision of sewer service, or both, as the case may be, for non-payment of fees, rents, rates or other
charges imposed by the Board, provided that such discontinuance or disconnection shall not be carried
out except in the manner and upon the notice as is required of a waterworks corporation pursuant to
Sections 89(b)(3)(a)-(c) and 116 of the Public Service Law of the State. (Section 0.7)

Covenant of City as to Rates and Charges. Thc City has covenanted that, upon the issuance of the
Bonds by the Authority, the City will not thereafter levy user fees. rents and other charges with respect
to the System until all Bonds are paid or are no longer Outstanding pursuant to the terms of the
Resolution: provided, however, that the City may levy ad valorem taxes to pay the costs and expenses of
the System or to pay the principal of and interest on any general obligation bonds of the City issued to
finance the System or any part thereof. (Section 6.9)

Books and Records. Each of the Authority and the Board shall keep or cause to be kept proper
books of rccord and account in which complete and correct entries shall be made of all transactions
relating to their corporate purposes under the Act. In accordance with Section 1045-y of the Act. the
Authority and the Board shall annually submit to the Mayor, the Comptroller and the Director of
Management and Budget of the City a detailed report concerning their activities for the Fiscal Year. In
addition. the Authority and the Board shall submit to the Mayor, the Comptroller and the Director of
Management and Budget of the City audited annual financial statements of the Authority and the Board
together with a report thereon of an accountant satisfactory to the Board. (Section 6.11)

Liens. Until the Bonds or other evidences of indebtedness issued by the Authority for its purposes
under the Act have been paid in full or provision has been made therefor in accordance with the
Resolution or similar document. the Agreement provides that the Board shall not create. and, to the
extent it has the power to do so, shall not permit to be created, any licn upon or pledge of the Revenues
except the lien and pledge thereon created by the Act. (Section 6.12)

Security Interests. Except to the extent provided in the Act. neither the Board nor the Authority
may grant any Bondholder any security interest in any of the assets or Properties of the Board.
(Section 6.13)

Financing through State Revolving Fund. In connection with the financing of Water Projects by the
Authority with funds provided from the State Revolving Fund. the City may enter into a Project
Financing Agreement or Agreements among DEC, the Corporation and the Authority and make in any
such agrecement certain representations, warrantics. covenants and agreements. (Section 6.16)

Agreement of the State. Under the provisions of the Agreement. the parties pledge and agree, for
and on behalf of the State as provided in the Act. that the State will not alter or limit the rights vested
by the Act in the Authority or the Board to fulfill the terms of any agreement made with or for the benefit
of the Bondholders, or in any way impair the rights and remedies of Bondholders, until the Bonds.
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together with the interest thereon. interest on any unpaid installment of interest, and all costs and
expenses incurred in any action or proceeding by or on behalf of such holders. are fully met and
discharged. (Section 7.1)

Events of Default and Remedies. An “event of default” or a “default™ means any one of the
following cvents: (i) failure by the Board to pay the Authority those amounts required under
the Agreement; (ii) failure of the City or the Board to observe any covenant, term or condition of the
Agreement (other than the payments the Board shall make to the Authority) and such failure shall have
continued for a period of sixty (60) days after written notice. specifying such failure and requesting that
it be remedied. is given to the City or the Board. or both, by the Authority unless the Authority shall agree
in writing to extend such time prior to its expiration, provided such extension shall not be unreasonably
withheld if the City or the Board has instituted and is diligently pursuing corrective action which cannot
be completed within the applicable period: (iii) the Authority shall file a petition, or otherwise seek relief,
under any federal or State bankruptey or similar law: and (iv) the terms. conditions and security provided
under the Agreement and the Resolution or the respective provisions of the Act pursuant to which the
Resolution has been adopted or the Bonds have been issued or entered into (including, without limitation,
the provisions under which the lien upon the Revenues has been created pursuant to the Agreement and
the Resolution and the provisions establishing the powers and obligations of the Board and the
relationship of the Authority to the Board and the City) shall be materially and adversely limited, altered
or impaired by any legislative action or any final judgment. (Section 8.1)

Whenever an event of default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Authority and the Trustee
may take whatever legal action may appear necessary or desirable to: (i) collect the payments then due
and as they thereafter become due and (ii) so long as any Bonds are Outstanding, enforce performance
and observance of any obligation or covenant of the City or the Board under the Agreement. In addition,
if the Board defaults in making the payments to the Authority required under the Agreement as a result
of its failure to impose sufficient fees, rates. rents or other charges, the Authority may petition for the
appointment of a receiver to administer the affairs of the Board in order to achieve Revenues sufficient
to make such payments by cstablishing fees, rates, rents or other charges at least sufficient therefor. The
remedies conferred upon or reserved to the Authority in respect of any event of default are not exclusive
of other available remedies. but shall be in addition to every other remedy given under the Agreement
or existing at law or in equity or by statute. (Sections 8.2 and 8.3)

Termination. The Agreement shall terminate and the covenants and other obligations contained
therein shall be discharged and satisfied. when (i) payment of all indebtedness of the Authority has been
made or provided for in accordance with the Resolution or similar document securing such indebtedness
and (ii) either all payments required thereunder have becn made in full. or provision for such payments
satisfactory to the Authority has been made, or the City pays or assumes all liabilities, obligations. duties.
rights and powers of the Authority under the Agreement. (Section 9.1)

Amendments. The parties to the Agreement may enter into any amendment, change or modifica-
tion of the Agreement (if in writing. signed by each of the parties and consented to in writing by the
Trustee if required by the Resolution) including, without limitation, amendments to Appendix A to the
Agrecment; provided that the parties shall enter into no such amendment. change or modification which
materially adversely affects the rights of the holders of any Bonds by modifying or revoking certain
enumerated provisions of the Agreement without first complying with the applicable provisions of the
Resolution. (Section 10.1)

Conflicts. The Agreement provides that its provisions shall not change or in any manner alter the
terms of the Resolution. or the security, rights or remedies of the Trustee or the Bondholders. In the event
any provision of the Agreement conflicts at any time. or in any manner, with the provisions of the
Resolution or any Bond. the provisions of the Resolution or Bond shall be controlling and conflicting
provisions of the Agreement shall be disregarded. (Section 12.1)

Summary of the Lease

Term of Lease and Demise of Leased Property. The City has leased the Leased Property to the
Board for the term of the Lease (the “Lease Term™). The Lease Term commenced on the Effective Date
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(July 1. 1985) and continues until the later of the 40th anniversary of the Effective Date or the date on
which all bonds. notes or other obligations of the Authority are paid in full or provision for such payment
is made pursuant to the resolution. trust indenture or other instrument under which such bonds, notes or
other obligations are issued. During the Lease Term the Board may usc the Lecased Property only for its
corporate purposes and upon the terms and conditions contained in the Lease.

The Leased Property includes (whether now in use or hercafter acquired. and whether or not located
within the boundaries of the City) all of the City's right. title and interestin: (i) the City’s sewerage system.,
including but not limited to all plants. structures. equipment and other real and personal property or rights
therein acquired. rehabilitated or constructed (including all work in progress as soon as commenced) and
used or to be used for the purpose of collecting, treating, pumping. neutralizing. storing and disposing of
sewage. including. but not limited to. main. collecting. outlet or other sewers. pumping stations,
groundwater recharge basins. backflow prevention devices. sludge dewatering facilities. vessels, barges,
clarifiers. filters and phosphorous removal cquipment. vehicles and other property used in connection
with the sewer system: (ii) the Citys water system. including but not limited to all plants, structures and
other real and personal property or rights therein, acquired. rehabilitated or constructed (including all
work in progress as soon as commenced) and used or to be used for the purpose of supplying. distributing,
accumulating or treating water, including. but not limited to. reservoirs. basins. dams, canals. aqueducts,
pipelines. mains, pumping stations. water distribution systems. intake systems, water-works, sources of
water supply. purification or filtration plants. water meters and rights of flowage or diversion, vehicles and
other property used in connection with the water system: and (iii) any other matcrials. supplies. plans and
property contained in the above-mentioned plants and structures incidental to, or necessary or useful and
convenient for, the operation of such facilities: provided. however. that the Leased Property shall not
include the City's right. title and interest in the following: (i) any property or rights of the City the
conveyance of which pursuant to the Lease would cause a reversion to or in favor of. or permit a reentry
by or in favor of. any third party: (ii) all mines and mincerals whatsoever (but not including surface or
subsurface waters) now or hereafter found and discovered. crops and timber. on or under the lands to be
conveyed pursuant to the Lease: with power and authority for the City to perform certain mineral
extraction and agricultural/timber activities: provided. however. that the City shall not undertake any such
activities which interfere with the operation. maintenance or collection of Revenues of the System.
(Section 2.1)

Right of City to Enter Leased Property. The City retains the right to enter upon any portion of the
Leased Property. to use any property not constituting a part thercof which is located in. across or upon
the Leased Property or for any purpose unless. in the reasonable judgment of the Board. such entry or
use would adversely affect the collection of Revenues. (Section 2.2)

Substitution of Board for City. Where necessary or desirable and to the extent permitted by law. the
City and the Board agree to use their best efforts to substitute the Board for the City with respect to any
application or proceedings filed or commenced in relation to the Leased Property with the various State
and federal regulatory bodies having jurisdiction. (Section 2.5)

Indemnification. The City agrees, to the extent permitted by law and subject to certain conditions,
to hold the Board harmless from any and all liability. loss or damage from or in connection with any act
the Board does or omits in the exercise of its powers if taken or omitted in good faith and in pursuance
of its corporate purposes. (Sections 3.1, 3.2 and 7.2)

Operation and Maintenance of the Leased Property. The City shall administer and operate the
Leased Property. maintain the Leased Property in good and safc order and condition and make all repairs
therein. The City’s duty to “maintain” and “repair” shall include all necessary repairs. replacements,
renewals. alterations and additions. whether structural. non-structural. ordinary or extraordinary and its
duty to “administer” shall include. without limitation. the enforcement of regulations of the Board and the
City relating to the use of the System. However. the Lease shall not impose any obligation or liability upon
the City for the administration. operation, maintenance and repair of the System not previously imposed
upon it in connection with its prior operation and maintenance of the System. Both the Board and the City
shall use all reasonable care to prevent the occurrence of waste, damage or injury to the Leased Property.
The System shall be used and operated and maintained in accordance with all applicable laws, rules and
regulations. (Sections 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3)

C-15



Construction and Acquisition. The Board authorizes the City to perform the construction and
ceffectuation of any Water Project specified in the Agreement and the City may incur Costs in connection
therewith. The City may acquire all real and personal property, or any interest therein, necessary or useful
for the construction or effectuation of a Water Project: provided that all such property or interest acquired
by the City through the exercise of the power of eminent domain shall be taken in the name of the City.
(Sections 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3)

Billing and the Levy of Water and Sewer Charges. The City has agreed to provide billing services
to the Board. Such services include but are not limited to: (i) notification to users of the System of the
water and sewer charges levied by the Board. (11) collection of such charges (including the City's use of
its power of enforcement and collection of unpaid taxes under the laws of the State to enforce and collect
any delinquent water and sewer charges from the persons and property liable therefor) and (iii) main-
tenance of the books. records and accounts of the billing systems. (Sections 6.1 and 6.2)

Late Payments. All latc pavments of water and sewer charges are the property of the Board and
shall be collected by the City on behalf of the Board. Notwithstanding the forcgoing, the Board has
assigned to the City all of its rights and interest in and to all outstanding charges levied and uncollected
on all properties at the time title thereto is vested in the City pursuant to in rem proceedings in
consideration for the City’s payment to the Board. in cach Fiscal Year after the Effective Date, of an
amount equal to 2% of such outstanding charges (unless. during the Lease Term, the City and the Board
mutually agree on a different procedure for allocating such outstanding charges). (Section 6.3)

Discontinuance of Billing Services. 1f cither the Citv or the Board no longer desires that the City
provide the Board with billing services. the party desiring termination shall give written notice ol such fact
to the other party at least two years prior to the termination. Notwithstanding such termination of billing
scrvices. Section 6.2 of the Lease shall remain in full foree and cffect. (Section 6.4)

Legal Services. The Board has hired the Citv’s Law Department to provide it with legal services.
However. the Board may hire a different attorney or firm of attorneys to provide it with legal services. If
the Board retains counscel to defend a claim against it without the prior approval of the Corporation
Counsel of the City (which approval shall not be unrcasonably withheld), the Board shall not be entitled
to the indemnitfication from the City provided in Article HI of the Lease with respect to such claim, unless
the City clects in writing to provide such indemnilication. (Sections 7.1 and 7.2)

Payments of Costs by the Board. The Board has agreed to pay to the City amounts sufficient to:
(1) pay the cost of administration, maintenance, repair and operation of the Leased Property. including
overhead costs incurred by the City attributable to the Leased Property (but less the amount of any
governmental operating aid reccived or receivable within the current Fiscal Year with respect to the
System), the cost of materials and supplies. and the amount of any judgment or settlement paid by the
City arising out of a tort claim (but only il the costs of such claim are not otherwise reimbursed. the City’s
liability for such claim is related to Construction of a Water Project or operation or maintenance of the
System and the costs of such claims do not exceed for any Fiscal Year 5% of the aggregate revenues shown
on the Board’s last year-end audited financial statements): (ii) reimburse the City for capital Costs
incurred by the City in the Construction of Water Projects (if requested by the City and not otherwise
recimbursed) including. without limitation, the payment of any judgment or scttlement arising out of a
contract claim related to the Construction of any Water Project: (iii) pay the cost of billing and collection
services provided by the City: (iv) pay the cost of legal services provided by the City: and (v) reimburse
the City for the compensation, or the costs of the scrvices, of anv City officers and emplovees provided
on a full-time or part-time basis to the Board. (Section 8.1)

Base Rental Payments. In addition. the Board shall pay the City a rental payment for the System,
but only to the extent requested by the City. and not to exceed the greater of (i) the principal and interest
payablc on general obligation bonds issued by the City for water and scwer purposes and certified by the
City to be paid within such Fiscal Year. or (ii) 15% of the amount of principat and interest payable on the
Bonds of the Authority and certificd by the Authority to be paid within such Fiscal Year. (Section 8.2)

Method of Payment. The City shall certify within five business days after publication of the City's
Executive Budget for the ensuing Fiscal Year the (i) amount which the City reasonably anticipates it will
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expend in conncection with the costs described in Section 8.2 of the Lease and (i) the amount of the
payments described in Scction 8.1 of the Lease: provided that. prior to the Board’s payment to the City
the Board shall have received. in addition 1o such certification by the City, a certificate of the Consulting
Enginecr to the effect that such amounts certified by the City for such pavments and costs are rcasonable
and appropriate. Upon the Board's payment of all such amounts so certified or requested and any other
payments required under the Act. or. after provisions for their payment have been made, the Board shall
pay to the City, as Additional Rent in cach Fiscal Year. any surplus of funds received. (Secrion 8.3)

Disposition of Property. The Board agrees that it will not sell, lease, sublease, assign, transfer.
encumber (other than Permitted Encumbrances) or otherwise dispose of any part of the Leased Property,
or any other real property or personal property which may be acquired by the Board, or its interest in the
Lease. without the prior written approval of the City.

The City will not sell. transfer or otherwise disposc of real property or personal property included in
the Leased Property without the Board's written consent. In the case of personal property, the value of
which is less than $1 million per unit (or of greater value if the Board designates). the Board will adopt
rules and procedures for the expedited disposition thereof. Upon the City's request to dispose of any real
property or personal property valued in excess of $1 million, the Board will give such consent only upon
receipt of a certificate signed by the Consulting Engincer to the effect that such real or personal property
may be disposed of without materially adversely affecting the Revenues of the System or impairing the
ability of the Board to make any payments required by the Lease or the Agreement or any other
agreement to which it may be a party or be bound. The City may also. with the prior written consent of
the Board. grant intercsts in the Leased Property which. in the reasonable judgment of the Board, do not
interfere with the operation and maintenance of the System and the collection of the Revenues from the
System. (Section 11.1)

Encumbrances.  The Board may not encumber the Leased Property without the prior written
approval of the City. The City may grant temporary licenses for use of the Leased Property which do not
interfere with the operation and maintenance of the System or the collection of Revenues therefrom.
(Section 11.3)

Summary of the Resolution

Terms used in this Summary of the Resolution shall have the meanings  ascribed thereto in
"APPENDIX C—GLOSSARY AND SUMMARY OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS—Glossary ™.

Pledge of Revenues and Funds. The Authority pledges for the payment of the Principal
Installments or Redemption Price of and any interest on the Bonds, in accordance with their terms and
the provisions of the Resolution: (i) all Revenues. (i1) all moneys or sccurities in any of the Funds and
Accounts created under the Resolution, except thal moneys or securities on deposit in a Special Account
are pledged only to the Series of Bonds to which such Account relates and moneys or sceurities on deposit
in the Common Account are pledged only to the Bonds for which a Special Account has not been
established pursuant to the Resolution, and (iii) all other moneys and securities to be received. held or
set aside by the Authority or by any Fiduciary pursuant to the Resolution: subject only to the provisions
of the Resolution and the Agrecment permitting the application of such amounts for or to the purposcs
and on the terms and conditions thercin set forth. It is the intention of the Authority that. to the fullest
extent permitted by law. such pledge shall be valid and binding from the time when it is made: that the
Revenues, moneys. sccurities and other funds so pledged. and then or thereafter received by the
Authority. shall immediately be subject to the lien of such pledge: and that the obligation to perform the
contractual provisions thercin contained shall have priority over any or all other obligations and liabilitics
of the Authority and shall be valid and binding as against all partics having claims of any kind in tort,
contract or otherwise against the Authority. irrespective of whether such parties have notice thercof.

As further security for the payment of the Bonds, the Authority, under the Resolution. assigns,
transters and pledges 1o the Trustee all of its rights and interests under and pursuant to the Agreement
(excluding rights to notice and other procedural rights. its right to indemnification and rights and interests
not material to Bondholders). including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the present and
continuing right: (i) to claim, collect or reccive from the Board. all Revenues thereunder. (ii) to bring
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actions and proceedings thereunder for enforcement of such right of collection. and (iii) to do any and all
things which the Authority is or may become entitled to do under the Agrecment: provided that such
assignment shall not impair or diminish any obligation of the Authority under the Agreement.

The Bonds are special obligations of the Authority payable solely from the Revenues and other
amounts described in the Resolution and do not and will not constitute an indebtedness of the State, the
City or the Board and neither the State. the City nor the Board shall be in any way liable thercon.
(Sections 203 and 501)

Establishment of Funds and Accounts. The Resolution establishes the following Funds:
(1) Construction Fund:
(2) Revenue Fund:
(3) Debt Service Fund:
(4) Authority Expense Fund:
(5) Debt Service Reserve Fund:
(6) Subordinated Indebtedness Fund:
(7) Surplus Fund: and
(8) Arbitrage Rebate Fund.

The Resolution establishes in the Debt Service Reserve Fund a separate account known as the
~Common Account”™, and provides that any Supplemental Resolution which authorizes a Special Credit
Facility may establish one or more “Special Accounts™ in the Debt Service Reserve Fund. The Resolution
also establishes in the Debt Service Reserve Fund a separate account to be known as the “Capitalized
Interest Account™.

The Trustee shall hold all of the Funds and Accounts, except the Authority Expense Fund, which
shall be held by the Authority.

The Trustee is directed to make withdrawals and transfers from the Funds and Accounts established
by the Resolution in order to comply with any agreement entered into upon or after the date of issuance
of the Authority’s Fiscal 1987 Series C Bonds providing for the rebate of certain arbitrage carnings to the
United States. (Section 502)

Construction Fund. The Authority shall deposit from time to time in the Construction Fund the net
proceeds from the sale of cach Series of Bonds and make the deposits in the Funds and Accounts required
by the applicable Supplemental Resolutions. The Authority shall also deposit from time to time in the
Construction Fund any other amounts required to be deposited therein pursuant to the Resolution or the
Agreement. including amounts reccived by the Authority for or in connection with the System and
determined by the Authority to be deposited therein. Any proceeds of insurance maintained by the Board
or the City against physical loss of or damage to the System. or of contractors’ performance bonds
pertaining to the construction of the System. shall also be paid into the Construction Fund.

Except as otherwise provided. amounts in the Construction Fund may only be expended to pay Costs
of Water Projects (including Costs of Issuance). The Trustee shall make payments from the Construction
Fund, cxcept as otherwise provided. only upon receipt of a Disbursement Request signed by an
Authorized Representative of the Authority.

To the extent that other monceys are not available therefor in any other Fund or Account. amounts
in the Construction Fund shall be applied to the payment of principal of and interest on Bonds when due.
(Section 503)

Allocation of Revenues—Revenue Fund.  The Authority shall cause all Revenues received from the
Board pursuant to the Agreement or otherwise to be paid to the Trustee and deposited promptly upon
receipt in the Revenue Fund. There shall also be deposited in the Revenue Fund all other amounts
required by the Resolution or the Agreement to be so deposited. (Section 504)
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Payments Into Certain Funds. From the Revenues in the Revenue Fund. the Trustee shall make,
as soon as practicable in cach month, the following deposits in the following order:

(i) to the Debt Service Fund all such amounts until the amount therein on deposit in such month
equals the Minimum Monthly Balance for such month for all Series of Bonds Outstanding:

(it) from the balance. if any, remaining in such month after making the deposits required in (i)
above. to the Authority Expense Fund the entire balance until the total on deposit therein in such
month is equal to the product obtained by multiplying (A) the sum of the Authority Expenses for the
then current Fiscal Year plus (if included in the Authority Budget for the then current Fiscal Year)
an amount (the “Rescrve for Expenses™) equal to one-sixth (“oth) of such Authority Expenses by (B)
a fraction. the numerator of which is 12 minus the number of full months. excluding the month of
calculation, remaining in the Fiscal Year. and the denominator of which is 12:

(iit) from the balance. if any. remaining after making the deposits required in (i) and (11) above,
first. to the Common Account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund. the amount. if any, necessary to
make the total on deposit in the Common Account cqual to the Debt Service Reserve Requirement
for the Bonds to which such Common Account relates or. if less than sufficient. the cntirc balance
and. second. to cach Special Account until the amount therein on deposit equals the Debt Service
Reserve Requirement (or the Bonds 1o which cach Special Account relates: provided, however, if the
balance remaining is less than sufficicnt to credit in full each Special Account, credit shall be made
pro rata among all Special Accounts in the same ratio as the Debt Service Reserve Requirement
related to such Special Account bears to the sum of the Debt Service Reserve Requirements for all
of the Bonds related to the Special Accounts; and

(iv) from the balance. if any. remaining after making the deposits required in (i), (i) and (iii)
above, to the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund the amount required to be deposited in accordance
with the Authority Budget. or the entire balance. if less than sufficient.

Beginning with the first day of each Fiscal Year, the Trustee shall calculate the amounts deposited in
the Revenue Fund on a daily basis until the total of all amounts deposited therein during such Fiscal Year
is at least equal to the Cash Flow Requirement. On such date. if any. the Trustee is directed to give the
notice to the Authority and the Board provided in Scction 4.3(b) of the Agrcement. Thereafter, during
cach Fiscal Year. no further Revenues shall be paid to the Trustee pursuant to paragraph Fourth of
Section 4.2(c) of the Agreement so long as the Cash Flow Requirement. as the same may be revised from
time to time. continues to be met. (Section 505)

Debt Service Fund.  The Trustee shall. for each Scries of Bonds Outstanding. pay from the Debt
Service Fund the amounts due on cach Bond Payment Date for the payment of the Principal Installments,
if any, and from the moneys in the Debt Service Fund. including moneys in the Capitalized Interest
Account in such Fund. interest on the Outstanding Bonds and on the redemption date or date of
purchase, the amounts required for the payment of accrued interest on Bonds to be redeemed or
purchased on such date unless the payment of such accrued interest shall be otherwise provided.

The Trustee may. and if so directed by an Authorized Representative of the Authority shall, prior to
the forty-fifth day preceding the due date of cach Sinking Fund Installment, apply the amounts
accumulated in the Debt Service Fund for such Sinking Fund Installment, together with any interest on
the Bonds for which such Sinking Fund Installment was established: (1) to the purchase of Bonds of like
Series and maturity at prices (including any brokerage and other charges) not exceeding the Redemption
Price payable for such Bonds when such Bonds are redeemable with such Sinking Fund Installment plus
unpaid interest accrued or (i) to the redemption of such Bonds. if redeemable by their terms, at or below
said Redemption Price. Upon such purchase or redemption of any Bond. the Trustee shall then credit an
amount equal to the principal of the Bond so purchased or redeemed toward the next Sinking Fund
Installments thereafter to become due and the amount of any cxcess over the amount of such Sinking
Fund Installment shall be credited against future Sinking Fund Installments in direct chronological order.

In any event. the Trustee shall. as soon as practicable after the forty-fifth day preceding the due date
of any such Sinking Fund Installment, call for redemption a sufficient amount of Bonds of like Series and
maturity to complete the retirement of the principal amount specified for such Sinking Fund Installment
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of such Bonds whether or not it then has moneys in the Debt Service Fund to pay the applicable
Redemption Price thereof on the redemption date. The Trustee shall apply to the redemption of
the Bonds on each such redemption date the amount required for the redemption of such Bonds.
(Sections 506 and 514)

Authority Expense Fund. The Authority shall apply amounts credited to the Authority Expense
Fund to the payment of Authority Expenses. Any moneys in the Authority Expense Fund which the
Authority determines are in excess of that needed to meet the sum of the unpaid Authority Expenses for
such Fiscal Year plus (if such amount was included in the Authority Budget for such Fiscal Year) the
Reserve for Expenses. shall be applied toward any deficiencies in the following Funds and Accounts in the
order stated: the Debt Service Fund. Debt Service Reserve Fund and Subordinated Indebtedness Fund.
Any remaining amounts shall be credited to the Revenue Fund. (Section 507)

Debt Service Reserve Fund. The Resolution establishes a Debt Service Reserve Fund and a
Common Account therein. In addition. the Resolution provides that any Supplemental Resolution which
provides for a Special Credit Facility to secure the principal. interest or Tender Option Price of any Bonds
may establish one or more “Special Accounts™ in the Debt Service Reserve Fund. From the proceeds of
cach Series of Bonds there shall be deposited in the Debt Service Reserve Fund the amount, if any,
necessary to make the amount on deposit therein equal to the Debt Service Reserve Requirement, after
giving effect to the issuance of such Bonds: and all such amounts will be credited to the Common Account,
unless a Supplemental Resolution requires a deposit in a Special Account. Amounts on deposit in the
Common Account will be applied. to the extent necessary, to pay the Principal Installments of and interest
on the Bonds: provided, however, that the amounts in the Common Account may not be applied to pay
the Principal Installments or Tender Option Price of or interest on Bonds for which such payments are
secured by a Special Credit Facility, if the Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Bonds has
established a Special Account. Likewise, amounts in any Special Account may not be applied to pay the
Principal Installments of or interest on any Bond for which such payments may be made from the
Common Account. Amounts on deposit in each of the Accounts in the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall
be applied. to the extent other funds are not available in the Surplus Fund. the Subordinated Indebtedness
Fund and the Authority Expense Fund, to pay the Principal Installments of. and interest on the Bonds to
which such Account relates when due. Amounts so applied shall be derived first from cash or Investment
Securities on deposit. and second from draws and demands on Financial Guaranties.

If. as of June 30 of each year. the amount in any Account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund exceeds
the applicable Debt Service Reserve Requirement after giving effect to any Financial Guaranty deposited
in such Fund. the Trustee shall. on the first business day of the following Fiscal Year. withdraw from such
Account the amount of any excess therein over the applicable Debt Service Reserve Requirement as of
the date of such withdrawal for deposit into (i) the Arbitrage Rebate Fund. the amount estimated by the
Authority to be required by the Code to be rebated to the Department of the Treasury. (ii) the Surplus
Fund. the amount required to be deposited therein in accordance with the Authority Budget. and (iii) the
Revenue Fund. the amount of any excess then remaining in the Debt Service Reserve Fund over the
applicable Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement.

Whenever the amount (exclusive of Financial Guaranties) in all of the Accounts in the Debt Service
Reserve Fund. together with the amount in the Debt Service Fund, is sufficient to pay all Outstanding
Bonds in accordance with their respective terms. the funds on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund
shall be transferred to the Debt Service Fund and applied to the redemption or payment at maturity of
all Bonds Outstanding.

In lieu of the required deposits and transfers to the Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Authority may
cause to be deposited into the Debt Service Reserve Fund Financial Guaranties in an amount equal to the
difference between the Debt Service Reserve Requirement and the sums. if any, then on deposit in the
Debt Service Reserve Fund or being deposited in the Debt Service Reserve Fund concurrently with such
Financial Guaranties. The Financial Guaranties shall be payable (upon the giving of notice as required
thereunder) on any date on which moneys will be required to be withdrawn from the Debt Service
Reserve Account and applied to the payment of a Principal Installment of or interest on any Bonds and
such withdrawal cannot be met by amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund. If a
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disbursement is made pursuant to Financial Guaranties. the Authority shall be obligated cither (i) to
reinstate the maximum limits of such Financial Guarantics or (i1) to deposit into the Debt Service Reserve
Fund. funds in the amount of the disbursement made under such Financial Guaranties. or a combination
of such altcrnatives, as shall provide that the amount in the Debt Service Reserve Fund cquals the Debt
Service Reserve Requirement.

In the event of the refunding of any Bonds. the Trustee shall. upon the written direction of the
Authority, withdraw from the Debt Service Reserve Fund all or any portion of amounts accumulated
therein with respect to the Bonds being refunded and deposit such amounts as provided in such written
dircction; provided that such withdrawal shall not be made unless (a) immcdiately thercafter the Bonds
being refunded shall be deemed to have been paid pursuant to Section 1201 of the Resolution. and (b) the
amount remaining in the Debt Service Reserve Fund after such withdrawal shall not be less than the Debt
Service Reserve Requirement. (Section 508)

Subordinated Indebtedness Fund. The Trustee shall apply amounts on deposit in the Subordinated
Indebtedness Fund solely to the maintenance of reserves for. or the payment of. Subordinated
Indebtedness (or as otherwise provided by the resolution of the Authority authorizing cach issue of
Subordinated Indebtedness). The Trustee shall withdraw from the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund any
amount necessary to render the balances in the Debt Service Fund or Debt Service Reserve Fund
sufficient to meet the requirements of such Funds. (Section 509)

Surplus Fund. The Trustee shall. on cach Bond Payment Date. apply moneys credited to the
Surplus Fund in the following amounts: (i) to the Debt Service Fund the amount. if any. necessary (or all
the moneys in the Surplus Fund if less than the amount necessary) to make up any deficiency in the
amount required to be on deposit in such Fund and (ii) to the Debt Service Reserve Fund the amount.
if any. nccessary (or all the moneys in the Surplus Fund if less than the amount necessary) to make up any
deficiency in the amount required to be on deposit in any Account in such Fund. Such transfer shall be
made notwithstanding any other provisions of this Resolution requiring deposits in such Funds. Amounts
on deposit in the Surplus Fund on the last day of a Fiscal Year shall be withdrawn from such Fund and
transferred to the Board for deposit in the Local Water Fund. (Section 510)

Arbitrage Rebate Fund.  Amounts on deposit in the Arbitrage Rebate Fund shall be applied by the
Trustee to make payments to the Department of the Treasury of the United States of America.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee shall apply moneys credited to the Arbitrage Rebate Fund in
the following amounts: (i) to the Debt Service Fund the amount, if any. necessary (or all the moneys in
the Arbitrage Rebate Fund if less than the amount necessary) to make up any deficiency in the amount
required to be on deposit in the Debt Service Fund and (ii) to the Debt Service Reserve Fund the amount.
if any. necessary (or all the moneys in the Arbitrage Rebate Fund if less than the amount necessary) to
make up any deficiency in the amount required to be on deposit in any Account in the Debt Service
Rescrve Fund.

Amounts on deposit in the Arbitrage Rebate Fund in excess of the amount required to be maintained
therein for the purposes of such Fund may be transferred and paid by the Trustee to the Surplus Fund.
(Section 510-a)

Subordinated Indebtedness. The Authority may issue Subordinated Indebtedness payable out of
and secured by a pledge of and lien on amounts in the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund available for such
payment. Such Subordinated Indebtedness, however, shall be issucd only for the purposes set forth in the
Resolution and shall be secured by a pledge subordinate in all respects to the pledge created by the
Resolution as security for the Bonds. (Section 511)

Depositaries.  All moneys or securitics held by the Trustee shall constitute trust funds and the
Trustee may and shall. if directed by the Authority, deposit such moneys or securities with one or more
Depositaries. All moneys or securities held by the Authority in the Authority Expense Fund shall be
deposited with onc or more Depositarics. All moneys or securities deposited under the provisions of the
Resolution with the Trustee or any Depositary shall be held in trust and applied only in accordance with
the provisions of the Resolution, and each of the Funds cstablished by the Resolution shall be a trust fund
for the purposes thereof.
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Each Depositary holding moneys or securities in trust for the Trustee shall be a bank or trust
company organized under the laws of the State or a national banking association (having its principal
office within the State). having capital stock. surplus and undivided carnings aggregating at least
$100.000.000 and willing and able to accept the office on reasonable and customary terms and authorized
by law to act in accordance with the provisions of the Resolution. (Section 512)

Investment of Certain Funds. Moneys held in the Debt Service Fund, the Debt Service Reserve
Fund and the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund (subject to the terms of any resolutions or other
instruments securing any issue of Subordinated Indebtedness) shall be invested and reinvested to the
fullest practicable cxtent in Investment Securities which mature not later than such times as shall be
necessary to provide moneys when necded to make payments required from such Funds; provided that
‘a the case of the Dbt Serviee Reserve Fund maturation may not occur later than fifteen years from the
date of such investment. and in the case of the Debt Service Fund. investments shall be of the type
deseribed it ciauses (ii). (i) and (vi). and in the case of the Debt Service Reserve Fund, clauses (ii) and
(iii). of the definition of “Investment Securities™ (in either case. to the fullest extent practicable). Moneys
in the Authority Expense Fund. the Revenue Fund. the Construction Fund. the Arbitrage Rebate Fund
and the Surplus Fund may be invested in Investment Securities which mature no later than such times as
shall be necessary to provide moneys when needed to make payments from such Funds. The Trustec shall
make all investments in accordance with written instructions from any Authorized Representative of the
Authority. Moneys in any Fund or Account may be combined with moneys in any other Fund or Account
for the purpose of making such investments in Investment Securities.

Interest (net of that which represents a return of accrued interest paid in connection with the
purchase of any investment) earned on any moneys or investments in such Funds and Accounts, other
than the Construction Fund. the Arbitrage Rebate Fund and the Debt Scrvice Reserve Fund. shall be paid
into the Revenue Fund as and when received. Interest (net of that which represents a return of accrued
interest paid in connection with the purchase of any investment) earned on any moneys or investments
in (i) the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be paid into the Arbitrage Rebate Fund or the Surplus Fund,
(ii) the Construction Fund shall be paid to the Board for deposit in the Local Water Fund quarterly, on
the 15th day of each July. October. January and April of each Fiscal Year upon receipt of a written request

and a certificate of the Authority relating to the satisfaction of the Cash Flow Requirement and (iii) the
Arbitrage Rebate Fund shall remain in such fund.

All Investment Securities acquired with moneys in any Fund or Account, including any Fund or
Account held by the Authority. shall be held by the Trustee in pledge or by a Depositary as agent in
pledge in favor of the Trustee. (Seciion S514)

Additional Bonds. The Authority may issue Bonds from time to time without limitation as to
amount except as provided in the Resolution or as specified by law to generate funds sufficient to meet
the Costs of Water Projects. to make deposits in the Funds and Accounts or to refund Outstanding Bonds,
Bond Anticipation Notes. Subordinated Indebtedness or outstanding bonds of the City issued to pay the

capital costs of the System. All Bonds shall be issued subject to the terms, conditions and limitations
established in the Resolution and in one or more Series as therein provided.

Bonds shall be authenticated and delivered only upon the Trustec’s receipt of. among other items:
(a) a certified copy of the Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Series;

(b) (i) in the case of the initial Series of Bonds. an executed copy of the Agreement and the
Lease: and (ii) in the case of any subsequent Series of Bonds. an executed copy of any amendment
or supplement to the Agreement or the Lease not theretofore delivered to the Trustee:

(c) except in the casc of Series of Bonds issued prior to July 1, 1986 and any Series of Refunding
Bonds issued pursuant to Section 207 of the Resolution. a certificate of an Authorized Representa-
tive of the Authority setting forth (i) the Revenues for either of the last two full Fiscal Years
immediately preceding the Fiscal Year in which such Bonds are to be issued and (ii) the Aggregate
Debt Service during such Fiscal Year for which Revenues are set forth pursuant to clause (i) above
(excluding from Aggregate Debt Service any Principal Installment or portion thereof which was paid
from sources other than Revenues) and (iii) the sum of the Operating Expenses and the Required
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Deposits for such period, and showing that the amount set forth in (i) is at least equal to the sum of
(x) an amount cqual 1o 115% of the amount sct forth in (ii) and (y) an amount equal to 100% of the
amount sct forth in (iii);

(d) except in the case of the initial Series of Bonds under the Resolution and any Series of
Refunding Bonds issued pursuant to Section 207 of the Resolution. a certificate of the Consulting
Enginecr setting forth the projected Operating Expenses for cach of the five Fiscal Years following
the Issuance of such Series of Bonds (plus the Fiscal Year in which such Bonds are issued);

(e) except in the case of the initial Series of Bonds under the Resolution and any Series of
Refunding Bonds issued pursuant to Section 207. a certificate, signed by an Authorized Represen-
tative of the Authority setting forth the estimated Required Deposits for each of the five Fiscal Years
following the issuance of such Scries of Bonds (plus the Fiscal Year in which such Bonds are issued);
and

(t) except in the case of the initial Series of Bonds under the Resolution and any Series of
Refunding Bonds issued pursuant to Section 207. a certificate of the Rate Consultant (i) setting forth
the estimated Revenues for each of the five Fiscal Years following the issuance of such Series of
Bonds (plus the Fiscal Year in which such Bonds are issued) after giving effect to any increases or
decreases in rates, fces and charges projected for such Fiscal Years and (ii) showing for each such
Fiscal Year that the estimated Revenues for such Fiscal Year will be at least cqual to the sum of
(A) 115% of the maximum estimated Adjusted Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then
Outstanding including the Bonds to be issucd. and (B) 100% of the sum of the projected Operating
Expenses and Required Deposits. as shown on the Certificate of the Consulting Engineer delivered
pursuant to paragraph (¢) above and the Certificate of the Authority delivered pursuant to paragraph
(f) above, respectively. (Sections 204 and 2006)

Refunding Bonds. One or more Serics of Refunding Bonds may be issued pursuant to Section 207
of the Resolution at any time to refund any Outstanding Bonds provided that (1) estimated average
annual Debt Service on such Scries of Refunding Bonds shall not exceed the average annual Debt Service
on the Bonds to be refunded and (i) the maximum Debt Service in any Fiscal Year on such Series of
Refunding Bonds shall not exceed the maximum Debt Service in any Fiscal Year on the Bonds to be
refunded. all as shown in a Certificate signed by an Authorized Representative of the Authority and
delivered to the Trustee prior to the authentication and delivery of such Series of Refunding Bonds.
Refunding Bonds shall be issued in a principal amount sufficient. together with other moneys available
therefor, to accomplish such refunding and to make the deposits in the Funds and Accounts required by
the provisions of the Supplemental Resolution authorizing such Bonds. (Section 207)

Bond Anticipation Notes. Whenever the Authority shall authorize the issuance of a Series of
Bonds, the Authority may, by resolution. authorize the issuance of notes (and renewals thereof) in
anticipation of such Serics of Bonds. The principal of and interest on such notes and renewals thereof shall
be payable from the proceeds of such notes or from the proceeds of the sale of the Series of Bonds in
anticipation of which such notes are issucd. The proceeds of such Bonds may be pledged for the payment
of the principal of and interest on such notes and any such pledge shall have a priority over any other
pledge of such proceeds created by the Resolution. The Authority may also pledge the Revenues to the
payment of the interest on. and subject to Section 707 of the Resolution, the principal of such notes. A
copy of the Resolution of the Authority authorizing such notes, certified by an Authorized Representative
of the Authority, shall be delivered to the Trustee following its adoption. together with such other
information concerning such notes as the Trustee may reasonably request. (Section 208)

Credit Facilities. In connection with the issuance of any Series of Bonds. the Authority may obtain
or cause to be obtained once or more Credit Facilities providing for payment of all or a portion of the
Principal Installments, or Redemption Price or interest due or to become due on such Bonds, providing
for the purchase of such Bonds by the issuer of such Credit Facility or providing funds for the purchase
of such Bonds by the Authority.

The Authority may secure such Credit Facility by an agreement providing for the purchase of the
Series of Bonds secured thereby with such adjustments to the rate of interest, method of determining
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interest. maturity or redemption provisions as specified by the Authority in the applicable Supplemental
Resolution. The Authority may also in an agreement with the issucr of such Credit Facility agree 10
dircctly reimburse such issuer for amounts paid under the terms of such Credit Facility. together with
interest thercon (the “Reimburscment Obligation™): provided, however. that no Reimbursement Obli-
gation shall be created until amounts are paid under such Credit Facility. Any such Reimbursement
Obligation (a “Parity Reimbursement Obligation™) may be secured by a pledge of, and a lien on
Revenues on a parity with the licn created by Section 501 of the Resolution. Upon the payment of
amounts under the Credit Facility which payment results in the Parity Reimbursement Obligation
becoming due and payable. such Parity Reimbursement Obligation shall be deemed to be part of the
Series of Bonds to which the Credit Facility which gave rise to such Parity Rcimbursement Obligation
relates.

Any such Credit Facility shall be for the benefit of and secure such Series of Bonds or portion thereof.
as specified in the applicable Supplemental Resolution. (Section 209)

Indebtedness and Liens. The Resolution provides that the Authority shall not issue any bonds. or
other evidences of indebtedness. other than the Bonds. Bond Anticipation Notes. Subordinated
Indebtedness and Parity Reimbursement Obligations. secured by a pledge of or other lien on the
Revenues and shall not create or cause to be created any lien on such Revenucs or on any amounts held
by any Fiduciary. under the Resolution: however, the Authority may: (i) issue notes payable from the
proceeds of Bonds or other obligations for the corporate purposcs of the Authority payable or secured
by Revenues derived on and after such date as the pledge of the Revenues provided in the Resolution is
discharged and satisfied and (i) issuc bonds or other obligations for the corporate purposes of the
Authority payable out of or secured by the pledge of amounts in the Local Water Fund after satisfaction
of the Cash Flow Requirement for the then current Fiscal Year. and which recite on their face that such
pledge of said amounts is and shall be in all respects subordinate to the provisions of the lien and pledge
created by the Resolution. (Section 707)

Agreement of the State. In accordance with Section 1045-t of the Act. the Authority agrees. for and
on behalf of the State. that the State will not alter or limit the rights vested by the Act in the Authority
or the Board to fulfill the terms of any agreement made with or for the benefit of the Bondholders. or in
any way impair the rights and remecdies of Bondholders. until the Bonds. together with the interest
thereon. with interest on any unpaid installment of interest. and all costs and expenses in connection with
any action or proceeding by or on behalf of such holders. are fully met and discharged. (Section 711)

Authority Budget. The Authority shall. on or before May 1.in each Fiscal Year. adopt and file with
the Trustec. the Board and the City. a certificd copy of the Authority Budget showing the estimated Cash
Flow Requirement and the components thereof (on a monthly basis) for the ensuing Fiscal Year. together
with any other information required to be set forth therein by the Resolution or the Agreement. Such
Authority Budget may set forth such additional information as the Authority may determine or as the
Board or the City may request. If for any reason the Authority shall not have adopted the Authority
Budget before such May 1. the Authority Budget for the then current Fiscal Year shall be deemed to be
the Authority Budget for the ensuing Fiscal Year until a new Authority Budget is adopted. The Authority
may at any time adopt an amended Authority Budget for the then current or ensuing Fiscal Year, but no
such amended Authority Budget shall supersede any prior Budget until the Authority shall have filed with
the Trustee. the Board and the City a copy of such amended Authority Budget. Each month the Authority
shall recalculate the Cash Flow Requirement. (Sections 712 and 713)

Enforcement and Amendment of Agreement and Lease. The Authority shall enforce or cause 10
be enforced the provisions of the Agrecment and the Lease and duly perform its covenants and
agreements under the Agreement. The Authority will not consent or agree to or permit any rescission of
or amendment to or otherwise take any action under or in connection with the Agreement or the Lease
except in accordance with Article X of the Agreement of the Resolution. (Section 714)

Supplemental Resolutions. The Resolution permits the modification or amendment of the rights
and obligations of the Authority and of the holders of the Bonds thereunder by a Supplemental
Resolution. with the written consent of the holders of two-thirds of the principal amount of: (i) the Bonds
then Outstanding and (ii) in case less than all of the several Series of Bonds then Outstanding are affected
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by the moditication or amendment, of the Bonds of the Series so affected and then Outstanding; however,
if such moditication or amendment will. by its terms. not take effect so long as any Bonds of any specified
like Series and maturity remain Outstanding. the consent of the holders of such Bonds shall not be
required and such Bonds shall not be deemed 1o be Outstanding for the purpose of modification: provided
no such modification or amendment shall change the terms of redemption, maturity of principal,
installment of interest, or reduce the principal amount. Redemption Price. or rate of interest without the
consent of the holder of the affected Bond, or reduce the pereentages of consents required to cffect any
future moditication or amendment.

The Authority may adopt (without the consent of any holders of the Bonds) supplemental
resolutions to authorize additional Bonds: to add to the restrictions contained in the Resolution upon the
issuance ol additional indebtedness: to add to the covenants of the Authority contained in, or surrender
any rights reserved to or conferred upon it by, the Resolution: to confirm any pledge under the Resolution
of Revenues or other moneys; 1o preserve the federal tax exemption of interest on the Bonds; or
otherwise to modify any of the provisions of the Resolution (but no such other modification may be
effective while any of the Bonds of any Serics theretofore issued are Outstanding): or to cure any
ambiguity. supply any omission or to correct any defect in the Resolution or to insert such provisions
clarifying matters or questions arising under the Resolution as are necessary or desirable, and are not
contrary to or inconsistent with the Resolution as theretofore in effect or to provide for additional dutics
of the Trustee (provided that the Trustee shall consent thereto). (Ares. VI and 1X)

Defaults and Remedies. The Resolution provides that if one or more of the following Events of
Default shall occur. namely: (i) a default in the payment of the principal or Redemption Price of any
Bond: (ii) a default in payment of any installment of interest on any Bond: (iii) a default by the Authority
in the performance or observance of any other ol its covenants, agreements or conditions in the
Resolution for a period of 45 days after written notice thereof: (iv) a default under the Agreement or the
Lease by the Board or the City for a period of 45 days after written notice thereof: or (v) a filing of a
petition for relief under any federal or State bankruptcy or similar law by the Authority: then, upon the
happening and continuance of any Event of Default, the Trustee may. and upon the written request of the
holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding the Trustee shall, declare
the principal and accrued interest on all the Bonds then Outstanding, due and payable immediately
subject, however. to rescission of such declaration and annulment of the default upon the remedying
thereof.

The Authority covenants that upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the books of record and
account of the Authority shall at all times be subject to the inspection and use of the Trustee and of its
agents and attorneys and that. upon demand of the Trustee. the Authority will account. as if it were the
trustee ol an express trust, for all Revenues and other moneys. sceurities and funds pledged or held under
the Resolution for such period as shall be stated in such demand.

Upon default. the Trustee may proceed to protect and enforee its rights and the rights of the holders
of the Bonds under the Resolution forthwith by a suit or suits in equity or at law. whether for the specific
performance ol any covenant therein contained. or in aid of the exeeution of any power therein granted,
or for an accounting against the Authority as if the Authority were the trustee of an express trust, or in
the enforcement of any other legal or cquitable right as the Trustee. being advised by counsel. shall deem
most cffectual o enforee any of its rights or to perform any ol its duties under the Resolution. During the
continuance of an Event of Default. Revenues shall be applicd first. to the rcasonable and proper charges
and expenses of the Trustee: then (unless the principal of all of the Bonds shall have been declared
payable) to the payment of all unpaid interest ratably. and then to unpaid principal or Redcemption Price,
ratably: and il all of the principal of the Bonds shall be due and payable, to the payment of unpaid
principal and interest, without preference or priority of interest over principal, principal over interest or
of any Bond or instaliment over any other Bond or installment. without any discrimination or preference.
No Bondholder has any right to institute suit to enforce any provision of the Resolution or the exccution
of any trust thercunder or for any remedy thercunder. unless the Trustee has been requested by the
holders of at Ieast a majority in principal amount of the Bonds to take such action and has been offered
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adequate security and indemnity and has failed to commence such suit in the manner provided in the
Resolution. The right to appoint a statutory trustee under Section 1045-p of the Act is expressly
abrogated. (Art. X)

Defeasance of Bonds Other than Variable Rate or Option Bonds. Any Outstanding Bond shall
prior to the maturity or redemption date thereof be deemed to have been paid and shall cease to be
entitled to any lien, benefit or security under the Resolution if (i) in the case of any Bonds to be redeemed
prior to their maturity, the Authority shall have given to the Trustee irrevocable instructions accepted in
writing by the Trustee to publish on such date the notice of redemption therefor (other than Bonds
purchased by the Trustee prior to the publication of the notice of redemption), (ii) there shall have been
deposited with the Trustee either moneys in an amount sufficient, or Defeasance Obligations the principal
of and/or the interest on which, when due. without reinvestment, will, as verified by the report of a firm
of nationally recognized independent certified public accountants'”’, provide moneys which, together with
the moneys deposited shall be sufficient, to pay when due the principal or Redemption Price (if
applicable) and interest due and to become due on said Bonds and (iii) in the event said Bonds are not
by their terms subject to redemption within the next succeeding 60 days, the Authority shall have given
the Trustee irrevocable instructions to publish, as soon as practicable, a notice to the holders of such
Bonds that the deposit required above has been made with the Trustee and that said Bonds are deemed
paid in accordance with the Resolution and stating such maturity or redemption date upon which moneys
are to be available to pay the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, on such Bonds (other than
Bonds purchased by the Trustee prior to the publication of the notice of redemption); provided that any
notice published for Bonds constituting less than all of the Outstanding Bonds of any maturity within a
Series shall specify the letter and number or other distinguishing mark of each such Bond. The Trustee
shall, to the extent necessary, apply moneys to the retirement of said Bonds in amounts equal to the
unsatisfied balances of any Sinking Fund Installments thereto.

The Trustee shall, if so directed by the Authority prior to the maturity date of Bonds deemed to have
been paid which are not to be redeemed prior to their maturity date or prior to the publication of the
above notice of redemption for Bonds deemed paid and to be redeemed, apply moneys deposited with the
Trustee in respect of such Bonds and redeem or sell Defeasance Obligations so deposited with the Trustee
and purchase such Bonds and the Trustce shall immediately thereafter cancel all such Bonds so
purchased; provided, however, that the moneys and Defeasance Obligations remaining on deposit with the
Trustee after the purchase and cancellation of such Bonds shall be sufficient to pay when due the Principal
Installment or Redemption Price, if applicable, and interest due or to become due on all Bonds.
(Section 1201)

Defeasance of Variable Rate Bonds. The Resolution provides that for the purposes of determining
whether Variable Rate Bonds shall be deemed to have been paid prior to the maturity or redemption date
thereof, by the deposit of moneys, or Defeasance Obligations and moneys (if any). the interest due on
such Bonds shall be calculated at the maximum rate permitted; provided, however, that if, as a result of
such Bonds having borne interest at less than the maximum rate for any period, the total amount of
moneys and Investment Securities on deposit with the Trustee for the payment of interest on such Bonds
exceeds the total amount required to be deposited with the Trustee. the Trustee shall, if requested by the
Authority, pay the amount in excess to the Authority free and clear of any lien or pledge securing the
Bonds or otherwise existing under the Resolution. (Section 1201)

Defeasance of Option Bonds. Under the Resolution, Option Bonds shall be deemed paid in
accordance with the Resolution only if, in addition to satisfying several of the requirements applicable to
other than Variable Rate or Option Bonds, there shall have been deposited with the Trustee moneys in
an amount which shall be sufficient to pay the maximum amount of principal of and premium due, if any,
and interest on such Bonds which could become payable to the holders of such Bonds upon the exercise
of any options provided to the holders of such Bonds; provided, however, that if the options originally
exercisable by the holder of an Option Bond are no longer exercisable, such Bond shall not be considered
an Option Bond. (Section 1201)

() Each of the Amended and Restated Nineteenth Supplemental Resolution, the Amended and
Restated Twenty-First Supplemental Resolution, the Amended and Restated Twenty-Fourth
Supplemental Resolution and the Amended and Restated Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Resolution
provide that the verification report may be prepared by a firm of nationally recognized verification
agents rather than a firm of nationally independent certified public accountants.
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Grant Thornton &%

Accountants and Business Advisors

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Members of the Boards of
New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority
and the New Yotk City Water Board

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets and the related statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in net assets, and cash flows of the business-type activities of the New York City Municipal Water
Finance Authority and the New York City Water Board, which collectively comprise the New York City
Water and Sewer System (the “System™), a component unit of the City of New York, New York, as of and
for the years ended June 30, 2006 and 2005. These financial statements, which collectively comprise the
basic financial statements of the System, are the tesponsibility of the System’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits,

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
Ametica as established by the Auditing Standards Board of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedutes that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the System’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinton. An audit also includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis

for our opinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present faitly, in all material respects, the
tespective financial position of the business-type activities of the New York City Municipal Water Finance
Authority and the New York City Water Board of the System as of June 30, 2006 and 2005, and the
respective changes in their net assets and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) is not a required part of the basic
financial statements but is supplementary information requited by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board. We have applied certam limited procedures, which consisted prncipally of inquiries of management
regarding methods of measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information. However,
we did not audit the information comprising the MD&A and express no opinion on it.

Qg%m Thovrtsn [ (P

New York, New York
October 17, 2006

60 Broad Street

New York, NY 10004

T 212.422.1000

F 2124220144

W www.grantthornton.com

Grant Thornton LLP
US Member of Grant Thornton International D- 3



New York City Water and Sewer System

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overview of the Financial Statements

The following is an overview of the financial activities of the New York City Water and Sewer System (the
“System”) for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2006 and 2005. The System is a joint operation consisting of
two legally separate and independent entities, the New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority (the
“Authority”) and the New York City Water Board (the “Board”).

The basic financial statements of the System, which include the balance sheets, the statements of revenues,
expenses and changes in net assets and the statements of cash flows, are presented for the purposes of
displaying entity-wide information, in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(“GASB”) Statement No. 34, “Basic Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for
State and Local Governments,” as amended. These financial statements are prepared using the economic
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.

Financial Analysis and Results of Operations

The following summarizes the activities of the System for the years 2006, 2005 and 2004.

2006 2005 2004
(in thousands)
Revenues
Water supply and distribution $ 735,200 $ 755,693 S 713,097
Sewer collection and treatment 1,143,424 1,043,575 984,753
Other operating revenues 100,306 85,459 75,283
Total operating revenucs 1,978,930 1,884,727 1,773,133
Subsidy income 88,447 78,834 68,311
Investment income, net 105,239 97,362 86,949
Total revenucs 2,172,616 2,060,923 1,928,393
Expenses
Operations and maintenance 1,056,379 944919 933,736
Bad debt expense 87,222 114,702 116,108
Administration and general 26,727 23,168 19,853
Depreciation and amortization 500,161 515,325 451,585
Loss on retirement of fixed asscts 7,046 7,971 25214
Interest expense 731,563 668,675 612,054
Total expenses 2,409,098 2,274,760 2,158,550
Net loss before capital contributions (distributions) (236,482) (213,837) (230,157)
Capital (distributions) contributions, net (19,241) (185,242) 29,875
Change in net assets (255,723) (399,079) (200,282)
Net assets - beginning 3,155,104 3,554,183 3,754,465
Net assets - ending $2,899,381 $3,155,104 $3,554,183
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New York Citv Water and Sewer System

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

2006 - 2005

Total operating revenues increased by 5% , principally resulting from a rate increase of 3%.

2005 - 2004

"(l

Total operating revenues increased by 6.3%, principally resulting from a rate increase of 5.5%.

The following summarizes other operating revenues (in thousands):

2006 2005 2004
Upstate water tee S 42,693 $27.290 824611
lLate payment fe 45,519 47810 41,767
Conncction fecs and permits 12.094 10,359 8,905
Total other revenues $100,306 $85,459 $75,283

20006 - 2005

The System has collected $15 million of upstate water fees that had been in dis‘putc tor several years. These
payments resulted in an increase in other fee revenue of nearlyv 17.0% or $15.0 million.

2005 - 2004

The System has increased its collections of past-duc amounts, which resulted in an increase in late payments
fee revenue of nearly 14.5% or $6.0 million.

20006 - 2005

Investment income increased by $7.9 million. Investment balances in construction and revenue and debt
service funds increased from 2005, Interest rates carned on investments also increased.

Total operations and maintenance expense increased by $111 million or 11.8%. The rental payvment to the
City for debt service increased by $10 million. Pavments for watershed improvements increased by $21

million. All other operations and maintenance costs increased by S80 million or 10%.

Bad debt expense decreased by $27.5 million. Reccivable balances have decreased, as the System has
collected on past-due amounts.

Interest expense increased by $63 million or 9.4%. Total debt of the System has increased by 9% and
interest expense has increased by about the same percentage.
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New York City Water and Sewer System

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

In 2006, the System granted back to the City land that had been purchased with bond proceeds. The total

grant was $32.9 million. The System also received grants from other sources of $13.7 million.
2005 - 2004

Investment income increased by 11.9%. Total investment balances remained about the same, but there
were no additional arbitrage rebate expenses in 2005 and interest rates earned on investments increased.

Total operations and maintenance expenses increased by $11.2 million or 1.2%. The rental payment to the
City for debt service decreased by over $6 million, and judgments and claims decreased by over $25 million.

All other operations and maintenance expenses increased by $44 million or 5.5%.

Bad debt expense decreased by $1.4 million. Receivable balances have decreased, as the System has
collected on past-due amounts, and bad debt expense has leveled as a percentage of revenues.

Interest expense increased by $56.6 million or 9.25%. Total debt of the System has increased by 10.2% and
interest expense has increased by a similar percentage.

In 2005, the System granted back to the City land that had been purchased with bond proceeds. The total
granted was $187.6 million. The System also received grants from other sources of $2.4 million.

A summaty of the System’s assets, liabilities and net assets follows:

2006 2005 2004
(in thousands)
Current asscts $ 1,954,277 $ 2,436,222 $ 2,423,309
Deferred bond and financing expenses 130,728 125,582 112,540
Capital assets 17,155,603 16,008,960 15,174,128
Total assets 19,240,608 18,570,764 17,709,977
Long-term liabilities 15,306,834 13,955,495 12,565,882
Current liabilities 1,034,393 1,460,165 1,589,912
Total liabilities 16,341,227 15,415,660 14,155,794
Net assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 2,556,766 2,803,031 3,368,355
Restricted for debt service 171,859 152,544 179,106
Restricted for operations and maintenance 157,806 145,693 135,701
Unrestricted (deficit) 12,950 53,836 (128.,979)
Total net assets 2,899,381 3,155,104 3,554,183
Total liabilities and net assets $19,240,608 $18,570,764 $17,709,977
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New York City Water and Sewer System

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

2000 - 2005

Current assets decreased by $482 million. This decrease was due primarily to escrow deposits which

decreased by $363 million as bonds were paid off by the escrow amounts.

2005 - 2004

Current assets increased by $13 million. Total investments and receivables remained about the same.

Total liabilities increased by $1.3 billion, which was duc to the increase in debt payable.

Capital Assets

The System’s capital assets include buildings, equipment, water treatment systems and water collection

systems. Such amounts are detailed as follows:

Utility plant construction

Land

Buildings

Equipment

Water supply and wastewater treatment systems

Water distribution and sewage collection systems
Total utility plant in service

Less accumulated depreciation

Total, net utility plant in scrvice

Total capital asscts

2006 2005 2004
(in thousands)

$_4,546.209 $_4,010,861 $_3,564,455
- - 142,409
22,266 22,071 22,071
472,034 424 673 378,333
10,886,477 10,152,707 9,619,222
7,844 126 7,579,881 _7,196,035
19,224 903 18,179,332 17,358,070
6,615,509 6,181,233 _5.748 397
12,609,394 11,998,099 11,609,673
$17,155,603 $16,008,960 $15,174,128



New York City Water and Sewer System

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

The net increase in the Svstem’s capital asscts during fiscal vear 2006 was $1,147 million or 7.2 %. Net
capital asset additions for 2005 were $1,581 million.

The net increase in the System’s capital assets during fiscal year 2005 was $834 million or 5.5 %. Net capital
asset additions for 2005 were $1,268 million.

The capital assets of the System are detailed in footnotes 2-d and 3 of the notes to the accompanying
financial statements.

Debt Administration

The Authority issues debt to pay for the capital improvements to the System. The debt program of the
Authority includes commercial paper and long-term debt of the Authority and subsidized bonds issued
through the New York State Fnvironmental Pacilities Corporation (“EFC”). The commercial paper
program is the main source of financing to reimburse the City for payments made for water and sewer
projects. The Authority then issues long-term debt of its own or through EFC to retire outstanding

commercial paper. The Authority also issues refunding bonds to refinance higher coupon debt.

At June 30, 2000, the total outstanding debt of the System was $16.3 billon, of which $351 million was
commercial paper. The remaining $15.9 billion consisted of variable and fixed rate bonds and notes
maturing in varving installments through 2039. The total outstanding long-term debt at June 30, 2006 was
as follows:

(In thousands)
Issuce date

2006 $ 2,608,308
2005 2,811,165
2004 1,687,875
2003 2,803,132
2002 2,119,222
2001 and prior 3,904,649

Total long-term debt $15,934,351

In the above, bonds retired through refundings in 2006 are removed from the year in which the refunded
bonds were issucd.
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New York City Water and Sewer System

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

In tiscal year 2006, the Authority issuced $1,931,080,000 of water and sewer revenuc bonds directly to the
public, including $722,590,948 of retunding bonds and $1,208,489,052 in new money financing. The
Authority also issued $686,846,759 in Clean Water and Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (“SRF”)
bonds to EI'C, all of which werc issued for new money purposes. The new money bond proceeds provided
long-term financing of commercial paper notes which had previously financed capital improvements to
New York City’s Water and Sewer System.

The highlight of the financing program in fiscal year 2006 was the issuance of the Second Resolution bonds
directly to the public for the first time. In October 2005, the Authority issued $400 million of the Second
Resolution variable rate bonds, and in J anuary 2000, it sold $100 million of fixed rate serial bonds with
retail-sector maturitics. The Authority also continues to issue the Second Resolution bonds through EFC.

On October 12, 2005, the Authority closed its first transaction of fiscal vear 2006. The TFiscal 2006 Series 1
bonds with a par amount of $229.018,261 were sold through EI'C. Proceeds were used to defcase the
Authority’s commercial paper Series 7 notes and a portion of the Authority’s Series 5 notes, which had
funded eligible Clean Water and Drinking Water SRIY projects. Proceeds were also used to pay the costs of
issuance of the bonds.

On October 18, 2005, in a common plan of finance with the Fiscal 2006 Series 1 bonds, the Authority
issued the Fiscal 2006 Series A with a par amount ot $524,530,000. Proceeds from the sale were used to
defeasc all of the Authority’s commercial paper Scries 6 notes and to refund a portion of the Tiscal 1998
Series B bonds and a portion of the Fiscal 2000 Serics A bonds. Proceeds were also applied to fund a
portion of the Debt Service Reserve Fund and pay costs of issuance. A portion of the Fiscal 2006 Seties 1
bonds was insured by Financial Sccurity Assurance Inc.

On Ocrober 27, 2005, the Authority issued its Fiscal 2006 Serics AA Bonds as the Sceond Resolution
variable-rate demand bonds with $100,000,000 offered in the weekly reset mode and $300,000,000 sold in
the daily reset mode. Three different remarketing agents were chosen to remarket these bonds. Proceeds
were applied to defease all of the Authority’s commercial paper Series 1 notes and a portion of the
Authority’s Serics 5 notes, to fund a deposit to the Construction und and to pay costs of issuance.

On January 26, 2006, the Authority closed the Fiscal 2006 Serics B, BB and C bonds delivered in par
amounts of $150,000,000 for the Serics B bonds, $100,000,000 for the Serics BB bonds and $350,345,000
for the Series C bonds. Proceeds from the combined sale of the Series B, BB and C bonds were used to
defease all of the Authoritn’s commercial paper Series 1 notes and a portion of the Authority’s Series 5
notes, to refund the Fiscal 2001 Series A bonds, to fund a portion of the Debt Service Reserve Fund and to
pay costs of issuance. The Fiscal 2006 Series B and Series C bonds were structured as Term bonds. A
portion of the Fiscal 2006 Serics C bonds was insured by XL Capital Assurance Inc. The Fiscal 2006 Series
BB included scrial bonds in years 2007 through 2016.



New York City Water and Sewer System

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

On March 23, 2006, the Authority issued the Fiscal 2006 Series D bonds. The bonds were sold at a par
amount of $406,205,000. Proceeds from the sale were used to defease all of the Authority’s commercial
paper Series 1 notes and a portion of its Series 5 notes, to refund the Fiscal 2003 Series B bonds, to fund a
deposit to the Debt Service Reserve Fund and to pay certain costs of issuance. The 2036 maturity was
insured by Ambac Assurance Corporation.

The fiscal vear 20006 Series 2 and Series 3 closed on June 22, 2006. $201,440,829 of the I'Y 2006 Series 2
and $256,387,669 of the fiscal year 2006 Seties 3 were issued through EFC to secure senior and subordinate
bonds, respectively, issued by EFC for the Authority. Proceeds were used to defease all of the Authority’s
commercial paper Series 7 notes and a portion of its Series 5 and Series 6 notes and to pay certain costs of

issuance.

On June 29, 2000, the Authority legally defeased with revenues $60,135,000 of outstanding General
Resolution bonds, including portions of the Fiscal 1996 Series C, Fiscal 1997 Series A, Fiscal 1998 Series A,
Fiscal 1998 Series C, Fiscal 1998 Series D, Fiscal 1999 Series B, Fiscal 2001 Series B and Fiscal 2001 Series
D bonds. In addition, the Authority economically defeased $70,360,000 of the Fiscal 1993 Series A capital
appreciation bonds with current System revenue.

The total of bonds and notes payable are detailed in footnote numbers 7 and 8 of the notes to the financial
statements.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Rates

Rates are adopted cach year by the Board in May for the following fiscal year. A rate increase of 3.0% for
fiscal 2006 became effective July 1, 2005 based on projected revenues and costs.

Request for Information

This financial report is provided as an overview of the System’s finances. Questions concerning any of the
information in this report or requests for additional information should be directed to Raymond Orlando,
Manager of Public Relations, New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority, 75 Park Place, New York,
NY 10007. His phone number is (212) 788-5875 and his fax number is (212) 788-9721.



New York City Water and Sewer System

Assets

Utility plant in service, less
accumulated depreciation
of $6,615,509

Utility plant construction

Total capital assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accrued interest receivable
Accounts receivable
Billed, less allowance for
uncollectible receivables
of $143,696
Unbilled
Receivable from the City

Total current assets

Revenue requirement due from the
Board

Long-term deferred bond and
financing expenses

Total assets

BALANCE SHEETS

June 30, 2006
(in thousands)

New York City

Municipal
Water
Water Finance

Board Authority Eliminations Total
$12,609,394 $ - 8 - $12,609.394
4,546,209 - - 4.546,209
17,155,603 - - 17,155,603
87,723 879,236 - 966,959
78,753 433725 - 512,478
611 2,228 - 2,839
308,165 - - 308,165
155,330 - - 155,330
8,500 - - 8.500
639,088 1315189 - 1,954,277

- 8,376,317 (8,376,317) -
- 130,728 - 130,728
$17,794,691 $9,822 234 $(8,376,317) $19,240,608

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.



Liabilities and Net Assets

Long-term liabilities
Bonds and notes pavable, less
current portion
Net discount on bonds and
notes payable

Deferred bond refunding costs

New York City Water and Sewer System
BALANCE SHEETS (continued)

June 30, 2006
(in thousands)

New York City

Revenue requirement payable to

the Authority
Total long-term liabilities

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued
expenses

Revenues received in advance

Current portion of bonds and
notes payable

Payable to the City

Refunds pavable to customers

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets
Invested in capital asscts, nct
of related debt
Restricted for debt service
Restricted for operations and
maintenance
Unrestricted (deficit)

Total net assets (deficit)

Total liabilities and net assets

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statenents.
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Municipal
Water
Water Finance

Board Authority Eliminations Total
% - $ 15,719,290 ) - $15,719,290
- (42,007) - (42,007)
: (370,449) - (370,449)

8,376,317 - (8,376,317) -
8376317 15,306,834 (8,376,317) 15,306,834
6,099 42,820 - 48,919
78,480 - - 78,480
- 566,061 - 566,061
- 326,124 - 326,124
14,809 - - 14,809
99,388 935,005 - 1,034,393
8,475,705 16,241,839 (8.376,317) 16,341,227
17,155,603 (14,598,837) - 2,556,766
- 171,859 - 171,859
157,806 - - 157,806
(7.994 423) 8.007,.373 - 12950
9.318.980 (6,419.605) - 2,899,381
$17.794,691 $.9,822.234 $(8,376,317) $19,240,608



New York City Water and Sewer System

Asscts

Utility plant in service, less
accumulated depreciation
of $6,181,233

Utility plant construction

Total capital assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accrued interest reccivable
Accounts receivable
Billed, less allowance for
uncollectible receivables
of $207.239
Unbilled
Receivable from the City
Other

Total current assets
Revenue requirement from the Board
Long-term deferred bond and

financing expenses

Total assets

BALANCE SHEETS

June 30, 2005
(in thousands)

New York City

Muhicipal
Water
Water Finance
Board Authority
$11,998,099 ) -
_4.010.861 -
16,008,960 _
83,666 1,015,387
72,427 795,875
282 2,989
283,139 -
150,806 -
31,390 -
- 261
621,710 1,814,512
- 7,568,568
- 125,582

816,630,670

The accompanying notes are an inteoral part of these statements.
e CiY & .
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$_9.508,662

FEliminations

Total

$11,998,099

16,008,9¢0

1,099,053
868,302
3,271

283,139
150,806
31,390)
261

2,436,222

(7,568,568)

125,582

8(7,568,568)

$18,570,764



New York City Water and Sewer System

Liabilitics and Net Asscts

Long-term liabilities

Bonds and notes pavable, less
current portion

Net discount on bonds and
notes pavable

Deferred bond refunding costs

Revenue requirement payablc to
the Authority

Total long-term liabilitics

Current liabilities

Accounts pavable and accrued
expenses

Revenues received in advance

Current portion of bonds and
notes pavable

Pavable to the City

Refunds pavable to customers

Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

Net asscts
Invested in capital assets, net
of related debt
Restricted for debt service
Restricted for operations and
maintenance
Unrestricted (deficit)

Total net assets (deficit)

Tortal liabilities and nct asscts

BALANCE SHEETS (continued)

June 30, 2005
(in thousands)

New York City

Municipal
Water
Water Finance

Board Authority Fliminations Total
S - S 14,396,067 S - 514,396,067
- (100,304) - (100,304)
- (340,268) - (340,268)

7.568,568 - (7,568,568) -
7.568,568 13,955,495 (7.568.568) 13,955,495
6,510 38,325 - 44 835
70,482 - - 70,482
- 1,037,984 - 1,037,984
- 288,130 - 288,136
18,728 - - 18,728
95,720 1,364,445 - 1,460,165
7,664,288 15,319,940 (7,568,568) 15,415,660
16,008,960 (13,205,929) - 2,803,031
- 152,544 - 152,544
145,693 - - 145,693
(7.188.271) 7242107 - 53,830
8,966,382 (5,811.278) - 3,155,104
$16,630,670  $_9,508,662 $(7,568,568)  $18,570,704

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statenents.
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New York City Water and Sewer System

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Operating revenues
Water supply and distribution
Sewer collection and treatment
Other operating revenues

Total operating revenues
Operating expenses
Operations and maintenance
Bad debt expense
Administration and general
Total operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization

Operating income (loss)

Nonoperating revenue (expense)
Interest expense

Loss on retirement of fixed assets

Subsidy income
Investment income

Year ended June 30, 2006
(in thousands)

Net income (loss) before capital contributions

- (distributions)
Capital distributions - net

Change in net assets

Net assets (deficit) at beginning of year

Net assets (deficit) at end of year

New York City
Municipal
Water
Water Finance
Board Authority Total

$ 735,200 $ - $ 735200
1,143,424 - 1,143,424
100,306 - 100,306
1,978 930 - 1,978,930
1,056,379 - 1,056,379
87,222 - 87,222
8,670 18.057 26,727
1,152,271 18,057 1,170,328
450,860 49.301 500,161
375,799 (67,358) 308,441

- (731,563) (731,563)
(7,046) - (7,046)

- 88,447 88,447
3,092 102,147 105,239
371,845 (608,327) (236,482)
(19,241) - (19,241)
352,604 (608,327) (255,723)
8,966,382 (5.811,278) 3,155,104
$9,318,986 $(0,419,605) $2,899,381

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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New York City Water and Sewer System

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Operating revenues
Water supply and distribution
Sewer collection and treatment
Other operating revenues

Total operating revenues
Operating expenses
Operations and maintenance
Bad debt expense
Administration and general
Total operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization

Operating income (loss)

Nonoperating revenue (expense)
Interest expense

Loss on retirement of fixed assets

Subsidy income
Investment income

Net income (loss) before capital
contributions (distributions)

Capital distributions - net

Change in net assets

Net assets (deficit) at beginning of year

Net assets (deficit) at end of year

Year ended June 30, 2005
(in thousands)

New York City
Municipal
Water
Water Finance
Board Authority Total
$ 755,693 $ - $ 755,693
1,043,575 - 1,043,575
85.459 - 85.459
1,884,727 - 1,884 727
944919 - 944 919
114,702 - 114,702
6,840 16,328 23168
1,066,461 16,328 1,082,789
460,458 54,867 515,325
357,808 (71,195) 286,613
- (668,675) (668,675)
(7,971) - (7,971)
- 78,834 78,834
782 96,580 97.362
350,619 (564,456) (213,837)
(185,242) - (185,242)
165,377 (564,456) (399,079)
8,801,005 (5,246,822) 3.554,183
$8.960,382 $(5,811,27 $3,155,104

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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New York City Water and Sewer System

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended June 30, 2006

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments for operations and maintenance
Payments for administration

Net cash provided by (used in) operating

activittes

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Proceeds from issuing bonds, notes and other
borrowings, net of issuance costs
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Payments by the Board to the Authority
Repayments of bonds, notes and other borrowings
Interest paid on bonds, notes and other borrowings

Net cash used in capital and related
financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments
Purchases of investments
Interest on investments

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Net increase (dectease) in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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New York City
Municipal
Water
Water Finance
Board Authority Total
$1,8606,240 $ - $ 1,866,240
(966,661) - (966,661)
(9.081) (17,961) (27.042)
890,498 (17.961) 872,557
- 4,018,669 4,018,669
- (1,652,6306) (1,652,636)
(882,898) 882,898 -
- (3,190,094) (3,190,094)
- (644.464) (644.,464)
(882.898) (585,627) (1,468,525)
52,334 418,596 470,930
(58,660) (59,289) (117,949)
2,783 108,130 110913
(3,543) 467,437 463,894
4.057 (136,151) _(132.094)
83.666 1,015,387 1,099,053
$__87,723 $_ 879236 $_ 966,959




New York City Water and Sewer System
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Year ended June 30, 2006
(in thousands)

New York City
Municipal
Water
Water Finance
Board Authority. Total

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Operating income (loss) $ 375,799 $ (67,358) $ 308,441
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
(loss) to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 450,860 49,301 500,161
Bad debt expense 87,222 - 87,222
Opetrations and maintenance expense
paid with bond proceeds 66,833 - 066,833
Changes in net assets and liabilities
Receivables, net (116,768) - (116,768)
Receivable from the City 22.884 - 22,884
Other - (71) (71)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (411) 167 (244)
Revenues received in advance 7,998 - 7,998
Refunds payable to customers (3.919) - (3.919)

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities $_890,498 $__(17,961) $__872,537

The following are the noncash capital and related financing activities:

e Interest expense includes the amortization of premium and discount in the amount of $(3,606) in
2000.

e Capital expenditures in the amount of $326,124 had been incurred but not paid at June 30, 2006.
e The Board received capital assets of $13,700 in 2006, which represented capital contributed by the

City.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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New York City Water and Sewer System

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended June 30, 2005

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments for operations and maintenance
Payments for administration

Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Proceeds from issuing bonds, notes and other
borrowings, net of issuance costs
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Payments by the Board to the Authority
Repayments of bonds, notes and other borrowings
Interest paid on bonds, notes and other borrowings

Net cash used in capital and related
financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sales and matutities of investments
Purchases of investments
Interest on investments

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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New York City

Municipal
Water
Water Finance
Board Authority Total
$1,770,432 ) - $ 1,770,432
(927,391) - (927,391)
(7.075) (16,727) (23.802)
835,966 (16,727 819,239
- 4,480,669 4,480,669
- (1,697,125) (1,697,125)
(827,097) 827,097 -
- (3,136,879) (3,136,879)
- _ (570415 (570,415)
_(827.097) (96,653) (923.750)
44 815 - 44 815
(52,337) (35,194) (87,531)
985 96,210 97.195
(6,537) 61,016 54,479
2,332 (52.364) (50,032
81,334 1,067,751 1,149,085
$___83.660 $.1.015387 $.1,099,053




New York City Water and Sewer System
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Year ended June 30, 2005
(in thousands)

New York City
Municipal
Water
Water Finance
Board Authority Total
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Operating income (loss) $ 357,808 $ (71,195) $ 286,613
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
(loss) to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities
Depreciation and amottization 460,458 54,867 515,325
Bad debt expense 114,702 - 114,702
Operations and maintenance expense
paid with bond proceeds 45,595 - 45,595
Changes in net assets and liabilities
Receivables, net (106,701) - (106,701)
Receivable from the City (28,067) - (28,067)
Other 1 (18) 17)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (235) (381) (616)
Revenues received in advance (7,749) - (7,749)
Refunds payable to customers 154 - 154
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities $ 835966  $__(16,727) $_819,239

The following are the noncash capital and related financing activities:

e Interest expense includes the amortization of premium and discount in the amount of $10,543.

e Capital expenditures in the amount of $288,136 had been incurred but not paid at June 30, 2005.

e The Board received capital assets of $2,342 in 2005, which represented capital contributed by the

City.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

D-20



New York City Water and Sewer System
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 1- ORGANIZATION

The New York City Water and Sewer System (the “System”) provides water supply and distribution,
sewage collection, treatment, and disposal for The City of New York (the “City”). The System, as
presented in the accompanying financial statements, began operations on July 1, 1985 and is a joint
operation consisting of two legally separate and independent entities, the New York City Municipal
Water Finance Authority (the “Authority”) and the New York City Water Board (the “Board™). The
Authority is a public benefit corporation created in accordance with the New York City Municipal
Water Finance Act (the “Act™), duly enacted into law as Chapter 513 of the laws of 1984 of the State of
New York, as amended by Chapter 514 of the laws of 1984 of the State of New York. The Board was
created by Chapter 515 of the laws of 1984 of the State of New York. The Act empowers the
Authority to issue bonds or notes to finance the cost of capital improvements to the System, and to
refund any and all outstanding bonds and general obligation bonds of the City issued for water and
sewer purposes. The Act empowers the Board to lease the System from the City and to fix and collect
rates, fees, rents and other charges for the use of, or for services furnished, rendered, or made available
by, the System, to produce cash sufficient to pay debt service on the Authority’s bonds and to place the
System on a self-sustaining basis.

The Financing Agreement (the “Agreement”) provides that the Authority will issue bonds to finance
the cost of capital investment in the water and sewer system serving the City. It also sets forth the
funding priority for the debt service costs of the Authority, operating costs of the water and sewer
system, and the rental payment to the City.

The physical operation and capital improvements of the System are performed by the City’s
Department of Environmental Protection subject to contractual agreements with the Authority and the
Board.

In accordance with Statement No. 14, as amended by Statements No. 34 and 39 of the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”), the Board and the Authority are considered to be part of the
same reporting entity (the “System”) since they are fiscally interdependent. Accordingly, the
accompanying financial statements for the System present the individual financial statements of the
Board and the Authority as major funds. In addition, the accompanying financial statements present a
total column which represents the entity-wide financial statements of the System. Transactions and
balances between the Board and the Authority are eliminated in the entity-wide financial statements.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accompanying financial statements of the System have been prepared on the accrual basis of

accounting. Revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred. GASB
Statement No. 20, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and Other Government
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New York City Water and Sewer System
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 2 (continued)

Entities that Use Proprietary Funds,” provides proprietary activities with a choice of authoritative
guidance issued after November 30, 1989. The System has elected to follow GASB pronouncements
exclusively after that date. Other significant accounting policies are:

a.  Investments and Cash Equivalents

Investments and cash equivalents consist principally of securities of the United States and its
agencies, certificates of deposit, guaranteed investment contracts, and repurchase agreements.
Investments with maturity periods of greater than one year are carried at market value. Investments
with maturities less than one year are carried at cost which approximates fair value. For purposes of
the statements of cash flows, the System generally considers all highly liquid debt instruments
purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

b.  Restricted Assets

Proceeds from the issuance of debt and monies set aside for the operation and maintenance of the
System are classified as restricted by applicable bond indentures.

. Bond Discount and Bond Issuance Costs

Bond discount and bond issuance costs are amottized over the life of the related bond issue, using
the effective yield method of amortization for bond discount and bond issuance costs.

d. Utility Plant

Utility plant acquired through purchase or internal construction is recorded at cost, net of
retirements. It is the Board’s policy to capitalize assets over $35,000. Contributed utility plant is
recorded at its estimated historical cost based on appraisals or other methods when historical cost
information is not available, net of depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line
method based upon estimated useful lives, as follows:

Years
Buildings 40 - 50
Water supply and wastewater
treatment systems 15-50
Water distribution and sewage
collection systems 15-75
Equipment 5-35
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New York City Water and Sewer System
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 2 (continued)

Maintenance and repairs of property are charged to maintenance expense. Replacements and
betterments are recorded as utility plant.

e.  Operating Revenues and Operating Expenses

Operating revenues consist of customer payments for services of the System. Revenues are based
on billing rates imposed by the Board and upon customers’ water and sewer usage. The System
records estimated unbilled revenue at year-end. Operating expenses consist of administration,
maintenance, repair and operations of the System, administration costs of the Board and the
Authority, rental payments to the City, and bad debt expense.

J Deferred Revenues

Revenues received in advance of the petiod to which they relate are deferred and recorded as
revenue when earned.

&  Deferred Bond Refunding Costs

Deterred bond refunding costs represent the accounting loss incurred in advance refundings of
outstanding bonds. In accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 23, “Accounting
and Financial Reporting of Debt Reported by Proprietary Activities,” gains or losses arising from
debt refundings are deferred and amortized over the lesser of the remaining life of the old debt or
the life of the new debt.

. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions in
determining the amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilites at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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New York City Water and Sewer System

NOTE 3 - UTILITY PLANT

The following is a summary of utility plan

(in thousands):

Nondepreciable assets
Utility construction
Land
Depreciable assets

Buildings

Equipment

Water supply and
wastewater
treatment
systems

Water distribution
and sewage
collection
systems

Less accumulated
depreciation

June 30, 2006 and 2005

Balance at
June 30,

2004 Additions
$ 3,564,455  $1,530,441
142,409 -

22,071 -
378,333 46,535
9,619,222 534,474
7,196,035 418,255
20,922,525 2,535,705
5,748,397 460,458
$15,174,128 $2,075,247

Balance at

June 30,
Deletions 2005
$1,090,035  § 4,010,361

142,409 -

- 22,071
195 424,673
989 10,152,707
34,409 7.579,881
1,268,037 22,190,193
27,622 6,181,233
$1,240,415  $16,008,960
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

t activity for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2006 and 2005

Balance at
June 30,

Additions Deletions 2006
$1,704,324  $1,168,976 $ 4,546,209
195 - 22,266
49,430 2,069 472,034
733,770 - 10,886,477
285,806 21,561 7,844,126
2,773,525 1,192,606 23,771,112
450,860 16,584 6,615,509
$2,322,665 $1,176,022 $17,155,603



New York City Water and Sewer System
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS AND CASH DEPOSITS

da.

b,

Investments

Pursuant to the Water and Sewer General Revenue Bond Resolution and the Authority’s and the
Board’s investment guidelines, the Authority and the Board may generally invest in obligations of,
or guaranteed by, the U.S. government, certain highly rated obligations of the State of New York or
any subdivision or instrumentality thereof, certain certificates of deposit and similar instruments
issued by highly rated commercial banks; certain highly rated corporate securities or commercial
paper securitics, certain repurchase agreements with highly rated institutions; certain investment
agreements with highly rated institutions; certain highly rated money market funds; and certain
highly rated municipal obligations.

Cash Deposits

The System follows the New York City Banking Commission designations for the System’s bank
depositories. The Commission consists of the Comptroller, the Mayor, and the Finance
Commissioner of the City and uses independent bank rating agencies in part to assess the financial
soundness of each bank, and the banking relationships are under constant operational and credit
reviews. Each bank in which the System’s cash is deposited is required to have its principal office in
New York State and have capital stock, surplus, and undivided earnings aggregating at least $100
million. The System had $200 thousand on deposit at June 30, 2006 and 2005, which was covered

by Federal depository insurance and the remaining balance was uncollateralized.

At June 30, 2006 and 2005, the carrying amounts of bank deposits were $5.9 million and $6.7
million, respectively, and the bank balances were $7 million and $8.2 million, respectively.
The System had the following investments and maturities (in thousands):

Investment
Investment type 2006 2005 maturity
Certificate of Deposit $ 100 3 99 Greater than one year
U.S. Government securities 1,018,495 1,138,713 Less than one year
New York State securities 77,230 81,170 Greater than one year
Repurchase agreements 82,259 76,376 Less than one year
Guaranteed investment contracts 298,306 667,616 Greater than one year

$1,476,390 $1.963,974
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New York City Water and Sewer System
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 4 (continued)

All of the System’s investments in U.S. agencies catry the explicit guarantee of the U.S. Government.
At June 30, 2006, the System’s investment in New York State securities was rated AAA by Standard &
Poor’s and Aaa by Moody’s investment services. The System’s investments in guaranteed investment
contracts are not rated.

For an investment, custodial credit tisk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty,

the System will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. The System’s investments, other than repurchase agreements, are not
collateralized. All investments and collateral are held in the Authority’s name by the trustee or in the

Board’s name by the agent.

NOTE 5 - LEASE AGREEMENT

The Board is party to a long-term lease (the “Lease”) with the City, which transfers all the water and
sewer related real and personal propetty to the Board for the term of the lease. The Lease term
commenced on July 1, 1985, and continues until the later of the fortieth anniversary of the
commencement of the lease, or the date on which all bonds, notes or other obligations of the Authority
are paid in full, or provisions for such payment have been made pursuant to the applicable debt
instrument. The Lease provides for payments to the City to cover the following:

(a) an amount sufficient to pay the cost of administration, maintenance, repair and operation of the
leased property, which includes overhead costs incurred by the City attributable to the leased
property, net of the amount of any Federal, State, ot other operating grants received by the City;

(b) an amount sufficient to reimburse the City for capital costs incurred by the City for the
construction of capital improvements to the leased property which are not paid or reimbursed
from any other source.

In addition to the payments described above, the Board pays rent to the City in each fiscal year inan
amount not to exceed the greater of (a) the principal and interest payable on general obligation bonds
issued by the City for water and sewer purposes certified by the City to be paid within such fiscal year
or (b) 15% of principal and interest payable on the bonds of the Authority to be paid within such fiscal
year.
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New York City Water and Sewer System
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 5 (continued)

A summary of operation and maintenance expenses for the years ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 is as
tollows (in thousands)

2006 2005
Water transmission and distribution $ 332,174 $291,488
Sewer collection systems 392,071 355,581
City agency support cost 54,387 53,562
Fringe benefits 83,212 83,425
Payments for watershed improvements 66,833 45,595
Judgments and claims 8,241 6,081
936,918 835,732
Rental payments to the City 119,461 109,187
$1.056,379 $944,919

NOTE 6 - PAYABLE TO AND RECEIVABLE FROM THE CITY

As of June 30, 2006 and 2005, all utility construction recorded by the System, which has not been
reimbursed to the City, has been recorded as a payable to the City, net of the amount of any State or
Federal capital grants received by the City.

As of June 30, 2006 and 2005, the System had a net payable of $317.6 million and $256.7 million,
respectively, from the City for payments of utility construction and for overpayment of operations and
maintenance expense.
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New York City Water and Sewer System
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 7 - SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES

In fiscal years 2005 and 2006, the changes in short-term liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

Balance at Balance at Balance at
June 30, June 30, June 30,
2004 Additions Deletions 2005 Additions Deletions 2006
Commercial paper (1) $800,000 $1,600,700 $1,600,700 $800,000 $1,392,800 $1,841,800 $351,000

(1) Commercial paper is used to pay construction costs in advance of long-term bond financing.

Commercial paper activity comprises the following for the year ended June 30, 2006 (in thousands):

Balance at Balance at
June 30, June 30,
2005 Issued Retired 2006

Commercial Paper Series 1 - Variable Rate,

Short-term Rolling Maturity Backed by

Letter of Credit $200,000 $ 600,000 $ 600,000 $200,000
Commercial Paper Series 5 - Variable Rate,

Short-term Rolling Maturity Backed by

Line of Credit 200,000 392,800 452,800 140,000
Commercial Paper Series 6 - Variable Rate,

Short-term Rolling Maturity Backed by

Line of Credit 200,000 200,000 389,000 11,000
Commercial Paper Series 7 - Variable Rate,
Short-term Rolling Maturity 200,000 200,000 400,000 -
Total commercial paper payable $800,000 $1,392,800 $1,841,800 $351,000
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New York City Water and Sewer System
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 8 - LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

In fiscal years 2005 and 2006, the changes in long-term liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

Balance at Balance at Balance at Due
June 30, June 30, June 30, within
Bonds pavable 2004 Additions Deletions 2005 Additions Deletions 2006 one vear
First resolution $ 9,742,813 $2,227,600 $1,335,817  $10,634,596  $1,431 080 81,171,123 §10,894,553 & 40,508
Second resolution  _ 3,490,104 621,034 111,683 3,999,455 1,186,847 146,504  _5.039.798 174,553
Total bonds
payable 13,232917 2,848,634 1,447 500 14,634,051 2,617927 1,317,627 15934351 $215,061
Less discounts
(net) 197,293 (60,464) 36,525 100,304 (31,860) 26,431 42,007
Less deferred
refunding costs 265,102 108,924 33,758 340,268 66,222 36,041 370,449
Total long-
term
liabilities $12.770,522 $2,800,174 $1,377,217  $14,193,479 $2,583,571 $1,255,155 $15,521,895

With respect to all series, the Board has agreed to maintain rates and charges to provide revenues at
levels sufficient to pay principal and interest requirements as well as to meet certain debt service
coverage and operating cost funding requirements. All series are specific obligations of the Authority
payable solely from and secured by a pledge of and lien on the gross revenue of the System, as defined.

During 2006 and 2005, the Authority issued $720.7 million and $1.2 billion, respectively, of bonds to
refund $683.3 million and $1.1 billion, tespectively, of outstanding bonds. The advance refundings
resulted in an accounting loss of $66.2 million and $108.9 million, respectively. The Authority in effect
reduced its aggregate debt service by $56.3 million and $107.4 million, respectively, and obtained an
economic benefit of $37.3 million and $62.7 million, respectively.

During 2006, the Authority economically defeased $70.4 million of bonds with current revenue. Bonds
economically defeased remain a liability, and the escrow deposited with the Authority’s trustee is an
asset on the Authority’s records.

During 2006 and 2005, the Authority defeased $60.1 million and $183.2 million, respectively, of

outstanding bonds with $60.1 million and $159.9 million, respectively, of current revenue, which
resulted in an accounting loss of $1.0 million and $13.9 million, respectively.
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New York City Water and Sewer System
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 8 (continued)

During 2005, the Authority issued $50 million of bonds that refunded $50 million of principal of the
2003 B issue in June 2006.

The Authority has defeased cumulatively $9.056 billion and $7.936 billion of outstanding bonds as of
June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, by placing proceeds of refunding bonds issued in an irrevocable
escrow account to provide for all future debt service payments on defeased bonds. Proceeds were used
to purchase U.S. Government securities that were placed in the irrevocable escrow account.
Accordingly, the escrow account assets and liabilities for the defeased bonds are not included in the
Authority’s financial statements.

As of June 30, 2006 and 2005, $6.883 billion and $5.991 billion of the defeased bonds, respectively, bad
been retired from the assets of the escrow accounts.

Debt service requirements to maturity including amounts relating to commercial paper at June 30, 2006
are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending June 30, Principal Interest (1) Total
2007 $ 566,061 $ 657,357 $ 1,223,418
2008 231,816 648,695 880,511
2009 247,072 642,737 889,809
2010 250,504 636,910 887,414
2011 328,066 629,437 957,503

2012-2016 1,799,996 2,978,798 4,778,794
2017-2021 2,365,410 2,606,692 4972102
2022-2026 2,646,230 2,127,089 4,773,319
2027-2031 3,352,250 1,520,028 4,872,278
2032-2036 3,235,770 754,929 3,990,699
2037-2039 1,262,176 136,888 1,399,064

$16,28 1 $13,339,560 $29,624,911

(1) Includes interest for variable rate bonds estimated at 3.97% which is the rate at the end of the fiscal
year. Variable rate bonds are sold daily or weekly and interest rates are determined by the market
on the day sold.
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June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 8 (continued)

Bonds, notes payable, and commercial paper comprise the following for the year ended June 30, 2006
(in thousands):

Balance at Balance at
June 30, Retired/ June 30,
2005 Issued defeased 2006

1991 Fiscal Series B - 6.00% to 7.25% Serial and

Term Bonds maturing in varying installments

through 2012 3 13,075 3 - 3 2,820 S 10,255
1992 Fiscal Series B - 6.66% to 6.86% Serial and

Term Bonds maturing in varying installments

through 2014 14,242 - 2,924 11,318
1993 Fiscal Series A - 5.875% to 6.0% Serial,

Term, and Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing

in varying installments through 2013 94,030 - 11,835 82,195
1993 Fiscal Series C - Adjustable Rate Term

Bonds maturing 2022 100,000 - - 100,000
1994 Fiscal Series 1 - 3.00% to 6.00% Serial Bonds

maturing in varying installments through 2013 31,805 - 305 31,500
1994 Fiscal Series C - Adjustable Rate Term

Bonds maturing in 2023 200,000 - - 200,000

1994 Fiscal Series G - Adjustable, Auction and

Leveraged Reverse Rate Bonds maturing in

varying installments through 2024 185,000 - - 185,000
1995 Fiscal Series A - Adjustable Rate Term

Bonds maturing in varying installments through

2025 210,700 - 6,000 204,700
1995 Fiscal Series 1 - 5.25% to 6.875% Serial

Bonds maturing in varying installments through

2016 28,930 - 2,435 26,495
1996 Fiscal Series B - 5.75% to 5.875% Serial

Bonds maturing in varying installments through

2026 376,610 - 376,610 -
1996 Fiscal Series C - 4.90% to 5.75% Serial

Bonds maturing in varying installments through

2017 30,275 - 820 29,455
1997 Fiscal Series A - 4.85% to 6.0% Serial Bonds
maturing in varying installments through 2026 131,545 - 1,000 130,545

1997 Fiscal Series B - 5.75% to 5.80% Serial
Bonds maturing in varying installments through
2029 100,000 - - 100,000
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NOTE 8 (continued)

1998 Fiscal Series 1 - 4.00% to 5.35% Serial Bonds
maturing in varying installments through 2017
1998 Fiscal Series 3 - 4.30% to 6.00% Serial Bonds
maturing in varving installments through 2016
1998 Fiscal Series 4 - 3.60% to 5.20% Serial Bonds
maturing in varving instaliments through 2018

1998 Fiscal Series 6 - 4.827% to 5.123% Setrial
Bonds maturing in varying installments through
2019

1998 Fiscal Series A - 4.80% to 5.125% Serial
Bonds maturing in varying installments through
2022

1998 Fiscal Series B - 5.125% to 5.25% Serial
Bonds maturing in varving installments through
2030

1998 Fiscal Series C - 4.30% to 5.125% Serial
Bonds maturing in varyving installments through
2021

1998 Fiscal Series D - 4.25% to 5.00% Serial and
Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing in varying
installments through 2025

1999 Fiscal Series 2 - 4.00% to 5.25% Serial
Bonds maturing in varving installments through
2020

1999 Fiscal Series A - 4.75% to 5.00% Serial
Bonds maturing in varying installments through
2031

1999 Fiscal Series B - 4.0% to 5.25% Serial, Term
and Capital x\pprcciation Bonds maturing in
varving installments through 2020

2000 Fiscal Series A - 5.50% to 5.75% Serial
Bonds maturing in vatying installments through
2032

2000 Fiscal Series B - 6.00% to 6.10% Serial
Bonds maturing in varying installments through
2033

2000 Fiscal Series C - Adjustable Rate Term
Bonds maturing in 2033

2000 Fiscal Series 2 - 3.80% to 5.96"% Serial
Bonds maturing in varying installments through
2019

Balance at
June 30,
2005

3 32,420
348,196

11,105

14,447

259,350

449,525

85,675

372,295

99,258

301,470

205,870

80,000

131,865

107,500

10,085
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__lssued

Retired/

_defeased

$ 1,985

35,158

735

814

3,035

225,055

1,375

13,025

4,693

33,960

80,000

505

Balance at
June 30,
2006

$ 30,435

313,038

10,370

13,633

256,315

224,470

84,300

359,270

94,565

301,470

171,910

131,865

107,500

9,580
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTE 8 (continued)

2001 Fiscal Series A - 5.50% Term Bonds
maturing in varying installments through 2033

2001 Fiscal Series B - 4.5% to 5 125% Serial and
Term Bonds maturing in varying installments
through 2031

2001 Fiscal Series C - 5.125% Term Bonds
maturing in varying installments through 2033

2001 Fiscal Series I - 4.5% to 5.5% Serial and
Capital Appreciation Bonds maturing in varying
installments through 2025

2001 Fiscal Series E - 4.5% to 5.25% Serial and
Term Bonds maturing in varying installments
through 2031

2001 Fiscal Series F - Adjustable Rate Bonds
maturing in varying installments through 2033

2002 Fiscal Series A - 5.00% to 5.75% Serial and
Term Bonds maturing in varying installments
through 2033

2002 Fiscal Series B - 3.625% to 5.00% Serial and
Term Bonds maturing in varying installments
through 2026

2002 Fiscal Series C - 4.1% to 5.125% Serial and
Term Bonds maturing in varying installments
through 2032

2002 Fiscal Series D - 3.0% to 4.90% Serial and
Term Bonds maturing in varying installments
through 2020

2002 Fiscal Series [T - 3.4% to 5.0% Serial and
Term Bonds maturing in varying installments
through 2026

2002 Fiscal Series F - 3.6% to 5.0% Serial and
Term Bonds maturing in varying installments
through 2029

2002 Fiscal Series G - 5.00% to 5.125% Term
Bonds maturing in varying installments through
2034

June 30, 2006 and 2005

Balance at
June 30,
2005 Issued

§ 328,225 $ -

68,100 ;

112,040 -

257,325 -

86,105 -

184,130 -

166,305 -

171,455 -

46,580 -

41,665 -

213,850 -

105,635 -

216,375 -
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Retired/

defeased

$ 328225

710

22,525

85

Balance at
June 30,

2006

67,390

112,040

234,800

86,105

184,130

166,305

171,455

46,580

41,580

213,850

105,635

216,375
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

NOTE 8 (continued)

2002 Fiscal Series 1 - 4.82% to 5.25% Serial
Bonds maturing in varying installments
through 2031

2002 Fiscal Series 2 - 4.22% to 5.00% Serial
Bonds maturing in varving installments
through 2031

2002 Fiscal Series 3 - 4.65% to 5.00% Serial
Bonds maturing in varving installments
through 2031

2002 Fiscal Series 4 - 5.13% to 6.74% Serial
Bonds maturing in varving installments
through 2023

2002 Fiscal Series 5 - 3.82% to 5.21% Serial
Bonds maturing in varving installments
through 2031

20072 Fiscal Series 6 - 3.82% to 5.21% Serial
Bonds maturing in varving installments
through 2019

2002 Fiscal Series 7 - 7.4% to 7.5% Serial Bonds
maturing in varving installments through 2012

2003 Fiscal Series A - 4.0% to 6.0% Serial, Term
and Muni-CP1 Bonds maturing in varying
installments through 2034

2003 Fiscal Series B - 4.0% to 5.25% Refundable
Principal Installment Bonds maturing in
varving installments through 20006

2003 Fiscal Seties C Adjustable Rate Bonds
matuaring in 2013

2003 Fiscal Series D - 2.0% to 5.25% Serial and
Term Bonds maturing in varving installments
through 2017

2003 Fiscal Series E - 5% Term Bonds maturing
in 2034 and 2038

2003 Fiscal Series F - Adjustable Rate Bonds
maturing in 2035

2003 Fiscal Series 1 - 4.23% to 4.375% Serial
Bonds maturing in varying installments
through 2032

June 30, 2000 and 2005

Balance at
June 30,

2005

$

D-34

186,229

64,281

77213

208,363

169,116

85,980

7,540

689,180

50,000

300,300

218,145
367,265

201,655

141,854

Issued

Retired/

defeased

$ 559

2,446

13,903

7,830

5,234

4,661

1,615

50,000

1,790

4,441

Balance at

June 30,

$

2006

180,638

61,835

463,310

200,533

>

163,882

81,319

5,925

689,180

300,300

216,355
367,265

>

201,655

137,413



New York City Water and Sewer System
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 8 (continued)

Balance at Balance at
June 30, Retired/ June 30,
2005 Issued defeased 2006

2003 Fiscal Series 2 - 5.27% Serial Bonds maturing

in varying installments through 2028 S 572,959 ) - $ 11,295 $ 561,664
2003 Fiscal Series 3 - 5.15% Serial Bonds maturing

in varying installments through 2025 20,490 - 665 19,825
2003 Fiscal Series 4 - 5.18%) Serial Bonds maturing

in varying installments through 2025 32,615 - 1,070 31,545
2003 Fiscal Seties 5 - 4.23% to 4.45% Serial Bonds

maturing in varying installments through 2032 280,637 - 8,707 277,920
2004 Fiscal Series A - 5.0% Term Bonds maturing

in 2027 and 2035 217,000 - - 217,000

2004 Fiscal Series B - 2.00% - 5.00% Serial and

Term Bonds maturing in varying installments

through 2023 340,245 - 1,745 338,500
2004 Fiscal Series C - 2.00% - 5.00% Serial and

Term Bonds maturing in varying installments

through 2035 596,310 - 565 595,745
2004 Fiscal Series 1 - 4.12% - 4.45% Serial Bonds

maturing in varying installments through 2033 294912 - 7,345 287,567
2004 Fiscal Series 2 - 4.46% Serial Bonds maturing

in varying installments through 2026 255,154 - 6,091 249.063
2005 Fiscal Series A - 5.00% Serial Bonds

maturing in varying installments through 2039 150,000 - - 150,000
2005 Fiscal Seties B - 2.125% - 5.00% Serial Bonds

maturing in varying installments through 2036 922,030 - 1,025 921,005
2005 Fiscal Seties C - 3.00% - 5.00% Serial Bonds

maturing in varying installments through 2036 576,445 - 710 575,735
2005 Series D - 5.00% Serial Bonds maturing in

varying installments through 2039 559,205 - - 559,205
2005 Fiscal Series 1 - 3.95% - 5.00% Bonds

maturing in varying installments through 2034 229,965 - 6,019 223,946
2005 Fiscal Series 2 - 2.567% - 5.00% Bonds

matuting in varying installments through 2026 389,900 - 8,626 381,274
2006 Series A - 3.50% - 5.00% Serial Bonds maturing in

varying installments through 2039 - 524,530 5,285 519,245
2006 Series B - 5.00% Term Bonds maturing in 2036 150,000 - 150,000
2006 Series C - 4.50% - 4.75% Term Bonds maturing in

2033 - 350,345 - 350,345
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June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 8 (continued)

2006 Fiscal Series D - 4.5% - 5.00% Serial Bonds
maturing in varying installments through 2038

2006 Fiscal Series AA - Adjustable rate bonds
maturing in varying installments through 2032

2006 Fiscal Series BB - 3.25% - 5.00% Serial
Bonds maturing in varying installments through
2016

2006 Fiscal Series 1 - Adjustable rate bonds
maturing in varying installments through 2036

2006 Fiscal Series 2 - Adjustable rate bonds
maturing in varying installments through 2036

2006 Fiscal Series 3 - Adjustable rate bonds
maturing in varying installments through 2036

Total debt payable
Current portion of bonds and notes payable

Bonds and notes payable, less current portion

Derivatives

Balance at
June 30,
2005 Issued
$ - $ 406,205
- 400,000
- 100,000
- 229,018
- 201,441
- 256,388
14,634,051 $2,017,927
237,984
$14,396,067

Retired/
defeased

4,334

$1.317,627

Balance at
June 30,
_ 2006
$ 406,205

400,000

100,000
224,684
201,441
256,388
15,934,351

— 215,061

$15,719,290

In 2004, the Authority entered into a $200 million interest rate exchange agreement under which the

Authority receives a fixed rate in exchange for a floatin

g rate based on the BMA Municipal Swap Index.

This effectively converted a portion of the Authority’s second resolution bonds issued through the New
York State Environmental Facilities Corporation to variable rate bonds. The terms of this agreement
require the Authority to pay the BMA index and the counterparty to pay 3.567%.

In keeping with market standards, the Authority ot the counterparty may terminate the swap if the other
party fails to perform under its terms as defined in the agreements. The Authority views termination

risk to be remote at this time. Depending on the fair value at the time of termination,

have a liability to the counterparties.

the Authority may

Through the swap agreements the Authority is exposed to credit risk, i.c., the risk that the counterparty
fails to perform its contractual obligations. The appropriate measurement of this risk at the reporting

date is the fair value of the swap. The fair value of the swaps at June 30, 2006 and 2005 was

approximately $5.8 million and $2.9 million, respectively, in favor of the counterparty. To mitigate
credit risk, the agreement requires the counterparty to post collateral for the Authority’s benefit if it is
downgraded below a designated threshold, as defined in the agreement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 9 - RESTRICTED ASSETS

Certain cash and investments, plus accrued interest and other receivables, of the System are restricted as
follows (in thousands):

2006 2005
The Board
Operation and maintenance reserve account $ 157,797 $ 145,683
Operation and maintenance reserve general account 10 10
157,807 145,693
The Authority
Revenue fund 171,859 152,544
Debt service reserve fund 787,808 754,672
Construction fund 62,097 245,070
Escrow fund 293,394 662,732
1,315,158 1,815,018

$1.472,965 $1.960,711

The operation and maintenance reserve account is established as a depository to hold the operations and
maintenance reserve fund as required by the Resolution. It is required to hold one-sixth of the
operating expenses as set forth in the annual budget. It is funded through the cash receipts of the
Board. The operation and maintenance reserve general account is established as a depository to hold all
excess funds of the Board after all legally mandated transfers have been made. It is available to meet any
deficiencies in the flow of funds including debt service and alternatively can be used as a financing
source for capital expenditures.

The revenue fund is established as a depository to fund the debt service, Authority expense, debt service
reserve and escrow funds. It is funded through cash transfers from the Board. The debt service reserve
fund is established as a depository to hold the maximum annual debt service requirement for the next
current or any future fiscal year. It is funded through revenue bond proceeds and the revenue fund.
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June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 9 (continued)

The debt service fund is established as a depository to pay all principal and interest payments on the
Authority’s debt for the current fiscal year. It is funded through the revenue fund. The construction
fund is established as a depository to pay all capital construction costs incurred by the City and
reimbursed by the Authority. Itis funded through the proceeds of bond and note sales. The escrow
fund is established as a depository to refund debt in future years. Itis funded through bond proceeds.

NOTE 10 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
a.  Construction

The System has contractual commitments of approximately $5,058 million and $4,395 million at
June 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, for water and sewer projects.

b.  Claims and Litigation

In accordance with the Lease, the Board is required to reimburse the City for any judgment or
settlement paid by the City arising out of a tort claim to the extent that the City’s liability is related
to capital improvements and the operation or maintenance of the System. However, in no event
shall the payment made to the City, in any fiscal year, exceed an amount equal to 5% of the
aggregate revenues shown on the prior year’s audited financial statements of the System. In
addition, the System is required to reimburse the City, to the extent requested by the City, for the
payment of any judgment or settlement arising out of a contract claim with respect to the
construction of capital improvements. In addition, the City has agreed, subject to certain
conditions, to indemnify the Authority, the Board and their staffs against any and all liability in
connection with any act done or omitted in the exercise of their powers which is taken or omitted in
good faith in pursuance of their purposes under the Act. Currently, the City is a defendantin a
significant number of lawsuits pertaining to the System. The litigation includes, but is not limited
to, actions commenced and claims asserted against the City arising out of alleged torts, alleged
breaches of contract, condemnation proceedings and other alleged violations of law. As of June 30,
2006, the potential future liability attributable to the System for claims outstanding against the City
was estimated to be $110.5 million. This amount is included in the estimated liability for unsettled
claims, which is reported in the City’s balance sheet. The potential future liability is the City’s best
estimate based on available information. The estimate may be revised as further information is
obtained and as pending cases are litigated.
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June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 10 (continued)
. Arbitrage Rebate

To maintain the exemption from Federal income tax of interest on bonds issued subsequent to
January 1, 1986, the System will fund amounts required to be rebated to the Federal Government
pursuant to Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™). The
Code requires the payment to the United States Treasury of the excess of the amount earned on all
nonpurpose obligations over the amount that would have been earned if the gross proceeds of the
issue were invested at a rate equal to the yield on the issue, together with any earnings attributable to
such excess. Construction funds, debt service funds or any other funds or accounts funded with
proceeds of such bonds, including earnings, or pledged to or expected to be used to pay interest on
such bonds are subject to this requirement. Payment is to be made after the end of the fifth bond
year and after every fifth bond year thereafter, and within 60 days after tetirement of the bonds.
During 2006 and 2005, the System paid $882 thousand and $232 thousand, respectively, in rebates.
At June 30, 2006 and 2005, the Authority had a liability of $7.493 million and $7.279 million,
respectively.

NOTE 11 - PENSION PLANS

During 2006, the System employed eleven individuals at the Water Authority. Pension expense for
these employees totaled $101,000. All other personnel are employees of the City and are covered under
the City’s pension plan. The System pays the costs of those employees’ pension through an allocation
of fringe benefit costs, which are included within operations and maintenance expenses in the
accompanying financial statements.

NOTE 12 - OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
Plan Description
The Authority’s policy is to provide certain health and related benefits to eligible retirees of the
Authority, which constitute another post-employment benefit (“‘OPEB”) plan (the “Plan”) in accordance

with GASB Statement No. 45, “Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment
Benefits Other Than Pensions.”
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NOTE 12 (continued)

The Authority’s policy is to follow the eligibility criteria applicable to retirees of the City and to provide
benefits substantially the same as those provided to City retirees and eligible beneficiaries /dependents.
OPEB benefits include health insurance, Medicare Part B reimbursements, and welfare fund
contributions.

Funding Policy

The Authority is not required to provide funding for OPEB, other than the pay-as-you-go amount
necessary to provide current benefits to retirees and eligible beneficiaries/dependents. For the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2006, the Authority had no retirees, and thus made no contribution to the Plan. Plan
members are not required to contribute to the plan, although retirees may elect basic health insurance
programs and/or optional coverage that require contributions.

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation

The Authority’s annual OPEB cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual required contribution of
the employer (“ARC”), an amount that was actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of
GASB Statement No. 45. The frozen entry age cost method was used in the actuarial valuation prepared
as of June 30, 2005, which was the basis for the 2006 ARC calculation.

The following table shows the elements of the Authority’s annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount
actually contributed to the Plan, and changes in the Authority’s net OPEB obligation to the Plan for the
year ended June 30, 2000:

Amount
Normal cost $ 74,354
Amortization of unfunded actuarial liability
over one year 308,348
Interest at 4.0% 15,308
Annual required contribution $398,010
OPEB cost (expense) for fiscal 2006 $398,010
Contributions made -
Increase in net OPEB obligation 398,010
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year -
Net OPEB obligation - end of year $398,010
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NOTE 12 (continued)

The Authority’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the Plan, and
the net OPEB obligation for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006 were as follows:

Percentage of Net
Fiscal year Annual annual OPEB OPEB
ended OPEB cost cost contributed obligation
June 30, 2006 $398,010 0% $398,010

Funded Status and Funding Progress

As of June 30, 2005, the most recent (initial) actuarial valuation date, the Plan was 0.0% funded. The
actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $308 thousand, and the actuarial value of assets was $0,
resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (“UAAL”) of $308 thousand. The covered payroll
(annual payroll of active employees covered by the Plan) was $1 million, and the ratio of the UAAL to
the covered payroll was 29.6%.

Actnarial Methods and Assumptions

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future, such as assumptions about
future employment, mortality and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded
status of the Plan and the annual required contributions of the Authority are subject to continual revision
as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the types of benefits provided at the
time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and
employees to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are
designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities, consistent with the long-term
perspective of the calculations.

Lmplementation for Fiscal 2006
As a component unit of the City, the Authority is required to implement GASB No. 45 for its fiscal year

ended June 30, 2006, the year for which the City has implemented. As there was no pay-as-you-go
OPEB cost during fiscal 2005, no OPEB expense is reported for that year,
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NOTE 12 (continued)

The schedule of funding proggess, shown as required supplementary information below presents the
results of OPEB valuations as of June 30, 2005, and looking forward, the schedule will eventually
provide multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial values of plan assets are increasing or
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.

Required Supplementary Information (unaudited)

Schedule of Funding Progress

Actuarial
accrued UAAIL asa -
Actuarial Actuarial liability Unfunded percentage
valuation value of (AAL) - AAL Funded Covered of covered
date assets entry age (UAAL) ratio payroll payroll
6/30/05 $ - $308,348 $308,348 0% $1,041,223 . 29%

NOTE 13 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On October 25, 2006, the Authority issued fiscal 2007 Series AA Second Resolution Bonds in the
aggregate amount of $199.9 million to reimburse outstanding commercial paper notes, and to pay
certain costs of issuance.

On October 25, 2006, the Authority issued fiscal 2007 Series BB Second Resolution Bonds in the
aggregate amount of $134.4 million to refund outstanding bonds and to pay for certain costs of
issuance.
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APPENDIX E

FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL
September , 2007

New York City Municipal
Water Finance Authority

New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority
Water and Sewer System Adjustable Rate Revenue Bonds,
Fiscal 1993 Series C,

Fiscal 1994 Series C,

Fiscal 1994 Series G and
Fiscal 1995 Series A
(Final Opinion)

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the reoffering by the New York City Municipal
Water Finance Authority (the “Authority™), a body corporate and politic constituting a public benefit
corporation of the State of New York (the “State™), created and existing under and pursuant to the
Constitution and statutes of the State, including the Act (defined below), of $683,700.000 aggregate
principal amount of Water and Sewer System Adjustable Rate Revenue Bonds, Fiscal 1993 Series C.
Fiscal 1994 Series C, Fiscal 1994 Series G and Fiscal 1995 Series A (collectively, the “Reoffered Bonds™),
issued under and pursuant to the New York City Municipal Water Finance Authority Act, being Title 2-A
of Article 5 of the Public Authorities Law of the State, as amended (which, together with Section 1046
of the Public Authorities Law of the State, is herein referred to as the “Act™) and a resolution of the
Authority adopted November 14, 1985 entitled “Water and Sewer System General Revenue Bond
Resolution,” as amended and supplemented to the date hereof (the “Resolution”). including by
resolutions adopted June 28, 2007 entitled (i) “Amended and Restated Nincteenth Supplemental
Resolution,” (ii) “Amended and Restated Twenty-First Supplemental Resolution,” (iii) *Amended and
Restated Twenty-Fourth Supplemental Resolution™ and (iv) “Amended and Restated Twenty-Seventh
Supplemental Resolution™ (collectively, the “Supplemental Resolutions™) authorizing the Reoffered
Bonds. The Reoffered Bonds are part of an issue of bonds of the Authority (the “Bonds™) which the
Authority has created under the terms of the Resolution and is authorized to issue from time to time for
the purposes authorized by the Act and the Resolution. as then in effect, and without limitation as to
amount except as provided in the Resolution or as may be limited by law. The Reoffered Bonds are being
issued for the purposes of the Resolution. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meanings ascribed thereto in the Resolution.

Pursuant to the Act, the New York City Water Board (the “Board™), a public benefit corporation of
the State, created and existing under the laws of the State, and The City of New York (the “City”), a
municipal corporation of the State, have entered into a lease agreement, dated as of July 1, 1985, as
amended (the “Lease™), whereby the Board has leased the New York City Water and Sewer System from
the City for a term ending on the date on which all bonds, notes or other obligations of the Authority have
been paid in full or provision for such payment shall have been made in accordance with the instruments
under which they were issued. Pursuant to the Act, the Authority, the Board and the City have entered
into a financing agreement, dated July 1, 1985, as amended (the “Financing Agreement”), related to,
among other things, the financing Water Projects.

In such connection, we have reviewed the Resolution. the Supplemental Resolutions, the Lease, the
Financing Agreement and the Tax Certificate of the Authority (the “Tax Certificate™), opinion of
Corporation Counsel of The City of New York, certificates of the Authority, the Trustee and others, and
such other documents, opinions and matters to the extent we deemed necessary to render the opinions set
forth herein.

The opinions expressed herein are based on an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings and court
decisions and cover certain matters not directly addressed by such authorities. Such opinions may be
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affected by actions taken or omitted or events occurring after the date hereof. We have not undertaken
to determine, or to inform any person, whether any such actions are taken or omitted or events do occur
or any other matters come to our attention after the date hereof, and we disclaim any obligation to update
this letter. We have assumed the genuineness of all documents and signatures presented to us (whether
as originals or as copies) and the due and legal execution and delivery thereof by, and validity against, any
parties other than the Authority. We have assumed, without undertaking to verify, the accuracy of the
factual matters represented, warranted or certified in the documents, and of the legal conclusions
contained in the opinions, referred to in the third paragraph hereof. Furthermore, we have assumed
compliance with all covenants and agreements contained in the Resolution, the Supplemental Resolu-
tions, the Lease, the Financing Agreement and the Tax Certificate, including (without limitation)
covenants and agreements compliance with which is necessary to assure that future actions, omissions or
events will not cause interest on the Reoffered Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income
tax purposes. We call attention to the fact that the rights and obligations under the Reoffered Bonds, the
Resolution, the Supplemental Resolutions, the Lease, the Financing Agreement and the Tax Certificate
and their enforceability may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, fraudu-
lent conveyance, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights, to the application of
equitable principles and to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases. We express no opinion
with respect to any indemnification, contribution, penalty, choice of law, choice of forum, choice of venue,
waiver or severability provisions contained in the foregoing documents, nor do we express any opinion
with respect to the state or quality of title to or interest in any of the real or personal property described
in or as subject to the lien of the Resolution, the Supplemental Resolutions, the Lease or the Financing
Agreement, or the accuracy or sufficiency of the description contained therein of, or the remedies
available to enforce liens on, any such property. Finally, we undertake no responsibility for the accuracy,
completeness or fairness of the Reoffering Circular or other offering material relating to the Reoffered
Bonds and express no opinion with respect thereto herein.

Based on and subject to the foregoing, and in reliance thereon, as of the date hereof we are of the
following opinions:

1. The Authority is a body corporate and politic constituting a public benefit corporation of the
State, duly created and existing under the laws of the State with the right and lawful authority and power
to enter into the Financing Agreement, to adopt the Resolution and the Supplemental Resolutions and
to issue the Reoffered Bonds.

2. The Resolution and the Supplemental Resolutions have been duly and lawfully adopted by the
Authority, are in full force and effect and are the legal, valid and binding agreements of the Authority
enforceable in accordance with their terms. The Resolution and the Supplemental Resolutions create the
valid, binding and perfected pledges they purport to create of the Revenues and any moneys or securities
on deposit in the Funds and Accounts created thereby for the repayment of the Bonds, subject only to the
provisions of the Resolution, the Supplemental Resolutions and the Financing Agreement permitting the
application thereof for or to the purposes and on the terms and conditions permitted thereby, including
the making of any required payments to the United States with respect to arbitrage earnings.

3. The Reoffered Bonds have been duly and validly authorized and issued. The Reoffered Bonds
are valid and binding special obligations of the Authority payable as provided in the Resolution, are
enforceable in accordance with their terms and the terms of the Resolution and are entitled, together with
all other Bonds issued under the Resolution to the benefits of the Resolution and the Act.

4. The Reoffered Bonds are payable solely from the Revenues and other amounts pledged to such
payment under the Resolution. The Reoffered Bonds are not a debt of the State, the City or the Board
and neither the State, the City, the Board nor any other political subdivision of the State is liable thereon.

5. The Lease and the Financing Agreement have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by
the respective parties thereto and constitute valid and binding obligations of such parties, enforceable in
accordance with their terms.

6. The Revenues derived from the operation of the System are the property of the Board. The
Financing Agreement validly transfers the right, title and interest of the Board in the Revenues to the
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Authority to the extent and as provided in the Financing Agreement, subject only to the provisions of the
Act. the Financing Agreement and the Resolution permitting the application thereof for or to the
purposes. and on the terms and conditions, therein set forth.

7. By virtue of the Act. the Authority has a valid, binding and perfected statutory lien upon the
Revenues to be paid by the Board to the Authority pursuant to the Financing Agreement and such lien
constitutes a first priority security interest therein.

8. Interest on the Reoffered Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes
under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. Interest on the Reoffered Bonds is not a specific
preference item for purposes of the federal individual or corporate alternative minimum taxes, although
we observe that it is included in adjusted current earnings when calculating corporate alternative
minimum taxable income. Interest on the Reoffered Bonds is exempt from personal income taxes
imposed by the State of New York and any political subdivision thereof (including The City of New York).
We express no opinion regarding other tax consequences related to the ownership or disposition of, or the
accrual or receipt of interest on, the Reoffered Bonds.

In rendering the opinions set forth in paragraphs 5 and 6 above, we wish to advise you that we have,
with your consent, relied upon the opinion of Corporation Counsel of The City of New York dated the
date hereof and addressed to you as to the validity, binding effect and enforceability of the Lease and the
Financing Agreement with respect to the Board and the City. In rendering the priority of lien opinion set
forth in paragraph 7 above. we have (i) relied upon a certification by the Board that it has not made or
granted a pledge of or security interest in the Revenues to any person other than the Authority and that
it has not taken any action which could result in the imposition by operation of law of any lien, charge or
encumbrance upon the Revenues, and (ii) assumed. without making any independent investigation, that
(1) no lien. charge or encumbrance upon the Revenues has been imposed or exists by operation of law
that is prior to the licn in favor of the Authority and (2) no facts or circumstances have occurred or exist
which could result in the imposition by operation of law of any lien, charge or encumbrance upon the
Revenues that is prior to the lien in favor of the Authority.

Faithfully yours,

ORRICK, HERRINGTON & SUTCLIFFE LLP
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APPENDIX F

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY FORM

The Depository Trust Company ("DTC™). New York. NY. will act as securities depository for the
Reoffered Bonds. The Reoffered Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name
of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nomince) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. One fully-registered bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the
Reoffered Bonds, cach in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with
DTC. in the aggregate principal amount of the Reoffered Bonds, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC. the world's largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New
York Banking Law. a “banking organization™ within the meaning of New York Banking L.aw, member of
the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation™ within the meaning of the New York Uniform
Commercial Codc. and a “clearing agency™ registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, DTC holds and provides assct servicing for over 2.2 million issues of
U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues. and money market instruments
from over 100 countries that DTC’s participants (the “Direct Participants™) deposit with DTC. DTC also
facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other sccurities transactions in
deposited securities, through clectronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct
Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct
Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. sccurities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies,
clearing corporations. and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (*DTCC™). DTCC, in turn, is owned by a number of Direct
Participants of DTC and Members of the National Securities Clearing Corporation, Fixed Income
Clearing Corporation. and Emerging Markets Clearing Corporation ("NSCC.” “FICC” and “EMCC”,
also subsidiaries of DTCC), as well as by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. the American Stock
Exchange LLC, and the National Association of Sccuritics Dealers Inc. Access to the DTC system is also
available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers. banks, trust companies,
and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant,
either directly or indircetly (the “Indircet Participants™). DTC has Standard & Poor’s highest rating:
AAA. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com or www.dtc.org.

Purchases of Reoffered Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct
Participants. which will receive a credit for the Reoffered Bonds on DTCY records. The ownership
interest of each actual purchaser of cach Reoffered Bond (*Beneticial Owner™) is in turn to be recorded
on the Dircct and Indireet Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation
from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations
providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings. from the Direct or
Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of
ownership interests in the Reoffered Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of
Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive
certificates representing their ownership interests in Reoffered Bonds, except in the event that use of the
book-entry system for the Reoffered Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Reoffered Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC
are registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co.. or such other name as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Reoffered Bonds with DTC and their
registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial
ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of any Reoffered Bonds; DTC’s
records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts the Reoffered Bonds are
credited. which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will
remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial
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Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Reoffered Bonds may wish to
take certain steps to augment transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the
Reoffered Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults and proposed amendments to the bond
documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Reoffered Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee
holding the Reoffered Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial
Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the Bond
Registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Reoffered Bonds within a maturity
are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct
Participant in such maturity to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the
Fiscal 2007 A Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures.
Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Authority as soon as possible after the
record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.s consenting or voting rights to those Direct
Participants to whose accounts the Reoffered Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing
attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal and interest payments on the Reoffered Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct
Participants’ accounts, upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the
Authority or Trustee on the payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s
records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and
customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or
registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC (nor its
nominee), the Trustee, or the Authority, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in
effect from time to time. Payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Reoffered Bonds to
Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the
responsibility of the Trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the
responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the
responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Reoffered Bonds at any
time by giving reasonable notice to the Authority or the Trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event
that a successor securities depository is not obtained, bond certificates are required to be printed and
delivered.

The Authority may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or
a successor securities depository). In that event, bond certificates will be printed and delivered.

Unless otherwise noted, the information contained in the preceding paragraphs of this subsection
“Book-Entry-Only System™ has been extracted from information given by DTC. Neither the Authority,
the Trustee nor the Broker-Dealers makes any representation as to the completeness or the accuracy of
such information or as to the absence of material adverse changes in such information subsequent to the
date hereto.

NEITHER THE AUTHORITY NOR THE TRUSTEE WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY
OR OBLIGATIONS TO SUCH DTC PARTICIPANTS, INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS, OR THE
PERSONS FOR WHOM THEY ACT AS NOMINEES WITH RESPECT TO THE PAYMENTS TO
OR THE PROVIDING OF NOTICE FOR SUCH DTC PARTICIPANTS, INDIRECT PARTICI-
PANTS, OR THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS.
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New York City
Drainage Areas and
Water Pollution Control Plants

Plant Capacity
Location MGD)
North River 170
Wards Island 250
Hunts Point 200
Newtown Creek 310 Hunts Point
Red Hook 60
26th Ward 85
Owls Head 120
Coney Island 100
Bowery Bay 150
Tallmans Island 80
Jamaica 100 Tallmans Island
Rockaway 45 N
Port Richmond 60 TR
Oakwood Beach 40 Creek

O Indicates Plant Location in Drainage Area
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APPENDIX H

AUCTION PROCEDURES

During an Auction Rate Mode, so long as the ownership of the Bonds is maintained in book-entry
form by the Securities Depository, an Existing Owner or a beneficial owner may sell. transfer or otherwise
dispose of a Bond only pursuant to a Bid or Sell Order in accordance with the Auction Procedures or to
or through a Broker-Dealer, except that (i) in the case of all transfers other than pursuant to Auctions
such Existing Owner or its Broker-Dealer or its Agent Member advises the Auction Agent of such
transfer and (ii) a sale, transfer or other disposition of Bonds from a customer of a Broker-Dealer who
is listed on the records of that Broker-Dealer as the holder of such Bonds to that Broker-Dealer or
another customer of that Broker-Dealer shall not be deemed to be a sale, transfer or other disposition for
purposes of this paragraph if such Broker-Dealer remains the Existing Owner of Bonds so sold,
transferred or disposed of immediately after such sale, transfer or disposition.

For purposes of this Appendix, the term “Bonds” refers to the Reoffered Bonds while they are in the
Auction Rate Mode and the term “Subseries™ refers to both Subseries and Series of Bonds.

Definitions

“Agent Member” means a member of, or participant in, the Securities Depository who shall act on
behalf of a Bidder.

~All Hold Rate™ means, as of any Auction Date, 55% of the Index in effect on such Auction Date
for any Bond the interest on which is not includable in gross income of the beneficial owner of such Bond
for federal income tax purposes and 90% of the Index in effect on such Auction Date for any Bond the
interest on which is includable in gross income of the beneficial owner of such Bond for federal income
tax purposes.

*ARS Conversion Date” means with respect to a Subseries of Bonds, the date on which the Bonds
of such Subseries convert from an interest rate period other than an ARS Rate Period and begin to bear
interest at the Auction Period Rate, including the Issue Date.

“ARS Rate Period” means, for each Subseries of Bonds, any period of time commencing on the day
following the Initial Period and ending on the earlier of the Conversion Date or the day preceding the
{inal maturity date of such Bonds.

“Auction” means each periodic implementation of the Auction Procedures.

“Auction Agent” means Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. or another Auction Agent appointed by the
Authority.

“Auction Agreement” means an agreement between the Auction Agent and the Trustee pursuant to
which the Auction Agent agrees to follow the procedures specified in this Appendix H with respect to the
Bonds while such Bonds bear interest at the Auction Period Rate, as such agreement may from time to
time be amended or supplemented.

“Auction Date” means with respect to any Subseries:

(a) Daily Auction Period. 1f a Subseries of Bonds is in a daily Auction Period, each Business
Day unlcss such day is the Business Day prior to the conversion from a daily Auction Period to
another Auction Period,

(b) Flexible Auction Period. If a Subseries of Bonds is in a Flexible Auction Period, the last
Business Day of the Flexible Auction Period, and

(c) Other Auction Periods. 1f a Subseries of Bonds is in any other Auction Period, the Business
Day next preceding each Interest Payment Date for such Bonds (whether or not an Auction shall be
conducted on such date); provided, however, that the last Auction Date with respect to a Subseries
of Bonds in an Auction Period other than a daily Auction Period or Flexible Auction Period shall be
the earlier of (i) the Business Day next preceding the Interest Payment Date next preceding the
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Conversion Date for the Bonds and (ii) the Business Day next preceding the Interest Payment Date
next preceding the final maturity date for the Bonds; and

provided, further. that if a Subseries of Bonds is in a daily Auction Period, the last Auction Date shall be
the earlier of (x) the second Business Day next preceding the Conversion Date for the Bonds and (y) the
Business Day next preceding the final maturity date for the Bonds. The last Business Day of a Flexible
Auction Period shall be the Auction Date for the Auction Period which begins on the next succeeding
Business Day. if any. On the second Business Day preceding the conversion from a daily Auction Period
to another Auction Period. there shall be an Auction for the last daily Auction Period. On the Business
Day preceding the conversion from a daily Auction Period to another Auction Period, there shall be one
Auction for the first Auction Period following the conversion.

The first Auction Date for each Subseries is set forth on the inside front cover of this Reoffering
Circular.

“Auction Desk™ means the business unit of a Broker-Dealer that fulfills the responsibilities of the
Broker-Dealer under a Broker-Dealer Agreement, including soliciting Bids for the Bonds, and units of
the Broker-Dealer which are not separated from such business unit by information controls appropriate
to control, limit and monitor the inappropriate dissemination and use of information about Bids.

“ Auction Period” means with respect to each Series of Bonds:
(a) Flexible Auction Period. A Flexible Auction Period:

(b) Daily Auction Period. With respect to a Subseries of Bonds in a daily Auction Period, a
period beginning on each Business Day and extending to but not including the next succeeding
Business Day unless such Business Day is the second Business Day preceding the conversion from
a daily Auction Period to another Auction Period, in which case the daily Auction Period shall
extend to, but not include, the next Interest Payment Date:

(c) Seven day Auction Period. With respect to a Subseries of Bonds in a seven-day Auction
Period, if Auctions generally are conducted on the day of the week specified in column A of the table
below, a period of generally seven days beginning on the day of the week specified in column B of
the table below (or the day following the last day of the prior Auction Period if the prior Auction
Period does not end on the day of the week specified in column C of the table below) and ending on
the day of the week specified in column C of the table below in the next succeeding week (unless such
day is not followed by a Business Day, in which case on the next succeeding day which is followed
by a Business Day):

(A) (B) )
When Auctions Occur Auction Periods Generally Auction Periods Generally
on this day Begin this day End this day
Friday Monday Sunday
Monday Tuesday Monday
Tuesday Wednesday Tuesday
Wednesday Thursday Wednesday
Thursday Friday Thursday

(d) 28-day Auction Period.  With respect to a Subseries of Bonds in a 28-day Auction Period,
if Auctions generally are conducted on the day of the week specified in column A of the table above,
a period of generally 28 days beginning on the day of the week specified in column B of the table
above (or the day following the last day of the prior Auction Period if the prior Auction Period does
not end on the day of the week specified in column C of the table above) and ending on the same
day of the week specified in column C of the table above four weeks later (unless such day is not
followed by a Business Day, in which case on the next succeeding day which is followed by a Business
Day).

(¢) 35-day Auction Period. With respect to a Subseries of Bonds in a 35-day Auction Period, if
Auctions generally are conducted on the day of the week specified in column A of the table above,
a period of generally 35 days beginning on the day of the week specified in column B of the table
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above (or the day following the last day of the prior Auction Period if the prior Auction Period does
not end on the day of the week specified in column C of the table above) and ending on the day of
the week specified in column C of the table above five weceks later (unless such day is not followed
by a Business Day, in which case on the next succceding day which is followed by a Business Day).

(f) Three-month Auction Period. With respect to a Subseries of Bonds in a three-month
Auction Period. a period of generally three months (or shorter period upon a conversion from
another Auction Period or following an ARS Conversion Date) beginning on the day following the
last day of the prior Auction Period and ending on the calendar day immediately preceding the first
Business Day of the month that is the third calendar month following the beginning date of such
Auction Period; and

(g) Six-month Auction Period. With respect to a Subseries of Bonds in a six-month Auction
Period, a period of generally six months (or shorter period upon a conversion from another Auction
Period or following an ARS Conversion Date) beginning on the day following the last day of the
prior Auction Period and ending on the next succecding December 14 or June 14:

(h) Conversions. 1If there is a conversion of a Subseries of Bonds with Auctions generally
conducted on the day of the week specified in column A of the table above. (i) from a daily Auction
Period to a seven-day Auction Period, the next Auction Period shall begin on the date of the
conversion (i.e. the Interest Payment Date for the prior Auction Period) and shall end on the next
succeeding day of the week specified in column C of the table above (unless such day is not followed
by a Business Day, in which case on the next succeeding day which is followed by a Business Day).
(i) from a daily Auction Period to a 28-day Auction Period, the next Auction Period shall begin on
the date of the conversion (i.e., the Interest Payment Date for the prior Auction Period) and shall end
of the day of the week specified in column C of the table above (unless such day is not followed by
a Business Day, in which case on the next succeeding day which is followed by a Business Day) which
is more than 21 days but not more than 28 days from such date of conversion, and (iii) from a daily
Auction Period to a 35-day Auction Period, the next Auction Period shall begin on the date of the
conversion (i.e. the Interest Payment Date for the prior Auction Period) and shall end on the day of
the week specified in column C of the table above (unless such day is not followed by a Business Day,
in which case on the next succeeding day which is followed by a Business Day) which is more than
28 days but no more than 35 days from such date of conversion.

(i) Automatic Conversions. Notwithstanding the forcgoing, if an Auction is for an Auction
Period of more than seven days and the Auction Rate on such Auction Date is the Maximum Rate
as the result of a lack of Sufficient Clearing Bids, the Auction Period shall automatically convert to
a seven-day Auction Period. On the following Auction Date, the Auction shall be conducted for an
Auction Period of the same length as the Auction Period prior to such automatic conversion. If such
Auction is successful, the Auction Period shall revert to the length prior to the automatic conversion,
and, if such Auction is not successful, the Auction Period shall be another seven-day period.

“Auction Period Rate” means the Auction Rate or any other rate of interest to be borne by the
Bonds during each Auction Period determined as provided herein under the caption “Determination of
Auction Period Rate”: provided, however. in no event may the Auction Period Rate exceed the Maximum
Rate.

“Auction Procedures” means the procedures for conducting Auctions for Bonds during an ARS Rate
Period set forth in this Appendix H.

“Auction Rate” means for each Subseries of Bonds for each Auction Period. (i) if Sufficient Clearing
Bids exist, the Winning Bid Rate, provided, however, if all of the Bonds are the subject of Submitted Hold
Orders, the All Hold Rate for such Series of Bonds and (ii) if Sufficient Clearing Bids do not exist, the
Maximum Rate for such Series of Bonds.

“Auction Rate Mode” means the period during which the Bonds are in an Initial Period or an ARS
Rate Period.

“Authorized Denominations” means $25,000, or such other amount specified in the Certificate, and
integral multiples thereof so long as the Bonds bear interest at the Auction Period Rate, notwithstanding
anything else in the Authorizing Document to the contrary.
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“Authorizing Document” means the Resolution and the applicable Supplemental Resolution
authorizing the issuance of a Series of Bonds.

“Available Bonds” means, for each Series of Bonds on each Auction Date, the number of Units of
Bonds that are not the subject of Submitted Hold Orders.

“Bid" has the meaning specified herein under the caption “Order by Existing Owners and Potential
Owners.”

“Bidder” means each Existing Owner and Potential Owner who places an Order.

“Broker-Dealer” means any entity that is permitted by law to perform the function required of a
Broker-Dealer described in this Appendix, that is a member of. or a direct participant in, the Securities
Depository, that has been selected by the Authority and that is a party to a Broker-Dealer Agreement
with the Auction Agent and the Authority. The “Broker-Dealer of record™ with respect to any Bond is
the Broker-Dealer which placed the Order for such Bond or whom the Existing Owner of such Bond has
designated as its Broker-Dealer with respect to such Bond, in each case as reflected in the records of the
Auction Agent.

“Broker-Dealer Agreement” means an agreement among the Auction Agent, the Authority and a
Broker-Dealer pursuant to which such Broker-Dealer agrees to follow the procedures described in this
Appendix, as such agreement may from to time be amended or supplemented.

«Broker-Dealer Deadline” means, with respect to an Order, the internal deadline established by the
Broker-Dealer through which the Order was placed after which it will not accept Orders or any change
in any Order previously placed with such Broker-Dealer; provided. however. that nothing shall prevent
the Broker-Dealer from correcting Clerical Errors by the Broker-Dealer with respect to Orders from
Bidders after the Broker-Dealer Deadline pursuant to the provisions in this Appendix. Any Broker-
Dealer may change the time or times of its Broker-Dealer Deadline as it relates to such Broker-Dealer
by giving notice not less than two Business Days prior to the date such change is to take effect to Bidders
who place Orders through such Broker-Dealer.

“Business Day” in addition to any other definition of “Business Day” included in the Authorizing
Document, while Bonds bear interest at the Auction Period Rate. the term Business Day shall not include
Saturdays, Sundays, days on which the New York Stock Exchange or its successor is not open for business,
days on which the Federal Reserve Bank of New York is not open for business, days on which banking
institutions or trust companies located in the state in which the operations of the Auction Agent are
conducted are authorized or required to be closed by law, regulation or executive order of the state in
which the Auction Agent conducts operations with respect to the Bonds.

“Clerical Error” means a clerical error in the processing of an Order. and includes. but is not limited
to, the following: (i) a transmission error, including but not limited to, an Order sent to the wrong address
or number, failure to transmit certain pages or illegible transmission, (ii) failure to transmit an Order
received from one or more Existing Owners or Potential Owners (including Orders from the Broker-
Dealer which were not originated by the Auction Desk) prior to the Broker-Dealer Deadline or
generated by the Broker-Dealer’s Auction Desk for its own account prior to the Submission Deadline or
(iii) a typographical error. Determining whether an error is a “Clerical Error” is within the reasonable
judgment of the Broker-Dealer, provided that the Broker-Dealer has a record of the correct Order that
shows it was so received or so generated prior to the Broker-Dealer Deadline or the Submission Deadline,
as applicable.

«Conversion Date” means the date on which any Subseries of the Bonds begin to bear interest at a
rate which is determined other than by means of the Auction Procedures.

“Electronic Means” means, facsimile transmission, email transmission or other similar electronic
means of communication providing evidence of transmission, including a telephone communication
confirmed by any other method set forth in this definition.

“Error Correction Deadline” means one hour after the Auction Agent completes the dissemination
of the results of the Auction to Broker-Dealers without regard to the time of receipt of such results by
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any Broker-Dealer; provided, however, in no event shall the Error Correction Deadline extend past 4:00
p.m., New York City time, unless the Auction Agent experiences technological failure or force majeure
in disseminating the Auction results which causes a delay in dissemination past 3:00 p.m., New York City
time.

“Existing Owner” means a Person who is the beneficial owner of Bonds; provided, however, that for
purposes of conducting an Auction, the Auction Agent may consider a Broker-Dealer acting on behalf of
its customer as an Existing Owner.

“Flexible Auction Period” means with respect to a Subseries of Bonds.

(a) any period of 182 days or less which is divisible by seven and which begins on an Interest Payment
Date and ends (i) in the case of a Subseries of Bonds with Auctions generally conducted on Fridays, on
a Sunday unless such Sunday is not followed by a Business Day, in which case on the next succeeding day
which is followed by a Business Day. (ii) in the casc of a Subseries of Bonds with Auctions generally
conducted on Mondays, on a Monday unless such Monday is not followed by a Business Day. in which
case on the next succeeding day which is followed by a Business Day, (iii) in the case of a Subseries of
Bonds with Auctions generally conducted on Tuesdays, on a Tuesday unless such Tuesday is not followed
by a Business Day, in which case on the next succeeding day which is followed by a Business Day, (iv) in
the case of a Subseries of Bonds with Auctions generally conducted on Wednesdays, on a Wednesday
unless such Wednesday is not followed by a Business Day, in which case on the next succeeding day which
is followed by a Business Day, and (v) in the case of a Subseries of Bonds with Auctions generally
conducted on Thursdays. on a Thursday unless such Thursday is not followed by a Business Day, in which
case on the next succeeding day which is followed by a Business Day or

(b) any period which is longer than 182 days which begins on an Interest Payment Date and ends not
later than the final scheduled maturity date of such Subseries of Bonds.

“Hold Order” has the meaning specified herein under the caption “Orders by Existing Owners and
Potential Owners.”

“Index” has the meaning specified herein under the caption “Index.”

“Initial Period” means the period commencing on the Issue Date and extending to and including the
date set forth in this Reoffering Circular as the last day of the Initial Period for each Subseries of Bonds
and following an ARS Conversion Date the Initial Period will mean the period from the ARS Conversion
Date to but not including the first Interest Payment Date after the ARS Conversion Date.

“Initial Period Rate” has the meaning set forth in the applicable Supplemental Resolution.

“Interest Payment Date” with respect to a Subseries of Bonds bearing interest at Auction Period
Rates, means. notwithstanding anything else in the Authorizing Document to the contrary, the first
Interest Payment Date for such Subseries of Bonds as set forth on the inside cover of this Reoffering
Circular (a) when used with respect to any Auction Period other than a daily Auction Period or a Flexible
Auction Period, the Business Day immediately following such Auction Period, (b) when used with respect
to a daily Auction Period. the first Business Day of the month immediately succeeding the first date of
such Auction Period, (¢) when used with respect to a Flexible Auction Period of (i) seven or more but
fewer than 183 days, the Business Day immediately following such Flexible Auction Period, or (ii) 183 or
more days. each semiannual date on which interest on the Bonds would be payable if such Bonds bore
interest at a fixed rate of interest and on the Business Day immediately following such Flexible Auction
Period, and (d) the date when the final payment of principal of the Bonds of such Series becomes due and
payable (whether at stated maturity, upon redemption or acceleration, or otherwise).

“Issue Date” means September 17. 2007,

“Maximum Rate” means for any Bond in the Auction Rate Mode (i) 12% if the interest on such Bond
is not includable in gross income of the beneficial owner of such Bond for federal income tax purposes
and (i) 18% if the interest on such Bond is includable in gross income of the beneficial owner of such
Bond for federal income tax purposes.

“Order” means a Hold Order, Bid or Sell Order.
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“Potential Owner” means any Person, including any Existing Owner, who may be interested in
acquiring a beneficial interest in the Bonds in addition to the Bonds currently owned by such Person, if
any: provided. however, that for purposes of conducting an Auction, the Auction Agent may consider a
Broker-Dealer acting on behalf of its customer as a Potential Owner.

“Record Date” means, notwithstanding anything else in the Authorizing Document, while the Bonds
bear interest at the Auction Period Rate, the Business Day immediately preceding an Interest Payment
Date.

“Securities Depository” means, notwithstanding anything else in the Authorizing Document to the
contrary, The Depository Trust Company and its successors and assigns or any other securities depository
selected by the Authority.

“Sell Order” has the meaning specified herein under “Orders by Existing Owners and Potential
Owners.”

“Submission Deadline” means 1:00 p.m., New York City time, on each Auction Date not in a daily
Auction Period and 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on each Auction Date in a daily Auction Period, or
such other time on such date as shall be specified from time to time by the Auction Agent if directed in
writing by the Trustee or the Authority pursuant to the Auction Agreement as the time by which
Broker-Dealers are required to submit Orders to the Auction Agent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Auction Agent will follow the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association’s Early Market
Close Recommendations for shortened trading days for the bond markets (the “SIFMA Recommenda-
tion”) unless the Auction Agent is instructed otherwise in writing by the Trustee or the Authority. In the
event of a SIFMA Recommendation with respect to an Auction Date, the Submission Deadline will be
11:30 a.m., instead of 1:00 p.m., New York City time.

~Submitted Bid” has the meaning specified in subsection (b) under the caption “Determination of
Auction Rate.”

“Submitted Hold Order” has the meaning specified in subsection (b) under the caption “Determination
of Auction Rate.”

“Submitted Order” has the meaning specified in subsection (b) under the caption “Determination of
Auction Rate.”

“Submitted Sell Order” has the meaning specified in subsection (b) under the caption “Determination
of Auction Rate.”

“Sufficient Clearing Bids” means for each Subseries of Bonds, an Auction for which the number of
Units of such Bonds that are the subject of Submitted Bids by Potential Owners specifying one or more
rates not higher than the Maximum Rate is not less than the number of Units of such Bonds that are the
subject of Submitted Sell Orders and of Submitted Bids by Existing Owners specifying rates higher than
the Maximum Rate.

“Units” means a principal amount of Bonds equal to the minimum Authorized Denominations.

“Winning Bid Rate” means for each Subseries of Bonds, the lowest rate specified in any Submitted
Bid of such Subseries which if calculated by the Auction Agent as the Auction Rate would cause the
number of Units of such Bonds that are the subject of Submitted Bids specifying a rate not greater than
such rate to be not less than the number of Units of Available Bonds of such Subseries.

Orders by Existing Owners and Potential Owners
(a) Prior to the Broker-Dealer Deadline on each Auction Date:

(i) each Existing Owner may submit to a Broker-Dealer, in writing or by such other method as
shall be reasonably acceptable to such Broker-Dealer, one or more Orders as to:

(A) the principal amount of Bonds, if any, held by such Existing Owner which such Existing
Owner commits to continue to hold for the next succeeding Auction Period without regard to
the Auction Rate for such Auction Period,
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(B) the principal amount of Bonds, if any, held by such Existing Owner which such Existing
Owner commits to continue to hold for the next succeeding Auction Period if the Auction Rate
for the next succeeding Auction Period is not less than the rate per annum specified in such
Order (and if the Auction Rate is less than such specified rate, the effect of the Order shall be
as set forth in paragraph (b)(i)(A) of this Section), and/or

(C) the principal amount of Bonds. if any, held by such Existing Owner which such Existing
Owner offers to sell on the first Business Day of the next succeeding Auction Period (or on the
same day in the casc of a daily Auction Period) without regard to the Auction Rate for the next
succeeding Auction Period; and

(ii) each Potential Owner may submit to a Broker-Dealer, in writing or by such other method as
shall be reasonably acceptable to such Broker-Dealer, an Order as to the principal amount of Bonds,
which each such Potential Owner offers to purchase il the Auction Rate for the next succeeding
Auction Period is not less than the rate per annum then specified by such Potential Owner.

For the purposcs of the Auction Procedures an Order containing the information referred to in
clause (i)(A) above is referred to as a “Hold Order,” an Order containing the information referred to in
clause (1)(B) or (ii) above is referred to as a “Bid,” and an Order containing the information referred to
in clause (i)(C) above is referred to as a “Sell Order.”

No Auction Desk of a Broker-Dealer shall accept as an Order a submission (whether received from
an Existing Owner or a Potential Owner or generated by the Broker-Dealer for its own account) which
does not conform to the requirements of the Auction Procedures, including, but not limited to,
submissions which are not in Authorized Denominations, specify a rate which contains more than three
figures to the right of the decimal point or specify an amount greater than the amount of Outstanding
Bonds. No Auction Desk of a Broker-Dealer shall accept a Bid or Sell Order which is conditioned on
being filled in whole or a Bid which does not specify a specific interest rate.

(b)(1) A Bid by an Existing Owner shall constitute an offer to sell on the first Business Day of the
next succeeding Auction Period (or the same day in the case of a daily Auction Period):

(A) the principal amount of Bonds specified in such Bid if the Auction Rate for the next
succeeding Auction Period shall be less than the rate specified in such Bid; or

(B) such principal amount or a lesser principal amount of Bonds to be determined as
described in subsection (a)(v) under the caption “Allocation of Bonds™ if the Auction Rate for
the next succeeding Auction Period shall be equal to such specified rate; or

(C) a lesser principal amount of Bonds to be determined as described in subsection (b)(iv)
under the caption ~Allocation of Bonds™ if such specified rate shall be higher than the Maximum
Rate and Sufficient Clearing Bids do not exist.

(i) A Sell Order by an Existing Owner shall constitute an offer to sell:
(A) the principal amount of Bonds specified in such Sell Order; or

(B) such principal amount or a lesser principal amount of Bonds as described in subsection
(b)(iv) under the caption “Allocation of Bonds™ if Sufficient Clearing Bids do not exist.

(iii) A Bid by a Potential Owner shall constitute an offer to purchase:

(A) the principal amount of Bonds specitied in such Bid if the Auction Rate for the next
succceding Auction Period shall be higher than the rate specified therein; or

(B) such principal amount or a lesser principal amount of Bonds as described in subsection
(a)(vi) under the caption “Allocation of Bonds” if the Auction Rate for the next succeeding
Auction Period shall be equal to such specilied rate.

(c) Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding:
(1) If an Order or Orders covering all of the Bonds of a particular Series held by an Existing

Owner is not submitted to the Broker-Dealer of record for such Existing Owner prior to the

H-7



Broker-Dealer Deadline, such Broker-Dealer shall deem a Hold Order to have been submitted on
behalf of such Existing Owner covering the principal amount of Bonds held by such Existing Owner
and not subject to Orders submitted to such Broker-Dealer; provided, however, that if there is a
conversion from one Auction Period to a longer Auction Period and Orders have not been submitted
to such Broker-Dealer prior to the Broker-Dealer Deadline covering the aggregate principal amount
of Bonds of a Subseries to be converted held by such Existing Owner, such Broker-Dealer shall deem
a Sell Order to have been submitted on behalf of such Existing Owner covering the principal amount
of Bonds to be converted held by such Existing Owner not subject to Orders submitted to such
Broker-Dealer.

(ii) for purposes of any Auction, any Order by any Existing Owner or Potential Owner shall be
revocable until the Broker-Dealer Deadline, and after the Broker-Dealer Deadline, all such Orders
shall be irrevocable, except as provided herein under the caption “Submission of Orders by
Broker-Dealers to Auction Agent”; and

(i) for purposes of any Auction other than during a daily Auction Period, any Bonds sold or
purchased pursuant to subsection (b)(i), (ii) or (iii) above shall be sold or purchased at a price equal
to 100% of the principal amount thereof; provided that, for purposes of any Auction during a daily
Auction Period, such sale or purchase price shall be 100% of the principal amount thereof plus
accrued interest to the date of sale or purchase.

Submission of Orders by Broker-Dealers to Auction Agent

(a) Each Broker-Dealer shall submit to the Auction Agent in writing, or by such Electronic Means
as shall be reasonably acceptable to the Auction Agent, prior to the Submission Deadline on each
Auction Date for a Subseries of Bonds, all Orders with respect to Bonds of such Series accepted by such
Broker-Dealer in accordance with “Orders by Existing Owners and Potential Owners” above and
specifying with respect to each Order or aggregation of Orders pursuant to paragraph (b) below:

(i) the name of the Broker-Dealer;
(ii) the number of Bidders placing Orders, if requested by the Auction Agent;

(iii) the aggregate number of Units of Bonds of such Subseries, if any, that are the subject of such
Order, where each Unit is equal to the principal amount of the minimum Authorized Denomination
of the Bonds;

(iv) to the extent that such Bidder is an Existing Owner:

(A) the number of Units of such Subseries, if any, subject to any Hold Order placed by such
Existing Owner;

(B) the number of Units of such Subseries, if any, subject to any Bid placed by such Existing
Owner and the rate specified in such Bid; and

(C) the number of Units of such Subseries, if any, subject to any Sell Order placed by such
Existing Owner; and

(v) to the extent such Bidder is a Potential Owner, the rate specified in such Bid.

(b) If more than one Bid is submitted to a Broker-Dealer on behalf of any single Potential Owner,
the Broker-Dealer shall aggregate each Bid on behalf of such Potential Owner submitted with the same
rate and consider such Bids as a single Bid and shall consider each Bid submitted with a different rate a
separate Bid with the rate and the number of Units of Bonds specified therein.

A Broker-Dealer may aggregate the Orders of different Potential Owners with those of other
Potential Owners on whose behalf the Broker-Dealer is submitting Orders and may aggregate the Orders
of different Existing Owners with other Existing Owners on whose behalf the Broker-Dealer is submitting
Orders; provided, however, Bids may only be aggregated if the interest rates on the Bids are the same.

(c) None of the Authority, the Trustee or the Auction Agent shall be responsible for the failure of
any Broker-Dealer to submit an Order to the Auction Agent on behalf of any Existing Owner or Potential
Owner.
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(d) Nothing contained in this Appendix shall preclude a Broker-Dealcr from placing an Order for
some or all of the Bonds for its own account.

(e) Until the Submission Deadline, a Broker-Dealer may withdraw or modify any Order previously
submitted to the Auction Agent (i) for any rcason if the Order was generated by the Auction Desk of the
Broker-Dealer for the account of the Broker-Dealer or (ii) to correct a Clerical Error on the part of the
Broker-Dealer in the case of any other Order, including Orders from the Broker-Dealer which were not
originated by the Auction Desk.

(f) After the Submission Deadline and prior to the Error Correction Deadline, a Broker-Dealer may:

(i) submit to the Auction Agent an Order received from an Existing Owner, Potential Owner or
a Broker-Dealer which is not an Order originated by the Auction Desk, in each case prior to the
Broker-Dealer Deadline, or an Order generated by the Broker-Dealer’s Auction Desk for its own
account prior to the Submission Deadline (provided that in cach case the Broker-Dealer has a record
of such Order and the time when such Order was received or generated) and not submitted to the
Auction Agent prior to the Submission Deadline as a result of (A) an event of force majeure or a
technological failure which made delivery prior to the Submission Deadline impossible or, under the
conditions then prevailing, impracticable or (B) a Clerical Error on the part of the Broker-Dealer; or

(i1) modify or withdraw an Order received from an Existing Owner or Potential Owner or
generated by the Broker-Dealer (whether generated by the Broker-Dealer’'s Auction Desk or
elsewhere within the Broker-Dealer) for its own account and submitted to the Auction Agent prior
to the Submission Deadline or pursuant to clause (i) above, if the Broker-Dealer determines that
such Order contained a Clerical Error on the part of the Broker-Dealer.

In the event a Broker-Dealer makes a submission, modification or withdrawal pursuant to this
paragraph (f) and the Auction Agent has already run the Auction, the Auction Agent shall rerun the
Auction, taking into account such submission, modification or withdrawal. Each submission, modification
or withdrawal of an Order submitted pursuant to this paragraph (f) by a Broker-Dealer after the
Submission Deadline and prior to the Error Correction Deadline shall constitute a representation by the
Broker-Dealer that (A) in the case of a newly submitted Order or portion thereof or revised Order, the
failure to submit such Order prior to the Submission Deadline resulted from an event described in clause
(i) above and such Order was received from an Existing Owner or Potential Owner or is an Order
received from the Broker-Dealer that was not originated by the Auction Desk, in each case, prior to the
Broker-Dealer Deadline, or generated internally by such Broker-Dealer’s Auction Desk for its own
account prior to the Submission Deadline or (B) in the case of a modified or withdrawn Order, such Order
was received from an Existing Owner, a Potential Owner or the Broker-Dealer which was not originated
by the Auction Desk prior to the Broker-Dealer Deadline, or generated internally by such Broker-
Dealer’s Auction Desk for its own account prior to the Submission Deadline and such Order as submitted
to the Auction Agent contained a Clerical Error on the part of the Broker-Dealer and that such Order
has been modified or withdrawn solely to effect a correction of such Clerical Error, and in the case of
either (A) or (B), as applicable, the Broker-Dealer has a record of such Order and the time when such
Order was received or generated. The Auction Agent shall be entitled to rely conclusively (and shall have
no liability for relying) on such representation for any and all purposes of the Auction Procedures.

(g) If after the Auction Agent announces the results of an Auction, a Broker-Dealer becomes aware
that an error was made by the Auction Agent, the Broker-Dealer shall communicate such awareness to
the Auction Agent prior to 5:00 p.m. New York City time on the Auction Date (or 2:00 pm. New York
City time in the case of Bonds in a daily Auction Period). If the Auction Agent detecrmines there has been
such an error (as a result of either a communication from a Broker-Dealer or its own discovery) prior to
3:00 p.m. New York City time on the first day of the Auction Period with respect to which such Auction
was conducted, the Auction Agent shall correct the error and notify cach Broker-Dealer that submitted
Bids or held a position in Bonds in such Auction of the corrected results.

(h) Nothing contained herein shall preclude the Auction Agent from:

(i) advising a Broker-Dealer prior to the Submission Deadline that it has not received Sufficient
Clearing Bids for the Bonds; provided, however, that if the Auction Agent so advises any
Broker-Dealer, it shall so advise all Broker-Dealers; or
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(i) verifying the Orders of a Broker-Dealer prior to or after the Submission Deadline: provided,
however, that if the Auction Agent verifies the Orders of any Broker-Dealer, it shall verify the Orders
of all Broker-Dealers requesting such verification.

Treatment of Orders by the Auction Agent
Anything in this Appendix to the contrary notwithstanding:

(a) If the Auction Agent receives an Order which does not conform to the requirements of the
Auction Procedures, the Auction Agent may contact the Broker-Dealer submitting such Order until one
hour after the Submission Deadline and inform such Broker-Dealer that it may resubmit such Order so
that it conforms to the requirements of the Auction Procedures. Upon being so informed, such
Broker-Dealer may correct and resubmit to the Auction Agent any such Order that, solely as a result of
a Clerical Error on the part of such Broker-Dealer, did not conform to the requirements of the Auction
Procedures when previously submitted to the Auction Agent. Any such resubmission by a Broker-Dealer
shall constitute a representation by such Broker-Dealer that the failure of such Order to have so
conformed was solely as a result of a Clerical Error on the part of such Broker-Dealer. If the Auction
Agent has not received a corrected conforming Order within one hour and fifteen minutes of the
Submission Deadline, the Auction Agent shall, if and to the extent applicable, adjust or apply such Order,
as the case may be, in conformity with the provisions of subsections (b), (c) or (d) below and, if the
Auction Agent is unable to so adjust or apply such Order, the Auction Agent shall reject such Order.

(b) If any rate specified in any Bid contains more than three figures to the right of the decimal point,
the Auction Agent shall round such rate up to the next highest one thousandth of one percent (0.001%).

(c) If one or more Orders covering in the aggregate more than the number of Units of Outstanding
Bonds of a Subseries are submitted by a Broker-Dealer to the Auction Agent, such Orders shall be
considered valid in the following order of priority:

(i) all Hold Orders shall be considered Hold Orders, but only up to and including in the
aggregate the number of Units of Bonds of such Subseries for which such Broker-Dealer is the
Broker-Dealer of record:

(ii)(A) any Bid of a Broker-Dealer shall be considered valid as a Bid of an Existing Owner up
to and including the excess of the number of Units of Bonds of such Subseries for which such
Broker-Dealer is the Broker-Dealer of record over the number of Units of the Bonds of such
Subseries subject to Hold Orders referred to in clause (i) above;

(B) subject to clause (A) above, all Bids of a Broker-Dealer with the same rate shall be
aggregated and considered a single Bid of an Existing Owner up to and including the excess of
the number of Units of Bonds of such Subseries for which such Broker-Dealer is the
Broker-Dealer of record over the number of Units of Bonds of such Subseries for which such
Broker-Dealer is the Broker-Dealer of record subject to Hold Orders referred to in clause (i)
above;

(C) subject to clause (A) above, il more than one Bid with different rates is submitted by
a Broker-Dealer, such Bids shall be considered Bids of an Existing Owner in the ascending order
of their respective rates up to the amount of the excess of the number of Units of Bonds of such
Subseries for which such Broker-Dealer is the Broker-Dealer of record over the number of Units
of Bonds of such Subseries for which such Broker-Dealer is the Broker-Dealer of record subject
to Hold Orders referred to in clause (i) above; and

(D) the number of Units, if any, of such Bonds of such Subseries subject to Bids not
considered to be Bids for which such Broker-Dealer is the Broker-Dealer of record under this
clause (ii) shall be treated as the subject of a Bid by a Potential Owner:

(iii) all Sell Orders shall be considered Sell Orders, but only up to and including the number of
Units of Bonds of such Subseries equal to the excess of the number of Units of Bonds of such
Subseries for which such Broker-Dealer is the Broker-Dealer of record over the sum of the number
of Units of the Bonds of such Subseries considered to be subject to Hold Orders pursuant to clause
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(i) above and the number of Units of Bonds of such Subseries considered to be subject to Bids for
which such Broker-Dealer is the Broker-Dealer of record pursuant to clause (ii) above.

(d) If any Order is for other than an integral number of Units, then the Auction Agent shall round
the amount down to the nearest number of whole Units, and the Auction Agent shall conduct the Auction
Procedures as if such Order had been submitted in such number of Units.

(e) For purposes of any Auction other than during a daily Auction Period, if an Auction Agent has
been notified by the Trustee or the Authority that any portion of an Order by a Broker-Dealer relates to
a Bond which has been called for redemption on or prior to the Interest Payment Date next succeeding
such Auction. the Order shall be invalid with respect to such portion and the Auction Agent shall conduct
the Auction Procedures as if such portion of such Order had not been submitted.

(f) For purposes of any Auction other than during a daily Auction Period, no portion of a Bond which
the Auction Agent has been notified by the Trustee or the Authority has been called for redemption on
or prior to the Interest Payment Date next succeeding such Auction shall be included in the calculation
of Available Bonds for such Auction.

(g) If an Order or Orders covering all of the Bonds of a particular Subseries is not submitted by a
Broker-Dealer of record prior to the Submission Deadline, the Auction Agent shall deem a Hold Order
to have been submitted on behalf of such Broker-Dealer covering the number of Units for which such
Broker-Dealer is the Broker-Dealer of record and not subject to Orders submitted to the Auction Agent;
provided, however, that if there is a conversion from one Auction Period to a longer Auction Period and
Orders have not been submitted by such Broker-Dealer prior to the Submission Deadline covering the
number of Units of Bonds of a particular Subseries to be converted for which such Broker-Dealer is the
Broker-Dealer of record, the Auction Agent shall deem a Sell Order to have been submitted on behalf
of such Broker-Dealer covering the number of Units of Bonds to be converted for which such
Broker-Dealer is the Broker-Dealer of record not subject to Orders submitted by such Broker-Dealer.

Determination of Auction Period Rate

(a) If requested by the Trustee or a Broker-Dealer, not later than 10:30 a.m., New York City time (or
such other time as may be agreed to by the Auction Agent and all Broker-Dealers), on each Auction Date
for each Subseries of Bonds, the Auction Agent shall advise such Broker-Dealer (and thereafter confirm
to the Trustee, if requested) of the All Hold Rate, the Index and, if the Maximum Rate is not a fixed
interest rate, the Maximum Rate. Such advice, and confirmation, shall be made by telephone or other
Electronic Means acceptable to the Auction Agent.

(b) Promptly after the Submission Deadline for each Subseries of Bonds on each Auction Date, the
Auction Agent shall assemble all Orders submitted or deemed submitted to it by the Broker-Dealers
(each such Order as submitted or deemed submitted by a Broker-Dealer being hereinafter referred to as
a “Submitted Hold Order,” a “Submitted Bid” or a “Submitted Sell Order,” as the case may be, and
collectively as a “Submitted Order™) and shall determine (i) the Available Bonds, (ii) whether there are
Sufficient Clearing Bids, and (iii) the Auction Rate.

(c) In the event the Auction Agent shall fail to calculate or, for any reason, fails to provide the
Auction Rate on the Auction Date, for any Auction Period (i) if the preceding Auction Period was a
period of 35 days or less, (A) a new Auction Period shall be established for the same length of time as
the preceding Auction Period, if the failure to make such calculation was because there was not at the
time a duly appointed and acting Auction Agent or Broker-Dealer, and the Auction Period Rate for the
new Auction Period shall be the percentage of the Index set forth below if the Index is ascertainable on
such date (by the Auction Agent, if there is at the time an Auction Agent, or the Trustee, if at the time
there is no Auction Agent) or, (B) if the failure to make such calculation was for any other reason or if
the Index is not ascertainable on such date, the prior Auction Period shall be extended to the seventh day
following the day that would have been the last day of the preceding Auction Period (or if such seventh
day is not followed by a Business Day then to the next succeeding day that is followed by a Business Day)
and the Auction Period Rate for the period as so extended shall be the same as the Auction Period Rate
for the Auction Period prior to the extension, and (ii) if the preceding Auction Period was a period of
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greater than 35 days, (A) a new Auction Period shall be established for a period that ends on the seventh
day following the day that was the last day of the preceding Auction Period, (or if such seventh day is not
followed by a Business Day then to the next succeeding day which is followed by a Business Day) if the
failure to make such calculation was because there was not at the time a duly appointed and acting
Auction Agent or Broker-Dealer, and the Auction Period Rate for the new Auction Period shall be the
percentage of the Index set forth below if the Index is ascertainable on such date (by the Auction Agent,
if there is at the time an Auction Agent, or the Trustee, if at the time there is no Auction Agent) or. (B)
if the failure to make such calculation was for any other reason or if the Index is not ascertainable on such
date, the prior Auction Period shall be extended to the seventh day following the day that would have
been the last day of the preceding Auction Period (or if such seventh day is not followed by a Business
Day then to the next succeeding day that is followed by a Business Day) and the Auction Period Rate for
the period as so extended shall be the same as the Auction Period Rate for the Auction Period prior to
the extension. In the event a new Auction Period is established as set forth in clause (ii) (A) above, an
Auction shall be held on the last Business Day of the new Auction Period to determine an Auction Rate
for an Auction Period beginning on the Business Day immediately following the last day of the new
Auction Period and ending on the date on which the Auction Period otherwise would have ended had
there been no new Auction Period or Auction Periods subsequent to the last Auction Period for which
a Winning Bid Rate had been determined. In the event an Auction Period is extended as set forth in
clause (i) (B) or (i) (B) above, an Auction shall be held on the last Business Day of the Auction Period
as so extended to determine an Auction Rate for an Auction Period beginning on the Business Day
immediately following the last day of the extended Auction Period and ending on the date on which the
Auction Period otherwise would have ended had there been no extension of the prior Auction Period.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither new nor extended Auction Periods shall total more than 35
days in the aggregate. If at the end of the 35 days the Auction Agent fails to calculate or provide the
Auction Rate, or there is not at the time a duly appointed and acting Auction Agent or Broker-Dealer.
the Auction Period Rate shall be the Maximum Rate.

The percentage of the Index referred to above is specified below under the heading “Index.”

(d) In the event of a failed conversion from an Auction Period to any other period or in the event
of a failure to change the length of the current Auction Period due to the lack of Sufficient Clearing Bids
at the Auction on the Auction Date for the first new Auction Period, the Auction Period Rate for the next
Auction Period shall be the Maximum Rate and the Auction Period shall be a seven-day Auction Period.

(e) If the Bonds are no longer maintained in book-entry-only form by the Securities Depository, then
the Auctions shall cease and the Auction Period Rate shall be the Maximum Rate.

Allocation of Bonds

(a) In the event of Sufficient Clearing Bids for a Series of Bonds, subject to the further provisions of
subsections (¢) and (d) below, Submitted Orders for each Series of Bonds shall be accepted or rejected
as follows in the following order of priority:

(i) the Submitted Hold Order of each Existing Owner shall be accepted, thus requiring each such
Existing Owner to continue to hold the Bonds that are the subject of such Submitted Hold Order;

(ii) the Submitted Sell Order of each Existing Owner shall be accepted and the Submitted Bid
of each Existing Owner specifying any rate that is higher than the Winning Bid Rate shall be rejected,
thus requiring each such Existing Owner to sell the Bonds that are the subject of such Submitted Sell
Order or Submitted Bid;

(iii) the Submitted Bid of each Existing Owner specifying any rate that is lower than the Winning
Bid Rate shall be accepted, thus requiring each such Existing Owner to continue to hold the Bonds
that are the subject of such Submitted Bid;

(iv) the Submitted Bid of each Potential Owner specifying any rate that is lower than the
Winning Bid Rate shall be accepted, thus requiring each such Potential Owner to purchase the Bonds
that are the subject of such Submitted Bid;
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(v) the Submitted Bid of each Existing Owner specifying a rate that is equal to the Winning Bid
Rate shall be accepted. thus requiring each such Existing Owner to continue to hold the Bonds that
are the subject of such Submitted Bid. but only up to and including the number of Units of Bonds
obtained by multiplying (A) the aggregate number of Units of Outstanding Bonds which are not the
subject of Submitted Hold Orders described in clause (i) above or of Submitted Bids described in
clauses (iii) or (iv) above by (B) a fraction the numerator of which shall be the number of Units of
Outstanding Bonds held by such Existing Owner subject to such Submitted Bid and the denominator
of which shall be the aggregate number of Units of Outstanding Bonds subject to such Submitted
Bids made by all such Existing Owners that specified a rate equal to the Winning Bid Rate, and the
remainder, if any, of such Submitted Bid shall be rejected, thus requiring cach such Existing Owner
to sell any excess amount of Bonds;

(vi) the Submitted Bid of each Potential Owner specifying a rate that is equal to the Winning Bid
Rate shall be accepted, thus requiring cach such Potential Owner to purchase the Bonds that are the
subject of such Submitted Bid. but only in an amount equal to the number of Units of Bonds obtained
by multiplying (A) the aggregate number of Units of Outstanding Bonds which are not the subject
of Submitted Hold Orders described in clause (i) above or of Submitted Bids described in clauses
(iii), (iv) or (v) above by (B) a fraction the numerator of which shall be the number of Units of
Outstanding Bonds subject to such Submitted Bid and the denominator of which shall be the sum of
the aggregate number of Units of Outstanding Bonds subject to such Submitted Bids made by all
such Potential Owners that specified a rate equal to the Winning Bid Rate, and the remainder of such
Submitted Bid shall be rejected; and

(vii) the Submitted Bid of each Potential Owner specifying any rate that is higher than the
Winning Bid Rate shall be rejected.

(b) In the event there are not Sufficient Clearing Bids for a Subseries of Bonds, Submitted Orders
for each Subseries of Bonds shall be accepted or rejected as follows in the following order of priority:

(i) the Submitted Hold Order of each Existing Owner shall be accepted, thus requiring each such
Existing Owner to continue to hold the Bonds that are the subject of such Submitted Hold Order;

(ii) the Submitted Bid of each Existing Owner specifying any rate that is not higher than the
Maximum Rate shall be accepted. thus requiring each such Existing Owner to continue to hold the
Bonds that are the subject of such Submitted Bid:;

(1i1) the Submitted Bid of each Potential Owner specilying any rate that is not higher than the
Maximum Rate shall be accepted, thus requiring each such Potential Owner to purchase the Bonds
that are the subject of such Submitted Bid;

(iv) the Submitted Sell Orders of ecach Existing Owner shall be accepted as Submitted Sell
Orders and the Submitted Bids of each Existing Owner specifying any rate that is higher than the
Maximum Rate shall be deemed to be and shall be accepted as Submitted Sell Orders, in both cases
only up to and including the number of Units of Bonds obtained by multiplying (A) the aggregate
number of Units of Bonds subject to Submitted Bids described in clause (iii) of this subsection (b)
by (B) a fraction the numerator of which shall be the number of Units of Outstanding Bonds held by
such Existing Owner subject to such Submitted Sell Order or such Submitted Bid deemed to be a
Submitted Sell Order and the denominator of which shall be the number of Units of Outstanding
Bonds subject to all such Submitted Sell Orders and such Submitted Bids deemed to be Submitted
Sell Orders, and the remainder of each such Submitted Sell Order or Submitted Bid shall be deemed
to be and shall be accepted as a Hold Order and each such Existing Owner shall be required to
continue to hold such excess amount of Bonds; and

(v) the Submitted Bid of each Potential Owner specifying any rate that is higher than the
Maximum Rate shall be rejected.

(c) If, as a result of the undertakings described in paragraphs (a) or (b) above, any Existing Owner
or Potential Owner would be required to purchase or sell an aggregate principal amount of the Bonds that
is not an integral multiple of an Authorized Denomination on any Auction Date, the Auction Agent shall
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by lot, in such manner as it shall determine in its sole discretion, round up or down the principal amount
of the Bonds to be purchased or sold by any Existing Owner or Potential Owner on such Auction Date
so that the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds purchased or sold by each Existing Owner or
Potential Owner on such Auction Date shall be an integral multiple of such Authorized Denomination,
even if such allocation results in one or more of such Existing Owners or Potential Owners not purchasing
or selling any Bonds on such Auction Date.

(d) If, as a result of the undertakings described in paragraph (a) above, any Potential Owner would
be required to purchase less than an Authorized Denomination in principal amount of the Bonds on any
Auction Date, the Auction Agent shall by lot, in such manner as it shall determine in its sole discretion,
allocate the Bonds for purchase among Potential Owners so that the principal amount of the Bonds
purchased on such Auction Date by any Potential Owner shall be an integral multiple of such Authorized
Denomination, even if such allocation results in one or more of such Potential Owners not purchasing the
Bonds on such Auction Date.

Notice of Auction Period Rate

(a) On each Auction Date, the Auction Agent shall notify each Broker-Dealer that participated in
the Auction held on such Auction Date by Electronic Means acceptable to the Auction Agent and the
applicable Broker-Dealer of the following, with respect to each Subseries of Bonds for which an Auction
was held on such Auction Date:

(i) the Auction Period Rate determined on such Auction Date for the succeeding Auction
Period;

(ii) whether Sufficient Clearing Bids existed for the determination of the Winning Bid Rate;

(iii) if such Broker-Dealer submitted a Bid or a Sell Order on behalf of an Existing Owner,
whether such Bid or Sell Order was accepted or rejected and the number of Units, if any, to be sold
by such Existing Owner:

(iv) if such Broker-Dealer submitted a Bid on behalf of a Potential Owner, whether such Bid was
accepted or rejected and the number of Units, if any, to be purchased by such Potential Owner;

(v) if the aggregate number of Units to be sold by all Existing Owners on whose behalf such
Broker-Dealer submitted Bids or Sell Orders is different from the aggregate number of Units to be
purchased by all Potential Owners on whose behalf such Broker-Dealer submitted a Bid, the name
or names of one or more Broker-Dealers (and the Agent Member, if any, of each such other
Broker-Dealer) and the number of Units to be (A) purchased from one or more Existing Owners on
whose behalf such other Broker-Dealers submitted Bids or Sell Orders or (B) sold to one or more
Potential Owners on whose behalf such Broker-Dealer submitted Bids;

(vi) the amount of dividend or interest payable per Unit on each Interest Payment Date with
respect to such Auction Period: and

(vii) the immediately succeeding Auction Date.

(b) On each Auction Date, with respect to each Subseries of Bonds for which an Auction was held
on such Auction Date, each Broker-Dealer that submitted an Order on behaif of any Existing Owner or
Potential Owner shall: (i) if requested by an Existing Owner or a Potential Owner, advise such Existing
Owner or Potential Owner on whose behalf such Broker-Dealer submitted an Order as to (A) the
Auction Period Rate determined on such Auction Date, (B) whether any Bid or Sell Order submitted on
behalf of such Owner was accepted or rejected and (C) the immediately succeeding Auction Date;
(ii) instruct each Potential Owner on whose behalf such Broker-Dealer submitted a Bid that was accepted,
in whole or in part, to instruct such Potential Owner’s Agent Member to pay to such Broker-Dealer (or
its Agent Member) through the Securities Depository the amount necessary to purchase the number of
Units to be purchased pursuant to such Bid (including, with respect to the Bonds in a daily Auction
Period, accrued interest if the purchase date is not an Interest Payment Date for such Bond) against
receipt of such Bonds; and (iii) instruct each Existing Owner on whose behalf such Broker-Dealer
submitted a Sell Order that was accepted or a Bid that was rejected in whole or in part, to instruct such
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Existing Owner’s Agent Member to deliver to such Broker-Dealer (or its Agent Member) through the
Securities Depository the number of Units to be sold pursuant to such Bid or Sell Order against payment
therefor.

(c) The Auction Agent shall give notice of the Auction Rate to the Authority and Trustee by
mutually acceptable Electronic Means and the Trustee shall promptly give notice of such Auction Rate
to the Securitics Depository.

Index

(a) “Index” means on any Auction Date with respect to Bonds in any Auction Period of 35 days or
less, the offered rate (rounded up to the next highest one one-thousandth of one percent (0.001%)) for
deposits in U.S. dollars for a one-month period which appears on the Reutcrs Screen LIBORO1 Page (or
such other page as may replace that page on that service or such other service or services as may be
nominated by the British Bankers® Association for the purpose of displaying London interbank offered
rates for U.S. dollar deposits for one month) at approximately 11:00 A.M.. London time, on such date, or
if such date is not a date on which dealings in U.S. dollars arc transacted in the London interbank market,
then on the next preceding day on which such dealings were transacted in such market. The Index with
respect to Bonds in any Auction Period of more than 35 days shall be the rate on United States Treasury
Securities having a maturity which most closely approximates the length of the Auction Period as last
published in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as may be mutually agrced upon by the
Authority and the Broker-Dealers. If either rate is unavailable, the Index shall be an index or rate agreed
to by all Broker-Dealcrs and consented to by the Authority. For the purpose of this definition an Auction
Period of 35 days or less means a 35-day Auction Period or shorter Auction Period, i.c. a 35-day Auction
Period which is extended because of a holiday would still be considered an Auction Period of 35 days or
less.

The percentage of the Index referred to herein under “Determination of Auction Period Rate” is
75% for any Bond the interest on which is not includable in gross income of the beneficial owner of such
Bond for federal income tax purposes and 110% for any Bond the interest on which is includable in gross
income of the beneficial owner of such Bond for federal income tax purposes.

(b) If for any reason on any Auction Date the Index shall not be determined as provided above, the
Index shall be the Index for the prior Business Day.

(¢) The determination of the Index as provided herein shall be conclusive and binding upon the
Authority, the Trustce. the Broker-Dealers, the Auction Agent and the Owners of the Bonds.

Miscellaneous Provisions Regarding Auctions

(a) In this Appendix, each reference to the purchase. sale or holding of Bonds shall refer to beneficial
interests in Bonds. unless the context clearly requires otherwise.

(b) During an ARS Rate Period with respect to each Series of Bonds, the provisions of the
Authorizing Document and the definitions contained therein and described in this Appendix, including
without limitation the definitions of All Hold Rate. Index. Interest Payment Date, Maximum Rate,
Auction Period Rate and Auction Rate, may be amended pursuant to the Authorizing Document by
obtaining the consent of the owners of all affected Outstanding Bonds bearing interest at the Auction
Period Rate as follows. If on the first Auction Date occurring at least 20 days after the date on which the
"Trustee mailed notice of such proposed amendment to the registered owners of the affected Outstanding
Bonds as required by the Authorizing Document, (i) the Auction Period Rate which is determined on
such date is the Winning Bid Rate or the All Hold Rate and (ii) there is delivered to the Authority and
the Trustee an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such amendment shall not adversely affect the
validity of the Bonds or any exemption from federal income taxation to which the interest on the Bonds
would otherwise be entitled, the proposed amendment shall be deemed to have been consented to by the
registered owners of all affected Outstanding Bonds bearing interest at an Auction Period Rate.

(c) If the Securities Depository notifies the Authority that it is unwilling or unable to continue as
registered owner of the Bonds or if at any time the Securities Depository shall no longer be registered or
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in good standing under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or other applicable statute or
regulation and a successor to the Securities Depository is not appointed by the Authority within 90 days
after the Authority receives notice or becomes aware of such condition, as the case may be, the Auctions
shall cease and the Authority shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver certificates
representing the Bonds. Such Bonds shall be registered in such names and Authorized Denominations as
the Securities Depository, pursuant to instructions from the Agent Members or otherwise, shall instruct
the Authority and the Trustee.

During an ARS Rate Period, so long as the ownership of the Bonds is maintained in book-entry form
by the Securities Depository. an Existing Owner or a beneficial owner may sell, transfer or otherwise
dispose of a Bond only pursuant to a Bid or Sell Order in accordance with the Auction Procedures or to
or through a Broker-Dealer, provided that (i) in the case of all transfers other than pursuant to Auctions,
such Existing Owner or its Broker-Dealer or its Agent Member advises the Auction Agent of such
transfer and (ii) a sale, transfer or other disposition of Bonds from a customer of a Broker-Dealer who
is listed on the records of that Broker-Dealer as the holder of such Bonds to that Broker-Dealer or
another customer of that Broker-Dealer shall not be deemed to be a sale, transfer or other disposition for
purposes of this paragraph if such Broker-Dealer remains the Existing Owner of the Bonds so sold,
transferred or disposed of immediately after such sale, transfer or disposition.

(d) The Auction Agent shall continue to implement the Auction Procedures notwithstanding the
occurrence of an Event of Default under the Authorizing Document.

Changes in Auction Period or Auction Date

(a) Changes in Auction Period.

(i) During any ARS Rate Period, the Authority, may, from time to time on the Interest Payment
Date immediately following the end of any Auction Period, change the length of the Auction Period
with respect to all of the Bonds of a Subseries among daily, seven-days, 28-days, 35-days, three
months. six months or a Flexible Auction Period in order to accommodate economic and financial
factors that may affect or be relevant to the length of the Auction Period and the interest rate borne
by such Bonds. The Authority shall initiate the change in the length of the Auction Period by giving
written notice to the Authority, the Trustee, the Auction Agent, the Broker-Dealers and the
Securities Depository that the Auction Period shall change if the conditions described herein are
satisfied and the proposed effective date of the change, at least 10 Business Days prior to the Auction
Date for such Auction Period.

(i) Any such changed Auction Period shall be for a period of one day, seven-days, 28-days,
35-days, three months, six months or a Flexible Auction Period and shall be for all of the Bonds of
such Subseries.

(iii) The change in length of the Auction Period shall take effect only if Sufficient Clearing Bids
exist at the Auction on the Auction Date for such new Auction Period. For purposes of the Auction
for such new Auction Period only, except to the extent any Existing Owner submits an Order with
respect to such Bonds of any Subseries, each Existing Owner shall be deemed to have submitted Sell
Orders with respect to all of its Bonds of such Subseries if the change is to a longer Auction Period
and a Hold Order if the change is to a shorter Auction Period. If there are not Sufficient Clearing
Bids for the first Auction Period. the Auction Rate for the new Auction Period shall be the Maximum
Rate. and the Auction Period shall be a seven-day Auction Period.

(b) Changes in Auction Date. During any ARS Rate Period, the Auction Agent, at the direction of
the Authority, may specify an earlier or later Auction Date (but in no event more than five Business Days
earlier or later) than the Auction Date that would otherwise be determined in accordance with the
definition of *Auction Date” in order to conform with then current market practice with respect to similar
securities or to accommodate economic and financial factors that may affect or be relevant to the day of
the week constituting an Auction Date and the interest rate borne by the Bonds. The Auction Agent shall
provide notice of the Authority’s direction to specify an earlier Auction Date for an Auction Period by
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means of a written notice delivered at least 45 days prior to the proposed changed Auction Date to the
Trustee, the Authority and the Broker-Dealers with a copy to the Securities Depository. In the event the
Auction Agent is instructed to specify an earlier or later Auction Date, the days of the week on which an
Auction Period begins and ends, the day of the week on which an Auction Period ends and the Interest
Payment Date relating to such Auction Period shall be adjusted accordingly.

(¢) Changes Resulting from Unscheduled Holidays. 1f, in the opinion of the Auction Agent and the
Broker-Dealers, there is insufficient notice of an unscheduled holiday to allow the efficient implementation
of the Auction Procedures set forth herein, the Auction Agent and the Broker-Dealers may, as they deem
appropriate, set a different Auction Date and adjust any Interest Payment Dates and Auction Periods
affected by such unscheduled holiday. In the event there is not agreement among the Broker-Dealers, the
Auction Agent shall set the different Auction Date and make such adjustments as directed by the
Broker-Dealers for a majority of the outstanding Units (based on the number of Units for which a
Broker-Dealer is listed as the Broker-Dealer in the Existing Owner Registry maintained by the Auction
Agent pursuant to the Auction Agreement), and, if there is not a majority, so directing, the Auction Date
shall be moved to the next succeeding Business Day following the scheduled Auction Date, and the
Interest Payment Date and the Auction Period shall be adjusted accordingly.
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SPECIMEN BOND INSURANCE POLICY
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FINANCIAL MUNICIPAL BONP

SECURITY 8
ASSURANCEe INSURANCE BOLIGY

ISSUER: Poligy flo.: -N
BONDS: ective]Date:
Prenfium: $

FINANCIAL SECURITY ASSURANCE INC. ("Finfincipl Becurlty’}. for lednsidprbtiof rceifled,
hereby UNCONDITIONALLY AND IRREVOCABLY agrpes|to{pay § Ihd trdsipe (the "Tjug ee' or
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Security, directly to each Owner, subject gnly to\thd teqmd off tHsl P lic§ (vhich ingludgs dagh
endorsement hereto), that portion of the prirfcipal of §ndintgredt op tHef Bindg tHat shaibecone Pl
for Payment but shall be unpaid by reaebn of Nonpayrer]t byfth¢ Is§uet. ‘

On the later of the day onfhich $uch principal barld inge :‘w S Qug fod Paymeng orf thg
Business Day next following e Businegs [Pay gh Whigh Hinagcidl SHeullty Bhalfhdve seceived Notide o
Nonpayment, Financial Secqrity will digbutse fo dr for the Henpfit ldf dachlovindr ola BEhb the face
amount of principal gi-and interest onth¢ Bgnd tat is|thed Que Fo Payment put #then lrjpaid by
reason of Nonpayps€nt by the Issuggbut pnlyfupon recejpt 4 '.‘ ial Jecurity]in a form fegsonhbly
satisfactory to i4¢'0f (a) evidefice pf'the Ovfnerks right to r¢ceije payiient of the br cipal or inferpsithen
Due for Payment and (b) bvidenge, including pny approgyiatd inktrnyents]cf adsid nment, thag i of the
Owners~ghtsfwith respdct|to payment [of duch principal ¢r |teldst thaf isjDfie for Payhent shall

. i A [No of Nonpayrpert will be Hdemed receiye on a given
Aceivpd prigpfo 1:pojp.m (Ney York tinfe) bn $uch Hugindss|Dayrotherwise, it will
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Except fojthe extent e ressly modified\Qydn endorsement hereto, the following terms shall have
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P agthorized pd by law or executive order to remain closed. "Due for Payment"

referring tofthe paficipal of a Bond, payable on the stated maturity date thereof or the
3 ave been duly called for mandatory sinking fund redemption and does
Ot referfto pn¥ eaflier date'dn which payment is due by reason of call for redemption (other than by
andatgry ginling fund redemption), acceleration or other advancement of maturity unless Financial
shyll gect]in its sole discretion, to pay such principal due upon such acceleration together with
y accrueql infergst to the date of acceleration and (b) when referring to interest on a Bond, payable on
the stated flate"for payment of interest. "Nonpayment" means, in respect of a Bond, the failure of the
Iskuer to Yave provided sufficient funds to the Trustee or, if there is no Trustee, to the Paying Agent for
ymentAn full of all principal and interest that is Due for Payment on such Bond. "Nonpayment" shall
iaClude, in respect of a Bond, any payment of principal or interest that is Due for Payment
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CI}‘GECURITY FUND SPECIFIED IN ARTICLE 76

THIS POLICY IS NOT

éITY /{YSSURANCE INC. has caused this Policy to be executed

FINANCIAL SECURITY ASSURANCE INC.

By

A'; subsidiafy ofFinancial Security Assurance Holdings Ltd.
31 West 52" Street, New York, N.Y. 10019

Authorized Officer

(212) 826-0100
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